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SAFEGUARDING SENIORS HEALTH CARE:
QUALITY IN MANAGED CARE

WEDNESDAY, NOVEMBER 13, 1996

U.S. Senate,
Subcommittee on Labor, Health and Human
Services, and Education, and Related Agencies,

Committee on Appropriations,
Washington, DC.

The subcommittee met at 10:30 a.m., in room SD-192, Dirksen
Senate Office Building, Hon. Arlen Specter (chairman) presiding.

Present: Senator Specter.

NONDEPARTMENTAL WITNESSES

STATEMENT OF JOHN E. WARE, JR., Ph.D., SENIOR SCIENTIST, NEW
ENGLAND MEDICAL CENTER

OPENING STATEMENT OF SENATOR SPECTER

Senator Specter. Good morning, ladies and gentlemen. Our
hearing today focuses on managed care as it impacts on sejiior citi-

zens and is part of our ongoing inquiry on the subcommittee on
how to provide health care for all Americans.
With the passage earlier this year of the Kassebaum-Kennedy

bill, we have taken a significant incremental step in covering many
more Americans, but there still remain in the range of some 37
million to 40 million Americans who are not covered. In the course
of the 105th Congress, the extension of coverage to all Americans
will be a major topic for consideration.

In my tenure on this subcommittee, I have authored a number
of bills including Senate bill 18, which was introduced in the 103d
Congress, and with modifications reintroduced in the 104th Con-
gress and will be reintroduced on the first day of the 105th Con-
gress, again with modifications, on my analysis and a projection of

ways to cover all Americans within the existing expenditure of ap-
proximately $1 trillion.

When we take a look at the issue of Medicare, vitally important
to senior citizens, we are grappling with one of the major problems
confronting the Nation, and, therefore, the Congress today.

Medicare has been the subject of considerable politicization dur-
ing the course of the past campaign with the political argument
about cuts. Whereas, the effort has been made to reduce the in-

crease in cost, growth in Medicare is now somewhere in excess of

10 percent with the effort to reduce the cost to somewhere in the
7-percent range, which is more than double the rate of inflation.

(1)



The budget proposals put forward by both the RepubUcan Con-
gress and the Democratic White House last year were not too far

apart, with the projections being somewhere in the range of $148
billion in savings over 6 years by the Republican proposal, and ap-
proximately $108 billion in savings by the administration's pro-
posal.

Now that issue will receive a tremendous amount of attention as
we move forward because of the difficulties in financing Medicare
and the projections of insolvency at some fairly close point in time.
That is an issue which is going to have to be addressed.
During the course of the past decade, managed health care has

increased tremendously in the United States as a proposed answer
to provide management, just as the term states, to emphasize pre-

ventative care as an alternative to fee-for-service Medicare.
One issue taken up by the Congress late in the session concerned

primary care physicians telling their patients about specialized

care. That is an issue which is certainly to be addressed early in

the next session. I intend to have a legislative proposal on it my-
self.

Other issues have arisen about capitation and the motives not to

have specialized care. While there is a consensus of the desirability

of keeping the Government out of most everything, including
health care, it may be necessary for the Federal Government to

take a stand on managed health care.

With respect to the enrollment of senior citizens in Medicare
HMO's, we note the statistics show very rapid growth. In the last

10 years, participation in Medicare HMO's tripled from approxi-
mately 1.6 million participants in 1986 to more than 4 million
today. There are projections of an estimated 9.3 million by the year
2002, which would be approximately 25 percent—I wish it was 25
cents—but 25 percent of senior citizens.

The focus of our attention today will be on two recent studies,

one of which was completed by Dr. John E. Ware of the New Eng-
land Medical Center; Dr. Ware has distinguished positions at both
Tufts and Harvard. The second study, to be released today, will be
presented by Dr. Gail Wilensky, the former head of HCFA, and
now Chairman of the Physician Payment Review Commission.

Dr. Ware and Dr. Wilensky, if you would step forward at this

time, we will proceed with our first panel. My staff cautions me to

talk about the time rules. It says here, because the subcommittee
would like to devote as much time as possible to discussing your
views on the subject at hand, we would ask that you limit your oral

testimony to, this says, 4 minutes. Let us make it 5 minutes. We
have a series of lights to help you adhere to this time limitation.

Accurately stated?
Mr. HiGGiNS. Yes, sir.

Senator Specter. Dr. Ware, the floor is yours, sir.

SUMMARY STATEMENT OF DR. JOHN E. WARE

Dr. Ware. Good morning. Chairman Specter. My name is John
Ware. I am a senior scientist at the Health Institute at New Eng-
land Medical Center. I also teach at Tufts University School of
Medicine and at the Harvard School of Public Health.



I appreciate very much this opportunity to testify before you and
the members of the subcommittee regarding the health care of sen-

ior citizens. As you know, several groups are proposing to give
Medicare beneficiaries strong incentives to enroll in managed care
plans.

Until now, we have had little scientific evidence about how well
HMO's maintain the health of seniors who have historically favored
traditional fee-for-service insurance over managed care.

The medical outcome study, which is the most comprehensive
study of its kind today, provides such evidence. The medical out-

come study examined the health outcomes of 2,000 chronically ill

patients including 800 seniors covered under Medicare. They were
treated in established HMO's and fee-for-service plans in Boston,
Chicago, and Los Angeles.
As we reported last month in the journal of the American Medi-

cal Association, we measured health outcomes for these seniors
over a 4-year period, 1986 through 1990, and we used well-known
proven measures of eight health outcomes that matter most to pa-
tients including changes in their ability to function in everyday life

and their emotional well-being.

Health scores after 4 years were compared with starting scores
to determine whether each patient got better, stayed the same, or
got worse. We also gathered information on the condition of each
patient from the patient's physician, and we monitored patient sur-
vival over a 7-year period through 1993.
The results I will summarize today concern summary physical

and mental health outcomes in comparisons between HMO's and
fee-for-service plans. As we know from earlier studies, younger pa-
tients with higher incomes tend to do as well or better in HMO's
as in fee-for-service plans.

As shown at the top of the chart, when we analyzed physical
health outcomes over a 4-year-period for all patient age groups
combined, outcomes on average were the same in the traditional
plans as in the managed care plans.
However, as shown on the bottom of the chart, and this chart is

also in the handout of the written testimony, seniors under Medi-
care had worse outcomes in HMO's. Seniors were twice as likely to

decline in an HMO than in a fee-for-service plan. In HMO's, 54
percent got worse, 28 percent in a fee-for-service plan. We observed
this pattern of results at all three study sites.

Not shown in the chart, for seniors who are also poor the dif-

ference in outcomes was even larger. Seniors who were poor, 68
percent declined in HMO's, compared with 27 percent in traditional
fee-for-service plans. For mental health outcomes, a higher percent-
age got better with managed care, but we observed that advantage
in only one study site.

We draw four important lessons from this study. First, in mon-
itoring the quality of current HMO care, it is essential and it is

also valid to listen to the voice of the people. Their assessments of
changes in their functioning and their well-being added signifi-

cantly to our understanding of which health care plan worked best
for them not just in terms of price, but in the quality of their life

and the satisfaction with their care.



Second, the science of outcomes assessment has advanced to the
point of being sensitive to changes in health. It is well accepted by
seniors and it is practical for long-term monitoring.

Third, these results suggest that chronically ill seniors and poor
patients were at greater risk of an unfavorable health outcome in

an HMO.
Thus, policymakers should not base conclusions about what will

work for seniors on average outcomes for the general population in

HMO's. I would remind us of the man who drowned walking across

a river he had been told was an average of only 3 feet deep.

PREPARED STATEMENT

Finally, all HMO's are not created equal. One HMO did better
than the others that we studied in improving the mental health of

seniors while controlling health care costs. Therefore, results re-

garding health outcomes and other quality indicators should be
monitored and reported to the public on a plan-by-plan basis.

My written testimony cites 130 publications from the medical
outcome study and also lists additional details on the methods and
results.

Thank you very much for this opportunity to testify.

Senator SPECTER. Thank you very much. Dr. Ware. Your full tes-

timony will be made a part of the record, in accordance with our
standard practice.

[The statement follows:]

Prepared Statement of John E. Ware, Jr.

Good morning, Mr. Chairman. My name is John Ware. I am a Senior Scientist

at The Health Institute, New England Medical Center and I teach at Tufts Univer-
sity School of Medicine and Harvard's School of Public Health. I appreciate this op-

portunity to testify before you and the members of this subcommittee regarding the
health care of senior citizens.

As you know, several groups are proposing policies to give Medicare beneficiaries

strong financial incentives to enroll in managed care plans. Until now, however, we
had little scientific evidence about how well HMO's maintain the health of the elder-

ly, who have historically favored traditional fee-for-service insurance over managed
care.

The Medical Outcomes Study, the most comprehensive study of its kind to date,

provides such evidence. The MOS examined the health outcomes of 2,000 chronically

ill patients, including 800 seniors covered under Medicare; they were treated in es-

tablished HMO's and fee-for-service plans in Boston, Chicago, and Los Angeles. As
reported in the Journal of the American Medical Association on October 2nd, we
measured health outcomes over a four-year period ( 1986 through 1990), and we used
well-known, proven measures of eight health outcomes that matter most to patients,

including changes in their ability to perform everyday life activities and in emo-
tional well-being. Health scores after four years were compared with starting scores

to determine whether each patient got better, stayed the same, or got worse. We
also gathered information on their condition from each patient's physician and we
monitored patient survival over a seven-year period (through 1993). The results pre-

sented today concern summary physical and mental comparisons between HMO and
fee-for-service plans.

As we know from earlier studies, younger patients with higher incomes tend to

do as well or better in HMO's as in fee-for-service. As shown in the top of the chart,

when we analyzed physical health outcomes for patients of all ages combined, out-

comes on average were the same in traditional as in managed care plans. However,
as shown at the bottom of the chart, seniors under Medicare had worse outcomes
in HMO's. They were twice as likely to decline in HMO's than in fee-for-service

plans (54 percent versus 28 percent) in all three study sites. Not shown on the chart
for seniors who also were poor, the difference in outcomes was even larger (68 per-

cent declined in HMO's compared to 27 percent in a traditional plan). For mental



health outcomes, a higher percentage got better with managed care but only in one
site.

This study offers four important lessons.

First, in monitoring the quality of current HMO care, it is essential, and also
valid, to listen to the "voice" of the people. Their assessments of changes in their
functioning and well-being added significantly to our understanding of which health
care plan worked best for them—not just in terms of price, but also in their quality
of life and their satisfaction with their health care.

Second, the science of outcomes assessment has advanced to the point of being
sensitive to changes in health, well accepted by patients, and practical for long-term
monitoring.

Third, these results suggest that chronically ill seniors and poor patients were at
greater risk for unfavorable outcomes in HMO's compared with fee-for-service plans.
Thus, policjTnakers should not base conclusions about what will work for seniors on
the basis of average outcomes for the general population in HMO's. I would remind
us of the man who drowned walking across a river that he was told was on average
only three feet deep.

Finally, all HMO's are not created equal. One HMO did better than others in im-
proving the mental health of seniors while controlling health care costs. Therefore,
results regarding health outcomes and other quality indicators should be monitored
and reported to the public on a plan-by-plan basis.

MEDICAL OUTCOMES STUDY—4-YEAR PHYSICAL HEALTH OUTCOMES

[In percent]

[TJZ HMO
service

Were the same in analyses of all patients:

Better 15 15

Worse 27 30

Same 58 55

Favored fee-for-service for seniors on Medicare:

Better 9 9

Worse 28 54

Same 63 37

Source: "Health Outcomes for Chronically III Seniors Treated in HMO and Fee-for-Service Systems: Results from the

Medical Outcomes Study," presented by John E. Ware, Jr., Ph.D., at the Special Hearing on Safeguarding the Health Care

of Senior Citizens, Senate Appropriations Subcommittee on Labor, Health and Human Services and Education, Senate Oirk-

sen Office Building, SD-12, Washington, DC, November 13, 1996 (see also: Ware, Bayliss, Rogers, et al., JAMA 1996;

276:1039-1047).
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BR, Turk DC (eds.). Psychosocial Assessment in Terminal Care. New York: Haworth
Press, 1986:129-150.)

4. Ware JE. "Assessment of Health Status." In: Aiken L, Mechanic D (eds.). Appli-
cations of Social Science to Clinical Medicine and Health Policy. New Brunswick:
Rutgers University Press, 1986:204-228.



1987

5. Hays RD, DiMatteo MR. "Key issues and suggestions for patient compliance as-

sessment: source of information, focus of measures, and nature of response options."
Journal of Compliance in Health Care 1987; 2(l):37-53. (Reprinted in Diabetes
Spectrum 1989; 2:55-63.)

6. Hays RD, DiMatteo MR. "A short form measure of loneliness." Journal of Per-
sonality Assessment 1987: 51(1):69-81.

7. Hayashi T, Hays RD. "A microcomputer program for analyzing multitrait-multi-
method matrices." Behavior Research Methods, Instruments, and Computers
1987;19(3):345-348. (Also P-7298, Santa Monica, CA: The RAND Corporation.)

8. Hays RD, White K. "Professional satisfaction and client outcomes: a reanaly-
sis." Medical Care 1987;25(3):259-262.

9. Hays RD, White K. "The importance of considering alternative structural equa-
tion models in evaluation research." Evaluation and the Health Professions
1987;10:9()-100.

10. Ware JE. "Standards for validating health measures: definition and content."
Journal of Chronic Disease 1987;40(6):473-480.

1988

11. Bumam MA, Wells KB, Leake B, Landsverk J. "Development of a brief screen-
ing instrument for detecting depressive disorders." Medical Care 1988:26(8):775-
789.

12. Hays RD, Hayashi T, Carson S, Ware JE. User's Guide for the Multitrait
Analysis Program (MAP). N-2786-RC, Santa Monica, CA: The RAND Corporation,
1988

13. Stewart AL, Hays, RD, Ware JE. 'The MOS Short-Form General Health Sur-
vey: reliability and validity in a patient population." Medical Care 1988;26(7):724-
735.
Ware JE. How to Score the Revised MOS Short Form Health Scale (SF-36). Bos-

ton, MA: The Health Institute, New England Medical Center Hospitals, 1988.
15. Ware JE, Hays RD. "Methods for measuring patient satisfaction with specific

medical encounters." Medical Care 1988;26(4):393-402.
16. Ware JE, Davies AR. "Patient perspectives on the quality of medical care."

Journal of Family Practice 1988;26(5):489-490.
17. Wells KB, Bumam MA, Leake B, Robins LN. "Agreement between face-to-face

telephone-administered versions of the depression section of the NIMH Diagnostic
Interview Schedule." Journal of Psychiatric Research 1988:22(3):207-220.

1989

18. Arnold SB. Aging Versus Disease: Cuirent Health Perceptions among the El-

derly (dissertation). (Also N-2949-R65D, Santa Monica, CA: The RAND Corpora-
tion, 1989.)

19. Hays RD, Hayashi T, Stewart AL. "A five-item measure of socially desirable
response set." Educational and Psychological Measurement 1989;49:629-636.

20. McGlynn EA. Physician Job Satisfaction: Its Measurement and Use as an In-

dicator of System Performance. The RAND Corporation (dissertation). 1989.
*21. Stewart AL, Greenfield S, Hays RD, Wells KB, Rogers WH, Berry SD,

McGljTin EA, Ware JE. "Functional status and well-being of patients with chronic
conditions: results from the Medical Outcomes Study." Journal of the American
Medical Association 1989;262(7):907-913.

22. Tarlov AR, Ware JE, Greenfield S, Nelson EC, Perrin E, Zubkoff M. "The
Medical Outcomes Study: an application of methods for monitoring the results of
medical care." Journal of the American Medical Association 1989;262(7):925-930.

23. Ware JE. "Measuring health and functional status in mental health services

research." In: Taub CA, Mechanic D, Hohmann A (eds.). Future of Mental Health
Services Research. DHHS Pub. No. (ADM) 89-1600, Washington, DC: Superintend-
ent of Documents, U.S. Government Printing Office, 1989.

* 24. Wells KB, Hays RD, Bumam MA, Rogers WH, Greenfield S, Ware JE. "De-
tection of depressive disorder for patients receiving prepaid or fee-for-service care:

results fi-om the Medical Outcomes Study." Journal of the American Medical Asso-
ciation 1989:262(23):3298-3302. (Also French edition 1990;15:256.)

* 25. Wells KB, Stewart AL, Hays RD, Bumam MA, Rogers WH, Daniels M, Berry
SD, Greenfield S, Ware JE. "The functioning and well-being of depressed patients:

results from the Medical Outcomes Study." Journal of the American Medical Asso-
ciation 1989;262(7):914-919. (Also Japanese edition 1990;262;72-78 and Pakistan
edition 1990;2:244-249.)



* 26. Bumam MA. "Studying outcomes for patients with depression: initial find-

ings from the Medical Outcomes Study." In: Heitoff KA, Lohr KN (eds.). Effective-

ness and Outcomes in Health Care. National Academy Press, 1990:160-169.
* 27. Burnam MA, Wells KB. "Use of a two-stage procedure to identify depression:

the Medical Outcomes Study." In: Attkisson CC, Zich JM (eds.). Depression in Pri-

mary Care: Screening and Detection. New York: Routledge and London, 1990.

28. Hays RD, Hayashi T. "Beyond internal consistency reliability: Rationale and
User's Guide for Miiltitrait Scaling Analysis Program on the microcomputer. Behav-
ior Research Methods, Instruments, and Computers 1990;22:167-175.

29. Hays RD, Stewart Al. "The structure of self-reported health in chronic disease
patients." Psychological Assessment 1990;2(l):22-30.

30. Landgraf JM, Nelson EC, Hays RD, Wasson JH, Kirk J." Assessing function:

does it really make a difference? A preliminary evaluation of the acceptability and
utility of the COOP function charts." In: M. Lipkii (ed.). Functional Status Meas-
urement in Primary Care. New York: Springer-Verlag, 1990:97-131.

31. Nelson EC, Landgraf JM, Hays RD, Kirk JW, Wasson JH, Keller A, Zubkoff
M. 'The COOP Function Charts: a system to measure patient function in physicians'

offices." In: Lipkin M (ed.). Functional Status Measurement in Primary Care. New
York: Springer-Verlag, 1990;97-131.

32. Nelson EC, Landgraf JM, Hays RD, Wasson JH, Kirk JW. 'The functional sta-

tus of patients: how can it be measured in physicians' offices?" Medical Care
1990;28(12):1111-1126.

33. Potts M, Daniels M, Bumam MA, Wells KB. "A structural interview version
of the Hamilton Depression Rating Scale: evidence of reliability and versatility of
administration." Journal of Psychiatric Research 1990;24:335-350.

34. Sherboume CD, Hays RD. "Marital status, social support and health transi-

tions in chronic disease patients." Journal of Health and Social Behavior
1990,31:328-343.

35. Ware JE. "Outcomes study foresees greater patient input." QA Review 1990:5.

36. Ware JE. "Evaluating measures of general health concepts for use in clinical

trials," In: Furberg CD, Schuttinga JA (eds.). Quality of Life Assessment: Practice,

Problems, and Promise. October 15-17, 1990, U.S. Department of Health and
Human Services, Public Health Service, National Institutes of Health, 1990;51-63.

37. Ware JE. "Measuring patient function and well-being: some lessons from the
Medical Outcomes Study." In: Heitoff KA, Lohr KN (eds.). Effectiveness and Out-
comes in Health Care. National Academy Press. 1990;107-119.

* 38. Wells KB, Hays RD, Bumam MA, Rogers W, Greenfield S, Ware JE. "Detec-
tion of depressive disorder for patients receiving prepaid or fee-for-service care: re-

sults from the Medical Outcomes Study." Journal of the American Medical Associa-
tion 1989;262(23):3298-3302. (Also, French edition of Journal of the American Medi-
cal Association 1990;15:256.)

* 39. Wenneker MB, Greenfield S, McHomey CA, et al. 'The validity of a severity
scale for hypertension in predicting functional status and well-being: results from
the Medical Outcomes Study." Clinical Research 1990;38(2):228A.

1991

40. White, K. DISSERTATION—School of Public Health, University of California,
Los Angeles.

*41. Kravitz R, Hays R, Rogers W, Ordway L, Greenfield S. Recall of Rec-
ommendations and Adherence to Advice Among Patients With Chronic Medical Con-
ditions: Results From The Medical Outcomes Study, (publication number WD-5708-
AHCPR) Santa Monica, CA: RAND, October 1991.

42. Potts MK, Bumam MA, Wells KB. "Gender differences in the detection of de-
pression in patients of mental health specialists and general medical clinicians."

Psychological Assessment 1991;3(4):609-615.
43. Sherboume CD, Stewart AL. "The MOS Social Support Survey: reliability and

validity in a patient population." Social Science and Medicine 1991;32(6):705-714.
44. Ware JE. "Conceptualizing and measuring generic health outcomes." Cancer

1991:67(Suppl.):774-779.
45. Ware JE. "Measuring function, well-being and other generic health concepts."

In: Osoba D (ed.). The Effect of Cancer on Quality of Life CRC Press, 1991:8-23.
46. Wells KB, Bumam MA. "Caring for depression in America:lessons learned

from early findings of the Medical Outcomes Study." Psychiatric Medicine
1991;9(4):503-519.

* 47. Wells KB, Rogers WH, Bumam MA, Greenfield S, Ware JE. "How the medi-
cal comorbidity of depressed patients differs across health care settings: results from



8

the Medical Outcomes Study." American Journal of Psychiatry 1991;148(12):1688-
1696.

* 48. Wenneker MB, McHomey CA, Kieszak SM, et al. "The impact of diabetes
severity on quality of life: results from the Medical Outcomes Study." Clinical Re-
search 1991;39(2):612A.

1992

49. DiMatteo MR, Hays RD, Sherboume CD. "Adherence to cancer regimens: im-
plications for treating the older patient." Oncology 1992;6:50S-57S.

* 50. Greenfield S, Nelson EC, ZubkofT M, Manning WG, Rogers WH, Kravitz RL,
Keller A, Tarlov AR, Ware JE. "Variations in resource utilization among medical
specialities and systems of care: results from the Medical Outcomes Study." Journal
of the American Medical Association 1992;267( 12): 1624-1630.

51. Kantz ME, Harris WJ, Levitsky K, Ware JE, Davies AR. "Methods for assess-
ing condition-specific and generic functional status outcomes after total knee re-

placement." Medical Care 1992;30(5, Suppl.):MS24a-MS252.
* 52. Kravitz RL, Greenfield S, Rogers WH, Manning WG, Zubkoff M, Nelson EC,

Tarlov AR, Ware JE. "Differences in the mix of patients among medical specialties

and systems c" care: results from the Medical Outcomes Study." Journal of the
American Medical Association 1992;267(12): 1617-1623.

* 53. McHomey CA, Ware JE, Rogers WH, Raczek AE, Lu JFR. "The vaHdity and
relative precision of MOS Short- and Long-Form Health Status Scales and Dart-
mouth COOP Charts: results from Medical Outcomes Study." Medical Care
1992;30(Suppl.):MS253-MS265.

54. Meredith LS. Stressful Life Events and Health Outcomes in the Chronically
111 (dissertation). Claremont CA: Claremont Graduate School, 1992.

55. Safran DG. "The Art and Science of Medical Decision Making: Determinants
of Physician Prescribed Disability." Managing Chronic Conditions: Patient, Provider
and System (dissertation) 1992.

56. Safran DG. "Is managed care the answer: evaluating the delivery of primary
care in fee-for-service and prepaid health care systems." Managing Chronic Condi-
tions: Patient, Provider and System (dissertation). 1992.
57. Sherboume CD, Hays RD, Ordway L, DiMatteo MR, Kravitz RL. "Ante-

cedents of adherence to medical recommendations: results from the Medical Out-
comes Study." Journal of Behavioral Medicine 1992; 15(5):447-468.

58. Sherboume CD, Meredith LS. "Quality of self-report data: comparison of older
and younger chronically ill patients." Journal of Gerontology 1992;47(4):S204-S211.

59. Sherboume CD, Meredith LS, Rogers WH, Ware JE. "Social support and
stressful life events: age differences in their effects on health-related quality of life

among the chronically ill." Quality of Life Research 1992;l(4):235-246.
60. Stewart AL, Hays RD, Wells KG, Rogers W. Development of Measures of

Physical Activity/Exercise and Tests of Variations in Physical Activity Levels Within
Chronic Disease Groups in the Medical Outcomes Study, (publication number P-
7781) Santa Monica, CA: RAND, June 15, 1992.

61. Stewart, AL, Ware JE (eds.). Measuring Functioning and Well-Being: The
Medical Outcomes Study Approach. Durham, NC: Duke University Press, 1992.
Chapter 1: Measures for a New Era of Health Assessment (Ware JE)
Chapter 2: The Medical Outcomes Study Framework of Health Indicators (Stew-

art AL)
Chapter 3: Methods of Samphng (Rogers WH, McGlynn EA, Berry SD, Nelson EC,

Perrin E, Zubkoff M, Greenfield S, Wells KB, Stewart AL, Amold S, Ware JE)
Chapter 4: Methods of Collecting Health Data (Berry SD)
Chapter 5: Methods of constructing Health Measures (Stewart AL, Hays RD,

Ware JE)
Chapter 6: Physical Functioning Measures (Stewart AL, Kamberg CJ)
Chapter 7: Psychological DistressAVell-Being and Cognitive Functioning Measures

(Stewart AL, Ware JE, Sherboume CD, Wells KB)
Chapter 8: Health Perceptions, Energy/Fatigue, and Health Distress Measures

(Stewart AL, Hays RD, Ware JE)
Chapter 9: Social Functioning: Social Activity Limitations Measure (Sherboume

CD)
Chapter 10: Social Functioning: Family and Marital Functioning Measures

(Sherboume CD, Kamberg CJ)
Chapter 11: Social Functioning: Sexual Problems Measvu-es (Sherboume CD)
Chapter 12: Role Functioning Measures (Sherboume CD, Stewart AL, Wells KB)
Chapter 13: Pain Measures (Sherboume CD)
Chapter 14: Sleep Measures (Hays RD, Stewart AL)



Chapter 15: Physical/Psychophysiologic Symptoms Measure (Sherboume CD,
Allen HM, Kamberg CJ, Wells KB)
Chapter 16: Developing and Testing the MOS 20-Item Short-Form Health Survey:

A General Population Application (Ware JE, Sherboume CD, Davies AR)
Chapter 17: Preliminary Tests of a 6-Item General Health Survey: A Patient Ap-

plication (Ware JE, Nelson EC, Sherboume CD, Stewart AL)
Chapter 18: Methods of Validating MOS Health Measures (Stewart AL, Hays RD,

Ware JE)
Chapter 19: Construct Validity of MOS Health Measures (Hays RD, Stewart AL)
Chapter 20: Summary and Discussion of MOS Measures (Stewart AL, Sherboume

CD, Hays RD, Wells KB, Nelson EC, Kamberg CJ, Rogers WH, Berry SD, Ware JE)
62, Ware JE, Sherboume CD. "The MOS 36-Item Short-Form Health Survey (SF-

36): I. conceptual framework and item selection." Medical Care 1992;30(6):473-483.
* 63. Wells KB, Bumam MA, Rogers W, Camp P. Course of Depression in Patients

with Hypertension, Insulin-Dependent Diabetes, or Myocardial Infarction: Results
from the Medical Outcomes Study (publication number WD-5845-RWJ/HJK/PMT/
NIMH/AHCPR) Santa Monica, CA: The RAND Corporation, January 30, 1992.

* 64. Wells KB, Bumam MA, Rogers WH, Hays RD, Camp P. 'The Course of de-

pression in adult outpatients: results from the Medical Outcomes Study." Archives
of General Psychiatry 1992;49:788-794.

1993

65. DiMatteo MR, Hays RD, Gritz ER, Bastani R, Crane L, ElashofF R, Ganz P,

Heber D, McCarthy W, Marcus A. "Patient adherence to cancer control regimens:
scale development and initial validation." Psychological Assessment 1993:5(1):102-
112.

* 66. DeMatteo MR, Sherboume CD, Hays RD, Ordway L, Kravitz RL, McGlynn
EA, Kaplan S, Rogers WH. "Physicians' characteristics influence patient adherence
to medical treatment: results from the Medical Outcomes Study." Health Psychology
1993;12:93-102. (Also, WD-5711-AHCPR, Santa Monica, CA: RAND, 1991.)

67. Hays RD, Sherboume CD, Mazel RM. 'The RAND 36-Item Health Survey
1.0." Health Economics 1993;2:217-227.

68. Kravitz R, Hays R, Sherboume CD, et al. "Recall of recommendations and ad-
herence to advice among patients with chronic medical conditions." Archives of In-

temal Medicine 1993;153:1869-1878.
69. Marshall GN, Hays RD, Sherboume CD, Wells KB. "The stmcture of patient

satisfaction with outpatient medical care." Psychological Assessment 1993;5(4):477-
483.

70. McHomey CA, Ware JE, Raczek AE. 'The MOS 36-Item Short-Form Health
Survey (SF-36):II. psychometric and clinical tests of validity in measuring physical
and mental health constmcts." Medical Care 1993;31(3):247-263.

71. Rogers WH, Wells KB, Meredith LS, Bumam MA, Sturm R. "Outcomes for
adult outpatients with depression under prepaid or fee-for-service financing." Ar-
chives of General Psychiatry 1993;50(7):5 17-525.

* 72. Rubin HR, Gandek B, Kosinski M, Rogers WH, McHomey CA, Ware JE. "Pa-
tient ratings of outpatient visits in different practice settings: results from the Medi-
cal Outcomes Study." Journal of the American Medical Association 1993;270(7):835-
840.

73. Sherboume CD, Hays RD, Wells KB, Rogers W, Bumam MA. "Prevalence of
comorbid alcohol disorder and consumption in medically ill and depressed patients."
Archives of Family Medicine 1993;2:1142-1149.

74. Stewart AL, Hays RD, Wells KG, Rogers WH. "Development of measures of
physical activity exercise and tests of variations in physical activity levels within
chronic disease groups in the Medical Outcomes Study." Santa Monica, CA: RAND
P-7781-RC.

75. Stewart AL, Sherboume CD, Wells KB, Bumam MA, Rogers WH, Hays RD,
Ware JE. "Do depressed patients in different treatment settings have different lev-

els of well-being and functioning? " Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology
1993;61:849-857.

76. Ware JE. "Measuring patients' views: the optimum outcome measure." British
Medical Joumal 1993;306:1429-1430.

77. Ware JE, Snow KK, Kosinski M, et al. SF-36 Health Survey Manual and In-

terpretation Guide. Boston, MA: New England Medical Center, The Health Insti-

tute, 1993.

78. Wells KB, Rogers WH, Bumham MA, Greenfield S. "Course of depression in
patients with hypertension, myocardial infarction, or insulin-dependent diabetes."



10

American Journal of Psychiatry 1993;150:632-638. (Also, WD-5845-RWJ/HJK/PMT/
NIMH/AHCPR, Santa Monica, CA: RAND, 1992.)

79. Haley SM, McHomey CA, Ware JE. "Evaluation of the MOS SF-36 physical
functioning scale (PF-10):I. unidimensionality and reproducibility of the Rasch Item
Scale." Journal of Clinical Epidemiology 1994;47(6):671-684.

80. Hays RD, Kravitz RL, Mazel RB, Sherboume CD, DiMatteo MR, Rogers WH,
Greenfield S. "The impact of patient adherence on health outcomes for chronic dis-

ease patients in the Medical Outcomes Study." Journal of Behavioral Medicine
1994;17(4):347-369.

81. Hays RD, Marshall GN, Wang EY, et al. "Four-year cross-lagged associations
between physical and mental health in the Medical Outcomes Study." Journal of
Consulting and Clinical Psychology 1994;62:

82. Marshall GN, Hays RD. The Patient Satisfaction Questionnaire Short Form
(PSG-18). 1994 Santa Monica, CA: RAND P-7865-RC.

83. McHomey CA, Kosinski M, Ware JE. "Comparisons of the costs and quality
of norms for the SF-36 Health Survey collected by mail versus telephone interview;
results from a National Survey." Medical Care 1994;32:551-567.

84. McHomey CA, Ware JE, Lu JFR, et al. "The MOS 36-Item Short-Form Health
Survey (SF-36):ni. tests of data quality, scaling assumptions and reliability across
diverse patient groups." Medical Care 1994;32:40-66.

85. Meredith LS, Wells KB, Camp P. "Clinician specialty and treatment style for

depressed outpatients with and without medical comorbidities." Archives of Family
Medicine 1994;3( 12): 1065-1072.

86. Osterhaus JT, Townsend RJ, Gandek B, Ware JE. "Measuring the functional

status and well-being of patients with migraine headaches. Headache
1994;34(6):337-343.

* 87. Safran D, Tarlov AR, Rogers W. "Primary care performance in fee-for-service

and prepaid health care systems: results from the Medical Outcomes Study." Jour-
nal of the American Medical Association 1994;271(20):1579-1586.

88. Sherboume C, Hays RD, Meredith L, Mazel RM. "Life events as benchmarks
for quality of life changes in the MOS SF-36." Quality of Life Research 1994;3:55.

89. Sherboume CD, Hays RD. Measures of Adherence (HaPI Record). Pittsburgh
PA: Behavioral Measurement Database Service (Producer). McLean, VA: BRS
Search Service (Vendor), 1994.

90. Sherboume CD, Wells KB. "Subthreshold depression and depressive disorder:

clinical characteristics of general medical mental health specialty outpatients."
American Joumal of Psychiatry 1994;151(12):1777-1784.

91. Stewart AL, Hays RD, Wells KB, Rogers WH, Spritzer KL, Greenfield S.

"Long-term functioning and well-being outcomes associated with physical activity

and exercise in patients with chronic conditions in the Medical Outcomes Study."
Joumal of Clinical Epidemiology 1994;47(7):7 19-730.

* 92. Sturm R, McGlynn EA, Meredith LS, Wells KB, Manning WG, Rogers WH.
"Switches between prepaid and fee-for-service health systems among depressed out-

patients: results from the Medical Outcomes Study." Medical Care 1994;32(9):917-
929.

93. Ware JE, Gandek B, the IQOLA Project Group. "The SF-36 Health Survey:
development and use in mental health research and the IQOLA Project." Inter-

national Joumal of Mental Health 1994;23:49-73.
94. Ware JE, Kosinski M. How To Score the SF-36 Physical and Mental Health

Summary Measures. Boston, MA: The Health Institute, 1994.
95. Wells KB. "Depression in general medical settings: implications of three

health policy studies for consultation-liaison psychiatry. Psychosomatics
1994;151(5):694-700.

96. Wells KB. "Letter." Archives of General Psychiatry 1994;51:1002-1003.
* 97. Wells KB, Katon W, Rogers W, Camp P. "Use of minor tranquilizers and

antidepressant medications by depressed outpatients: results from the Medical Out-
comes Study." American Joumal of Psychiatry 1994;151(5):694—700.

1995

98. Bozette SA, Hays RD, Berry SH, Kanouse DE, Wu AW. "Derivation and prop-
erties of a brief health statue assessment instrument for use in HIV disease." Jour-
nal of Acquired Immune Deficiency Syndromes and Human Retrovirology
1995;8(3):253-65110.

99. Greenfield S, Rogers W, Mangotich M, Carney MF, Tarlov AR. "Outcomes of
patients with hjrpertension and non-insulin dependent diabetes mellitus treated by



11

different systems and specialties." Journal of the American Medical Association

1995:274(18): 1436-1444.
100. Hays RD, Sherboume CD, Mazel RM. User's Manual for the Medical Out-

comes Study (MOS) Core Measures of Health-Related Quality of Life. Santa Monica,
CA RAND MR-162-RC, 1995.

101. Hays RD, Wells KB, Sherboume CD, Rogers WH, Spritzer K. Functioning
and well-being outcomes of patients with depression compared to chronic general

medical illness. Archives of General Psychiatry 1995;52:11-19.

102. Jackson C, Manning WG, Wells KB. "Effects of alcohol problems on use of

services by patients with depression or chronic medical conditions." Health SeiMces
Research 1995"30(5)'687—705.

* 103. Kaplan S, Gandek B, Greenfield S, Rogers WH, Ware JE. "Patient and visit

characteristics related to physicians' participatory decision-making styles: results

from the Medical Outcomes Study." Medical Care 1995;33(12):1176-87.

104. Kravitz RL, Greenfield S. "Variations in resource utilization among medical
specialties and systems of care." Annual Review of Public Health 1995;16:431-45.

105. Lee PP, Whitcup SM, Hays RD, Spritzer K, Javitt J. "The relationship be-

tween visual acuity and functioning and well-being among diabetics." Quality of Life

Research 1995 ;4(4):3 19-23.

106. McHomey CA, Ware JE. "Construction and validation of an alternate for

general mental health scale for the Medical Outcomes Study Short Form 36 Item
Health Survey." Medical Care 1995;33(l):15-28.

107. Meredith LS, Siu, AL. "Variation and quality of self-report health data.

Asians and Pacific Islanders compared with other ethnic groups." Medical Care
1995;33(11):1120-1131.

108. Sherboume CD, Hays RD, Wells KB. "Personal and psychosocial risk factors

for physical and mental health outcomes and course of depression among depressed
patients." Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology 1995;63(3):345-355.

109. Sturm R, Jackson C, Meredith LS, Yip W, Manning WG, Rogers WH, Wells
KB. "Mental health care utilization in prepaid and fee-for-service plans among the

depressed patients in the Medical Outcomes Study." Health Service Research
1995;30(2):319-340.

110. Sturm R, Wells KB. "How can care for depression become more cost effec-

tive?" Journal of the American Medical Association 1995;273(l):51-58.
*111. Ware JE, Kosinski M, Bayliss MS, et al. "Comparison of methods for the

scoring and statistical analysis of SF-36 Health Profiles and Summary Measures:
results from the Medical Outcomes Study." Medical Care 1995;33(4 Suppl):AS264-
AS279.

112. Ware JE, Kosinski M, Keller SD. SF-12: How to Score the SF-12 Physical
and Mental Health Summary Scales. Boston, MA: The Health Institute, New Eng-
land Medical Center. (First Edition, March 1995; Second Edition, December, 1995).

113. Wells KB. "Cost containment and mental health outcomes: experiences from
U.S. studies." British Journal of Psychiatry 1995;166(Suppl. 27):43-51.

114. Wells KB, Bumam MA, Camp P. "Severity of depression in prepaid and fee-

for-service general medical and mental health specialty practices." Medical Care
1995;33(4):350-364.

115. Wells KB, Sturm R. "Care for depression in a changing environment." Health
Affairs 1995;14:78-89.

1996

* 116. Kaplan S, Greenfield S, Gandek B, Rogers WH, Ware JE. "Characteristics

of physicians with participatory decision-making styles: results from the Medical
Outcomes Study." Annals of Internal Medicine 1996;124:497-504.

* 117. Marshall GN, Hays RD, Mazel RM. "Health status and satisfaction with
medical care: results from the Medical Outcomes Study." Journal of Consulting and
Clinical Psychology 1996;64:380-390.

118. Meredith LS, Wells KB, Kaplan SH, Mazel RM. "Counseling typically pro-

vided for depression." Archives of General Psychiatry 1996;53:905-912.
119. Sherboume CD, Jackson CA, Meredith L, Camp P, Wells KB. "Prevalence

of comorbid anxiety disorders in primary care outpatients." Archives of Internal

Medicine 1996,5:27-34.
120. Sherboume CD, Wells KB, Meredith LS, Jackson CA, Camp P. "Comorbid

anxiety disorder and the functioning and well-being of chronically ill patients of gen-
eral medical providers." Archives of General Psychiatry 1996;53:889-895.

121. Sherboume CD, Wells KB, Judd LL. "Functioning and well-being of patients
with panic disorder." American Journal of Psychiatry 1996;153(2):213-218.



12

* 122. Sturm R, Meredith LS, Wells KB. "Provider choice and continuity for the
treatment of depression." Medical Care 1996;34(7):723-734.

* 123. Ware JE, Bayliss M, Kosinski M, Rogers W, Tarlov A. "Differences in four
year health outcomes for elderly and poor, chronically ill patients treated in HMO
and fee-for-service systems: results form the Medical Outcomes Study." Journal of
the American Medical Association 1996;276:1039-1047.

124. Wells KB, Sturm R. "Informing policy process: from efficacy to effectiveness
data on pharmacotherapy." Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology
1996;64(4):638-64.

125. Wells KB, Sturm R, Sherborne CD, Meredith LM. Caring for Depression in

America. Durham, NC: Harvard University Press, 1996.

//. Papers in press (in alphabetical order)

126. DiMatteo MR, Hays RD, Gritz E, Bastani R, Crane L, Elashoff R, Ganz P,

Heber D, McCarthy W. "Factors affecting validation of a multivariate assessment
instrument." Psychological Assessment (in press).

127. Haley SM, McHomey CA, Ware JE. "Evaluation of the MOS SF-36 physical
functioning scale (PF-10):n. comparison of relative precision using Likert and Rasch
scoring methods." Journal of Clinical Epidemiology (in press).

128. Hays RD, Wells KB, Sherboume CD, Rogers W, Spritzer K "Functioning and
well-being outcomes of patients with depression compared to chronic mental illness."

Archives of General Psychiatry (in press).

129. Hays RD, Wells KB, Sherboume CD, Rogers W, Spritzer K. "The relative ef-

fects of depression and chronic medical illness on functioning and well-being over
two years: results from the Medical Outcomes Study." Archives of General Psychia-
try (in press).

130. Jackson C, Wells KB, Manning W. "Impact of prior and current alcohol use
on utilization of services by patients with depression and chronic medical illness."

Health Services Research (in press).

131. Lee PP, Hays RD, Spritzer K, Brook RH. The functional impact of blurred
vision (in press).

132. McHomey CA, Haley SM, Ware JE, Jr. "Evaluation of the MOS SF-36 phys-
ical functioning scale (PF-10):II. comparison of relative precision using Likert and
Rasch scoring methods." Journal of Clinical Epidemiology (in press).

133. Meredith LS, Sherboume CD, Jackson CA, Camp P, Wells KB. "Treatment
typically provided for comorbid anxiety disorder." Archives in Internal Medicine (in

press).

134. Meredith LS, Wells KB, Sturm R. "A naturalistic study of psychotherapy: the
Medical Outcomes Study Approach" in N.E. Miller & KM. Magruder (Eds). Cost-
Effectiveness of psychotherapy: A guide for practitioners, researchers, and policy-

makers. New York: Oxford University Press (in press).

135. Shiely JC, BayUss MS, Keller SD, Tsai C, Ware JE. SF-36 Health Survey
Annotated Bibliography: First Edition (198&-1995). Boston, MA: The Health Insti-

tute (in press).

136. Sturm R, Wells KB. "Improving the quality and cost-effectiveness of treat-

ment for depression." Behavioral Health Care Tomorrow (in press).

///. Acknowledgements

Collection for four-year health outcome data and preparation of the October 2,

1996, JAMA article about the Medical Outcomes Study (MOS) were supported by
grant #91-013 from the Functional Outcomes Program of the Henry J. Kaiser Fam-
ily Foundation, at The Health Institute, New England Medical Center, Boston, MA
(John E. Ware, Jr., Ph.D., Principal Investigator).

Design and implementation of the MOS were sponsored by the Robert Wood John-
son Foundation, Princeton, NJ: the Henry J. Kaiser Family Foundation, Menlo
Park, CA; and the Pew Charitable Trusts, Philadelphia, PA. Previously reported
MOS analyses were sponsored by the National Institute of Aging, Bethesda, MD;
the Agency for Health Care Policy and Research, Rockville, MD; and the National
Institute of Mental Health, Rockville, MD.
The MOS was a multi-institutional collaborative project involving investigators

from (in alphabetical order): Dartmouth University, Hanover, NH; New England
Medical Center, Boston, MA; the Rand Corporation, Santa Monica, CA; the Univer-
sity of Chicago, Chicago, IL; and the University of Washington, Seattle. Participat-

ing health care plans, professional organizations who assisted in recruitment and
our many colleagues who contributed to the success of the MOS are acknowledged
in Tariov, Ware, Greenfield et al. (JAMA, 1989;262:925-930).

Note.—Starred publications report studywide results and were reviewed by the
MOS Steering Committee; an additional 25 articles are in review.



13

STATEMENT OF DR. GAIL R. WILENSKY, PH.D., CHAIRMAN, PHYSICIAN
PAYMENT REVIEW COMMISSION

Senator Specter. Dr. Wilensky, we welcome you back here. We
recollect your service with HCFA. I was interested to hear your
comments a few moments ago, that you like it better now. We may
go into that in the questions and answers, but the floor is yours
for your opening statement.

Dr. Wilensky. Thank you, Chairman Specter. I recall my times
here as HCFA Administrator. I am pleased to be here today as the
Chair of the Physician Payment Review Commission. I would also

like to introduce Beth Docteur, who was responsible or at least in

a significant way involved in the study that PPRC is releasing
about access to care under managed care.

It is a very important time to make this information available be-

cause, as you indicated, the growth in managed care has been sub-
stantial over the last several years and is projected to continue into

the future.

There has been very little information available to date about ac-

cess to care and satisfaction with care for those elderly seniors who
have chosen to be in managed care.

One of the important reasons for doing the study was to form
baseline information, and also to see whether or not this type of
information could be collected in an ongoing way. It is also impor-
tant to share with you the actual findings that we have on access
to care, and satisfaction as reported by this population.

In the big picture, the information looks very good. In general,
very few people who are part of managed care leave to go back to

the fee-for-service world. About 3 percent of those who are in man-
aged care choose in their monthly option to disenroll, to go back to

fee-for-service. About 5 percent take advantage of the opportunity
to choose another managed care plan. To the extent that people are
voting with their feet, they are suggesting they prefer to stay in
managed care.

The second thing is that there are some clear reasons why they
make that preference. Most people in managed care have signifi-

cantly more benefits. At least 75 percent have prescription drug
coverage outside of the hospital, one of the areas not covered by
traditional Medicare.
Many, the majority, pay no premium whatsoever beyond that as-

sociated with Medicare in terms of the part B monthly premium.
We understand why it is that they have chosen to go into Medicare
managed care.

In general, the big picture is that most of the people who are in
this program feel that they have had good access to care with high
satisfaction. But, of course, when we look at some of the very spe-
cific kinds of information, there are some areas for concern.

In the first place, we know that there are vulnerable populations
in Medicare: some of the oldest old, African-Americans, those with
low income and those with fair or poor health.

In general, the more vulnerable groups have reported some prob-
lems with access to care in Medicare managed care, particularly
the nonelderly disabled, that group of people who are on Medicare
by virtue of their very significant disabilities before they reach the
age of 65.
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One interesting finding is that we found that African-Americans
in Medicare managed care did not have higher rates of access prob-

lems than others, as they do in the fee-for-service world. Although,
in general, the vulnerable populations have reported some prob-

lems with access.

The second thing we noticed is that among those who return to

fee-for-service they tend to report more problems in terms of

accessing physicians or getting delays in appointments, undoubt-
edly the reason they have chosen to go back to fee-for-service.

The third thing we have noticed is that, in general, there are
more access problems reported in the Medicare managed care

world than there are in the fee-for-service world, a ratio that indi-

cates about three times more problems. Again, overall, in absolute
terms, a small number.
We think that what it was suggesting is that there is a need to

make sure that people who are about to choose managed care have
a better idea what it is they are choosing; that is, they are getting

a lot more benefits. At least to date, there are reports of some
kinds of problems for some kinds of people. Alternatively, of course,

it may be an issue for the Federal Government to step in.

The second issue in terms of where do we go from here, is that
while Medicare managed care plans have been very good about get-

ting information out to the seniors before they choose the plan or

at the time they are choosing it, there are some problems reported
about getting information after you have already joined, if you have
a question, making sure that you know that you have appeal
rights, and being responsive to the seniors concerned, making sure
that there is information available after people are already in the
Medicare managed care plan is very important.

Third, we think that because there has been so much growth in

Medicare managed care that we may have seen some plans that
are going through growing problems of their own. It is especially

important that they be aware of the kinds of access problems that
small numbers of their own enrollees are reporting, particularly

some of the more vulnerable groups.
If we see the growth in the future that HCFA has projected,

which if we continue at 25 percent growth rates and premiums for

the Medigap plans as reported last year that we are likely to do,

then we think it is especially important to keep monitoring this

area of access to care.

PREPARED STATEMENT

You, the Congress, have requested and required that PPRC fol-

low the effects of any changes in the fee schedule on access. There
may be a need to consider whether some group, PPRC or HCFA,
or someone need also to follow and report to the Congress about
access of the elderly in Medicare managed care plans as well.

Thank you. I will be glad to answer any questions you may have.

Senator SPECTER. Thank you very much. Dr. Wilensky.
[The statement follows:]

Prepared Statement of Dr. Gail R. Wilensky

Mr. Chairman, I am pleased to be here today to present findings from the Physi-

cian Payment Review Commission's survey of Medicare beneficiaries concerning
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their experiences with managed-care plans. We launched this project when we found
that there was very little information available on the critical issue of access to care
in the managed-care program. This survey, which we are releasing today, provides

the most comprehensive and nationally representative profile of access to care as
perceived by beneficiaries in Medicare managed care.

The results of this survey in many ways mirror what the Commission has found
in monitoring access in Medicare fee for service: access is generally very good for

most beneficiaries, but some vulnerable groups, such as the nonelderly disabled and
those in fair or poor health, have more problems. The study also uncovered certain

areas in which Medicare managed-care plans could improve their efforts to protect

consumers and to ensure quality and access.

Managed care is growing rapidly in the Medicare program. The number of partici-

pating plans has grown substantially in the past few years and enrollment now to-

tals more than 12 percent of beneficiaries, up fi-om 9 percent at the end of 1994
(Figures 1 and 2). This rapid growth is expected to continue in the future. Although
the Congress is clearly interested in expanding the managed-care options available

under Medicare, very little is known about how beneficiaries are faring now. Both
the Health Care Financing Administration and the Commission are required to

monitor the effects of the Medicare fee schedule on beneficiary access, but no similar

requirement exists for Medicare managed care. Nevertheless, we could not ignore

the growing prominence of managed care in the Medicare program and the need to

understand its impact on beneficiaries.

The Commission developed this survey of Medicare beneficiaries because very lit-

tle data were available to monitor access in Medicare managed care and little work
had been done to develop and test measures for evaluating access under managed
care. We had two objectives in mind. First, we wanted to develop baseline informa-
tion on access to care for managed-care enrollees and disenroUees. Second, we want-
ed to learn what it would take to collect this type of information on a regular basis

in the future so that it could be used to inform policy decisions.

My testimony will describe the work that was done and present some of the key
findings from this study. I will also briefly mention some of the Commission's con-

clusions regarding the policy implications of the study and lessons for further work
in this area.

Figure 1.

—

Number of Risk Plans Participating in Medicare, 1990-96

Plans

1990 96
1991 93
1992 96
1993 110
1994 154
1995 183
1996 (October) 238

Source: Health Care Financing Review, 1996 Statistical Supplement: Medicare Managed Care
Contract Report, October 1996.

Note: All data are for December, except for 1996.

STUDY APPROACH

I know that you, Mr. Chairman, and the other members of the subcommittee have
received a copy of our study that describes the methods used in great detail, so let

me just touch on a few points before presenting the findings. The survey was devel-

oped and fielded by researchers at Mathematica Policy Research, who also analyzed
the findings for us. The development of the survey instrument involved considerable
work to identify appropriate access measures and to crafl new ones where they were
needed. Telephone interviews were conducted with more than 3,000 Medicare bene-
ficiaries who were enrolled in a Medicare risk plan for at least two months during
the year ending in February 1996. Because this population is composed primarily
of continuous enrollees (63 percent) and new enrollees (29 percent), both plan
switchers (5 percent) and disenroUees to fee for service (3 percent) were over sam-
pled to obtain adequate representation. Disabled beneficiaries, the oldest-old, and
African American beneficiaries were also over sampled so that we could evaluate the
experiences of these potentially vulnerable groups. The survey was fielded between
May and July of this year, and it achieved a 65 percent response rate, comparable
with other recent telephone surveys of this population.
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FIGURE 2.—ENROLLMENT IN MEDICARE RISK AND COST PLANS, 1990-96

[Percent]

Risk- Cost-

Year contract contract

plans plans

1990 3.3 2.1

1991 3.8 2.1

1992 4.4 2.2

1993 5.3 2.4

1994 6.6 2.1

1995 8.8 1.9

1996 (October) 10.6 1.7

Source: PPRC analysis of Medicare Managed Care Contract Reports.

Note: All data are for December, except for 1996.

The survey questioned Medicare beneficiaries about a variety of dimensions of ac-

cess, including: the ability of enrollees to get different types of care, consequences
of not receiving care, satisfaction, use of preventive services, receipt of recommended
visits for those with chronic conditions, information provided to new enrollees on
how to use the plan, and enrollees' awareness of their rights to appeal plan deci-

sions about their care.

The study also examined the extent of disenrollment and reasons for

disenrollment as measures of beneficiaries' satisfaction and access.

FINDINGS ON ACCESS TO CARE

Before we go through the results in more detail, let's first step back and look at

the bigger picture. The survey respondents provided us with a generally favorable
profile of Medicare managed care. Many beneficiaries join managed-care plans to ob-

tain what they perceive to be more comprehensive health care coverage at a lower
cost. More than three-quarters of those surveyed obtain prescription drug coverage
and a comparable percentage pay no premium in their plan. The great majority of
enrollees do not report barriers in accessing care and are satisfied with the care
they receive and with their plan. Medicare managed-care enrollees are more likely

than their fee-for-service counterparts to obtain preventive services. Moreover, dif-

ferences in access between groups of beneficiaries who are vulnerable to access prob-
lems and others are substantially smaller in managed care than in fee-for-service

Medicare.
Along with this good news come some findings of potential concern. While no par-

ticular access problems were found to be widespread, certain types of access prob-
lems are relatively more common. Vulnerable subpopulations of enrollees have sig-

nificantly higher rates of access problems than do others. One in four enrollees

would not recommend their plan to a family member or friend with a serious or
chronic health problem. In addition, many of those who choose to leave their plans,

particularly those among the minority who return to fee-for-service Medicare, report
that they do so because of problems with their plan's physicians or with access to

care. Finally, although the ability to make comparisons with fee-for-service Medi-
care in this respect is very limited, it appears that beneficiaries in managed-care
plans are considerably more likely (up to three times more likely, on average) to re-

port problems with access to care.

Reasons for enrollment and disenrollment.—Medicare beneficiaries have the op-

portunity to enroll in a managed-care plan at any time during the plan's open en-
rollment period. Many plans offer continuous open enrollment. In addition, bene-
ficiaries have the option to disenroll from their plans to return to fee-for-service

Medicare or to join another managed-care plan at the end of any month.
Our study looked at the reasons why beneficiaries enroll in and disenroll from

risk plans. These reasons help us understand what beneficiaries like and dislike

about managed care and how the program could better respond to consumers' pref-

erences.
One way that managed-care plans may facilitate access to care is by offering a

more expansive benefits package than that of traditional fee-for-service Medicare
and by lowering beneficiaries' out-of-pocket costs. Nearly half of all beneficiaries sur-
veyed (enrollees and disenroUees) cited the reduced costs or increased benefits of a
risk plan as their primary motivation for joining (Figure 3).
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Figure 3.

—

Beneficiaries' Reasons for Enrolling in Medicare Risk Plans

Percentage

Costs/benefits 47
Providers in plan 12

Friend/relative recommendation 10

Other 11

East of physical access 4
Marketing 7

Employer/union offered 9

Source: Mathematica Policy Research survey for Physicijui Payment Review Commission.

The prevalence of other reasons for joining varied by beneficiaries' enrollment sta-

tus. For example, a plan's providers were a leading reason for joining a plan, par-

ticularly for current enroUees, 12 percent of whom said that this was the key reason
they joined (vs. 8 percent of disenroUees). Beneficiaries who disenroUed were much
more likely than current enroUees to report that a salesperson influenced their deci-

sion to join (11 percent vs. 6 percent).

Although only a small percentage of enroUees leave their plans (about 8 percent),

their experiences can provide important insights. Beneficiaries leave their plans for

both voluntary and involuntary reasons. Only about a third of those who leave their

plans return to fee for service. Of those who do so, nearly 40 percent left because
of problems with their plan's physicians or access concerns (Figure 4). More than
a quarter left because they moved out of their plan's service area or for other invol-

untary reasons. Those who switched plans differed from disenroUees who returned

to fee for service in their reasons for making the change. Plan switchers were more
likely than disenroUees to have left their plan because their doctor left, died, or re-

tired, (10 percent vs. 1 percent) and less likely to have left because of access prob-

lems (4 percent vs. 10 percent).

Figure 4.

—

Beneficiaries' Reasons for Disenrolling from Risk Plans to Medicare Fee
for Service

Percentage

Access problems/location 14
Involuntary reasons 28
Misunderstood plan rules 4
Financial issues 18

Other 10
Problems with physicians 26

Source: Mathematica PoUcy Research survey for Physician Payment Review Commission.

The survey also asked current enroUees about their intention to remain with their

plan. Only 4 percent of current enroUees reported that they either planned to

disenroU from their current risk plan or wanted to disenroU but felt that they could

not. The key reason given by those who felt that they could not leave was their con-

cern that they could not afford other health insurance.

Perceived barriers to care or problems with access.—To assess whether bene-

ficiaries perceived barriers to care in their plans, the survey asked whether they
had any problems obtaining specific services or making appointments, whether they
had experienced delays in obtaining care while awaiting plan approval, and whether
they had any other problems obtaining care in their plan. Overall, the levels of ac-

cess problems were low (Figure 5). Only 8 percent of current risk plan enroUees said

that they had trouble making appointments in their plan, and only 5 percent re-

ported experiencing delays in getting care while waiting for plan approval. Six per-

cent of those who were hospitalized felt that they had been discharged too soon, and
a similar percentage of beneficiaries had not been referred for specialty care that
they felt they needed. More problems were seen in the area of home health services,

where 17 percent of those who had used some services said they wanted more than
they were able to get. DisenroUees to fee for service, who constitute only a very
small percentage of the total population, were about twice as Ukely as current en-

roUees to report most types of access problems.
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FIGURE 5.—SELECTED ACCESS MEASURES FOR RISK PLAN ENROLLEES AND DISENROLLEES

[In percentage]

Enrollees Disenrollees

Had trouble making appointments 8 15

Experienced delays waiting for plan approval 5 10

Not referred for specialty care wanted 6 14

Not admitted to hospital when wanted 1 4

Felt discharged too soon if hospitalized 6 14

Wanted more home health services, if used any 17 36

Source: Mathematica Policy Research survey for Physician Payment Review Commission.

Utilization of preventive services.—Findings on preventive care for managed-care
enrollees are encouraging. Two-thirds of enrollees reported receiving a flu shot the
previous winter, and the percentage of female beneficiaries who had received a
mammogram in the past year was nearly as high at 62 percent (Figure 6). These
rates were higher than those for Medicare fee for service, which were 58 percent
and 39 percent, respectively. These findings were consistent with expectations re-

garding the emphasis on preventive care in managed-care plans.

FIGURE 6.—USE OF PREVENTIVE CARE IN MEDICARE IN THE PAST YEAR

[Percentage]

Fee-for-serv-

ice

Manage-

care

enrollees

Had flu shot 58 66

Had mammogram (women) 39 62

Source: Mathematica Policy Research study for Physician Payment Review Commission.

Note: Estimates for fee-for-service beneficiaries were adjusted to account for differences between managed-care enroll-

ees and fee-tor-service beneficiaries in age, race, and health status. However, the difference in mammography may reflect

differences between the two groups in the age distribution of women within the 65 to 84 age range, since some guide-

lines do not recommend annual mammograms for women after age 75.

Other indicators of access.—Some of the indicators of potential access that were
used in the study highlighted areas in which improvement would be desirable. Two
examples are in the area of consumer information. Of new managed-care plan en-
rollees, almost all—96 percent—reported receiving enough information from their

plan at the time they enrolled to make them feel comfortable about using it. Plans
appear to do less well in meeting subsequent or additional needs for information,
however. Of the 25 percent who had a question or who wanted more information,
a fifth had problems obtaining it or tried to get the information without success.

Similarly, while most beneficiaries said that they knew they had the right to appeal
if their plan refuses to pay for or provide a service, nearly a third were unaware
of their appeal rights. This finding raises concerns since such knowledge is an im-
portant element of consumer protection in a managed-care environment. The impor-
tance of information cuts across both managed care and fee for service. Unfortu-
nately, we have no data by which to estimate fee-for-service beneficiaries' experi-

ences in this area.

Satisfaction.—The findings on enroUee satisfaction are consistent with our find-

ings on access (Figure 7). Nine in ten current enrollees would recommend their

plans to friends or family members. That proportion drops to three-quarters who
would recommend their plan to someone who was seriously ill or who had a chronic
condition. Nearly half of all current enrollees rated the overall quality of care, the
ease of seeing a primary care physician of choice, and the choice of specialists as
excellent. Only 4 to 7 percent rated their plans as fair or poor on these dimensions.
Again, disenrollees were less satisfied, and were considerably less likely to rec-

ommend their plan to others.
Access and satisfaction for vulnerable groups.—Certain groups of beneficiaries ex-

perience higher rates of access problems than their counterparts (Table 1). Groups
who were found to be more vulnerable to experiencing access problems in Medicare
managed-care include many of those groups found to be vulnerable in fee for service.
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They include: The nonelderly disabled, the oldest old, those with functional impair-
ments, those in fair or poor health, and those with worsening health.

The rates of access problems among vulnerable groups ranged from about a third

higher than their counterparts to rates more than twice as high. This translates to

a finding, for example, that nearly one out of four beneficiaries who are either dis-

abled or in fair or poor health reported experiencing access problems in their plan.

FIGURE 7.—SELECTED SATISFACTION MEASURES FOR MEDICARE RISK PLAN ENROLLEES AND

DISENROLLEES

(Percentage)

Enrollees Disenrollees

Rated overall health care covered by plan as excellent 44 25

Rated overall health care covered by plan as fair or poor 4 24

Rated ease of seeing primary care physician of choice as excellent 45 30

Rated choice of specialists available as excellent 45 30

Would recommend plan to family/friends 91 57

Would recommend plan to those with serious/chronic health problem 75 44

Source: Mathematica Policy Research survey for Physician Payment Review Commission.

The groups of enrollees who experienced more access problems and the groups
who reported lower satisfaction were not, for the most part, one and the same. Afri-

can American beneficiaries, for example, reported significantly lower satisfaction

than white beneficiaries, but they did not experience a higher rate of access prob-
lems. Another interesting finding was that those groups who had more access prob-
lems or lower satisfaction were just as likely as others to say they would recommend
their plan to someone with a serious or chronic health problem.
Because vulnerable populations may be more likely to have access problems just

because they have greater needs for care (and thus more opportunities to encounter
problems), the study also looked at the rates of access problems among only those
who had either used or wanted to use a particular service. In most cases, greater
need for care was responsible for much of the difference in rates of access problems
between vulnerable groups and their counterparts. But even after adjusting for dif-

ferences in the need for care, the nonelderly disabled were twice as likely as bene-
ficiaries in the 65-to-84 age group to report problems obtaining home health care
or specialty referrals.
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Comparisons with fee-for-service Medicare.—The primary purpose of our study
was to assess access in Medicare managed care, but comparisons with fee-for-service

Medicare were also sought, where possible, to put the findings in context. To make
such comparisons, we used data from the Medicare Current Beneficiary Survey
(MCBS), which was designed to measure access and other issues under fee for serv-

ice. The extent to which we can compare access between Medicare managed care
and fee for service is greatly limited by differences in both survey design and the
characteristics of beneficiaries in fee for service and those in managed care. Also,

the most recent data for fee for service were collected in the fall of 1994, eighteen
months prior to our study.

Despite these limitations, a few comparisons of access in Medicare managed care
and fee for service could be made. First, the findings suggest that beneficiaries in

managed-care plans are more likely to report access problems than are those in fee-

for-service Medicare (Table 2). Medicare managed-care enrollees were three times
more likely than their fee-for-service counterparts to report some problem with ac-

cess to care (13 percent vs. 4 percent). Of particular concern is an even larger dif-

ference (16 percent vs. 3 percent) between managed care and fee for service in re-

ported access problems among the oldest old, which suggests that managed-care
plans may be weaker in providing chronic care than in providing acute care. Dif-

ferences between our survey and the MCBS complicate the interpretation of these
findings, because their effect is to inflate the magnitude of the differences between
managed care and fee for service. The observed differences are large enough, how-
ever, to rule out the possibility that they are entirely due to differences in how the
information was gathered.

TABLE 2.—COMPARISON OF REPORTED ACCESS PROBLEMS BY VULNERABLE SUBPOPULATIONS IN

MEDICARE MANAGED CARE AND FEE FOR SERVICE

[Percentage]

All Bene- Nonelderly
g,^ |^

African Low in- ^^^^'^'

ficiaries disabled American come

'

^^L

Percent of fee-for-service beneficiaries who had trouble

getting care in past year 2 4.0 14.1 3.1 8.2 7.8 9.3

Percent of managed-care enrollees who have ever expe-

rienced access problems in their plans: ^

All enrollees 13.3 24.9 16.1 12.6 15.9 23.6

Those enrolled for one year or less 12.0 21.3 23.1 13.6 16.5 26.1

Likelihood of access problems by vulnerable subgroups

relative to their counterparts (ratio):*

Fee-for-service beneficiaries 5.2 I.l 2.4 3.9 11.6

Managed-care enrollees:

All 2.0 1.3 0.9 1.3 2.2

Enrolled for one year or less 2.1 2.2 1.2 1.9 4,5

' Low income is defmed as an annual household income of less than $10,000.
^ For fee-for-service beneficiaries, the access measure shown is the percentage who reported having trouble getting health care they wanted

or needed within the past year

3 For managed-care enrollees, the access measure shown is the percentage who reported one or more of the following problems since en-

rolling in the plan: not being referred for specialist care wanted, not being admitted to a hospital when wanted, being discharged from a

hospital before feeling ready, not receiving home health care wanted, experiencing delays obtaining care, and experiencing any other problems

obtaining care

*The ratio is the proportion of the subgroup with access problems divided by the proportion of the counterpart with access problems. For

the ratio of access problems by vulnerable subgroups relative to their counterparts, the counterparts are beneficiaries ages 65 to 84 (for

comparison of the nonelderly disabled and the oldest old), whites (tor African Americans), those with an annual household income of over

$20,000 (for those with low income), and those in excellent health (for those in fair or poor health).

Source: Mathematica Policy Research survey for Physician Payment Review Commission,

Although the overall rate of reported access problems appears higher in Medicare
managed care, it is noteworthy that the differences between vulnerable groups and
others are larger in fee for service than they are in managed care. The finding is

especially encouraging for African Americans, who are over twice as likely as others
to report access problems in fee-for-service Medicare, but are less likely than bene-
ficiaries of other races to report access problems in Medicare managed care.

IMPLICATIONS FOR POLICY

The Commission's study has proven valuable in a number of ways. First, its find-

ings on beneficiaries' perceptions and experiences regarding Medicare managed care
are reassuring on several dimensions at a time when enrollment is growing rapidly.
The study also illustrates the usefulness of survey data for pinpointing problems
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The study also illustrates the usefulness of survey data for pinpointing problems
that can be addressed by appropriate policy initiatives. There are clearly areas
where improvements can and need to be made. In closing, I'd like to highlight some
of the studj^s conclusions that we see as being most important for policy.

First, the Commission's experience with this survey reinforced our view that com-
prehensive and comparable data on access to care are needed for both the fee-for-

service and the managed-care sectors of the Medicare program. The Commission be-
lieves that information on access to care needs to be provided to beneficiaries. Such
information can help them to understand the differences between fee-for-service and
managed-care. Knowing what types of access issues can arise can help beneficiaries

to know what questions they should ask of their plans in order to make informed
decisions about their health coverage.
One of the particularly important findings from our study is that special attention

must be paid to monitoring the experiences of the nonelderly disabled in Medicare
managed care. Although they are currently less likely than other beneficiaries to

join a Medicare risk plan, the number of disabled beneficiaries enrolling in risk

plans is growing. The underlying reasons for these beneficiaries' propensity to have
greater access problems in Medicare risk plans needs further examination, particu-

larly as our survey showed that this propensity is not entirely due to their greater
need for care. Also, approaches for meeting the special needs of the disabled in the
managed-care environment need to be identified and evaluated.
Home health is also an area for future attention. Our study found higher rates

of unmet demand for home health services than for other services, with more than
20 percent of those who had either used home health care or wanted to use it saying
that they did not get as much care as they wanted or did not get any care. More
than two thirds of those beneficiaries reported adverse consequences from not re-

ceiving the home health care they believed they needed, including 24 percent who
said that their condition worsened as a result. These findings are of policy interest,

particularly when considered in the context of findings from other studies that
found much shorter average episodes of home health care in managed-care plans
than in fee for service. At the same time, this finding must be considered in the
context of rapid growth of home health care in fee-for-service Medicare, which may
have raised expectations among managed-care enrollees.

In addition to needing information to make their initial health coverage choices,

beneficiaries have additional needs for information once they have enrolled. This is

an area in which we found that plans could do a better job. As I mentioned, a sig-

nificant percentage of those enrollees who sought additional information about their

plan had problems getting their questions answered. Also, a third of enrollees said

they did not know they had the right to appeal a plan's decision not to provide or

pay for a service. Our study suggests that plans may need to take additional steps
to inform consumers in these areas. Consumer information is likely to be an issue

in fee-for-service Medicare as well, although as I mentioned, we do not have data
available by which to estimate the extent of the problem.
The Commission's study also suggested some lessons that can be applied to help

redesign national surveys so that they provide more comprehensive information on
access in a managed-care environment. We plan to share these findings with the
Health Care Financing Administration and others interested in ensuring that the
Congress and the Administration have the information needed to inform policy deci-

sions on the rapidly growing Medicare managed-care program.

PPRC ACCESS STUDY POPULATION

Senator SPECTER. How many people did your study cover, Dr.
Wilensky?

Dr. Wilensky. The actual sample size was 3,080. They were in

the plan, at least 2 months in the year that ended February 1996.

Senator Specter. They were in the plan at least 2 months in the
year that ended February 1996?

Dr. Wilensky. Right. There was also oversampling for the vnl-

nerable populations.
Senator SPECTER. What do you mean by that?
Dr. Wilensky. It is a nationally representative sample so people

are chosen to represent the country. But, because the areas of pop-
ulation we are especially concerned about—like the oldest old, Afri-

can-Americans, and low-income populations—are in smaller num-
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bers than the elderly as a whole, if you want to make sure you
have enough in your sample to talk about whether they have ac-

cess problems, you have to oversample and then you reweight them
when analyzing the data.

Senator Specter. Well, when you say a sample of 3,080 and they
were all in the plan for at least 2 months ending February 1996,
how long was the person in the longest period of time?

Dr. WiLENSKY. The average length of enrollment was 35 months.
Everyone in the study was enrolled for at least 2 months. Some
people may have been enrolled for as long as the plans have been
in existence, which is the late 1980's.

Senator Specter. You are saying some people would have been
in for as long as 7 years or more, an average of 35 months, and
everybody in for at least 2 months?

Dr. WiLENSKY. Yes; everyone had to be in at least 2 months to

make sure they had some experience.

FFS AND HMO COMPARISONS IN PPRC STUDY

Senator Specter. Now, was there a comparison in your plan, as
there was in Dr. Ware's plan, people in fee-for-service contrasted

to managed care?
Dr. WiLENSKY. There was not a good comparison. The only com-

parison we had was a study called the "Current Beneficiary Sur-
vey," which is an ongoing survey started when I was at HCFA, to

include a sample of all of the elderly and to follow them over time,

so that we would have ongoing measures of use and access and sat-

isfaction.

To the extent that there were comparable or near comparable
questions, we have a comparison. We did not have the money to

fund a real comparison study that used exactly the same; that
would have been better.

Senator Specter. Do I take that answer to mean that you do not
have a comparison between fee-for-service and managed care?

Dr. WiLENSKY. We have some measures. We did not have the
same information for fee-for-service and managed care. We do not
have that.

Senator SPECTER. When you say you have some comparison,
what comparison do you have?

Dr. WiLENSKY. Well, there are a number of measures where we
look at the number of people who reported having trouble getting

care last year in terms of beneficiaries in managed care versus
those in managed care.

For example, this is on table II of the testimony. It is primarily
in some aggregate numbers of overall difficulties.

Senator Specter. Tell me what the aggregate numbers say and
what they mean.

Dr. WiLENSKY. What they say is that about three times the num-
ber of people who are in Medicare managed care have difficulty

accessing care as those who are in fee-for-service, the absolute
numbers.
Senator Specter. Well, that would be comparable to what Dr.

Ware says.
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Dr. WiLENSKY. That is in the aggregate. In the specific, the dif-

ferences between managed care and fee-for-service are smaller for

some vulnerable groups, African-Americans in particular.

Senator Specter. Are you saying that it is lower than three
times?

Dr. WiLENSKY. Yes.
Senator Specter. Or, they get better access in managed care

than they get in fee-for-service?

Dr. WiLENSKY. In that case, I am saying both.

Senator Specter. Well, I do not understand that at all.

Dr. WiLENSKY. OK.
Senator Specter. Let us start with the proposition as to how big

your statistical survey is on African-Americans.
Dr. WiLENSKY. OK. I misspoke on the issue of do they get abso-

lutely better; it is the differential between African-Americans and
others.

Senator Specter. What did you misspeak about?
Dr. WiLENSKY. In Medicare fee-for-service, 8 percent of African-

Americans indicated they had a difficulty receiving care; in man-
aged care, 13 percent reported they had a difficulty. In fee-for-serv-

ice, African-Americans are more likely than white beneficiaries to

report problems accessing care. In managed care, they report ac-

cess problems at the same rate as others.

Senator Specter. Wait a minute, 8 percent had difficulty in get-

ting managed care?
Dr. WiLENSKY. Right.
Senator Specter. And how many percent had
Dr. WiLENSKY. And 13 percent had
Senator Specter. Wait a minute. How many people are we talk-

ing about now? What are the actual numbers? Is your sample big
enough to really have the rates?

Dr. WiLENSKY. Yes.
Senator Specter. How many people are you talking about?
Dr. WiLENSKY. The absolute, in terms of the sample size, I do not

have that.

Senator Specter. Well, I would like to know that.

Dr. WiLENSKY. My information in terms of
Senator Specter. While you take a look at that, let me turn to

Dr. Ware for just a moment.
Dr. Ware, your study is from 1986 until 1990, and your report

was published on October 2 of this year, 1996. What took so long
to conclude the study and then write the report?

Dr. Ware. I think that is a very good question. This study was
a vanguard study in a number of respects. There were many meth-
odological issues that we addressed for the first time in this study.

Even after the time we ended data collection in 1990, we did not
start analyzing the—we had to prepare the data for analysis. The
particular summary measures that we developed for purposes of

this study had never been developed before.

The journal wanted independent peer review not by a clinical

policy journal, but by a methodological journal of those methods.
Those were independently peer reviewed and published prior to our
using them in a major policy study.
Senator Specter. When was that publication made?
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Dr. Ware. That publication occurred in 1995. The peer review
process itself, which I can attest to, is the most thorough peer re-

view I have ever experienced in 25 years in this field. It was very
constructive and very thorough. The responses we were exchanging
were much longer than the article itself.

Senator Specter. When did the peer review start?

Dr. Ware. The peer review on this particular paper started a lit-

tle over 1 year before the publication of the actual

Senator SPECTER. It starts in 1994?
Dr. Ware. Yes.
Senator Specter. Well, why the lapse between 1990 and 1995?
Dr. Ware. Well, the methodology that we used to define changes

in health status itself was not published until the 1994 and 1995.

The good news is that for the next study of this type and, for exam-
ple, the new seniors health measure that HCFA is adopting these
methodological problems have been solved and they don't face the
next group that does this type of study.

I would also take this opportunity to point out that we need an
entity not a patchwork of grants and foundation support and unso-
licited research proposals to various agencies. We need something
that is more organized than that to monitor
Senator Specter. What do you suggest?
Dr. Ware. I suggest an agency be given that responsibility. We

certainly have some capable ones. But something other than a
bunch of independent

Senator SPECTER. Which one do you suggest?
Dr. Ware. I would want to benefit from their knowledge, since

they are much closer to their own staff and their capabilities, but
either the Health Care Financing Administration, the Agency for

Health Care Policy and Research.
They are also cooperating with the major accrediting organiza-

tions such as JCAHO, and the NCQA. In fact, those organizations
are helping to define the standards in this field.

Today, there is no reason why we couldn't take outcomes, if any-
one in this room knew the 4-year health outcomes of their seniors

from 1992 to 1996, and have those results published within 6
months, if someone were funded to do that.

Senator Specter. Doctor, I raise the question because there has
already been a comment made about your study as to the lapse of

time. I would like to have you submit, if you would, to the sub-
committee in writing just what the timeframe was when you fin-

ished the basic study, the lapse which leads up to the October 2
date so we can have a frame of reference and perhaps can use that
as a basis for trying to find some way to get the studies done more
rapidly.

Dr. Ware, in your studies, did you come upon any problems about
having primary care physicians in managed care inform their pa-
tients about the availability, necessity, desirability of specialized

services?

Dr. Ware. Yes; I think this is an important consideration in com-
paring the results of the two studies you have just heard about this

morning. The differences that we observed between HMOs and tra-

ditional plans, many of the differences occurred after they gained
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access to the system. First of all, they were substantially less likely

to get inpatient care. Our seniors were 2V2 times
Senator SPECTER. Less likely to get patient care after they en-

rolled in the plan?
Dr. Ware. Well, during the period we observed them, one of the

ways the plans save money is to do as much of the delivery of care
outside of any expensive and risky inpatient facility. Honest doc-

tors disagree on how far you can go with that cost-containment
strategy without harm to health.
Senator Specter. Let me interrupt for just a moment. I have to

excuse myself for just a few minutes, and we will come right back
to this. We will stand in recess for just a few minutes.

Dr. Ware. Thank you.
[A brief recess was taken. 1

Senator SPECTER. We will resume.
Doctor, you were testifying about difficulties that are determined

after someone gets into a plan contrasted with before. Would you
amplify that, please?

Dr. Ware. Yes; could I finish a point on the agencies. Whichever
agency is given this responsibility, we need to insulate that agency
from the wrath of the half of the health care community that is not
going to like the result of either a quality study or an outcome
study.
There are winners and losers almost always. If the agencies are

in jeopardy as a result of whether some vested interest group does
not like the results, they cannot function.

I do not know the best answer as to which agency in the Federal
Government currently has the best capability to do the kind of
thing that I recommended. Whoever it is, they need to be insulated
from what we call the "shoot the messenger" phenomenon. My
other point had to do with
Senator Specter. I don't know how you do that.

Dr. Ware. Well, I think we have had some very good recent ex-

amples of what goes wrong if we do not.

Senator Specter. We have had a lot of examples. We would be
interested in problems you faced specifically on the time delay, and
what your recommendations are as to a model. I think that is

something which needs to be done, and we can see to it that it gets
done.
We can make an allocation or appropriation, if necessary. I would

not want to wait until the next appropriation bill. We can move
ahead on that. These judgments are very important.

I am very interested in the specifics as to what was found. When
you have 8 percent and 13 percent, as Dr. Wilensky is testifying

about, I want to know what those numbers mean. We are about to

come back to that.

Because these generalizations carry a lot of impact if you have
a conclusion that fee-for-service is better than managed care. I

want to know the tough statistics and the way you get there. That
is what we need to know.
When you talk about—pursuing that line for just a moment be-

fore getting back to what happens to people after they once get into
the care—2,000 people in your survey, how many of them were in
managed care, and how many were in fee-for-service?
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Dr. Ware. By design they were, roughly, evenly divided between
prepaid plans, prepaid practice HMO's, and the more popular cur-

rent IPA model HMO and fee-for-service.

Senator Specter. What effort was made, or is it relevant, to see

what condition they were in at the time they went into the plan?
If you have 1,000 people, is that enough to say that if 54 percent
are worse on managed care, that that is a big enough sampling
that you wouldn't expect it to be worse because of some particular-

ities of the people in the group?
Dr. Ware. One of the most important methodological issues in

health care policy evaluation in .Ajnerica today is to better under-
stand how to study self-selected groups that choose a particular

style of practice, and it is very clear the public wants that choice.

People tend to gravitate to plans that have the features that are
good for them and for their families. That causes the "health
stock," so to speak, the risk and the cost to be distributed in an
uneven way.
Senator Specter. I could not have articulated my question bet-

ter. Now, what is the answer?
Dr. Ware. The answer is we have to master the methodology of

measuring these differences in risk. For example, in our study
Senator Specter. Well, let me ask the question again. If you

have 1,000 people, is that enough to overcome the kinds of consid-

erations you have just specified?

Dr. Ware. The 1,000 people help you to have statistical precision

so that you can see a difference in the size that you are interested

in, but that does not help you—the sample size does not have any-
thing to do with the other problem, which is, how do you conclude
what the outcome would have been if they had both treated the
same population, which they didn't.

In our study, and this was one of the things that took years in

peer review, we used a new risk adjustment methodology that al-

lowed us to make a fair comparison between HMO and fee-for-serv-

ice even though fee-for-service, on average their patients were 10
years older, they were more likely to have a chronic condition, they
were less likely to be poor. We oversampled
Senator Specter. Fee-for-service on the average was 10 years

older?
Dr. Ware. That is a common finding, Mr. Chairman.
Senator Specter. Well, I would have expected more of them to

be worse off than the managed care people if they are 10 years
older.

Dr. Ware. That is why we looked at the outcome, we stratified

it by age, so we looked at seniors. In fact, we oversampled seniors
in both systems of care to make sure we would have enough of
them and that we could compare
Senator Specter. Oversampled seniors. Now, these 2,000 people

were not all seniors?
Dr. Ware. That is right, but they were all adults.

Senator Specter. How many of the 2,000 were seniors?
Dr. Ware. About 40 percent. We oversampled them. Forty per-

cent were 65 and older, approximately 40 percent, that is the 800.
Senator Specter. Well, what did you find as to those who were

not seniors?
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Dr. Ware. Well, those who were not seniors, very good news for

those who favor HMO's as a solution to rising costs. They did as
well or better; the better was not statistically significant.

It was very clear that the nonseniors, nonpoor in our study did

very well in HMO's that our study showed substantially reduced
medical care expenditures. We cut hospitalization rates about 30
percent, those plans did. There were no measurable effects on
them.
Senator Specter. How about the poor nonseniors?
Dr. Ware. The poor? Anyone who is poor and/or senior; and if

you are both, it is even worse.
Senator Specter. No; I asked you about the poor nonseniors.
Dr. Ware. The poor nonseniors did significantly worse in the

HMOs that we studied than equivalent poor patients in a fee-for-

service plan in the same category.

Senator Specter. How would you account for that?
Dr. Ware. Our study cannot say in a scientific sense what

caused these differences. What we can say is that these differences

occurred on the watch of these managed care plans and on the
watch of these fee-for-service plans. We also documented a number
of things that were very different in these two systems of care.

Senator Specter. You could draw no conclusions as to why?
Dr. Ware. We can speculate. I would be happy to offer that spec-

ulation, and that is this list of things that were very different for

those people who got access to one system as opposed to another.
These are clues as to what might
Senator Specter. Right now, we are on the poor people, the poor

nonseniors.
Dr. Ware. That is right.

Senator Specter. They did worse in managed care than in fee-

for-service?

Dr. Ware. That is correct.

Senator Specter. You call it "speculation." What is your specula-

tion? Sometimes there is not a whole lot of difference between
them. When you talk about opinions and judgments, that is a pret-

ty tough line to draw.
Dr. Ware. In science, we have a very high standard for what we

can say for a particular study. When I speculate, I am going be-

yond that. I am not speaking for my colleagues any more, and I do
not have the benefit of peer review.

I think a very important lesson is the poor and the elderly in the
United States of America are significantly more likely to decline

each year in both systems of care. We are not doing as well for the
elderly and the poor as we could in either system. We are not doing
as well for those who have a psychiatric disorder. This is in all pop-
ulations.

Senator Specter. Let us try to just stay for just 1 minute with
the poor nonseniors on your speculation of a reason why the poor
nonseniors do worse in managed care than fee-for-service. Can you
address that, please?

Dr. Ware. Yes; under what model of treatment an outcome with
less health care be better for poor patients with chronic conditions?

When you look at the list of all the things they got significantly
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less of, the poor with chronic conditions, they were less likely to be
hospitalized.

The fee-for-service poor were two and one-half times more likely

to see a subspecialist who was trained in their disease in an HMO
relative to a fee-for-service plan. They were significantly less likely

to see a doctor they have ever talked to before. The difference in

continuity of care is very important if you have a chronic disease
for which there is no cure and an awful lot of what you need is car-
ing.

Senator Specter. Why would they be less likely to see a doctor
that they have seen before?

Dr. Ware. I would ask the managed care organizations to ex-
plain that. They have a very
Senator Specter. What about fee-for-service? You are on man-

aged care right now?
Dr. Ware. Everything I have just said is true of how the poor

experience the managed care plans that we study differently from
the fee-for-service plans.
Senator Specter. They were two and one-half less likely to see

a specialist?

Dr. Ware. That is correct.

Senator Specter. Now, is that related to managed care in a cal-

culated way discouraging seeing specialists?

Dr. Ware. Certainly. The reason we do outcome studies is be-
cause we need to better understand how far we can go in restrict-

ing access to hospital to subspecialists. Clearly, there is much un-
necessary hospital care, subspecialty care in America. We are try-

ing to fine tune that.

One of the problems right now, I would suggest, I would specu-
late that managed care today in America is a little too blunt. When
it implements cost-containment strategies to reduce unnecessary
utilization, some of that carries over into the populations for whom
that service or that specialty that is being withheld might have
been beneficial. There are many examples of that in the literature.
For example, when we try to reduce unnecessary prescribing of

antibiotics for viral infections, we also reduce significantly the use
of antibiotics for bacterial infections for which they are considered
quality of care.

The situation today is that we do not have good enough informa-
tion systems in managed care to make decisions in real time as to
who to withhold care from to save money, which is one of the goals,
and maintain the quality for everyone. The poor and the elderly
clearly are not able to manage that new style of practice as well
as the younger, well-off people in better health.

VULNERABLE BENEFICL\RIES IN PPRC STUDY

Senator Specter. Doctor Wilensky, let us come back to you if you
have those figures. Focusing on your testimony on fee-for-service,

the figure was 8 percent compared to 13 percent under managed
care. My question was. How big is your statistical base on each?

Dr. Wilensky. Right. Let me give you the specific answer. The
13 percent number there, 480 of the 3,080 people were African-
Americans, and that was about close to 60 people.

Senator Specter. What is that 13 percent figure again?
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Dr. WiLENSKY. Oh, excuse me. The 13 percent of the African-

Americans reported some problems in receiving care who were part

of managed care, that has ever experienced any access problems in

their plan.

Senator Specter. Eight percent reported problems under fee-for-

service?

Dr. WiLENSKY. Among the African-Americans, 8 percent of the
fee-for-service beneficiaries reported that they had trouble getting

care during the year. It was an attempt in these two different sur-

veys to try to compare what we could see in Medicare managed
care versus fee-for-service.

You had earlier asked me why we didn't have a control group
like that. I would just like to try to put it in perspective. We are

an agency with a $4 million budget. We spent $500,000 doing the
survey, because there was no other information that we saw was
available when trying to measure access to care under Medicare
managed care.

While we think that the methodology and the survey technique
is sound, the 3,080 sample is a reasonable number and we have
reasonable precision, there is no question that it would have been
a better study and we would have liked to have had a study that

had a sample that used precisely the same questions with a fee-

for-service cohort because we could make much stronger state-

ments.
We thought this was important baseline information, and impor-

tant as a way to proceed in the future. We hope this will drive the
interest in appropriations for someone to continue monitoring this.

NEED FOR AN AGENCY TO MONITOR ACCESS IN MEDICARE HMO'S

Senator Specter. Dr. Ware, what do you think of Dr. Wilenskys
suggestion that we try to attach some agency with a more com-
prehensive study of these precise issues?

Dr. WiLENSKY. I agree with that. I believe that it needs to occur
on an ongoing basis. I believe, although I do not know for sure,

that part of what we are seeing is the influx of individuals into

managed care organizations, some of whom have more experience
than others in dealing with seniors or with sick people.

It is not surprising that some of the seniors, particularly those
with certain kinds of health problems may report difficulties be-

cause of this large group. I think if we expect it to continue as we
do, then it is especially important that we have yearly or biyearly

estimates of what is going on with access.

RESTRICTIONS ON SPECIALTY CARE REFERRALS

Senator Specter. Dr. Wilensky, in your study of the managed
care operations, did you find a problem with respect to primary
care physicians being restricted from advising patients of the need
for specialty care?

Dr. WiLENSKY. Well, what we asked from the patients' points of

view whether they had trouble not being referred to specialty care

they wanted. We don't know whether the primary care physicians
were deliberately intervening or had an incentive.
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We found that 6 percent said they were not referred to specialty

care that they wanted. Among those who left to go back to fee-for-

service, the number was higher.

It is important, again trying to look at our numbers, that while
the differences should not be ignored, overall the kinds of percent-
ages we heard being reported of people who had difficulties getting
something were in the neighborhood of 5, 6, or 8 percent. That
means obviously that somewhere in the 92 to 94 percent of the sen-
iors were satisfied on measures like making appointments, not ex-

periencing
Senator Specter. Can we focus for just 1 minute on being re-

ferred to specialists?

Dr. WiLENSKY. OK.
Senator Specter. You say there was a 5 to 6 percent?
Dr. WiLENSKY. Six percent said they were not referred for spe-

cialty care that they wished.
Senator Specter. Well, what is your judgment as to the balance

of the 94 percent that did not need specialty care
Dr. WiLENSKY. Six percent
Senator Specter. Let me finish, please. Six percent felt they

needed specialty care, 94 percent did not. Is there any significant

number in your judgment among the 94 percent who may have
needed specialty referrals but did not know it?

Dr. WiLENSKY. Well, 51 percent of all the survey respondents ac-

tually were referred to a specialist at least once. What we do not
know is, of the percent who were not referred, whether or not there
were some who should have been referred, but did not know that
that was the case, so they did not have the perceived access prob-
lem.
Senator Specter. Of the 94 percent, 51 percent were referred.

That means that 43 percent were not referred?
Dr. WiLENSKY. Well, it means that they did not have a problem,

and they did not have a referral. They did not perceive they had
a problem and they did not have a referral.

Senator Specter. When you testified about the people who were
not happy not being referred, did you have any specific knowledge
about the arrangements for managed care companies which limited
the primary care physician from making a referrals to a specialist?

Dr. WiLENSKY. No; they, of course, used different strategies, had
different arrangements, depending on whether they are a staff or
group model or whether they are a more loosely-affiliated network
model. They would typically have different arrangements between
the primary care and specialty physicians, but we did not have
that.

FINDINGS ON GAG RULE

Senator Specter. Do you think there is any substantive concern
about the so-called gag rule on managed care operations limiting
primary care physicians from referrals to specialists?

Dr. WiLENSKY. To use John Ware's phrase, this is going to a
speculative role. I have tried to inquire in meeting with various
managed care groups whether they engage in such activities, be-
cause I think it is a very bad activity to engage in.
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It is my impression speaking to them, but not attempting to ver-

ify whether it is the case, that most of the larger managed care

companies claim they do not engage in such practices and they also

believe this is not appropriate.

In one case I recall a very specific decision, that apparently they
have done so in the past, and are not doing so. I think that people
need information. They need information from their physicians,

they need infonnation about whether enrollees in the plan are sat-

isfied, and how often they disenroU, if they are to make good
choices.

I think it is a mistake for plans to inhibit information, and that
is something that we ought to ascertain how often it goes on. In
the areas in which the Government might intervene

Senator Specter. What you are saying is you really do not know
how often it goes on?

Dr. WiLENSKY. We do not. I do not believe that there is any infor-

mation.
Senator Specter. You talk about speculation, without specula-

tion, we would hardly legislate anything. Seriously, you listen to

the statements on the floor of the U.S. Senate and the citations

which are made as to facts, to call them a theory would be to com-
pliment them highly. If you want to compare that with what you
can put in the courtroom, it would vaporize.

You are an expert in the field, and Dr. Ware is an expert in the
field. It is hard to get a little testimony here from time to time
without moving over into your speculation.

Your speculation is probably worth a lot more than the best judg-
ment of a member on trying to figure out what is going on here,

and that is why I ask you for a sense of it. The central part of your
testimony, as I hear it is, you really just do not know how big of

a problem the so-called gag rule is.

Dr. WiLENSKY. I do not believe there is information that that at-

tempts to ascertain these percentage of plans, that do not allow
Senator Specter. Well, do you know of any plans which prohibit

or inhibit or in any way limit the primary care physician from tell-

ing a patient about a specialist?

Dr. WiLENSKY. I have heard physicians claim that they have
been interfered with as physicians. I have not seen any listing of

plans that assign that as a policy that they support.

Senator Specter. Would it be too big a burden for you to focus

on that particular issue and give the subcommittee a supplemental
answer?

Dr. WiLENSKY. No; I think that we could. If we do not have it,

we could even make calls to the various plans.

Senator Specter. I would greatly appreciate it. That is a fact

that we would like to know one way or another.
Dr. WiLENSKY. I would also like to know it.

Senator Specter. Dr. Ware, your hand is up. Before you volun-
teer, would you deal with the last question, that is: Do you have
a judgment or speculation about the extent to which managed care
companies limit primary care physicians from informing patients
about the need for special treatment?
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Dr. Ware. We actually have specific evidence on that. It is again
important to keep in mind the years of our study. Many experts
speculate that these pressures are much greater today.
Senator Specter. We have kept in mind the years of your study.

What is the answer to the question?
Dr. Ware. The answer is that the physicians in the HMO's that

we studied we surveyed them at the beginning of our study. They
were much more dissatisfied with their autonomy with respect to

practice, communication, a number of different aspects of the prac-
tice of medicine in HMO's relative to

Senator Specter. Physicians were discouraged with their auton-
omy?

Dr. Ware. That is right.

Senator Specter. Now, does that mean that they were prevented
by the managed care companies or inhibited or suggested that they
not inform patients about the desirability of a specialist referral?

Dr. Ware. Well, we know that specialty referrals were signifi-

cantly less likely to occur in the HMO's we studied. We also re-

ported in the Journal of the American Medical Association in 1994
that patients had significantly more access problems to specialists
using the lOM criteria of availability in the HMO's that we stud-
ied.

An important point to make at this point is that we are talking
about HMO's as if they are all created equal, and there is a saying
that if you have seen one HMO, you have seen one HMO. Most doc-
tors in this country practice in both plans. Some of the best doctors
in the country are in HMO's.

In our study, the HMO's were significantly different. That is why
we think that the plan-specific results on quality should be re-

ported to the public, so they can look at the advantages and dis-

advantages of each, but they are not all created equal in what we
are talking about. Some of them do very well in containing costs
and maintaining health. In our study
Senator Specter. Let us stay focused for just 1 minute, if we

could, about inhibiting referrals to specialists. If we legislate and
say that an HMO cannot have a gag rule, we are not going to affect

the ones who do not do it. What I am trying to ascertain is whether
there are some who do it.

Now, you have said that there are fewer referrals to specialists
with people in HMO's. You can draw an inference from that that
something is going on there. Do you know of any specific factual
basis that some managed care companies have a specific prohibi-
tion directed against a primary care physician from referring a pa-
tient to a specialist?

Dr. Ware. All I can say is that our patients reported less access
to specialists. We were not in the room when the doctors and pa-
tients talked to each other. In general, there is less communica-
tion

Senator Specter. Did you examine any documents which estab-
lished a contractual arrangement between the HMO's and the phy-
sicians?

Dr. Ware. No; we did not.

Senator Specter. Well, would it be too burdensome for you to re-

spond, as Dr. Wilensky has agreed to, to take a look at that and
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see if you can report to the subcommittee some hard evidence one
way or another?

Dr. Ware. OK. Could I also offer another opinion? With all due
respect, I think the whole notion of micromanaging managed care
in terms of what they can do and what they cannot do is a self-

defeating approach when you think of the hundreds and thousands
of things that occur or do not occur in the practice of medicine.

It is a profession. We should tell them what we are going to hold
them accountable for. We should give them a budget, and then we
should let them do their thing.

To try to pass laws as to "You can do this, you cannot do that,

this is the minimum length of stay for this procedure," that is not
going to work. There are too many things in that balloon

48-HOUR RULE FOR POSTDELIVERY CARE

Senator Specter. Do you think it was a bad law to say you had
to allow a mother to be in the hospital for at least 48 hours?

Dr. Ware. I think it was a good political thing to do in the short-

run, because obviously it was a very salient issue in the eyes of the
American public, but to solve the thousands of debates in health
care that way is not going to work. We really need to tell doctors
what we are going to hold them accountable for, give them a budg-
et, hold them accountable, and let them be professionals. That is

what I would suggest.
Senator SPECTER. How about that one item, at least 48 hours

after delivery?

Dr. WiLENSKY. I thought that was a bad law.

Senator Specter. I am asking Dr. Ware.
Dr. Ware. I am an empiricist. I would want to do an outcome

study. I would want to look at mothers, if we are talking about so-

called drive-thru pregnancies. I was surprised to hear about out-

patient mastectomies, but I am open-minded about this.

Senator Specter. Well, that was next, but let us finish up on
Dr. Ware. Well, I am open-minded.
Senator Specter. You do not have a judgment as to whether it

was a wise rule to have 48 hours for a woman to be in the hospital
after delivery?

Dr. Ware. I do not think it would be wise to take anyone's opin-
ion on that. These are too important to not look at the economics,
to look at what we are doing to people's lives, and what we are
doing clinically to these patients. Without knowing all three of
those, I would not place a lot on consensus on expert testimony. We
have made a lot of mistakes doing that.

We need good data on all of these issues, and we need an infor-

mation system that is not going to tell us the answer 6 years later.

We need one that is going to tell us in real time, before there is

a body count or some other bad outcome.
Senator SPECTER. My colleague. Senator Simms of Idaho, used to

say when the Congress was in recess the country was safe. By your
standard and level of proof, the country would be safe even when
the Congress was in session; we would not pass anjrthing. If you
were in the Congress and the vote came up, a minimum of 48
hours, would you vote yes, no, or you would abstain?
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Dr. Ware. I would probably represent the voters that I would an-
swer to. Hopefully, I would know their opinion on that issue. I

think ultimately we cannot resolve all of those issues that way. To
micromanage care in that way is going to be ineffective.

Senator Specter. You think Congress ought to stay out of any
interference with managed care?

Dr. Ware. No; I think Congress, if we are going to restrict the
choice of our public regarding health care, as others have said or
I hope will say, we better inform that choice.

We should not allow and we do not allow the drug companies and
the device manufacturers to say anything they want about their
products. We have a problem right now with our health care plans.
Both traditional and managed care can pretty much say anything
they want.
Senator Specter. You think Congress should legislate on the

kind of information the managed care companies have to put out?
Dr. Ware. Just like we do in drugs and devices. I think we need

standards of what you have to know about yourself to say you have
the best access.

Senator Specter. Of what the managed care companies should
say, do you think Congress ought to get into it to that extent?

Dr. Ware. Someone has to. The public's interest is at stake. That
is where I think the Government could play a major role, but not
in micromanaging by defining what processes will be allowed or not
allowed. I just think there are too many of them.
Senator Specter. You mentioned mastectomies. My wife had

complained about that. Just in the past few days, there has been
a spate of publicity about turning women out with mastectomies,
not lumpectomies but mastectomies. Do you have an opinion on
that medical practice?

Dr. Ware. I was surprised, but I am not medically trained. I am
open-minded about it. Clearly, we ought to do something about the
health care budget, and those decisions need to be informed.
Some of the best managed care organizations in this country al-

ready have information systems that can answer the kind of ques-
tion that you are asking for that particular procedure.

I would be open-minded, given what we have to do to this budget
in order to have everyone be in the system and everyone getting,

at least, some standard of health care. We need some way of reduc-
ing the growing health care costs, which means we have to consider
the kinds of things that you are raising.

Senator Specter. Dr. Wilensky, you were about to speak up a
few moments ago on an opinion as to whether the Congress was
right or wrong in requiring that women have at least 48 hours in
the hospital after delivery?

Dr. Wilensky. Correct.
Senator Specter. What is your opinion?
Dr. Wilensky. My opinion it was not a good area for the Con-

gress to get involved in. Both because of the micromanagement
issue, that is: of requiring through Federal law that health care
health plans pay for a certain number of days; and because, at
least in the conversations I had with a number of clinicians in this

specific instance, there was considerable debate about whether
there was something magic about 48 hours.
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I think the specifics were questionable. I was more concerned
about the precedent that I thought it raised. I think there will be
pressures to put in law certain staffing requirements, so many
nurses per beds or per hundred thousand, and other attempts to

basically have care as it was in the 1980's or some other period
placed into law. That is not a good direction for the Congress to go.

But, they did not ask me.
Senator Specter. Well, thank you very much, Dr. Wilensky and

Dr. Ware. It has been very enlightening. We would appreciate the
responses which we have requested.

Dr. Wilensky. Yes.
Senator Specter. We will study your reports.

Dr. Wilensky. We will get back to your staff" in your offices as
to how quickly we can review the information, depending on how
much new or original work we have to do to get the information,
but we will get back shortly as to how much additional time we
will need.
Senator Specter. Well, we very much appreciate that. Thank

you.
Dr. Wilensky. Thank you.
Senator SPECTER. We will include further written responses in

the record at this point.

[The information follows:]

Questions Submitted by Senator Specter

preventive services

Question. Dr. Wilensky, under the traditional Medicare program, what preventive
services are covered? What services are covered under Medicare managed care?
Answer. Under the traditional program, Medicare covers the following preventive

services:

—Screening mammography once every two years for persons over age 65. They
are covered more often for the nonelderly disabled.

—Screening Pap smear once every three years, except for women at high risk of
developing cervical cancer.

—Vaccines for influenza, pneumococcal pneumonia and hepatitis B (for those at

risk of contracting hepatitis B).

Under the managed-care program, plans are required to provide the full Medicare
benefit package. In addition, most plans (98 percent) cover routine physicals. Other
preventive services and the frequency with which they are provided by plans include
immunizations (88 percent), hearing exams (75 percent), foot care (38 percent), den-
tal care (38 percent), and health education (24 percent).

MARKETING AND CONSUMER INFORMATION

Question. Dr. Wilensky, is there evidence that beneficiaries unknowingly enroll in

Medicare HMO's as a result of aggressive sales tactics? If so, what can be done to

ensure that beneficiaries base their decisions to enroll on HMO services and quality,

and not just on aggressive sales promotions? Do you think beneficiaries should have
information to compare HMO options with traditional Medicare fee-for-service?

Answer. Data on retroactive disenrollment and disenrollment within the first 90
days suggest that misinformed or inappropriate enrollments are occurring in some
plans and markets. Rapid disenrollment often occurs when beneficiaries do not fully

understand either that they are enrolling in an HMO or what it means to do so.

In cases where enrollment results from an HMO's misrepresentation or a misunder-
standing, beneficiaries can be permitted to retroactively disenroU.
The use of sales agents, who are often paid on commission, to enroll beneficiaries

is a source of concern. Sales representatives are allowed to visit with beneficiaries

one-on-one, provided that the beneficiary has authorized the meeting in advance.
Such arrangements are highly vulnerable to abuse, as it is virtually impossible to

monitor this t5T)e of activity.
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We have evidence that beneficiaries who rely on sales information are more likely

to disenroll from their plans than are those who enroll for other reasons. The Physi-
cian Payment Review Commission (PPRC) access study showed that 16 percent of
beneficiaries who disenrolled from their HMO said that one of the reasons why they
joined was information or advice provided by a salesperson. By contrast, only 8 per-

cent of those who had not disenrolled said that a salesperson influenced their enroll-

ment decision.

Current regulations prohibit discriminatory marketing practices, misrepresenta-
tion of the Medicare program or the plan, door-to-door solicitation and giving of gifts

or payments to prospective enrollees. These protections should be retained in any
restructuring of the Medicare program.
PPRC is also concerned about the potential for problems associated with the re-

quirement that beneficiaries enroll in an HMO through the plan itself Beneficiaries
who attend an enrollment seminar hosted by the HMO may be encouraged to enroll

on the spot, even though this could be their first contact with the plan. The Com-
mission has recommended that the Secretary of Health and Human Services provide
an enrollment application in the information it gives to beneficiaries to reduce bene-
ficiary reliance on direct contact with a plan during the enrollment process.

In addition to addressing sales and marketing issues, providing beneficiaries with
better information is a promising approach to facilitate appropriate enrollment deci-

sions. To make informed choices, beneficiaries should be given comparable informa-
tion on the benefits and costs of all of their Medicare plan options, including fee-

for-service ones. This type of information is currently available only in a minority
of areas, although the Health Care Financing Administration is taking steps to in-

crease the information available in other areas.

COMBATING HMO ABUSES

Question. Dr. Wilensky, in what ways will the Health Care Financing Administra-
tion (HCFA) take a tougher stand to protect Medicare beneficiaries from poor qual-
ity HMO's, or is it sufficient to keep the future focus on providing seniors informa-
tion to help them choose an HMO?
Answer. Information can play an important role in consumer protection in several

ways. First, providing information on Medicare HMO's can help beneficiaries make
informed decisions about their health care options. Information on access to care
and quality of care in various plans could be useful for this purpose. Information
on the Medicare managed-care program in general, like that from our access survey,
could also be helpful to beneficiaries in that it can help them understand the
strengths and weaknesses of HMO's relative to fee for service. We also think that
it is important to ensure that HMO's provide beneficiaries with the information they
need to use their HMO once they have joined.

PPRC supports the work that HCFA is doing to enhance its efforts to protect
beneficiaries from poor quality HMO's. In addition to providing information to bene-
ficiaries on Medicare HMO's, HCFA has other plans that will improve its ability to

ensure quality and access. For example, HCFA plans to increase the frequency of
the site visits that it makes as part of its process for certifying that HMO's meet
federal requirements for Medicare participation. HCFA has also announced its plans
to collect information on the quality of care plans provide, using the so-called
HEDIS measures that are now very widely used by private-sector purchasers. HCFA
is also working with the Agency for Health Care Policy and Research to develop a
consumer satisfaction survey that will permit plan-specific assessments of bene-
ficiaries' experiences with their HMO's.

HOME HEALTH CARE

Question. Dr. Wilensky, do you think that the findings of yovu- survey about bene-
ficiary dissatisfaction with access to home health care signal to those with chronic
conditions that HMO's may be less appropriate for their health needs than tradi-

tional fee-for-service Medicare?
Answer. Not necessarily. Our study found that 17 percent of Medicare managed-

care enrollees who had used home health care wanted to use more services than
they received through their HMO. Less than 1 percent said that they didn't get any
home health care services when they thought they needed them. We don't have com-
parable data on the percentage of beneficiaries in fee-for-service Medicare who had
problems getting home health care. So we can't say, on the basis of this finding, that
access to home health services is more of a problem in Medicare HMO's than in fee

for service. We can say, however, that this finding does warrant further study, and
consideration in the context of findings from other studies.
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LEGISLATION REQUIRING MONITORING

Question. Dr. Wilensky, should Congress enact legislation requiring the Health
Care Financing Administration and your Commission to monitor the effects of Medi-
care managed care plans on beneficiary access?
Answer. Monitoring enables us to advise the Congress on how access to care is

affected by various program and policy changes, but there is currently very little

information available by which to monitor access for beneficiaries in Medicare
HMO's. Our survey demonstrated that collecting this type of information on a regu-
lar basis is feasible, and that survey information can be used to determine which
groups within the beneficiary population experience problems and what types of
problems they experience. We plan to share the lessons that we learned from our
siu-vey with HCFA, because we believe that this information will be helpful to them
as they assess whether and how to modify the Medicare Current Beneficiary Survey
to account for Medicare managed-care enrollment growth.
As more and more beneficiaries enroll in Medicare HMO's and as Congress consid-

ers restructuring Medicare to provide more managed-care opportunities, it becomes
increasingly important to obtain, on a regular basis, information on how enroUees
fare. Under the Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act of 1989, the Congress directed

the Department of Health and Human Services to monitor Medicare beneficiaries'

access to care and use of services, and for PPRC to both comment on the Secretary's

annual report and offer analysis and recommendations to the Congress in these
areas. By adding a requirement to monitor access for beneficiaries in Medicare man-
aged care, the Congress could ensure that analysis and recommendations would be
available to inform congressional decisions in a timely manner.

ACCESS TO SERVICES

Question. Dr. Wilensky, what did your survey find with regard to Medicare HMO's
and access and use of preventive services? How does this compare with Medicare
fee-for-service?

Answer. Our survey's findings were consistent with expectations about the focus

on preventive care in HMO's. For example, nearly half of those surveyed said that
their plan sent them information encouraging them to get preventive care, and one-
third said that their plan doctor encouraged them to do so. We also looked at wheth-
er Medicare managed-care enroUees had received six different types of preventive
services in the past year: mammogram, flu shot, hearing test, glaucoma test, choles-

terol test, and colorectal cancer screening. The results ranged from a low of 22 per-

cent who had received a hearing test to a high of 71 percent who had received a
cholesterol test.

As far as comparisons with fee-for-service Medicare, we had comparable informa-
tion for only two services, flu shots and mammograms. We found that Medicare
managed-care enroUees were significantly more likely to have received these serv-

ices in the past year. 62 percent of female Medicare HMO enroUees received a mam-
mogram as compared with only 39 percent of those in fee for service. And 66 percent
of those in Medicare HMO's had a flu shot for the previous winter, as opposed to

58 percent of those in fee for service.

Question. Dr. Wilensky, what access to care problems did your siu^'^ey luicover and
for whom?
Answer. Our study found more problems in home health care than in other areas

we looked at, such as specialty care referrals and hospitalizations. We know that
17 percent of beneficiaries who used home health care didn't get as much as they
believed they needed, but we were not able to determine whether or not plans were
withholding medically necessary care. We also know that use of home health care
in fee-for-service Medicare has grown exponentially in recent years, and we think
one possible explanation for the rate of problems we found is that beneficiaries' ex-

pectations were raised by increased use of this care in fee for service. This is an
area that deserves additional study to explore why beneficiaries are having prob-
lems and what it means for the quality of care.

We also found that, as is true in fee-for-service Medicare, certain vulnerable popu-
lations have higher rates of access problems than others. The oldest-old, the non-
elderly disabled, those with functional impairments, those in fair or poor health, and
those with worsening health all experienced higher rates of access problems than
others. The higher rates of problems among vulnerable groups at least partially re-

flects their greater need for care and increased opportunity to experience problems.
But even after controlling for the need for care, the nonelderly disabled were still

twice as likely as beneficiaries aged 65-85 to encounter problems obtaining home
health care and specialty referrals. Finding ways to improve health care delivery for
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vulnerable populations is an important goal for both fee-for-service and managed-
care systems.

Question. Dr. Wilensky, are beneficiaries in Medicare managed care plans more,
or less, likely to report problems with access to care? What percentage of respond-
ents to your survey reported access to care problems?
Answer. Our study was designed to provide baseline information on access in

Medicare managed care, and we did not have a fee-for-service group in our survey
sample. We were able to make some limited comparisons between the findings of
our survey and findings from the Medicare Current Beneficiary Survey, an annual
survey of Medicare beneficiaries sponsored by the Health Care Financing Adminis-
tration.

In general, we found that beneficiaries in Medicare HMO's appear to have more
access problems than beneficiaries in fee for service. About 12 percent of Medicare
managed-care enrollees said that, in the past year, they had experienced at least
one of six different access problems that we asked them about, such as delays ob-
taining care while waiting for plan approval. By contrast, the Medicare Current
Beneficiary Survey asks a single, global question about whether the beneficiary has
had any trouble getting care within the past year; 4 percent of beneficiaries in fee-

for-service reported that they had. Because of differences in how access problems
were assessed in the two surveys, we believe that the difference we see between fee

for service and HMO's is overstated, but we think that it is too large a difference
to be entirely explained by the differences in methodology.
Another finding with respect to comparisons between managed care and fee for

service was that the differences between vulnerable beneficiaries and others was
generally smaller in managed care. For example, disabled beneficiaries in fee for

service were 5 times as likely to have access problems as nondisabled beneficiaries
in fee for service. In managed care, disabled beneficiaries were twice as likely as
the nondisabled to have problems. This finding was particularly interesting for Afri-

can Americans, who were twice as likely as white beneficiaries to have access prob-
lems in fee for service, but were slightly less likely than whites to have any prob-
lems in managed care.

REASONS FOR ENROLLING IN HMO'S

Question. Dr. Wilensky, what was the most common reason beneficiaries reported
enrolling in a Medicare managed care plan?
Answer. Half of those beneficiaries surveyed—including both enrollees and

disenrollees—told us that their primary reason for joining their plan was that it of-

fered better benefits or lower costs. More than 80 percent of enrollees had prescrip-
tion drug coverage, for example, which is not provided in fee-for-service Medicare.
Also, about three-quarters paid no premium in their plan. Other important reasons
for joining were the plan's providers and recommendations from friends or relatives.

AREAS FOR IMPROVEMENT

Question. Dr. Wilensky, what areas of Medicare managed care did your survey
find need improvements?
Answer. We found that plans could do better in providing information to their en-

rollees. While nearly all new enrollees said that they obtained enough information
when they joined to make them feel comfortable using their plan, one in five who
later wanted more information said that they had trouble getting it. Also, a third
of all enrollees said that they did not know they had the right to appeal their plans'
decisions about their health care. Information is an important consumer protection,
and health plans should make it a priority to ensure that Medicare beneficiaries
have the information they need.

Letter From Gail R. Wilensky

Physician Payment Review Commission,
Washington, DC, December 20, 1996.

Hon. Arlen Specter,
Chairman, Subcommittee on Labor, Health and Human Services and Education,

Committee on Appropriations, U.S. Senate, Washington, DC.
Dear Senator Specter: At the hearing on safeguarding the health care of senior

citizens held by the Appropriations Subcommittee on Labor, Health and Human
Services, and Education on November 13, 1996, you asked if the Commission had
any evidence on the use of "gag" clauses by managed care organizations in their con-
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tracts with physicians. This letter contains information gathered by Commission
staff in a review of that issue.

The types of contract provisions that have raised concern are those that may re-

strict physicians in several ways. They may prevent physicians from fully informing
patients about treatment options or about which options are covered by the plan.

They may also prohibit referrals to providers for services that are not covered. In
addition, contract clauses may prevent physicians from criticizing the plan, disclos-

ing financial incentives, or discussing how decisions to authorize or deny care are
made.
Two different types of clauses in particular have come under scrutiny in recent

years. Anti-disparagement clauses are designed to prevent disclosure of propriety in-

formation and negative publicity about the plan. Provider deselection or termination
without cause clauses permit either party to terminate the relationship without
cause. Depending on their interpretation, both of these could be considered as "gag"
clauses if they compromise communication between patients and physicians, al-

though such provisions do not specifically address issues of medical care.

There are no hard data on the extent to which physicians contracting with man-
aged-care plans are subject to constraints affecting discussions with patients. This
is primarily d" to the confidential nature of these contracts. In addition, there are
differences of opinion about their merits. The industry considers inclusion of anti-

disparagement and confidentiality clauses to be a sound business practice. On the
other hand, the American Medical Association considers such clauses to have a
"chilling" effect on relationships between physicians and patients. Consumer organi-

zations also argue that such conditions, whether explicit or implicit, stifle physician
communication with patients.

A number of states and the federal government have already moved to restrict

"gag" clauses. Since 1995, 17 states have enacted laws banning these clauses, and
a dozen more are considering banning them. The Health Care Financing Adminis-
tration also recently clarified that contract clauses limiting what physicians may tell

Medicare beneficiaries about their treatment options are a violation of federal law.

The industry is also moving to address provider and consumer concerns. Some
plans, such as Humana, have announced that they will no longer include such provi-

sions in provider contracts. Moreover, on December 17, the American Association of

Health Plans issued guidelines asking plans to inform patients about: how their doc-

tors are paid, including incentive arrangements, how their plan reviews and decides
which services will be covered, how their plan determines medical necessity, and
how the plan determines whether a proposed treatment is experimental.
The guidelines are voluntary but the association expects all 1,000 of its member

plans to put policies into effect by the end of next year.

The PPRC staff will continue to follow developments in this area. If you or your
staff have any additional questions, please feel free to contact me or the Commis-
sion's Executive Director, Lauren LeRoy.

Sincerely,
Gail R. Wilensky, Ph.D.

Chair.

Letter From John E. Ware

New England Medical Center,
Boston, MA, January 16, 1997.

Arlen Specter,
Chairman, Subcommittee on Labor, Health and Human Services and Education,

and Related Agencies, U.S. Senate, Washington, DC.

Dear Senator Specter: I am writing to submit the two items of additional infor-

mation you requested during the recent Senate hearing: (1) documentation of the
chronology of Medical Outcomes Study (MOS) publications leading to publication of
differences in health outcomes for Medicare patients treated in managed care
(HMO) and traditional fee-for-service (FFS) plans in the October 2, 1996 issue of
the Journal of American Medical Association, and (2) findings from the MOS rel-

evant to current concerns about so-called "gag" rules in managed care plans.

In response to your first request, the attached chronology documents when each
step occurred in the presentation and publication of MOS methods and results re-

garding outcomes in managed care, working backward from the most recent publica-

tion in JAMA (October 2, 1996).

In response to your second request, we report that differences in the doctor-pa-
tient relationship observed between plans in the MOS favored traditional FFS plans
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over managed care plans. Included were significant differences (favoring FFS) in the

amount of information-giving to patients, as documented in peer-reviewed MOS pub-
lications (Rubin et al JAMA, 1993, 270(7), 835-840 and Safran et al, 1994, 271(20),

1579-1586). Of direct relevance to current concerns about "gag orders", chronically-

ill patients in HMO's were more likely (than their FFS counterparts) to complain
about doctors withholding information (e.g., keeping them "in the dark about care").

I hope you find this information satisfactory and useful. Thank you for the oppor-

tunity to submit testimony regarding these very important issues.

Sincerely,
John E. Ware, Jr., Ph.D.,

Senior Scientist, Principal Investigator, Medical Outcomes Study.

CHRONOLOGY LIST

October, 1996—Manuscript published by JAMA.
August, 1996—Manuscript accepted for publication in JAMA.
July, 1996—Revised manuscript re-submitted to JAMA.
June, 1996—^First peer review of manuscript completed by JAMA reviewers with

requests for revisions.

November, 1995—Preliminary outcomes for physical summary measure for the av-

erage hypertension and diabetes patient reported in JAMA (1995, 274, 1346-1474).
April, 1995—Documentation of MOS summary outcome measures and proof of sci-

entific validity published in Medical Care (1995, 33(4), AS264-279).
December, 1994—Detailed user's manual documenting MOS summary outcome

measures along with normative data and interpretation guidelines published (1994,
Boston: The Health Institute).

June, 1994—Preliminary MOS results regarding differences in outcomes across

plans for poor patients presented at the Annual Meeting of the Association for

Health Services Research.
April, 1994—MOS methods for summarizing health outcomes presented at con-

ference sponsored by the Agency for Health Care Policy and Research (AHCPR).
December, 1993—Methodology for scoring physical and mental health outcomes

presented at AHCPR-sponsored conference and submitted for peer review and for

publication in Medical Care.
June, 1993—Completion of first peer review by JAMA requesting documentation

and peer review of methods in a health services research (methods) journal prior

to publication in JAMA.
March, 1993—First submission of MOS manuscript using newly-developed sum-

mary physical and mental health outcome methodology to JAMA. (2-year data only,

no healthcare plan comparisons)
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CARE

ACCOMPANIED BY CLIFTON GAUS, SC.D., ADMINISTRATOR, AGENCY
FOR HEALTH CARE POLICY AND RESEARCH

Senator Specter. We will now turn to the second panel: Director
of HCFA's Office of Managed Care, Bruce Fried; and Administrator
of the Agency for Health Care Policy and Research, Dr. Clifton

Gaus. Both Mr. Fried and Dr. Gaus represent agencies within the
Department of Health and Human Services. Mr. Fried will present
the administration's testimony and Dr. Gaus will be available for

questions. All of the written testimonies will be included in the
hearing record, as is our practice.

Mr. Fried, the floor is yours, and you may proceed.
Mr. Fried. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. It is a pleasure to be here

with you today.
I am going to conform my comments to those of the previous

panel. I think I can draw from that discussion some of the chair-

man's interests in this area. Let me try to tailor my remarks to

them, looking forward to a fuller discussion.

Clearly, through the evolution of the Medicare Program, the sig-

nificant growth of managed care is a reality. As of November 1, 4.7

million Medicare beneficiaries had chosen managed care, as op-

posed to the traditional program. We are currently contracting with
about 333 managed care plans.
The growth rate in Medicare managed care enrollment this year

is approximately 30 percent, which is in line with the growth rate
of last year and in previous years. The program is changing quite
dramatically.
Notwithstanding the change, our objectives for beneficiaries,

whether they are in fee-for-service or managed care, remain the
same, which is to achieve the highest possible value. By value, I

mean achieving the highest quality of care at the lowest justifiable

price.

For beneficiaries, this is a new, and for many of them, unex-
perienced world from their working lives. We work very hard to in-

form beneficiaries of the consequences of their choices.

I have brought with me and submit for the committee's informa-
tion a wide variety of informative publications that the Health
Care Financing Administration is currently disseminating. In a
number of our regions, we are publishing comparison charts be-

tween plans, which though rudimentary are important at this point
in terms of allowing beneficiaries to compare premiums, benefits,

and areas of a particular community that will be served.

(43)
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I want to get into the comparison chariis a little bit furi;her down
in my comments. Beneficiaries who enroll in a managed care plan
are given or sent a notice from HCFA informing them about the
consequences of their decision, about being locked in to a plan, that
is, being part of a network, and about their opportunities to grieve

and to appeal decisions that they are concerned about.

There is a large amount of other information that beneficiaries

have received or have available to them and their organizations.

The work, frankly, has just begun. In the last year since I have
taken on the responsibilities of the Office of Managed Care, there
is an enormous amount of activity that we have going on.

Among these many things that we are doing is substantially ex-

panding and increasing the protections of the appeals and griev-

ance process. We will, we expect, before the end of next year pub-
lish new regulations that will afford greater and new appeals and
grievance protections for beneficiaries who believe that a plan may
not be providing them with care that they need. I can get into that
in more detail during our talk.

HCFA has recently opened in Philadelphia the first mall-based
"Your Medicare Store", where beneficiaries can come in to interact

with HCFA professionals, gather information not only about the
fee-for-service scheme, but about managed care options available in

their community. Essentially, beneficiaries conduct business with
the agency that is responsible for this program.

If we are going to address the whole swath of this area, one of

the areas that we need to focus on is Medigap reform. It is an area
where we believe legislation is necessary. Medicare beneficiaries

enjoy a form of protection that no other patient in the population
enjoys, and that is: the ability to choose every 30 days whether to

remain in a managed care plan, change plans, or go back to fee-

for-service.

One of the complexities for those choosing to return to fee-for-

service is that they gave up Medigap, the medical supplemental in-

surance, when they enrolled in managed care. Indeed for most of
them, when they return to fee-for-service, preexisting condition ex-

clusions often apply in Medigap plans and act as an impediment.
We are in a market situation here. The market has been driven

to a large degree, almost exclusively, in fact, by cost considerations
largely from commercial purchasers. We in the Federal Govern-
ment have to attend not only to the cost considerations, but to

quality as well.

In that light, one of the questions must be: How do we measure
quality? How do we know what plans are doing? There are three
very important pieces of work that we are engaged in.

We have been working with other commercial and public pur-
chasers, consumer groups, and we plan, through the National Com-
mittee for Quality Assurance, to develop HEDIS 3.0 that for the
first time includes measures that are relevant to the Medicare pop-
ulation. This includes a very important measure of functional sta-

tus that draws from much the same type of work in which Dr.
Ware has been involved. This will allow us to look on a longitu-

dinal basis at how plans maintain, improve, or have a decline in

the functional status of the health of their patients, a very impor-
tant piece of information.



45

We have worked very closely with my good friend and colleague,
Dr. Gaus at AHCPR. His organization has taken the lead in devel-
oping a survey instrument that will be available not only to Medi-
care and to HCFA, but to all purchasers.
For us it is particularly important because it will allow us to re-

quire use of both HEDIS 3.0 and the survey by the plans that we
contract with in the coming years. Beginning this calendar year,
plans will be required to participate in the collection of this infor-

mation and report the survey information on satisfaction, access,
patient perception of quality of care to HCFA.

It is very important information, and what we do with this infor-

mation is just as important. Our objective is to make the informa-
tion available to beneficiaries so that they can make more informed
choices among competing plans, and also to use it for our own man-
agement and oversight responsibility.

PREPARED STATEMENTS

Importantly, both with HEDIS 3.0 and with this beneficiary sur-
vey, we intend to implement them not just in the managed care
context but in the fee-for-service setting as well. I see the red light

is on. There are other areas I would like to get into. I will proceed
if you like, or we could go right to questions if you would like.

[The statements follow:]

Prepared Statement of Bruce Merlin Fried

introduction

Thank you for the opportunity to explain how the Health Care Financing Admin-
istration (HCFA) is working to ensure that Medicare managed care organizations
are meeting the health care needs of Medicare beneficiaries. The changing demo-
graphics of our society will challenge health care providers and organizations to pro-
vide services to a population with longer life expectancy; i.e., decreased mortality
and increased morbidity. To safeguard the interests of all members of our society,

especially the most vulnerable, it is important that we clearly define and support
measures to promote quality of care for beneficiaries enrolled in Medicare managed
care plans.
This summer, we celebrated the 30th anniversary of the Medicare and Medicaid

programs. Although managed care options have been a part of Medicare since the
program's inception, the managed care program that we know today had its start
in 1985 with the signing of the first risk contracts authorized under the Tax Equity
and Fiscal Responsibility Act. Today, managed care is a major and growing part of
the Medicare program. As of November 1, more than 4.7 million beneficiaries have
enrolled in 333 Medicare managed care plans, two thirds of which are risk con-
tracts. Risk plan enrollment for the first six months of 1996 increased by more than
520,000 beneficiaries—an annual growth rate of more than 30 percent. This increase
is consistent with the rapid rate of program growth in recent years. In 1994, enroll-

ment grew by 25 percent, in 1995, the growth was 36 percent.
We have found that the managed care option is attractive to beneficiaries. In

many cases, enrollees can receive the same financial protection afforded by Medicare
supplemental—or "Medigap"—policies without paying a premium, although this
may be due to inadequacies in our payment methodology. In addition, most plans
provide benefits not covered under the Medicare program, such as routine vision
care, dental care, preventive benefits and prescription drugs, at little or no addi-
tional cost to the beneficiary. Beyond value measured in dollars and cents, managed
care plans have the potential to provide value that can be achieved when services
are coordinated and when the focus of care is on prevention and wellness.
Our mission in HCFA is to serve our Medicare beneficiaries. Under this Adminis-

tration, HCFA's efforts are firmly focused on obtaining the best value for our bene-
ficiaries. We work in partnership with managed care plans in this task, but as I

will describe later in my testimony, we have not hesitated to take enforcement ac-
tions when warranted.
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BENEFICIARY PROTECTIONS

Current law provides beneficiaries enrolling in managed care plans a wide variety
of protections, many of which are not enjoyed by most commercial enrollees. Let me
take this opportunity to briefly outline the protections that beneficiaries enjoy under
current law and areas where improvements are warranted.

Beneficiaries receive clear and accurate information about the implications of their

choice of a managed care option.—Ciurent law requires that plans provide certain
information to all prospective enrollees including explanations of benefits, premiums
and cost-sharing, lock-in requirement, and grievance mechanisms. However, we be-
lieve that more needs to be done to educate consumers about their health care alter-

natives and later in my testimony I will describe our plans for improvement in this

area.

Beneficiaries can disenroll from a managed care plan on a monthly basis.—Cur-
rent law requires that plans provide for the disenrollment of any beneficiary on the
first day of the month following the beneficiary's disenrollment request. The ability

of Medicare managed care plan enrollees to "vote with their feet" by disenroUing
from a plan is one of the best methods we have to monitor quality of care, and to

ensure beneficiary choice.

Beneficiaries cannot be subjected to health screening or pre-existing condition limi-

tations.—Current law is clear in this area. We enforce this requirement through
careful monitoring of all marketing materials and activities of contracting plans,
and by reviewing beneficiary grievances and appeals.

Beneficiaries have access to medically necessary and appropriate care.—Before re-

ceiving a contract, all plans must meet Federal standards which guarantee bene-
ficiary access to medically necessary services. HCFA is committed to ensuring that
HMO's adhere to these Federal standards.

Beneficiaries have access to procedures to resolve grievances and access to a neu-
tral third party for appeals.—While this is one area where Medicare's protections
are significantly beyond those generally available to managed care enrollees in the
private sector, we believe that improvements are necessary. Our plans for achieving
these improvements will be explained in a subsequent section.

Beneficiaries' care is reviewed both internally and externally.—Plans must have in-

ternal quality review mechanisms in order to receive a contract. PRO's are respon-
sible for external quality review. We have been working closely with other payors
and the industry to make significant improvements in this area and, later in my
testimony, I will outline these initiatives.

Beneficiaries are protected from the risk of discontinuous or inappropriate care
that could result from the financial instability of a plan.—Under current law, plans
must be fiscally sound and must have a plan for protecting beneficiaries in the event
of insolvency.

Beneficiaries' out-of-pocket expenses are limited.—Under current law. Medicare
managed care plan enrollees are protected by limits on premiums and cost-sharing
and by prohibitions against balance billing.

We have been working toward enhancing beneficiary protections. Some steps can
be taken under current law, other actions would require legislation.

—Improving the appeals and grievance processes.—The appeals and grievance
process serves as a check and balance on contracting plans and helps to ensure
that beneficiaries obtain all appropriate and medically necessary covered serv-

ices. Improvement activities include an expedited appeals process for certain
time-sensitive situations, shortened time frames for all other reviews involving
service denials and terminations, and improved health plan accountability on
the results of appeals and grievances. However, we cannot afford to be compla-
cent in the face of recently publicized concerns, and streamlining the appeals
process is one of our highest priorities.

—Beneficiary information publications.—HCFA and its Department of Health and
Human Services (DHHS) partners have developed several publications to inform
Medicare beneficiaries of their rights and options. These beneficiary advisory
publications answer frequently-asked questions about HMO enrollment and
disenrollment, potential fraud and abuse, and the appeals process. Also, the lat-

est edition of the Medicare Handbook was sent to all 37 million Medicare bene-
ficiaries. This was part of an outreach program directed at ensuring that bene-
ficiaries are fully informed of their health care options.

—Comparative information.—We want to provide all Medicare beneficiaries com-
parative information that would assist them in making choices. In the Presi-

dent's Fiscal Year 1996 Budget Plan, we proposed that comprehensive compara-
tive information on all plan options, including Medigap, be provided to Medicare
beneficiaries and be funded by the plans. In the interim, we are working on
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making comparative information available on the Internet and to beneficiary in-

surance counseling centers. Phase I of this project will be available by March,
1997, and will provide comparative market data about HMO benefits, pre-
miums, and cost-sharing requirements.

—Community-based Medicare information resource.—This past October marked
the opening of a pilot project to provide beneficiaries with the latest Medicare
information in a convenient, one-stop, personal service facility. The test site for
"Your Medicare Center" is a Philadelphia shopping mall and is staffed by HCFA
employees who explain managed care options, resolve concerns, and correct
records. This innovative project will allow the public's concerns about entitle-

ment, managed care choices and enrollment, Medigap insurance, coverage, pre-
miums, and appeals to be answered promptly and efficiently. Additional serv-
ices including educational seminars on managed care-related issues and health
screening will also be available, using technology such as interactive video-con-
ferencing and computerized information kiosks.

—Medigap reforms.—While beneficiaries enrolled in managed care plans are as-
sured open enrollment, only very limited open enrollment is required under
Federal law for Medicare supplement policies. The federal requirement provides
only a once-in-a-lifetime "window" for open enrollment in Medigap when a bene-
ficiary turns 65. If beneficiaries are to have true choice, Medigap plans should
at a minimum be open on an annual basis.

IMPROVED MONITORING AND ENFORCEMENT

All of the beneficiary protections that I have just outlined are only words on paper
unless there is an explicit commitment to enforcement. I am proud to say that this
Administration has fostered significant improvements in oversight and monitoring
of managed care plans. We have initiated a program of special investigations that
may target a specific compliance problem, or review all plans in a heavily saturated
market area. Protocol-monitoring processes have been revised to improve clarity and
establish more consistency in the methods used to evaluate contractor operations.
National guidelines for marketing materials have been developed to improve our
monitoring of plan compliance with statutory and regulatory requirements.
—Imposition of intermediate sanctions.—For the first time in the history of the

program, we have begun to impose intermediate sanctions in response to certain
plan activities. If we find the same compliance problem in successive monitoring
reviews, we are no longer treating the recurrence as an isolated event, but in-

stead are taking enforcement actions. Under these sanctions, we can require a
contracting organization to suspend marketing activities or enrollment of new
members; in some circumstances we will suspend payments to the plan for new
enrollees.

Department of Justice managed care fraud and abuse working group.—HCFA is

an active participant in a federal workgroup led by the Department of Justice (DOJ)
and composed of^ departments and agencies that contract with managed care organi-
zations, e.g., the Office of Personnel Management, the Department of Labor (DOL),
and the Department of Defense (DOD). The working group focuses on coordinating
efforts among the various agencies to identify fraud and abuse in managed care or-
ganizations and develop methods to successfully prosecute suspected fraud cases. In
addition, a Memorandum of Understanding among DHHS, DOJ, DOL, and the
Treasury Department is being prepared to define the roles of each agency in the en-
forcement process.

Finally, in regard to monitoring and enforcement, we also have several activities
in the planning stages. First, we are evaluating our process for reviewing and ap-
proving applications for managed care contracts in order to identify potential prob-
lems with a plan's ability to meet contracting requirements before we approve the
contracts. Second, we are redesigning our data system to facilitate cross-plan com-
parison of enrollments, disenroUments, appeals processing, complaints, quality and
fiscal soundness in order to identify aberrant patterns that warrant investigation.
Lastly, we have begun discussions with State insurance commissioners regarding
actions that could be taken to coordinate activities. These include eliminating some
duplicative oversight functions, and maximizing the sharing of information, espe-
cially with regard to plans experiencing financial difficulties.

Physician Incentive Plan Regulations

Before I describe our efforts in the area of quality monitoring and improvements,
I would like to address the need for regulations in regard to physician incentive
plans.

Physician incentive plans are the financial arrangements between a managed care
plan and its physicians. These plans are varied in structure. Some distribute per-
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formance-based withholds or bonuses to physician groups. Increasingly, plans are
using capitated payments to physician groups to transfer the risk of all specialty
services or all services provided. Incentive plans are an important tool for managed
care organizations not only in fostering the efficient delivery of care but also in re-

ducing the risk of needless and intrusive procedures. However, it is important to

recognize that the same incentive plan that may lead one physician to control over-
utilization may influence another to reduce necessary care.

In legislation enacted in 1990, the Congress mandated that DHHS determine
when an incentive plan would place physicians at substantial financial risk for re-

ferral services. The law does not prohibit physicians from being placed at substan-
tial financial risk. It does, however, require that such plans provide "stop loss" pro-
tection to the physicians and conduct periodic surveys to monitor access to services
and satisfaction with care. Final rules implementing the 1990 legislation were pub-
lished in the spring of this year. In addition to defining substantial financial risk,

these regulations require Medicare and Medicaid managed care plans to disclose to

the Secretary the details of the incentive arrangements and upon request, provide
the information to plan enrollees.

Since incentive arrangements are a major tool of managed care plans in control-

ling health care costs, they may be a concern to enrollees and health care pur-
chasers to the extent that the arrangements are likely to have a negative impact
on quality of care. Unfortunately, although HHS is actively working toward the de-
velopment of outcome-based, quality measurement systems, such systems are not
presently available. In the interim, the physician incentive plan regulations are a
modest step to provide important protections to plan enrollees.

This past summer there were reports in the press that this Administration
planned to shelve the physician incentive plan regulations. Nothing could be further
from the truth. While the provision to provide stop loss insurance was to have gone
into effect in May, all of the other provisions of the regulation will become effective
with Medicare and Medicaid contract renewals on or after January 1, 1997. On May
28, we announced that the "stop loss" requirement would also go into effect begin-
ning in January in order to conform with Congressional intent. This minor effective

date change does not represent a "shelving" of the regulation. This Administration
remains committed to a complete and vigorous implementation of the physician in-

centive plan regulations.
I would like to devote the rest of my testimony to describing the progress that

we have made in developing quality measurements and in fostering quality improve-
ment.

QUALITY INITIATIVES

The argument for the potential of managed care to improve quality is well known.
It starts with a critique of fee -for-service. Fee-for-service care tends to be frag-

mented with a focus on acute rather than preventive services. Economic incentives
are in the direction of over-utilization of health care services. As a result, under fee-

for-service, there tends to be an inappropriate and costly allocation of existing
health care resources. It is then argued that the capitated prepayment made to

managed care allows plans to organize care and re-allocate resources to address, in

a coordinated and systematic way, the needs of each patient. In managed care, un-
like fee-for-service, the organization is accountable for improving the well-being of
the patient. This provides an opportunity, that is more elusive in fee-for-service, to

improve the quality of care being furnished.
The flip side to the argument is also well known. In managed care, there is the

potential for underservice and poor quality, if plans try to maximize short-term prof-

its by not delivering appropriate care. The recent study by Ware et al, published
in the October 2 issue of JAMA, indicated better outcomes in the study sites for el-

derly and poor, chronically ill patients in fee-for-service plans rather than managed
care plans. ^ Other studies, however, have shown that the quality of care in managed
care is as good or better than fee-for-service. While the work of Ware and his col-

leagues highlights the need for HCFA to pay special attention to the health care
requirements of the chronically ill, the findings of previous studies should be also
be considered. A fair summary of all available research is that managed care neither
holds a demonstrable quality edge over fee-for-service nor provides inferior care.^

* Ware, et al. DifTerences in 4-Year Health Outcomes for Elderly and Poor, Chronically 111 Pa-
tients Treated in HMO and Fee-for-Service Systems. JAMA, 276(13), 1996.

2 Numerous studies relating to quality of managed health care have been done over the past
decade, including the following (chronologically listed):

Cunningham, F. and Williamson, J. How Does the Quality of Health Care in HMO's Compare
to That in Other Settings? The Group Health Journal, Winter, 1980.
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The goals of our quality initiatives are to develop mechanisms to measure quality
and to hold plans accountable for quality improvement. We have two approaches to-

ward achieving these goals. The first approach is to use utilization data or encoun-
ter data to address "inputs" into the delivery of care. Most current performance
measures are "process measures." Process measures refer to clinical interventions
(tests, medications, procedures, surgery) which are believed to lead to favorable pa-
tient outcomes. While this approach has limitations, encounter data and process
measures provide significant insight into the quality of care.

The second, and potentially the most efficient strategy for clinical performance
measures, is to move toward outcome measures. The problem is that the science of
outcomes measures is in its infancy. The movement towards better outcomes meas-
ures is critical for HCFA, like-minded purchasers, and beneficiaries in order to hold
plans and providers accountable for the care they deliver. With such measurements
in hand, HCFA and the public will be able to objectively compare managed care to

itself and to fee for service, and to determine whether managed care is living up
to its potential to improve the quality of care.

HCFA and the Agency for Health Care Policy and Research (AHCPR) have been
active in promoting research to identify these measures. However, more research is

needed, especially with regard to the health care needs of the poor, elderly, and
other vulnerable populations.
As I indicated earlier in my testimony, a major focus of our efforts in recent years

has been in working with our partners in the managed care industry and with other
payors to accelerate and standardize the development of outcomes measures.
—HEDIS 3.O.—The latest iteration of the Health Plan Employer Data and Infor-

mation Set, HEDIS 3.0, reflects a joint effort of public and private purchasers,
consumers, labor unions, health plans, and measurement experts, to develop a
comprehensive set of measures for Medicare, Medicaid, and commercial popu-
lations enrolled in managed care plans. Beginning January 1, 1997, HCFA will

require certain types of health plans with Medicare contracts to use HEDIS.
This will facilitate comparison of plan performance measures and permit HCFA
to hold plans accountable for the quality of the care they provide. HEDIS meas-
ures eight components including: effectiveness of care; access/availability of
care; satisfaction with the experience of care; health plan stability; use of serv-
ices; cost of care; informed health care choices; and health plan descriptive in-

formation.
HCFA, working with the HEDIS Committee on Performance Management,

was instrumental in adding functional status for enrollees over age 65 as a
measure in the "effectiveness of care" category in HEDIS 3.0. This will be the

Lufl, H. Health Maintenance Organizations: Dimensions of Performance, A Wiley-Interscience
Publication: John Wiley and Sons, New York, NY, 1980.
Ware, Jr., Brook, R., Rogers, W. et. al., Comparison of Health Outcomes at a Health Mainte-

nance Organization With Those of Fee-For-Service Care, The Lancet, May, 1986.
Retchin S. National Medicare Competition Evaluation of the Process of Care. Prepared for the

Health Care Financing Administration by Mathematica Policy Research, Inc., Washington, DC,
1988.
Retchin S. and Brown, R. National Evaluation of the Medicare Competition Demonstrations:

An Analysis of Health Status Outcomes and Access to Care for Enrollees in Risk Based Plans
Compared to Medicare Beneficiaries in the Fee-For-Service Sector. Prepared for the Health Care
Financing Administration by Mathematica Policy Research, Inc., Washington, DC, 1988.
Freund, Deborah, A., Rossiter, Louis, F., Fox, Peter, D., Evaluation of the Medicaid Competi-

tion Demonstrations, Health Care Financing Review, Vol. 11, 1989.
Balaban, D., Bauer, E, West, R., et.al.. Evaluation of the Arizona Health Care Cost Contain-

ment System: Quality of Care Report, Prepared by SRI International for the Health Care Fi-

nancing Administration, Baltimore, MD, 1989.
Brown, et al. The Medicare Risk Program for HMO's: Final Summary Report on Findings

from the Evaluation. Prepared for HCFA by Mathematica Policy Research Inc., Princeton, NJ,
1993.
Clement, et al. Access and Outcomes of Elderly Patients Enrolled in Managed Care. JAMA,

271(19), 1994.

Shaughnessy, et al. A Study of Home Health Care Quality and Cost under Capitated and Fee-
for-Service Payment Systems. Report prepared for HCFA by the Center for Health Policy Re-
search, Denver, CO, February, 1994.

Riley, et al. Stage of Cancer at Diagnosis for Medicare HMO and Fee-for-Service Enrollees.
American Journal of Public Health, 84(10), October, 1994.

Adler, G.S. Medicare Beneficiaries Rate Their Medical Care: New Data from the MCBS.
Health Care Financing Review, Summer, 1995.
Rosenbach, et al. Variations in Medicare Access and Satisfaction by Health Status: 1991-

1993. Health Care Financing Review, Winter, 1995.
Riley, et al. Health Status of Medicare Enrollees in HMO's and Fee-for-Service in 1994.

Health Care Financing Review, Summer, 1996.
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first outcome measure in HEDIS that will longitudinally track and measure
functional status. It addresses both physical and mental status through a self-

administered instrument which determines whether the beneficiary perceives
that his or her health status has improved, stayed the same, or deteriorated.
In addition, six other measures that impact on Medicare beneficiaries have been
added to the "effectiveness of care" category, including: mammography rates,

rate of influenza vaccination, use of retinal examinations for diabetics, out-

patient follow-up after acute psychiatric hospitalization, and utilization of beta
blocker in heart attack patients.

—Foundation for Accountability.—The Foundation for Accountability (FAcct) is a
new non-profit organization dedicated to helping purchasers and consumers ob-

tain the information they need to make better decisions about their health care.

As Federal Liaisons to the Facet Board of Trustees, HCFA is joined by other
public and private sector partners, including the American Association for Re-
tired Persons, the Department of Defense, the Office of Personnel Management,
Ameritech, and American Express. The underlying premise of FAcct is that bet-

ter health care information, assembled from the consumers' point of view,
should help steer Americans toward the highest quality care. Specifically, FAcct
endorses and promotes a common set of patient-oriented measures of health
care quality. Together, HCFA and AHCPR have played major roles in the devel-

opment of FAcct quality measures for depression, breast cancer and diabetes.

HCFA also recently contracted with the RAND Corporation, a non-profit re-

search organization, to refine and test three sets of outcome measures for imple-
mentation in 1998.

—Medicare beneficiary satisfaction survey.—In cooperation with HCFA, AHCPR
initiated the Consumer Assessment of Health Plans Study (CAHPS) to design
a Medicare beneficiary customer satisfaction survey. This survey will quantify
Medicare enrollee responses about satisfaction with plan providers, access to

services and providers, availability of services, and quality of care. It is cur-

rently being utilized in field testing as a tool for gathering standardized infor-

mation from all plans, and is significant because it is the first survey specifi-

cally designed for Medicare HMO beneficiaries. This Medicare module is one of

several CAHPS instruments and has 40 core questions that will make the in-

strument useful for both commercial health plan and Medicare beneficiaries.

HCFA plans to require all health plans to use CAHPS by March 1997, when
it will be available to the public. HCFA plans to administer the survey through
an objective single third party vendor in order to ensure comparability.

—Medicare choices demonstration.—HCFA has taken the first step toward Medi-
care Managed Care choices by demonstrating how the program can be expanded
to include PPO's and PSO's. Managed care plans in urban and rural settings
were chosen to participate in this demonstration, which solicited innovative
managed care proposals encompassing alternative point-of-service and payment
methodologies and case management systems. A component of the demonstra-
tion is the development of quality measurements systems that will use encoun-
ter data; all participating plans will be required to provide 100 percent encoun-
ter data. Simply stated, encounter data refers to the reporting of information
on health care services received by enrollees. Currently, we have concluded a
contract with the RAND Corporation to assist HCFA in designing an encounter
data based quality monitoring system, which will be developed further using the
Choices demonstration encounter data. Of 372 proposals, 25 were selected and
are in the final stages of the contract award process; beneficiaries should be
able to enroll in these plans in 1997.

In addition to our activities in measuring quality of care, we are actively involved
in promoting quality improvement.
—Projects to assess ambulatory care in managed care settings.—The Medicare
Managed Care Quality Improvement Project (MMCQIP) is designed to enhance
HCFA's ability to assess how well the ambulatory care process in managed care
is meeting the needs of beneficiaries. At this time, we are evaluating the care
received by Medicare managed care plan enrollees diagnosed with diabetes
mellitus, and the incidence of screening mammography in a sample of enrolled
beneficiaries. The PRO's in five states (California, Florida, New York, Penn-
sylvania and Minnesota) and 23 Medicare-contracting HMO's are collaborating
on MMCQIP. In addition, an on-going sister project, utilizing the PRO's in

Maryland, Iowa and Alabama, will analyze the same measures in the fee-for-

service setting. The initial finding is that there is room for improvement in both
managed care and fee-for-service in these two areas.

—Social health maintenance organizations (SHMO's).-The second generation of

SHMO demonstrations includes an expanded case management system de-
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signed to address the medical social, functional, and environmental needs of en-
rollees. All participants must establish a quality assurance system under which
care will be monitored through chart audits, statistical reports, grievances, and
outcome measures. This demonstration also anticipates our nation's changing
demographics by offering geriatric-oriented care and limited long term care
services. Risk adjustment will be an important component of this demonstra-
tion, and all regions of the country will be represented.

Other important Medicare managed care quality initiatives include the establish-

ment of new requirements for Medicare managed care plans in the areas of quality
improvement activity; health information systems; health services management; and
member rights and responsibilities. In addition, as part of a project to improve effi-

ciency in monitoring and oversight, teams of HCFA and PRO staff are being formed
to target a review of managed care plans' internal quality assessment and improve-
ment programs.

CONCLUSION

Managed care as a health care system is here to stay, but Medicare beneficiaries
themselves must determine the pace of the program's movement to managed care.

The emphasis must be on choice. Millions of beneficiaries have already voted with
their feet for this option. We would like to expand the choices available to bene-
ficiaries; enhance consumer protections; pro\ e comparative information to assist

beneficiaries in making health care choices; and reform the payment methodology
to plans. These goals are shared by all with a commitment to consumer protection
and there is certainly a consensus that quality and availability of health care is our
number one priority. We expect that in the very near future we will be seeing some
tangible benefits from this agenda.

Prepared Statement of Clifton R. Gaus

Good morning, Mr. Chairman and members of the Subcommittee. I want to thank
you for giving me this opportunity, as the Administrator of the Agency for Health
Care Policy and Research (AHCPR), to discuss the issue of quality health care and
the role that health services research is playing to assure that we can measure and
improve the quality of care that Americans receive.

There are four major points that I want to leave you with today:
First, because our health care system is market-driven, information—about qual-

ity as well as cost—is absolutely essential for the market to work. Without objective,

credible information, consumers, health care professionals, purchasers, plans, and
payers cannot make informed choices or assess the real value of health care serv-
ices.

Second, while we do not have all of the answers we need today, Congress' invest-
ment in health services research over the last 25 years has provided us with much
of the science and many of the tools we need to measure and improve the quality
of health care services.

Third, we know that there is a huge gap—in day-to-day clinical practice—between
what we know and what we do. We need to narrow that gap and to build the evi-

dence base for improving day-to-day clinical practice.

Fourth, the good news is that our research demonstrates that better quality can
often cost less and that more care is not always better care.

THE NEED FOR QUALITY INFORMATION

Mr. Chairman, the demand for quality information is growing in all segments of
the marketplace. Consumers need better information so that they can choose the
right health plans, the right health provider, and the best clinical treatment for

their particular needs. Similarly, health professionals—who are inundated with new
scientific findings on a daily basis—need better, more efficient ways to stay on top
of the latest advances in clinical science so they can practice "modem" evidence-
based medicine. In addition, public and private-sector purchasers and policymakers
need better information to assure accountability. Let me just say a word about each.
Two weeks ago, our agency and the Kaiser Family Foundation (KFF) released the

results of the first nationally representative survey of Americans' need for and use
of information regarding the quality of health care. The survey found that a large
majority of Americans (nearly 90 percent in every case) felt that quality informa-
tion—such as how a plan cares for members who have health problems, ease of get-
ting needed care, and success at early detection of disease—was "very important"
to know when choosing a health plan. Moreover, about half of all Americans—more
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than 38 percent of Medicare beneficiaries—believe that there are "big differences"

in the quaUty of care among health plans.

The overwhelming majority of Americans felt that quality was important to them
and almost one-half felt quality was far more important than cost, choice of physi-

cian, or even the range of benefits. And, while most of those persons who have seen
information comparing quality said it would be useful in making choices, far fewer
said they had used it in their own decisionmaking. In fact, most of the respondents
admitted that they relied upon recommendations of friends and families and their

personal physician over that of experts.

The simple fact is that there are few sources of credible, unbiased information
upon which Americans can rely. But the demand for such information is strong.

More than 88 percent of respondents in the poll thought government should have
a role in quality. A majority said government should make sure that information
about quality is publicly available and that government should set minimum stand-
ards for quality of care in the same way that government safeguards the food sup-
ply. Our experience in working with the state of Oregon on their health plan Report
Card project also suggests that information is often not enough; consumers need
help in understanding and interpreting the information they are given. This is espe-
cially true for populations at risk, such as the populations served by Medicare and
Medicaid.
Health services research has also demonstrated that patients want more informa-

tion from their physicians and health care professionals. An increasing number of
patients want to participate more actively in medical decisions regarding their own
care and it can actually improve the clinical outcomes for patients. In a series of
reports from the Medical Outcomes study—the same project from which Dr. Ware's
paper is drawn—Dr. Sherrie Kaplan of the New England Medical Center found that
patients of physicians who practiced participatory decisionmaking had better clinical

outcomes when she and her colleagues looked at such factors as diabetes control,

blood pressure, arthritis severity, and functional status among patients with chronic
disease. And this does not even consider the economic benefits to physicians because
patients are less likely to change doctors or file a malpractice case.

Health professionals face conflicting pressures. For example, in the not-too-distant
past, physicians seldom found their professional judgment second-guessed. Today,
clinicians are increasingly being asked to cite the scientific evidence that supports
a proposed course of treatment for a patient. But as the Director of the National
Library of Medicine has noted, it is a daunting task to keep abreast of the ever-
changing medical literature. He calculated that if a physician read two peer-re-

viewed journal articles each night that, at the end of a year, he or she would be
800 years behind in his or her reading. I am pleased to say our agency is working
on solutions to this problem as part of our fiscal year 1997 budget which your com-
mittee supported. We will be able to establish a network of Evidence-based Practice
Research Centers that will provide clinicians with readily accessible syntheses of the
available scientific evidence. Our centers will read and evaluate the thousands of
journal articles and summarize the findings in a clear and concise format for the
busy clinician to use.

Similarly, purchasers and policjrmakers are pushing the movement for greater ac-

countability. Organizations such as NCQA, JCAHO, and the FACCT are pushing for

quality measurement development and reporting by major health care plans, the
adoption of quality assurance systems, and the reporting of enrollee satisfaction.

Employers and large purchasers are beginning to make decisions on which health
plans to offer based upon this information and this trend is expected to escalate.

The participation in these efforts by HCFA, DOD, 0PM, and other federal pur-
chasers is an important and progressive step.

THE SCIENCE AND TOOLS TO IMPROVE QUALITY

Mr. Chairman, while we have much more work to do in developing the science
and tools for quality measurement and improvement, it is important to recognize
that we have come a long way in this area. And this progress has made possible
the recent work of John Ware and his colleagues at the New England Medical Cen-
ter. Health services research has developed and validated the tools for patient self

assessment of health status, provided us with functional outcome measures for pa-
tients, and patient satisfaction indexes. It has also provided us with a wealth of
quality measures, particularly in hospital settings and for acute care problems.
However, we particularly need more quality measures that address the chronic
problems faced by many Medicare beneficiaries and we need to confront the com-
plexity and cost of retrieving this data from often antiquated paper-based medical
records.
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In attempting to put these developments into perspective, I think it is helpful to

think of this process as akin to building ever more powerful microscopes—micro-

scopes that enable us to examine the quality of health care in increasingly finer de-

tail. It is clearly still a work in progress; we are far from having an "electron micro-
scope"—my analogy for having all of the tools we need to perfectly measure and im-
prove quality of care. But with each passing year, we are better off.

However, the analogy also raises a significant caution. As we develop more power-
ful and effective quality tools, it is important to recognize that we may see more
and more flaws in the process and delivery of health care services—ones that we
never recognized before. As a result, we need to be careful about assuming that
there is blame to be assessed and we need to be careful in our efforts at compari-
sons.

Refining the microscope is only half the battle. It will only let us see the flaws
in our system more clearly. It does not address the challenge of quality improve-
ment: how we can improve our systems of care. Quality experts overwhelmingly con-
clude that we are not doing the best we can, that we are capable of a much higher
standard of care, and that we need to focus on what will get us there. Health serv-

ices research, both public and private, is helping to close this gap between what we
know and what we do.

CLOSING THE GAP BETWEEN WHAT WE KNOW WORKS AND WHAT WE DO

When AHCPR was first established in 1989, Mr. Chairman, we gave the highest
priority to our new mission to build the science base underlying day-to-day clinical

practice. Biomedical research had a long track record of identifying potential causes
and cures of disease through the use of bench research and clinical trials of carefully

screened patients. We were asked by the Congress to go the next step and assess
the effectiveness of these interventions in day-to-day clinical practice. Our research
asked simple but important questions: is the clinical intervention effective in day-
to-day practice? What does it cost? And how widely is it used?
What we have concluded from this early work is that there are many effective

interventions to improve quality and outcomes and often lower costs but they are
not uniformly practiced. Put another way, there are clearly tremendous opportuni-
ties for improving the quality and effectiveness of clinical services by simply putting
into practice what is already known. I do not mean to suggest that we can abandon
our efforts to build the science base but there are opportunities for significant im-
provements in the short-term. Let me cite a few examples, some very relevant to

the Medicare program:
—We know that anti-coagulation therapy for the elderly with atrial fibrillation

will prevent strokes in older Americans. Yet fewer than 25 percent of eligible

patients receive the treatment and, of those who do, almost half receive the
wrong dose. If anticoagulation therapy was available and used by patients at
risk, we could prevent 40,000 strokes a year and save $500 million a year.

—Urinary incontinence affects 15 million Americans, most of them elderly women,
and it is a primary reason that they enter nursing homes. Yet 80 percent of
these cases can be treated or cured by following existing scientific knowledge.
With direct health costs total $11.2 Billion and $5.2 Billion in nursing home ex-

penditures, the potential for savings is enormous.
—We know how to prevent pressure ulcers yet nearly 10 percent of hospital pa-

tients and 25 percent of nursing home patients suffer unnecessarily from pres-

sure sores. This is a vital health issue for Medicare, because patients with
chronic disease are at great risk for developing pressure ulcers. And we know
the savings potential is enormous; Intermountain Health Care in Salt Lake City
reported savings of $240,000 over just 6 months at just one hospital.

—Perhaps no other problem is more insidious in its impact on the cost and quality
of inpatient care that unrelieved patient pain. Over 23 million operations a year
involve some form of pain management but half of those efforts were ineffective.

Yet effective pain management is possible and it contributes to shorter hospital
stays, earlier mobilization, and results in lower costs. One hospital succeeded
in reducing hospital length of stay by 35 percent as a direct result of applying
pain management techniques.

—If we believe that Quality should truly be "Job One," shouldn't our goal be that
all operations have a pain management protocol that is effective?

One area in which Medicare has already seen savings is in the rate of sur-

gical interventions to treat Benign Prostatic Hj^ierplasia (BPH). BPH affects

more than 50 percent of all men over age 60 and about 8 out of 10 men by age
80. Until recently, transurethral resections of the prostate (a TURP operation)
was recommended for patients with initial symptoms of BPH, making it one of
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the most common surgical procedures paid for by Medicare. Outcomes research
has demonstrated that initial symptoms do not always lead to serious problems
and that rate of complications—incontinence, impotence, infection, and need for

reoperation—was much higher than the research literature had demonstrated.
As a result, rates have begun to fall as more physicians encourage patients to

delay ("watchful waiting") surgery and these falling rates saved Medicare over
$100 million between 1992 and 1993.

—We also know that we can improve the quality of care and lower costs by re-

engineering our systems for delivering care. We need systems that help clini-

cians to do their best. For example, nearly two years ago, one of our grantees
from Harvard University, Dr. Lucian Leape, found that between 2 percent and
14 percent of patients admitted to hospitals get the wrong medication because
hospitals do not have information systems in place to avoid human errors, such
as miscommunication between physicians, nurses, and hospital pharmacies.
Similarly, the Harvard Medical Practice Study found 4 percent of patients in

the state of New York suffered iatrogenic injury, mainly caused by medication
errors, that increased their stay in the hospital or caused a measurable disabil-

ity or death. In an article in JAMA Magazine, Dr. Leape noted, that if these
rates were the typical nationwide, 180,000 patients die each year as a result

of iatrogenic injury, mistakes of the process of care.

A month ago, we joined the AMA, the AAAS, and others in sponsoring a con-
ference, Examining Errors in Health Care, which was designed to build upon
Dr. Leape's work and set the stage for additional research in the re-engineering
of our systems of care. As Dr. Donald Berwick, a leader in the field of quality
improvement notes, we need to structure our health care systems so that the
easiest course of action is the right one for the patient.

These are two areas—applying our existing clinical knowledge and improving the
organization of our health care systems—in which research has demonstrated the
prospects for significant improvements of quality in the short run.

CONCLUSION

As you can see, we can congratulate ourselves on some very significant progress
in the field of quality measurement and improvement. These examples demonstrate,
Mr. Chairman, that improved clinical quality can often increase patient satisfaction

and lower costs as well. In sum, better quality can cost.

I look forward to working with the subcommittee to reach this goal.
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Senator SPECTER. Thank you very much, Dr. Fried. Let us pro-

ceed now to the dialog, and perhaps you can integrate some of the
other items you have in mind. I will give you an opportunity at the
conclusion of your testimony to cover anything that you feel we
have missed.



55

Mr. Fried. Thank you, sir.

Senator SPECTER. You heard the testimony of Dr. Ware about the

need for more information. Would you concur with that?

Mr. Fried. Absolutely.

Senator Specter. Do you think Federal legislation is necessary

on that subject?

Mr. Fried. I do not think that it is at this point; although, I

might want to revisit that thought. We have
Senator Specter. How do you get to the requirement of the spec-

ification of the information needed without Federal legislation?

Mr. Fried. Section 1876 of the Social Security Act gives the Sec-

retary authority to require plans to provide whatever data may be

necessary for us to determine
Senator Specter. What action has been taken by the Secretary

pursuant to that provision?

Mr. Fried. There are two actions that I just mentioned in my
comments. We have informed plans that the HEDIS 3.0 data set

will have to be collected by the plans and reported to HCFA in the

coming contract year beginning January 1.

Senator Specter. Well, that is according to HCFA. But, what
goes to the prospective client?

Mr. Fried. If I could finish my statement for a moment.
Senator Specter. Yes.

Mr. Fried. The other is the survey instrument that Dr. Gaus' or-

ganization has developed. The data for both of those instruments

will be collected by us and reported to beneficiaries. We are work-

ing toward being able to report comparable information

Senator Specter. Now, when you report that to beneficiaries,

what does that do specifically about requiring plans to be specific

on information which you think beneficiaries need?
Mr. Fried. Well, if I could describe the HEDIS 3.0 instrument,

for instance, it is a very comprehensive measure of approximately

75 different elements that cover everything of importance to our

population, such as the frequency of immunizations, the incidence

of mammography for women over age 65, and the incidence of reti-

nopathy of eye exams for Medicare beneficiaries with diabetes. In

our mind perhaps most important
Senator Specter. You are specifying what they need to do for the

patients?
Mr. Fried. Well, HEDIS 3.0 is a set of measures that a group

of scientists essentially have identified as those things that a

health plan would have to do in order to have successful outcomes
of care. It is admittedly not a measure of the outcome itself, but
of those indicators that a plan must
Senator Specter. Do you specify how long a woman has to stay

in the hospital after delivering a child?

Mr. Fried. No, sir; they do not.

Senator Specter. Do you think that is excessive micromanage-
ment?
Mr. Fried. I do.

Senator SPECTER. Or, maybe just that is redundant micro-

management?
Mr. Fried. I think I would
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Senator Specter. The management that you undertake is not
micromanagement; right?

Mr. Fried. Well, I think what we are proposing are performance
measurements as opposed to actual kinds of things that plans have
to do. Let me answer the question this way, Senator.

Senator Specter. Well, you are specifying what plans have to do.

Mr. Fried. We are asking the frequency with which they are
doing these things.

Senator Specter. You are raising the question, you are not im-
posing a requirement?
Mr. Fried. We are requiring plans to report certain kinds of per-

formances that we will use both for our management oversight and
to report to beneficiaries so that they can make informed choices.

Senator Specter. Well, does your organization tell prospective
enrollees what the companies are doing, or do the companies them-
selves tell prospective enrollees what they will do?
Mr. Fried. If I understand your question, sir, at this point we

do not have the information that I have just described. In the com-
ing calendar year, we will be providing that information to bene-
ficiaries.

Senator Specter. What you are saying is right now there are no
requirements as to what the managed care companies have to tell

their prospective enrollees, people whom they are soliciting?

Mr. Fried. In their marketing materials, there is a great deal of
information that they must provide in terms of copayments, the
benefits that are covered above and beyond those that are normally
covered by the Medicare program, areas of service, the physicians
that are in the network, the hospitals that are in the network, all

of those kinds of information are part of what is required to be re-

ported.

Senator Specter. The long and short of it is you do not think
any legislation is necessary now, but you might want some?
Mr. Fried. I believe currently we have the legislative authority

to require plans to report the kind of information we are intending
to collect.

Senator Specter. Do you ask managed care plans whether the
plan has a so-called gag clause in contracts with providers?
Mr. Fried. No, sir; we do not.

Senator Specter. Do you think you should?
Mr. Fried. The President has said quite clearly that he believes

that gag clauses, or any impediment to physicians being able to

fully counsel their patients, is wrong and should not be permitted.
I believe that the Department will be sending up in its legislative

package provisions that preclude any managed care organization
from having such a provision in its contracts.

Senator SPECTER. The answer is yes?
Mr. Fried. Yes.
Senator Specter. Because the President says so?
Mr. Fried. Indeed.
Senator Specter. Are you now asking that question?
Mr. Fried. No, sir; we are not.

Senator Specter. Why not?
Mr. Fried. It has not been an issue that we have been confronted

with in our review of appeals.
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Senator Specter. How long ago did the President make his

statement?
Mr. Fried. I beheve the President's comment was about 4 or 5

months ago. I do not recall with precision.

Senator Specter. Well, does that not confront the issue?

Mr. Fried. Again, I think the answer to the question, sir, is that

in our oversight of managed care organizations and our review of

the issues that people are seeking to appeal, we have not identified

any instance that a gag clause has been used in a way that has
had an impact on beneficiaries.

Senator Specter. Well, but you are not asking the managed care

plans whether the plan has a gag clause?

Mr. Fried. No, sir; we have not.

Senator Specter. Well, why do you not ask them that?

Mr. Fried. I believe that for the coming year we will be doing
that.

Senator Specter. Well, why are you waiting?
Mr. Fried. We have a contract that exists through the end of this

year, and the terms of the contract are what they are.

Senator Specter. You have a contract which is in existence. The
contracting parties are who?
Mr. Fried. The Health Care Financing Administration and par-

ticular plans, the plans that we contract with.

Senator Specter. That is done on an annual basis?

Mr. Fried. Yes, sir; that's right. January 1 begins the contract

year.

Senator Specter. There is no way to add something where there
is a major matter which arises like the so-called gag clause?

Mr. Fried. Again, Senator, I think the question is, "have we seen
this as a problem?"

Senator Specter. No; I am on a different point now. I am on a
point as to whether or not you can make an addition to a contract

where there is a major public policy problem.
Mr. Fried. I am sure that there would be a way to do that.

Senator Specter. Well, why do you not do it?

Mr. Fried. I will take that under consideration. The question is

whether at this point, with January 1 being only 6 weeks away,
whether it may take us that much time to get to that point.

Senator Specter. It takes you 6 months to

Mr. Fried. Six weeks.
Senator Specter [continuing]. Six weeks to get to that point?

Mr. Fried. Well, we are going to have a new contract in 6 weeks.
Senator.
Senator SPECTER. Well, that is a long time for a lot of people and

a lot of care. Why have you waited until now when the President
spoke, as you testified, 4 or 5 months ago?
Mr. Fried. I can only say, sir, that as we have administered the

program and overseen the plans we have not identified a single in-

stance, to my knowledge, where this has had an impact on Medi-
care beneficiaries.

Senator Specter. Well, there are two points: one point is wheth-
er it is a significant point, and the second point was whether or not
you have the authority to do something about it before January 1,
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On the point that you keep coming back to, that you have not
identified a real problem, the Congress and the Senate has voted
on it. That may not amount to too much. But the President has
spoken about it. He is the chief executive officer directing your De-
partment. I find it hard to understand why you do not respond to

the President, Mr. Fried. Why not?
Mr. Fried. Senator, I can only say that we are moving forward

with this, and it will be part of our operation of the program in the
future.

Senator Specter. Well, Mr. Fried, I do not consider that you are
moving forward with it when it has been identified by the Presi-

dent 4 to 5 months ago, and I do not consider it adequate to delay
it for 6 weeks if there is something that you can do about it now.
I think there needs to be a lot more sense of urgency in what we
all do in the Government. Six weeks is a lot of time for a lot of peo-
ple to die.

What is your evaluation of the issue as to whether the profit mo-
tive is excessive and discourages managed care plans from giving
the kind of specialty care which is warranted?
Mr. Fried. The answer is a fairly complex one.

Senator Specter. Well, try me.
Mr. Fried. The payment mechanism that we currently employ,

the one that the statute articulates, requires a reconciliation be-

tween (1) the estimated average amount that HCFA would pay
based on the AAPCC, which is 95 percent of what we estimate it

would cost for us to provide care on the fee-for-service side in a
particular county, with (2) the adjusted community rate [ACRl for

that plan, which is what the plan estimates Medicare benefits

would actually cost in the particular community.
The difference between the average payment rate and the ad-

justed community rate pa3rment must be returned either to the
Treasury or to beneficiaries in the form of additional benefits.

Within this process, there is a calculation that accounts for the
administrative costs including profit that the plan makes. My un-
derstanding, from the analyses that I have seen, is that the profit

derived from Medicare managed care is about 2 percent.

I cannot speculate on what the situation is in the commercial
sector. Having answered your question at length at this point, if I

can recall your question properly, I do not know of any concern
that care is being constrained or limited in some way based on a
profit consideration, at least not in the Medicare program.
We are engaged in a variety of actions to look at some of the is-

sues that you have raised with the earlier panel.
For instance, the question arose in earlier discussions about

what incentives plans may have for physicians that would wrongly
encourage them to avoid providing necessary care.

We have published a final regulation with comment addressing
the issue of physician incentive or pajnnent incentive plans be-

tween managed care organizations and physicians or physician
groups.

In doing so, we worked hard to strike the balance that Congress
asked us to between their wanting to avoid care that was unneces-
sary to excessive care being wrongly provided.
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We wanted to avoid unnecessary care on one hand, but also limit

the degree to which plans can provide incentives that would unnec-
essarily or wrongly preclude care that is necessary.
One provision of that regulation makes it absolutely illegal for a

plan to have a specific payment arrangement with a physician to

preclude care to a specific patient. Obviously, no one would stand
for that. That regulation is out and will be fully implemented Janu-
ary 1.

Senator Specter. Mr. Fried, The New York Times reported on
July 8, that there was at least a delayed implementation of new
rules that would have restricted an HMO practice of rewarding
doctors who cut costs and control services to Medicare and Medic-
aid patients; is that correct?

Mr. Fried. No, sir; Mr. Pear, who was the writer of that article,

was wrong. If I could
Senator Specter. What is the fact?

Mr. Fried. The fact of the matter is the rule was published in
final with an opportunity for comment in, I believe, March.
Mr. Gaus. Yes.
Mr. Fried. At the time of the publication, when we briefed

consumer and physician organizations, plans, and the press, we ac-

knowledged that we had identified at the last minute a problem
with one aspect of the implementation schedule, and that we would
have to be refining it.

The one issue was the date by which stop loss insurance would
have to be provided for physicians in these contractual relation-

ships. The terms of the statute had the implementation date coin-

cide with the contract year, January 1.

The regulation as published had that wrong, frankly. It was my
decision that this was too important a regulation to hold the whole
thing up while we got this specific fine point resolved.

Senator SPECTER. What is this fine point again?
Mr. Fried. Well, it is more than a fine point. It is obviously an

important piece of the regulation, that stop loss insurance must be
provided for physicians whose incomes are at substantial risk. Sub-
stantial risk is defined as more than 25 percent of their income
being at risk. For those physicians, stop loss insurance must be
provided, essentially protecting their income level.

Senator SPECTER. Precisely what is stop loss insurance?
Mr. Fried. Stop loss insurance will essentially hold the physician

harmless if they recommend the care outside of the practice, spe-
cialty referrals, for instance, that in so doing would place more
than 25 percent of their income at risk.

Senator Specter. If they make that recommendation, they will

have a lower income from the managed care company paying them?
Mr. Fried. The purpose of a stop loss insurance is to hold them

harmless from having their income affected.

Senator Specter. They have to come to a loss of at least 25 per-

cent of their income before the stop loss insurance applies?
Mr. Fried. That was the balance that was struck, yes, sir.

Senator Specter. If they have a 20 percent loss, the insurance
does not apply?
Mr. Fried. Yes, sir; that is correct.
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Senator Specter. That is a pretty big risk factor for a doctor to

undertake, isn't it? It might discourage him from making a spe-

cialty referral?

Mr. Fried. Your point is one we are discussing. We took some
time in developing the regulation. Frankly, it started long before I

came on board and took this responsibility. There was a lot of actu-

arial work done.
The question was, How do we strike the balance between permit-

ting plans to create incentives to avoid unnecessary care and avoid-

ing the incentive to deny patient care that is necessary?
I was not here at the time, but my understanding is that when

the regulation was originally in development a small number of

physicians and I do not remember the exact number would have
been protected by the regulation. My understanding now is that
the regulation is going to have significant protection for large num-
bers of physicians.

Senator Specter. That regulation is not in effect at the present
time?
Mr. Fried. The regulation is in effect, except for the requirement

that stop loss insurance be provided. As I say, that will become ef-

fective January 1, 1997, as part of the new contract.

Senator SPECTER. How long has the stop loss insurance provision
been suspended?
Mr. Fried. Well, I would say. Senator, that the terms of the leg-

islation required us to provide the stop loss insurance effective with
the contract year, so I would not say it was suspended at all. I

would say we are acting in consort with the terms of the legisla-

tion.

Senator Specter. Well, there has not been stop loss insurance
since when?
Mr. Fried. Many plans provide stop loss insurance, so I cannot

tell you the number. But if the question is in terms of the regula-

tion

Senator Specter. The regulation does not require stop loss insur-

ance?
Mr. Fried. The regulation requires stop loss insurance effective

January 1, 1997. The regulation was published in the middle of

March of this year with a period for comment.
Senator Specter. When could the stop loss regulation have gone

into effect?

Mr. Fried. The statute provided that it would go into effect on
January 1 in concert with contract years.

Senator Specter. It could not have gone into effect any earlier

than January 1, 1997?
Mr. Fried. That is my understanding of the terms of the legisla-

tion, yes, sir. Now, let me just say
Senator Specter. When you say your "understanding of the

terms of the legislation," is there any ambiguity in the legislation?

Mr. Fried. I do not believe that there is. That is certainly my
understanding of it.

Senator Specter. Wasn't this legislation enacted with OBRA in

1990, Mr. Fried?
Mr. Fried. Yes, sir; that is right.
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Senator Specter. The rule is that "no specific payment is made
directly or indirectly under a plan to a physician or a physician

group as an inducement to reduce or limit medically necessary

services furnished to an individual enrollee"?

Mr. Fried. That provision of the statute, I believe, is self-enforc-

ing. No regulation was necessary to make that effective. I believe

that provision of law is in force and has been since the enactment
of the legislation, or since the implementation of the legislation.

Senator Specter. There is no plan which limits a specific pay-

ment relating to induce or limit medically necessary services?

Mr. Fried. Not that I am aware of, that is right, that is illegal.

Senator Specter. The provision here that "Prepaid health care

organizations may operate a physician incentive plan only if," and
the second provision is, "for arrangements that cause substantial fi-

nancial risks, stop loss protection, enrollee survey, and disclosure

requirements are met"? That has not been met?
Mr. Fried. Yes, sir; that is effective. In all instances, the effec-

tive dates are clear. Again, the one implementation date

Senator Specter. The implementation date is when?
Mr. Fried. Well, it is a complicated regulation. There are por-

tions that are in effect now and portions that become effective with

the contract year, January 1.

Senator Specter. Of what year?
Mr. Fried. 1997.

Senator Specter. Well, what has taken so long since 1990 when
OBRA was passed?
Mr. Fried. Congressman, I wish I could tell you. I came on and

took responsibility for this part of HCFA September 18, 1995. It is

a complicated regulation. There was an enormous amount of work
done. There was substantial comment received when the proposed

regulation was issued. There was actuarial work that had to be

done. I agree with you. Senator, it took too long a time for this reg-

ulation.

Senator SPECTER. You think it took too long from 1990 to now?
Mr. Fried. Clearly. I think we all know that the APA process is

burdensome and complicated, and certainly that showed up in this

instance.

Senator Specter. Well, this is a very long subject, and we may
have to have another hearing on it, but I would like you to address

it in writing, the substance of this New York Times article of July

8, 1996.

Mr. Fried. I would be delighted to do that.

Senator Specter. We can have your response in writing, and we
will take it from there.

Mr. Fried. I would be happy to do that.

[Note.—The response will be retained in committee files. 1

Senator SPECTER. Is there anything else you care to add at this

time?
Mr. Fried. Well, I do feel compelled to say this. Senator. As I

said, and if I am redundant, please forgive me, but I cannot tell

you how important I believe the work is that we and our colleagues

at AHCPR are involved in.
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The health care system is clearly reacting to market forces. The
incentives that commercial purchasers have set have been incen-

tives to constrain the growth of health care costs.

I think commercial purchasers recognize that the Federal Gov-
ernment has not been successful at constraining the growth rate of

health care costs. You may recall when Lee laccoca appeared before

the Labor Committee in 1986, I believe it was, and noted for the
first time that the cost of health care exceeded the cost of steel in

his automobiles. That was an alarm bell that we should have all

heard.
Commercial purchasers set an economic objective for the health

care system. For managed care organizations, it was essentially to

save us money. Managed care organizations with that incentive in

mind have been quite successful.

HCFA is the largest purchaser of managed care in the country.
We have an objective that certainly has to be about cost. I think
the Congress will certainly engage that issue in the coming year,

but we have to be at least as concerned about quality as we are
about costs.

From my perception, I think our responsibilities are even more
so on the quality side. This includes work that we are doing in

terms of the development of HEDIS 3.0, working with AHCPR in

the development of this beneficiary survey, working with other
public and private purchasers in the development and implementa-
tion of true measures of outcomes.
How well plans succeed at meeting the health care needs of pa-

tients with specific problems is ground-breaking work. It responds
precisely to the kinds of encouraging statements that Dr.
Wilkensky and Dr. Ware made in the preceding panel.
We are doing this; we are going to have an ability for our bene-

ficiaries to access data about how plans compare to each other so

that they can be part of changing the economic incentive structure.

Plans want beneficiaries. They want them desperately. Bene-
ficiaries right now basically are making decisions based on cost, on
what their neighbor next door thinks. We want them to have qual-

ity information so that they can make these choices as well.

The more interesting question, Senator, is: What can we as the
Federal Government do to use these quality indicators not just for

management and oversight. We can certainly do that, but can we
use this information to make purchasing decisions? There are some
private sector organizations that only purchase from certain man-
aged care organizations that get over certain quality thresholds.

Senator Specter. Mr. Fried, would you address the question as
to what legislation you think is necessary for Medigap? You had
stated that at the outset.

Mr. Fried. Yes, sir; I would be happy to. We will be submitting
a legislative proposal that would preclude Medigap insurers from
employing a preexisting condition exclusion, and that they have at

least a period each year when there is open enrollment.
Senator Specter. Well, we are going to pursue this, Mr. Fried.

Let me just say to you that I consider your position totally, totally

unacceptable on two items that I have heard about today: One is

the so-called gag rule, where the President identified the problem
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4 to 5 months ago, and the Senate has acted and you have not

acted to change that.

You concede in your testimony that there are ways you could ad-

dress it, even though you have a contractual provision here. Con-

tracts are subject to change by governmental action where impor-

tant public policy issues are involved. Four to five months plus 1^2

months, 6 months-plus is totally unacceptable. I do not know why
the President let you get away with it.

From November 13 to December 31 is a long time. You ought to

act on it today. You ought not let any time pass. I have been a pa-

tient fairly recently, and have a very, very high regard for a day,

let alone 48 days, which is how many there are between now and
December 31. You ought to act on it today.

[Note.—The following policy memorandum was sent by HCFA to

its Medicare managed care contractors on November 25, 1996, stat-

ing gag rules are a violation of the law.]

Memorandum From the Office of Managed Care

November 25, 1996.

Subject: Physicians' Advice and Counsel to Beneficiaries Enrolled in Medicare Man-
aged Care Plans

Question. Are Medicare beneficiaries enrolled in managed care plans entitled to

advice and counsel by their physician of medically necessary treatment options that

may be appropriate for their condition or disease?

Answer. Yes. Medicare beneficiaries who are enrolled in a Medicare contracting

risk or cost plan are entitled to the same benefits that they would be entitled to

under the fee-for-service (FFS) program. See section 1876(c)(2)(A) of the Social Secu-

rity Act.

Among the benefits to which FFS beneficiaries are entitled is advice and counsel

from their physician on medically necessary treatment options that may be appro-

priate for their condition or disease. Beneficiaries enrolled in a Medicare managed
care plan are, likewise, entitled to such advice and counsel from their physician.

Consequently, a physician providing care to a Medicare beneficiary under the

terms of a risk or cost contract may not be limited in counseling or advising the

beneficiary of medically necessary treatment options that may be appropriate for the

individual's condition or disease.

Contractual provisions that limit a physician's ability to so counsel or advise a

Medicare beneficiary are a violation of the law. Assuring the availability of this ben-

efit to Medicare beneficiaries will be part of HCFA's routine oversight of contracting

managed care organizations.

Senator SPECTER. On stop loss protection, where it really in-

volves what doctors may limit their advice to patients as to what
specialty care they need, and their income is at risk up to 25 per-

cent, not to have the stop loss issue dealt with since 1990, again

in my judgment, is just totally unacceptable and totally inexcus-

able. I would be glad to hear any response you want to make at

this time.

Mr. Fried. With the second issue, certainly I am not in a position

to defend the time that it has taken from the date that the legisla-

tion was enacted. I would just simply note that since I have come
on board, this regulation has moved with a great deal of dispatch.

Senator Specter. Well, when did you come on board, Mr. Fried?

Mr. Fried. September 18, 1995.

Senator Specter. Well, that is 1 year and 2 months.
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SUBMITTED QUESTIONS

Mr. Fried. We published the final regulation that had been
pending since 1990. Senator, again I am not here to defend the
amount of time it has taken except to note that
Senator Specter. When can you get it finished?

Mr. Fried. January 1, sir.

Senator Specter. OK Thank you very much.
[The following questions were not asked at the hearing, but were

submitted to the Administration for response subsequent to the
hearing:!

Questions Submitted by Senator Specter

Question. Mr. Fried, what is Phase II of your comparative information project?

When will it be completed?
Answer. The Health Care Financing Administration is in the process of establish-

ing a database with information about Medicare health plans which will eventually
be available on the Internet. The information will include a comparability chart to

help beneficiaries make informed choices regarding the available Medicare managed
health care plans. Phase I of this effort will provide comparative data on HMO ben-
efits, premiums, and cost sharing in a specific market. Phase I is expected to be im-
plemented in March, 1997.
Phase II of the project will include beneficiary satisfaction, plan performance, and

quality of care comparisons on a market-by-market basis. In addition to the stand-
ardized reports, the system will allow users to obtain more customized information.
Phase II of this project will fit the database with a graphics interface to allow easy
access via the Internet. The products will be available for downloading for use in

counseling or decision making, and for publication by mass media, advocacy groups
and others. Phase II is expected to be in limited use by the Fall of 1997.

Question. Mr. Fried, under the traditional Medicare program what preventive
services are covered?
Answer. Title XVIII of the Social Security Act provides for coverage of several pre-

ventive health services under Medicare, including pneumococcal, hepatitis, and in-

fluenza vaccines, screening mammography, and pap smears.
Question. What services are covered under Medicare managed care?
Answer. Section 1876(c)(2)(A) of the Social Security Act requires that managed

care plans contracting with Medicare provide the same services that are covered
under Medicare Part A and Part B. HCFA may also approve the provision of addi-

tional benefits and services to beneficiaries enrolled in Medicare managed care

plans. As of November 1, 1996, 98 percent of risk plans offered physicals, 90 percent
offered eye exams, 75 percent offered hearing exams, and 38 percent offered foot

care. Fifty eight percent of Medicare risk plans currently offer beneficiaries an out-

patient prescription drug benefit.

Question. What services does the Administration propose to cover under Medicare
managed care?
Answer. As stated above, plans are required to offer all Medicare covered preven-

tive services. The Administration does not require plans to offer specific services be-

yond the Medicare covered services, however, many plans offer additional preventive
benefits.

Question. Mr. Fried, I see that the regional office in Philadelphia took the initia-

tive to have available to Medicare beneficiaries an HMO comparison chart. It is con-

cise and provides important information about the benefits and costs of choosing be-

tween traditional Medicare and an HMO. I am informed that the GAO strongly rec-

ommended that all of your ofiices offer such a chart, but that they do not. Shouldn't
HCFA be more aggressive in developing and distributing information like this?

Answer. In addition to the comparative information chart developed by HCFA's
Philadelphia Regional Office, similar charts have been developed by the Regional
Offices in San Francisco, Kansas City, and Atlanta. Also, information about Medi-
care managed care options is being developed by Medicare Information, Counseling,
and Advocacy Programs (ICA's), State Agencies, and consumer groups. HCFA is ag-

gressively developing and distributing clear, accurate, current and consistent man-
aged care information. Among the several initiatives to accomplish that objective is

the computerized comparative information project, discussed above.
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Question. What measures are you planning to help the consumer make informed

decisions on whether joining a Medicare HMO makes sense for them, and if so,

which one?
Answer. In addition to the major effort to field comparative managed care plan

information, we have embarked on a variety of other initiatives intended to increase

beneficiaries' awareness and understanding of Medicare managed care. Our staff

has worked diligently to include objective discussions of managed care options in

HCFA publications. Several HCFA publications have been re-written and new ones

created to address this need. In addition, a re-design of the Medicare "initial enroll-

ment package will provide information about managed care to all beneficiaries at

the time of initial eligibility.

We are constantly implementing new initiatives to make more information avail-

able to our beneficiary customers; these include a comparison chart, beneficiary sat-

isfaction survey, managed care training module for the ICA programs, and informa-

tional materials targeted towards individuals making decisions on behalf of bene-

ficiaries.

Question. Could information that speaks to the HMO's quality and patient satis-

faction also be made available?

Answer. In the coming year, HCFA will be conducting the first comprehensive, na-

tionwide survey of Medicare beneficiaries in managed care plans. While the rate of

enrollment in managed care plans has increased rapidly, data about beneficiaries'

experience in plans has remained minimal. The primary purpose of the survey is

to close the gap in knowledge by providing information to beneficiaries that will

help them to make more informed health plan choices. Data on satisfaction, access,

and quality of care will be gathered from a random sample of beneficiaries in each
plan. Results from the survey will be presented in the comparability chart that will

also include information on cost and coverage, facilitating both plan-to-plan, and
managed care to fee-for-service comparisons.

In addition, in 1997 HCFA will be collecting Medicare relevant HEDIS (Health

Employers Data Information set) performance indicators. These quality measures
will also be included in the previously described comparison charts.

Question. Would listing the HMOs' disenrollment rates and accreditation status

by the National Commission on Quality Assurance be a good guide for the consumer
on choosing on the basis of quality as well as costs and benefits?

Answer. Disenrollment rates are not really informative without a context for in-

terpretation. HCFA is currently exploring how disenrollment data can best be used
to allow beneficiaries to make a meaningful, informed comparison.

Accreditation by the National Commission on Quality Assurance (NCQA) is an-

other factor that has to be put in context to be relevant to Medicare beneficiaries.

Given that all Medicare managed care plans have met HCFA standards, and con-

tinue to undergo routine monitoring of Medicare operations, the usefulness of pro-

viding information about NCQA accreditation status is unclear and may be confus-

ing. We are working with NCQA and other accrediting organizations to compare
standards and their application for the purpose of more focused oversight.

Question. How will your new physician incentive regulations be conveyed to en-

roUees and to the public?
Answer. The final rule with a public comment period was published in the Federal

Register on March 27, 1996. We issued a press release at that time and conducted
briefings with many organizations representing consumers, providers and plans. We
recently issued a policy letter to all Medicare managed care plans, outlining certain

changes to the Physician Incentive regulation which will be announced this month
in the Federal Register. A copy of the letter is attached.

The rule requires plans to disclose summary information to beneficiaries about
the physician incentive plans upon request. In addition, we plan to publish aggre-

gate information about physician incentive plan data.

Question. Mr. Fried, in what ways will HCFA take a tougher stand to protect

Medicare beneficiaries from poor quality HMO's, or is it sufficient to keep the future

focus on providing seniors information to help them choose and HMO?
Answer. It is not sufficient to provide data to beneficiaries so they can choose an

HMO based on this information. While data will provide some insights that consum-
ers can use to determine how each plan can meet their individual needs, the timeli-

ness of published data is insufficient to reflect each contractor's day to day oper-

ations. HCFA will continue to ensure compliance with regulatory requirements en-

forced through routine monitoring and special investigations. One of the most useful

tools for determining effective operations and/or fraud and abuse by plans is

through HCFA's review of plan marketing materials, beneficiary complaints, ap-

peals processing and disenrollment activity.
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HCFA is currently evaluating monitoring and enforcement activities in order to

identify more effective methods of overseeing plan operations. First, HCFA will

refocus its data analysis activities to identify specific areas where evaluation is nec-

essary. Second, HCFA will modify its approach so that evaluation activities focus

on identified problems and identify root causes for those problems in all HMO oper-
ations. Finally, HCFA is devising processes to more effectively conduct investiga-

tions. HCFA will dedicate a special team to conduct all investigations to ensure that
they are conducted when necessary and that they result in substantial and swift

correction of deficiencies.

Question. Mr. Fried, how frequently does HCFA receive complaints about market-
ing abuses by Medicare HMO's?
Answer. HCFA continues to receive individual complaints about marketing abuses

from beneficiaries. Often these complaints focus on the lock-in requirement of the
Medicare risk contract. The frequency of complaints about an HMO varies according
to the plan's experience and the market. HCFA has noted that more experienced
plans operating in markets where beneficiaries are more familiar with managed
care tend to register fewer complaints about marketing activities. However, in each
case, HCFA staff communicate with the HMO, identify the nature of the problem
and resolves the issue on behalf of the beneficiary.

While ovu* approach is to identify and resolve individual complaints about market-
ing, HCFA also evaluates the frequency and nature of these complaints. Generally,
increases in the frequency of marketing and sales complaints is an indication of po-
tential problems with the plan's marketing operations. HCFA requires corrective ac-

tion plans whenever a Medicare managed care plan's marketing activities indicate
that the plan is not in compliance with regulatory requirements. In those cases
where the plan is operating under a corrective action plan and fails to correct defi-

ciencies, we will not hesitate to use (impose?) intermediate sanctions until defi-

ciencies are corrected.
Question. Has HCFA taken enforcement actions with regard to plans whose sales

agents fraudulently represent the plan or obtain enrollment?
Answer. HCFA has initiated enforcement actions against Medicare managed care

plans whenever we identify a greater than expected level of marketing complaints,
or a marked increase in complaints. In these instances, HCFA has required correc-

tive action plans that describe the management, resources or processes that the con-
tractor will change to address the identified problem. In addition, we continue to

review all marketing and member materials that are provided to beneficiaries to en-
sure these materials clearly disclose all plan requirements. Finally, periodic onsite
reviews provide the opportunity to evaluate all marketing operations, including
sales presentations and plan responses to beneficiary complaints about individual
sales agents.

Question. Will Medicare HMO plans be required to follow your National Managed
Care Marketing Guidelines?
Answer. The provisions in the "Medicare National Marketing Guidelines" rep-

resent official HCFA policy and must be followed by all Medicare managed care con-
tractors. Also included in the "Guidelines" are 87 model pieces of correspondence
used by contractors to communicate with beneficiaries who are considering enrolling
in a plan, as well as those who have already joined the plan. These model letters

are not mandatory, however we suggest that the outline of the letters be used by
plans to provide beneficiaries with information about coverage, benefits, and enroll-

ment procedures, among other things. Plans have a strong incentive to use these
model pieces of correspondence to facilitate HCFA approval of required correspond-
ence items.

Question. Why make these guidelines optional?
Answer. The regulatory authority for Medicare managed care programs, as well

as the traditional fee-for-service are of a general nature, with specificity related to

certain clinical standards and coverage requirements, as well as payment processes.
Often the details of regulatory implementation are left to the provider. For example,
HCFA manuals specify what ty^pes of information plans must include in marketing
materials, as well as the types of material that is prohibited, then leaves decisions
about format and additional information to the provider. We then provide guidance
to plans on a case-by-case basis. As the Medicare managed care program continues
to grow, we have compiled the "Medicare National Marketing Guidelines" as a way
to establish some continuity of practice, while allowing plans to remain innovative
and responsive to individual market conditions.

Question. Mr. Fried, does HCFA plan to analyze, compare and widely distribute

HMO disenrollment rates, as recently recommended by the GAO?
Answer. Disenrollment rate data are used internally for monitoring purposes. A

high disenrollment rate, or a sudden surge in a plan's disenrollment may identify
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access, education, or quality problems, and will lead to an appropriate investigation.

We are in the process of reviewing different methods for analyzing disenrollment
rates that may be helpful to consumers. In that case we will make the information
available. It is important to take any disenrollment data in context, because
disenrollments are often not a result of dissatisfaction. Disenrollments occur for

many reasons, including moves out of area or enrollment in another plan with addi-

tional benefits of interest to the enrollee.

Question. If so, what have you found?
Answer. Disenrollment rates vary widely across plans and across geographic

areas. It is conceivable that individual plan rates could be published as part of a
comparison chart. Again, disenrollment rates should not be considered in isolation,

because beneficiaries have many reasons for disenrolling. Some recent analyses pub-
lished by PROPAC and PPRC examined, in aggregate, length of enrollment, switch-

es to fee-for-service vs. to another plan, and disenrollment by profit status of plans.

One encouraging finding is that aggregate disenrollments have been stable at

near 20 percent for many years indicating that disenrollments have not risen with
program growth. The HCFA Office of Research and Demonstrations is also currently
redoing TEFRA HMO studies which will also provide analyses of recent
disenrollment data.

Question. Mr. Fried, what is HCFA doing to monitor and provide information on
the sickest and frailest members' satisfaction with care?
Answer. The Medicare Consumer Assessments of Health Plans Study (CAHPS)

survey contains several questions on health and functional status. These questions
will enable us to analyze the responses of those beneficiaries with poorer health and
functional status levels and compare them to healthier beneficiaries. The age cat-

egories included on the survey will also allow us to take a closer look at the satisfac-

tion levels of the oldest beneficiaries (80 and above), a group that has a higher like-

lihood of experiencing poor outcomes.
Question. Will enough of these patients be surveyed to make comparisons across

plans valid?

Answer. We plan to develop a sophisticated oversampling strategy for future ad-
ministrations of the survey that we allow us to make plan to plan comparisons of
frail elderly and disabled in those plans where the number of enrolled are sufficient

to allow us to do so. In developing such a strategy, it is critical to understand that
there is no universally accepted definition of frail elderly (that is, there is disagree-
ment about how many, or what specific combination of ADL's or lADL's, conditions,

and self-reported health status comprise the best indicator of this population). The
HHS Assistant Secretary for Policy and Evaluation is currently funding a study to

develop a valid definition of this group to assist in accurate tracking. In the interim,
we will pool data across plans based on existing information, to get sufficient num-
bers to compare the frail elderly and the disabled to healthy beneficiaries to see if

their levels of satisfaction differ significantly.

Question. Mr. Fried, are media reports that HCFA is developing a new appeals
process true?
Answer. We are not developing a new appeals process, per se, but making signifi-

cant improvements to the existing process, primarily at the health plan level of re-

view. To summarize the current process: the health plan makes a determination
about a service or claim, the plan performs a reconsideration in the event of an ad-
verse determination and the Medicare enrollee requests an appeal, the HCFA inde-
pendent review contractor performs a reconsideration automatically if the plan up-
holds its adverse decision. At that point, if the HCFA determination continues to

be adverse to the beneficiary and the amount in controversy is more than $100, the
Medicare enrollee may pursue the appeal through the ALJ hearing process. Once
a dispute reaches the ALJ level of review, the enrollee has available to him/her the
full Medicare appeals process used by fee-for-service beneficiaries. The changes we
are targeting are at the first and most critical part of this extensive due process

—

the health plan's appeals process.

Question. Why are you changing the process?
Answer. The current appeals process and time lines for Medicare contracting

health plans are based on fee-for-service, as directed by statute and, more specifi-

cally, in regulation. Thus, the need for expedited reviews of preservice denials was
never explicitly addressed in regulation and the 60-day time lines are now too long
and out-of-step with what is possible today. More timely determinations and expe-
dited reviews of adverse determinations are within our authority, and we will en-
sure that these improvements are done in order to protect beneficiaries.

Question. What exactly are your plans?
Answer. We will be amending current regulations to restructure the time lines in

which health plans must make determinations and conduct reconsiderations for all
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service or care-related decisions. We will be instituting a regulatory requirement
that health plans have an expedited appeals process. Concomitant changes will be
made at the HCFA review level. Also through regulation, we will be clarifying the
types of health care decisions that are subject to the appeals process to help avoid
confusion on the part of health plans and beneficiaries. Lastly, we are developing
specifications for a new health plan reporting requirement in order to obtain infor-

mation on reconsiderations performed at the plan level.

Attachment 1

changes in physician incentive plan regulation

introduction

This communication provides an update on the requirements of the HCFA regula-
tion on Physician Incentive Plans in Prepaid Health Care Organizations. It is di-

rected to all Medicare and Medicaid managed care organizations, including both
risk-based and cost-based plans.

A final rule with comment, establishing requirements with respect to physician
incentive plans, was published in the Federal Register on March 27, 1996 (Vol. 61,
No. 60, pp. 13430-13450). An additional notice, clarifying the tales by which initial

compliance is required, was published on September 3, 1996 (Vol 61, No. 171, pp.
46384-5). This rule requires that Managed Care Organizations (MCO's) with Medi-
care or Medicaid contracts or agreements must disclose information about physician
incentive plans to HCFA or the State Medicaid Agencies. Those MCO's that include
compensation arrangements placing physicians or physician groups at substantial fi-

nancial risk (as defined in the regulation) must also assure provision of adequate
stop-loss protection and conduct beneficiary surveys.
The September 3, 1996 notice specifies that the compliance date for all provisions

(except the survey of beneficiaries and a requirement to report on certain capitation
payments) for existing Medicare and Medicaid managed care organizations, the first

renewal (or anniversary) date falling on or after January 1, 1997. We expect all

MCO's to comply with these dates to the best of their ability. We will, however, be
making some refinements, clarifications, and minor changes in the final rule. A Fed-
eral Register publication explaining these changes, as well as responding to com-
ments received on the final rule, is being developed and will be published as soon
as possible. The purpose of this Operational Policy Letter (OPL) is to advise Medi-
care and Medicaid MCO's of the changes that will be made in the regulation.
We believe these changes improve the regulation and, overall, will reduce the bur-

den of compliance. We recognize, however, that making changes this close to the ef-

fective date will require MCO's to make special efforts to comply. We will not take
enforcement action against a plan that has prepared its disclosure report in accord-
ance with the terms of the March 27, 1996 rule and is complying with the require-
ments of the regulation. Such MCO's will be given additional time to comply with
the changes noted in this OPL. Nor will enforcement measures be taken against a
plan, for failure to comply with the terms of the March 21 rule, if the plan is mak-
ing a good faith effort to comply with the changes sat forth in this OPL and the
remainder of the original March 27 rule. We envision that MCO's will direct their
efforts toward compliance with the regulation, with the revisions noted herein.
Managed care organizations having difficulty or problems coming into compliance

with these revised requirements should discuss their circumstances with their prin-
cipal contact person in HCFA or the State Medicaid Agency as soon as possible.

The next section of this OPL describes changes that we will be making to the final

rule. As noted above, these will be published in the Federal Register as soon as pos-
sible. Further guidance on procedures for meeting these disclosure requirements
and other aspects of the region will be sent separately. Medicare MCO's will also
receive separate instj-uctions from the Regional Offices concerning annual renewal
notices and evidences of coverage for Medicare contracts.

CHANGES IN PHYSICIAN INCENTIVE PLAN REGULATION

Pooling ofpatients

Certain provisions in the final rule, dealing with the calculation of "substantial
financial risk" and with determining the amount of stop-loss insurance, vary accord-
ing to the size of the patient panel involved. The March rule allowed MCO's to pool
patient populations, in certain limited situations, in determining the applicability of
these provisions. On further review, we have concluded that changes in these pool-

ing rules are warranted. The changes will make the regulation more consistent with
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current practice and with the concerns about financial incentives influencing cUnical

decisions by physicians that gave rise to the statute. These changes do two things:

one, they shift the focus from the managed care plan per se to the physician group
with which the plan is contracting; and, two, they allow for more pooling across pa-

tient populations, thereby decreasing the burden of the regulation to some degree.

Determination of substantial financial ns^.—The final rule specified that a plan's

physician group is not at risk, irrespective of its compensation arrangements, if the

group has more than 25,000 Medicare patients or more than 25,000 Medicaid pa-

tients. Pooling across categories of patients was not permitted for this purpose.

We are changing the regulation to allow the physician group to pool Medicare,
Medicaid and commercial patients to reach this 25,000 level and obviate the need
for stop-loss insurance. The physician group may also pool patients across more
than one managed care plan with which it has a contract. Note, however, that for

this purpose the physician group can only pool patients for whom it is at risk under
its compensation arrangement. If the risk that is placed on the physician group is

segmented by patient category, then these categories cannot be pooled.

Determination of amount of stop-loss insurance.—The March final rule allowed
two kinds pooling arrangements that reduced the amount of stop-loss insurance pur-

chased per patient: (a) within a physician group, the group can pool the Medicare,
Medicaid, and commercial members of a given managed care organization, but can-

not pool across managed care organizations; and (b) the managed care organizations

can pool across physician groups.
For the reasons noted above, we are changing both of these provisions:

—First, we are allowing the physician groups to pool patients across MCO's in de-

termining the amount of stop-loss insurance required.

—Second, we are eliminating the arrangement which allows a managed care plan
to pool across physician groups to reduce the stop-loss requirements.

This makes the rules on pooling the same for both issues—whether the physician
is at significant financial risk and, if so, what level of insurance protection is re-

quired.

Note that, as set forth above in the discussion of significant financial risk, the

physician group can only pool categories of patients for which it is placed at risk.

Moreover, it can only pool across patient groups if the terms of the risk imposed
on the physician group is comparable for each category. If separate risk pools are
established for these patient categories under the terms of the physician group's

compensation arrangement, then they cannot be pooled for purposes of this physi-

cian incentive rule.

Payment for stop-loss insurance

The March rule specifically held the managed care organization accountable for

the cost of any stop-loss insurance required under the rule. We have concluded that
we do not need to mandate how the payment for stop-loss insurance is arranged.
We recognize that, in current practice, the physician group often purchases stop-loss

insurance that encompasses members of more than one HMO. Moreover, the issue

of the cost of insurance is one element, among many, in the arrangement between
the managed care organization and its physician group or groups. Consequently, we
are changing the regulation to require simply that the managed care plan provide

us assurance that the proper stop-loss protection is in place.

Stop-loss levels

The March rule set forth specific stop-loss limits for insurance that was purchased
on a per-patient basis. These limits (which are also sometimes referred to as "at-

tachment points" or "deductibles") varied, depending on the size of the patient panel
and whether pooling of patients was involved. Although there was some ambiguity
in the explanation of these limits, the intent of the regulation was that they rep-

resented combined limits that covered both professional services and referrals for

hospital or other institutional services.

We recognize that many of the stop-loss arrangements currently in place differen-

tiate between these types of services and establish separate limits for professional

services and for institutional services. Moreover, some capitation arrangements may
only cover professional services or may have quite difierent compensation arrange-
ments for professional services than for institutional services. We therefore believe

we should recognize these distinctions under our regulation. Consequently, we are

revising this provision (in section 417.479(g)(2)(ii) of the regulation) to permit MCO's
and physician groups to choose either a single, combined limit or separate limits for

professional services and institutional services. We have also revised the categoriza-

tion of patient panel size to increase the number of categories and smooth out the

gradation of attachment points. Based on actuarial analyses and consultation with
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experts knowledgeable about current stop-loss insurance practices, we have revised
these limits as indicated in the following table:

(Amounts in dollarsl

p . Single combined Separate institu- Separate profes-
^ ^ ^^^

limit tional limit sional limit

1-1000 6,000 '10,000 '3,000

1,001-5,000 30,000 40,000 10,000

5,001-8,000 40,000 60,000 15,000

8,001-10,000 75,000 100,000 20,000

10,001-25,000 150,000 200,000 25,000

Greater than 25,000

Note: Regarding small patient panels: The footnotes in ttiis table indicate that, in these situations, stop-loss insurance

would be impractical. Not only would the premiums be prohibitively expensive, but the protections for patient would likely

not be adequate for panels of fewer then 500 patients. MCO's and physician groups clearly should not be putting physi-

cians at financial risk for panel sizes this small. It is our understanding that doing so is not common. For completeness,

however, we do show what the limits would be in these circumstances.

The timing of disclosure.

General Requirements.—The March rule stated that disclosure of the items speci-

fied in paragraph (h)(1) of section 417.479 must be made at the time of application
for a contract or a service area expansion or within 30 days of a request by HCFA.
The September 3, 1996 notice clarified the initial compliance dates for these disclo-

sure requirements, specifying that MCO's must disclose items (h)(l)(i) through
(h)(l)(v) upon the effective date of their contract or contract renewal (or anniver-
sary) date falling on or after January 1, 1997 or the effective date of a new contract
or agreement on or after January 1, 1997. (Items (h)(l)(vi), dealing with the report
on capitation pajmients, and (h)(l)(vii), dealing with the beneficiary survey, are dis-

cussed below). The upcoming Federal Register publication will establish, as a com-
pliance date for future contracts, that all applicants for new Medicare or Medicaid
contracts or agreements must provide the information required under items (h)(l)(i)

through (h)(l)(v) prior to the approval of their application. Applicants are encour-
aged to submit the information with their initial application materials. An applica-
tion will not be set aside as an incomplete application if it does not contain this in-

formation; we will not, however, give final approval of the application, and will not
set an elective date for a new contract, without it.

To summarize, the following are the items in section 417.479(h) that MCO's with
current Medicare or Medicaid contracts or agreements are required to disclose upon
the next renewal or anniversary date:

(h)(i) Whether services not furnished by the physician or physician group are cov-
ered by the incentive plan. If only the services furnished by the physician or physi-
cian group are covered by the plan, disclosure of other aspects of the plan need not
be made.

(h)(ii) The type of incentive arrangement; for example, withhold, bonus, capita-

tion.

(h)(iii) If the incentive plan involves a withhold or bonus, the percent of the with-
hold or bonus.

(h)(iv) Proof that the physician or physician group has adequate stop-loss protec-
tion, including specification of the amount and type of stop-loss protection.

(h)(v) The panel size and, if patients are pooled according to either or both of the
following permitted methods, the method used:

(A) Including commercial. Medicare, and/or Medicaid patients in the calcula-

tion of the panel size.

(B) Pooling together (by the physician groups that contracts with more than
one HMO, CMP, health insuring organization (HIO) or prepaid health plan
(PHP)), the patients of each of those HMO's, CMP's, HIO's and PHP's.

Important note regarding focus of disclosure: Apparently, some readers of our
March regulation have not clearly understood that the arrangements for which we
are requiring disclosure are those directly involving the physician. In situations in

which there may be two or more tiers of contracting or agreements between the
managed care plan and the individual physicians, some readers understood that we
were only concerned with the "top tier"—that is the arrangement between the man-
aged care plan and its immediate contractor. This is not what the regulation re-

quires.

The purpose of the statute and regulation is to protect patients against improper
clinical decisions made under the influence of strong financial incentives. Therefore,
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it is the financial arrangement under which the physician is operating that is of in-

terest and potential concern. Consequently, MCO's must report on the "hottom
tier"—that is, the arrangement under which the physician is operating. The report-

ing requirement is imposed on the plan because that is the entity with which we
have a contractual relationship and the entity which is ultimately responsible,

under the statute, for making sure that adequate safeguards are in place. We recog-

nize that MCO's may not currently have information on the bottom tier readily in

hand and that obtaining it will, in some cases, be a considerable undertaking. We
believe, however, that the purpose of the statute is unequivocal and clearly requires

the information set forth in the regulation.

Reporting on capitation payments.—The March rule requires that HMO's must
disclose detailed information on capitation payments to primary care physicians,

broken down by percent for primary care services, referral services to specialists,

and hospital and other t3T)es of provider services. It requires the managed care orga-

nization to report this information at the same time as the other disclosure require-

ments noted above. However, this timing does not appear to be logical with respect

to the operations of a managed care plan nor consistent with our intent on when
we desire to receive this information.
The September 3 notice indicated that we were revising this to set a date cer-

tain—April 1, 1997—for the initial disclosure of this information. Our upcoming
Federal Register document will make this a routine requirement. The report will be
due on April 1 of each year, covering payments for the previous calendar year.

Again, for managed care organizations with contracts or agreements in effect during
calendar 1996, the first reporting date is April 1, 1997.

The timing and nature of beneficiary surveys

The March rule requires that, if there is an incentive plan in place that puts phy-
sicians at substantial financial risk, the managed care organization most conduct a
survey of its enrollees and recent disenrollees, to determine their level of satisfac-

tion with the quality and access of care provided. The rule requires the survey be
administered within 1 year after the date of an incentive arrangement, and every
2 years afterwards.
We recognize that a managed care organization may have several different incen-

tive plans with physician groups, with varying effective dates. This could lead to

some confusion about the required timing of these surveys. Moreover, we recently

announced that all Medicare HMO's and CMPs will be required to do an annual
beneficiary satisfaction survey as a part of our monitoring of the quality of care fin-

ished by these organizations. We want to consolidate and simplify these survey re-

quirements. Consequently, we are changing the requirement of this physician incen-

tive plan regulation to make it an annual requirement, with the timing left to the
discretion of the managed care are organization, and explaining how it can be com-
bined with the beneficiary survey required under our quality of care initiative.

All Medicare managed care organizations that currently have physician com-
pensation arrangements that place physicians at substantial financial risk will be
required to undertake an enrollee and disenrollee survey during calendar 1997. Be-
ginning January 1, 1997, we are planning to require all Medicare HMO's and
CMP's, as a condition of their contract with HCFA, to use the survey instrument
developed under the auspices of the Agency for Heath Care Policy and Research as
part of the Consumer Assessment of Health Plans Study (CAHPS). Beginning in cal-

endar year 1998, the CAHPS survey would fully satisfy the requirements of the phy-
sician incentive plan regulation. For calendar year 1997, however, the CAHPS sur-

vey falls short of complete compliance with the physician incentive plan regulation
in two respects: First, under the quality initiative, CAHPS is not required during
calendar year 1997 for MCO's that did not have a Medicare contract in place on or
before January 1, 1996. Thus, MCO's that received an initial Medicare contract after

January 1, 1996 and before January 1, 1997, do not have to comply with CAHPS,
but to have to comply with the physician incentive plan regulation requirement for

a survey. Second, the current version of CAHPS does not contain a module for sur-

veying disenrollees. At this time, it only covers current enrollees. CAHPS is being
modified to incorporate a module for disenrollees, but that will not be available until

calendar year 1998. We are developing a standardized survey of disenrollees that
we will make available to managed care organizations to self-administer during cal-

endar year 1997.
Those MCO's with Medicaid contracts or agreements will need to administer the

surveys within one year after the first renewal date or anniversary date on or afl^r

January 1, 1997 or the effective date of a new contract or agreement on or after

January 1, 1997. These MCO's will need to disclose the summary of these surveys
prior to the subsequent renewal or anniversary date and every year thereafter.
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HCFA CONTACTS

MCO's with questions about any of the provisions in this OPL should direct their

inquires to the plan manager with whom they normally interact, either in the
HCFA regional office or with the Operations and Oversight Team in Baltimore. Oth-
ers with questions should contact the Office of Managed Care at 410-786-4287. In-

quiries will be directed to the appropriate HCFA staff" for response.

HMO GAG CLAUSES

Question. Dr. Gaus, what are some of the barriers that patients face in gaining
access to specialists when they need it?

Answer. The ongoing transformation of the health care system has led insurers

—

both managed care and traditional fee-for-service insurers—to adopt policies that re-

strict direct access to specialists to encourage more appropriate use of specialty serv-

ices. Many consumers perceive these policies as limiting their timely access to spe-
cialists. These policies fall into several categories:—AdminisL— ive.—One policy is the use of a "gatekeeper" which reqviires patients

to be evaluated first by their primary care provider before a referral can be
made to a specialist. Another type of administrative policy is a requirement that
the patient must satisfy predetermined criteria before they can see the special-

ist for specific conditions. In this circumstance, often the provider must first call

a nurse or other plan representative to obtain approval. This may delay the nor-

mal sequence of care.—Availability of specialists.—Plans often contract selectively with specialists and
it is not unusual for the list of contract physicians to change over time. Both
factors can lead to significant patient frustration with securing access to a spe-

cialist of their choosing at a time of illness. In addition, some plans may have
no contracts with sub-specialists that may be needed for rare procedures or ill-

nesses, and patients fear that access to such subspecialists may be difficult to

achieve.—Financial.—Many plans offer patients the option of seeing a specialist outside
their network, but the patient often must pay a larger co-pajmient. There is also

a widespread perception that financial incentives to physicians discourage pro-

vision of needed services. Even when these incentives are designed to encourage
more "appropriate" and "prudent" practice patterns, they are often perceived by
many consumers as leading to denial of care.

In addition, significant concerns have been raised that the language in physician
contracts with health plans may preclude them from fully discussing with a patient
the operation of the plan and the terms of their coverage. Often collectively referred
to as "gag clauses", these contract provisions are cited as prohibiting physicians
from disclosing the financial incentives in their contracts, precluding discussion of

treatment options not covered by the plan or discussing referrals to specialists out-

side the plan. In addition, some believe that commonly used contract language that
gives plans the right to terminate physicians at any time also discourages disclo-

sure, irrespective of other contract provisions.

We do not know the pervasiveness of these barriers or their impact on the cost
or quality of care; there are no studies available to inform our understanding of ap-
propriate and timely referrals to specialists. That is why we have established an ac-

tive research program that has begun to explore these issues.

HMO ENROLLEES SATISFACTION

Question. Dr. Gaus, given that some subgroups in the Medicare populations are
"at-risk" for poor quality care in HMO's, can satisfaction surveys be targeted to their

special needs?
Answer. Yes. Our Consumer Assessments of Health Plans (CAHPS) Project, which

is developing and testing survey questions which can be used to measure consumers'
satisfaction with health plans, can be helpful. As part of the CAHPS project, we are
developing a Medicare component that includes a number of questions that are of
special interest to persons with disabilities or chronic conditions (access to special-

ists, and coordination and continuity of care). In addition, CAHPS includes items
concerning access to new prescriptions, special medical equipment or devices, reha-
bilitation therapy and home health care.

The CAHPS survey is structured so that a core set of standard items can be ad-
ministered across populations. In turn, these core items can be supplemented to ad-
dress issues of particular importance to a subgroup. There is a set of such items
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in the CAHPS survey specifically designed to address issues such as chronic illness

or disability.

Question. Can the satisfaction information be used to compare individual doctors

within HMO's as well as different HMO plans?

Answer. Not yet, but AHCPR is considering extending CAHPS to develop a pro-

vider level survey. A number of the current CAHPS survey questions designed to

provide assessments of plans are quite applicable to provider level assessment.

CAHPS includes numerous questions about consumers' perception of the quality of

care they receive from their health care provider. These questions would be the

foundation of a provider level survey.

The challenge with the provider level survey is developing a cost effective data
collection strategy that will yield reliable, credible results. In order to compare pro-

viders, sample sizes within a region would need to be large relative to those re-

quired for comparing plans. The costs of surveying increase as the sample sizes in-

crease. To try to make such surveying affordable, AHCPR would need to develop

data collection strategies that will yield adequate response rates, while keeping data
collection costs low.

Question. Can your Agency's satisfaction survey be used to compare traditional

Medicare with Medicare managed care options?

Answer. Yes. Valid comparisons of different types of Medicare options could be
made using CAHPS. The CAHPS surveys are being designed to be applicable across

care delivery systems. Questions have been worded, tested and refined to assure

that they are equally applicable to fee-for-service as well as all forms of managed
care.

We are currently developing and testing, in cooperation with HCFA, a Medicare
CAHPS questionnaire. It is designed to provide assessments of Medicare managed
care plans. In addition, we have been discussing with HCFA the possibility of devel-

oping a CAHPS questionnaire for Medicare fee-for-service. There are a number of

challenges to data collection for Medicare fee-for-service including respondents' un-

derstanding of their Medicare arrangement, and the presence of Medigap insurance.

EMPLOYERS INFORMATION

Question. Dr. Gaus, typically, do large employers provide multiple health plan op-

tions to their employees?
Answer. Historically, employers have limited the number of health plan options

available to employees. However, large employers have tended to offer more options

than smaller firms. In 1987, the National Medical Expenditure Survey found that

77 percent of firms with 10 to 25 employees offered only one plan, while 32 percent
of firms with more than 500 employees offered only one plan.

This trend is continuing according to a 1995 survey of mid-size and large employ-
ers conducted by KPMG Peat Marwick. The Peat Marwick survey also suggests that

firms appear to be increasing the number of health plans options they offer their

employees. The survey found that 70 percent of firms with 500 or more employees
offered three or more plan options, and 24 percent of firms with 200 to 300 employ-
ees offered three or more plan options.

AHCPR recently cosponsored a survey with the Kaiser Family Foundation on the

role of quality information in health care. The survey analyzed employees responses
to health coverage provided by their employer. While the survey was not restricted

to employees in large firms, it did show that 45 percent of employers offer only one
health plan; 15 percent offer two plans; and 33 percent offer three or more plans
(included in this category is those respondents who did not know the exact number
of plans).

Question. What information, if any, do large employers provide to employees about
health plan options?
Answer. I understand that a number of companies are implementing benefit com-

munication systems to convey health plan information to employees. For example,
a recent article profiled the efforts of the Boeing Company and AT&T to develop
reference guides on plan options for their employees and made the following points.

Boeing developed a health plan enrollment kit that was described as "easy to use"
and which included user friendly charts and a provider directory. Boeing's package
was designed to meet the needs of both employees who were interested in basic plan
information, and those who wanted more detailed imbrmation. AT&T created a
health plan reference book that provides information on health plan options in a
narrative, understandable format along with detailed charts on health plan options.

AT&T employees were described as actively involved in the book design to ensure
that the information was structured in a user-friendly format.
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At this time, AHCPR is collecting data from our Medical Expenditure Panel Sur-
vey (MEPS) to assess the kind of information that employers are providing employ-
ees on health plan options. As you may know, Mr. Chairman, MEPS collects de-

tailed information on the health status, health service use and costs, and health in-

surance coverage of individuals and families in the United States. The Insurance
Component of the survey covers employers' use of health insurance. This component
will yield detailed data on health insurance plans, associated premiums, and num-
bers of plans offered by employers as well as information on plan costs, characteris-
tics, and depth of coverage. The Insurance Component will provide a sample of more
than 25,000 employers. We anticipate that this data will be publicly available in the
Fall of 1998.

DISENROLLMENT RATES

Question. Dr. Gaus, do you see a downside to HCFA publishing Medicare HMO
DisenroUment rates?

Answer. DisenroUment rates, in certain circumstances, can provide important in-

formation to public and private purchasers as well as individual consumers. For ex-

ample, the rates alone are most useful for their "sentinel" effect, alerting HCFA or
other purchasers that a potential quality problem may exist. But it is important to

recognize that these rates, by themselves, are not equivalent to measures of health
plan quality. This is because disenrollment may occur for a number of reasons unre-
lated to the quality of care of a specific health plan. For example, one reason for

disenrollment is the so-called "snowbird" phenomenon in which Medicare bene-
ficiaries disenroll from a plan as they move south for the winter and re-enroll when
they return in the spring; another reason is when Medicare beneficiaries may join

another HMO that has begun to offer a set of additional benefits that better meets
their personal needs. As a result, if disenrollment rates alone are disseminated, it

would be important to include a clear explanation of their limitations.

Disenrollment rates are much more helpful when they are linked to information
on the reasons for disenrollment. This is an area in which AHCPR can be helpful.

In establishing our CAHPS program, we recognized the importance of understand-
ing the reasons for health plan disenrollment and our CAHPS grantees are cur-

rently developing a questionnaire module that will enable plans or purchasers to

capture that information.
Question. Dr. Gaus, in research and surveys supported by your Agency, what fac-

tors lead to individuals disenrolling from their health plans? Have you looked spe-

cifically at the Medicare population? If so, what have you found?
Answer. The reasons for disenrollment vary and, as I noted above, they are not

always related to issues of satisfaction with the plan or the quality of care provided
by the plan. In addition, disenrollment may reflect changes in job status or the of-

ferings of firms to their employees or retirees. While oiu- Agency has not conducted
any specific surveys of Medicare beneficiaries, there are several other sources of in-

formation.
For example, a 1995 survey by the DHHS Office of Inspector General found that

29 percent of the disenrollees leff; for administrative reasons, such as moving out
of the plan's service area, being enrolled in a plan that terminated its Medicare risk

contract, or leaving a company retirement program. Another study by the Group
Health Association of America (now the Association of American Health Plans) re-

ported that almost 40 percent who lefl; plans did so for involuntary reasons, such
as a change in social security status, change in the plan's service area, failure to

pay premiums, or death.
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STATEMENT OF GERALDINE DALLEK, M.P.H., DmECTOR, HEALTH
POLICY, FAMILIES U.SjL FOUNDATION

Senator Specter. Let us turn to panel three. Ms. Geraldine
Dallek, director of health policy at the Families U.S.A. Foundation;
Mr. William MacBain, representing the American Association of

Health Plans; Dr. Robert Margolis, chair of the American Medical
Group Association; Dr. John Nelson, Board of Trustees of the
American Medical Association; and Dr. Linda Peeno, representing
the Patient Access to Specialty Care Coalition.

Thank you all for coming. Let us begin with Ms. Geraldine
Dallek, director of the Health Policy at the Families U.S.A. Foun-
dation. Ms. Dallek, the floor is yours.
Ms. Dallek. Yes; thank you very much. Thank you for having

me here today. I think if we have learned anything from the recent
election it is that seniors are very nervous about any Medicare
changes, yet change is already occurring at an incredibly dizzying

speed.
We are seeing a transformation of the way Medicare beneficiaries

are pajdng health care. About one Medicare beneficiary every 30
seconds is enrolling in an HMO.
While managed care. Medicare managed care, holds much prom-

ise for Medicare beneficiaries and can and does provide high qual-

ity of care, I have seen lots and lots of problems with Medicare
HMO's.
My testimony is informed by the 5V2 years I was the executive

director for the Center for Health Care Rights in Los Angeles
which provided education, counseling, and legal assistance to Medi-
care beneficiaries. The problems I see fall into five areas.

Let me just say I am not opposed to managed care. There are
major problems in fee-for-service, but I do think we need to protect

managed care enrollees, vulnerable managed care enrollees, the el-

derly and the chronically ill.

First of all, we continue to see serious problems with marketing
abuse in the Medicare program. In numbers of documented in-

stances, HMO marketing agents lie to prospective Medicare enroll-

ees, pressure them to join, enroll individuals who are not able to

make an informed enrollment decision, and obtain enrollment sig-

natures under false pretenses.
High rates of disenrollment, I think, are testament to the con-

tinuing problems we see with marketing abuse. The GAO released
a report this past week, which showed that one HMO in Florida
had a 37-percent disenrollment rate and another disenrollment
rate in Los Angeles, a 42-percent disenrollment rate. The HMO in

Los Angeles was Foundation Health Plan, which previously had
problems in northern California. This compares to a 4-percent
disenrollment rate in Kaiser.

(75)
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Second, Medicare HMO's enrollees face a range of access and
quality issues, especially access to specialty providers and services

such as skilled nursing facility coverage, physical therapy, and
home health care.

I want to iterate what was said earlier in the sessions in the
panel. We saw and continue to see problems getting home health
care services, getting skilled nursing care facility services, physical
therapy for chronically ill patients in HMO's.
HMO's would make decisions about physical therapy. We would

investigate, sometimes find that they were correct, but oftentimes
find that decisions were made in incredibly arbitrary fashion.

I think John Ware's study as well as a recent study by the Colo-
rado-based Center for Health Policy Research, which showed worse
health care outcomes for HMO enrollees compared to fee-for-service

home health patients should be a wakeup call for both Congress
and HCFA to take a look more closely at the kinds of care provided
to chronically ill Medicare beneficiaries.

Third, the current Medicare appeals system is broken. It takes
months to go through the appeal system. On October 17, 1996,
Judge Marquez in the Grijalva v. Shalala case ruled that, "Proce-
dures followed by HMO's," this is in Medicare, "fail to secure mini-
mum due process for Medicare beneficiaries."

The court also found that, "A more meaningful appeals process
by the HMO may actually reduce fiscal burdens on the Federal
Government because improper denials of HMO's cause Medicare
beneficiaries to return to fee-for-service."

I do know that HCVA will be promulgating—my goodness that
was fast—regulations and we certainly hope that they will respond
more fully to Judge Marquez's concerns.

PREPARED STATEMENT

The other two issues were data, lack of information, data both
for the enrollee as well as in quality of care; and lack of oversight
and monitoring. We need to be much more proactive when we see
that plans are not providing care, do not follow grievance proce-
dures, or have a significant marketing abuse. I think there is a
strong role for both the Federal Government and for Congress, as
well as HCFA to do much more oversight in this area.
Thank you.
Senator Specter. Thank you very much, Ms. Dallek.
[The statement follows:!

Prepared Statement of Geraldine Dallek

introduction

My name is Geraldine Dallek and I am the Director of Health Policy for Families
USA. 1 Prior to coming to Families USA 10 months ago, I was the executive director
of the Los Angeles-based Center for Health Care Rights (CHCR).^ This testimony

1 Families USA is a non-profit health care advocacy organization working to improve health
care for the entire population, but especially vulnerable populations. Families USA has expertise
on a range of managed care consumer protection issues. Its most recent managed care publica-
tion, HMO Consumers at Risk, States to the Rescue, reviews recent state HMO consumer pro-
tection legislation and regulations (Dallek et al., 1996).
^CHCR is an independent non-profit organization dedicated to ensuring that consumers ob-

tain the medical care services to which they are entitled by law. Through funding from its state
Health Insurance Counseling and Advocacy Program (HICAP) grant and Los Angeles County
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is informed by my experience with Medicare HMO's while at the CHCR and my re-

cent work at Families USA. I appreciate this opportunity to testify on Medicare
risk-contract HMO's.
The Medicare program guarantees health security for our nation's seniors. If we

have learned anything from the recent election, it is that seniors are very nervous
about any Medicare changes. However, change is inevitable as financial pressures
in the Medicare program grow. Congress likely will look again at HMO's and man-
aged care as a way to cut program costs. While Medicare managed care holds much
promise, it has been beset with a variety of problems that I will be describing today.
Thus, as we move in the direction of increased Medicare choice and managed care,

Congress must enact strong protections to ensure that Medicare HMO enrollees re-

ceive quality health care.

Medicare HMO's are a popular alternative to fee-for-service Medicare. The num-
ber of Medicare beneficiaries joining HMO's over the last two years has been noth-
ing short of phenomenal. Although only about 11 percent of the Medicare population
is currently enrolled in an HMO, approximately 80,000 beneficiaries a month, or one
every 30 seconds, is joining an HMO. During the first nine months of 1996, Medi-
care HMO enrollment increased by 22 percent (HCFA, 1996). Medicare HMO enroll-

ment is especially dramatic in the western states.

^

Medicare beneficiaries enroll in HMO's because they ofier increased benefits, espe-
cially prescription drugs, and significantly reduced out-of-pocket costs. HMO enroll-

ees do not have to purchase a Medicare supplemental policy, the costs of which have
been going up dramatically (Dallek, et al., 1996a). Nor do they have to pay the Med-
icare Part A and B deductibles and co-insurance.
HMO's serving the Medicare population can and do provide high quality care to

many enrollees. The exponential growth of these plans is a testament to the good
care they provide. However, the experiences of CHCR's Health Insurance Counsel-
ing and Advocacy Program (HICAP) and other Medicare advocacy organizations re-

flect very serious problems in the risk-contracting program that must be addressed.
These fall into five areas: Marketing/EnrollmentT)isenrollment; Access and Quality;
Due Process Protections; Lack of Information; and Oversight and Monitoring.

marketing/enrollment/disenrollment

Groups representing Medicare enrollees have documented a range of problems
with HMO marketing and the enrollmentydisenrollment process, including: Poorly
trained marketing agents; Inappropriate financial incentives inherent in the com-
mission-based compensation of marketing agents; Marketing fraud/abuse resulting
from these first two problems; HMO delays in disenrolling Medicare members on re-

quest; and Problems with HMO marketing materials including lack of marketing
materials in an enrollee's primary language.

Marketing IEnrollment

Several reports have found serious marketing abuse in the Medicare program. In
a number of documented instances, HMO employees have lied to prospective Medi-
care enrollees, pressured them to join, enrolled individuals who were unable to

make an informed enrollment decision and obtained enrollment signatures under
false pretenses. (GAO, 1993; Dallek et. al., 1993; GAO, 1996). As recently as July,
1996, The Washington Business Journal (1996) reported that Optimum Choice, a
subsidiary of Mid-Atlantic Medical Services, a Medicare HMO, forged beneficiary
signatvu^es and violated other Medicare enrollment and disenrollment rules.

Many HMO's pay their marketing agents a commission for each new Medicare en-
rollee. This compensation system coupled with inadequate training and oversight of
marketing agents is a recipe for disaster. For example, in the late 1980's and early
1990's, Los Angeles County Medicare beneficiaries were subjected to massive mar-
keting fraud by one HMO (Dallek, et al, 1993). Although HCFA was slow to react
to this problem, once the agency took strong action, the HMO changed its agent
compensation system and significantly increased agent training and oversight (see
discussion below). Today, Medicare HMO marketing is much improved in Los Ange-
les County. Nevertheless, misinformed enrollment continues to occur. Moreover, in

other parts of the country, Medicare marketing fraud remains a problem. For exam-
ple, in October 1996 a physician at Cook County Hospital described how a low-in-

Area Agency on Aging and Federal Insurance Counseling and Advocacy (ICA) grants, CHCR
provides education, counseling and legal services to over 15,000 disabled and elderly Medicare
beneficiaries in Los Angeles County. Approximately 40 percent of CHCR's work on behalf of
Medicare beneficiairies relates to HMO's.

3 Arizona, 31 percent; California, 36 percent; Colorado, 21.6 percent; Hawaii, 31.1 percent; Ne-
vada, 26.4 percent; and Oregon, 34 percent.
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come Medicare patient of his enrolled in an HMO when an agent came to his home
uninvited and told him that he would lose his Medicare and Medicaid if he failed

to enroll.

Uninformed enrollment has very serious consequences. If beneficiaries continue to

seek care in the fee-for-service system, they can face extremely high medical bills

as neither Medicare nor the HMO will pay for the care received.

The Case of Mrs. J.—Mrs. J., an elderly Berkeley woman with two previous hip
replacement surgeries who does not drive, enrolled in a risk-contract HMO. She be-

lieved that she had purchased a Medicare supplemental policy and continued to re-

ceive her care from a nearby physicians' group. Medicare subsequently denied her
claims. The closest HMO primary care physician was ten miles from her home and
inaccessible by public transportation.

Often, marketing can be intense. For example, the summer 1996 edition of

Queens Senior reports that HMO telemarketing of seniors in Queens, New York has
reached epic proportions:

"One senior gave information about himself to a * * * [HMO] telemarketer and
signed the form they sent him. He thought he was still part of traditional Medicare,
just that he no longer had to pay Medicare supplemental insurance premiums and
a deductible. The senior continued visiting his regular doctor, who is not an [HMO]
Medicare member, and he started getting bills. When he asked his doctor why he
was receiving these bills, the doctor told him he was no longer on traditional Medi-
care and would have to pay out of pocket because he had gone out of the network
for his doctor visits." (Lee, 1996).

The coordinator of the New York City Insurance and Advocacy (ICA) program de-

scribes cases in which seniors attended HMO informational meetings and put their

names on what they thought was the sign-up sheet only to find out later they had
enrolled in the HMO (Queens Senior, 1996).

High disenrollment rates are one indication of marketing problems. An October
1996 GAO report provides ample evidence that marketing and enrollment problems
continue to plague some Medicare HMO plans. GAO compared voluntary disen-

rollment rates'* among seven Miami Medicare HMO's and 13 Los Angeles County
Medicare HMO's. Disenrollment rates varied dramatically by HMO's. In Miami,
PCA had a 1995 disenrollment rate of over 37 percent, and CareFlorida, a rate of

30 percent compared to Health Option's disenrollment rate of 12 percent. Similarly,

in Los Angeles, Foundation had a 1995 voluntary disenrollment rate of 42 percent
while three additional plans (Prudential, Watts, and Maxicare) had disenrollment
rates of over 25 percent. This compares to Kaiser Foundation Health plan's

disenrollment rate of four percent (GAO, 1996a).

The GAO also analyzed the percentage of disenroUees who canceled their HMO
applications before they were enrolled or disenrolled within three months of enroll-

ment (referred to as "rapid" disenrollments). High rates of canceled applications and
rapid disenrollments are a clear indication of misinformed enrollments or marketing
fraud. Here again, the GAO found wide variations among HMO's. In Florida,

CareFlorida and PCA had combined cancellation rates and rapid disenrollment
rates of 30 and 21 percents respectively. Thus, one in three beneficiaries who signed
a CareFlorida application and one in five who signed up with PCA either canceled
their applications or left the plans within the first three months. This compares to

Prudential, where less than 10 percent of new enrollees canceled their enrollment
or disenrolled with three months. In Los Angeles, Watts had combined cancellations

and rapid disenrollments of 29 percent and Foundation, 20 percent compared to Kai-
ser with a cancellation and rapid disenrollment rate of five percent (GAO, 1996a).

Disenrollment

Compared to the population enrolled in HMO's through the workplace, Medicare
beneficiaries have a much greater opportunity to change health care plans or return
to the fee-for-service system. Currently, HMO enrollees can disenroll from an HMO
either through a Social Security Office or their HMO. Disenrollment is effective the
first day of the month following the month the disenrollment form was received.

Thus, a beneficiary who disenrolls from an HMO on July 26 should be back in the
Medicare fee-for-service system on August 1.

This procedure presumes, however, that the HMO properly handles the
disenrollment request. HICAP cases indicate that some HMO's may not be handling
disenrollments in a timely fashion: disenrollment requests are lost or, according to

the HMO, never received.

In addition to voluntary disenrollments, Medicare HMO enrollees may be disenrolled from
an HMO because of death, a move out of the HMO's service area, or in rare instances, loss of
Medicare eligibility.
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HCFA has a system, called retroactive disenrollment, to help enrollees who did
not understand or were misinformed about enrollment or whose disenrollment re-

quests are mishandled. Retroactive disenrollment returns the beneficiary to fee-for-

service Medicare effective the first day of HMO enrollment, thus voiding the enroll-

ment altogether. But ICA programs report that unless and until the beneficiary
learns that they can retroactively disenroll, they become frantic about their unpaid
bills, some of which may have gone to a collection agency.
The Case of Mrs. C.—Mrs. C. attended a meeting to learn more about an HMO

operating in Ventura County, California. She remembers signing an attendance
sheet and nothing more. She says she received more letters inviting her to meetings,
but she never went.

In April 1994, Mrs. C. had knee replacement surgery. After the surgery, she re-

ceived a notice that Medicare denied all claims because she was enrolled in the
HMO.
Mrs. C. immediately called the HMO and told them she had never intended to

enroll and wanted to be disenroUed. She also requested that the HMO send her a
copy of the enrollment form they said she signed. The HMO never responded to this

request. With the help of HICAP, Mrs. C. was retroactively disenrolled. In its letter

to HCFA requesting retroactive disenrollment, HICAP wrote that "Mrs. C was quite
distraught over this turn of events and it appears to be adversely affecting her
health."

Unfortunately, some enrollees feel they cannot disenroll because of the high
deductibles and co-insurance in Medicare's fee-for-service system. Most HMO enroll-

ees give up their supplemental coverage when they enroll in an HMO. Upon
disenrollment, they may find that only the AARP—sponsored Prudential plan will

sell them a supplemental policy. However, Prudential may impose a three month
wait for coverage of pre-existing conditions. This is a serious problem for bene-
ficiaries who disenroll because they are ill and believe the HMO is not providing
them adequate care.

Despite problems associated with disenrollment, the ability to obtain retroactive

disenrollment in cases of improper marketing or ill-informed enrollment, and to ob-

tain regular disenrollment the month following the request to disenroll are critical

protections for Medicare HMO enrollees.

HMO Marketing Materials

As discussed more fully below, to make an informed decision on whether to join

an HMO and which one to join, Medicare beneficiaries need comparative informa-
tion on benefits and quality. Unfortunately, easy to read comparative information
is currently not available. Instead, in a number of markets, such as Los Angeles and
Miami, Medicare beneficiaries are bombarded with HMO radio, print, and television

advertisements as well as unsolicited HMO mailings. HMO's also provide Medicare
beneficiaries on request with HMO informational brochures detailing benefits and
other services provided. None of this information allows for easy comparisons of

HMO materials, including a comparison of HMO benefits (GAO, 1996a).
HMO advertisements may also be misleading. In Los Angeles, for example, HMO

advertisements tend to imply that HMO's are for healthy beneficiaries by generally
picturing seniors walking along the ocean or on some scenic mountain trail. Dis-
abled Medicare beneficiaries are not shown in HMO marketing materials, nor do
they attend the HMOs' free breakfast and lunch marketing sessions, a major venue
for recruitment. Whether for marketing or other reasons, studies have shown that,

in general. Medicare HMO's do attract healthier beneficiaries (Riley et al., 1996).
Marketing materials, all of which must be approved by HCFA regional offices,

may also result in confusion. For example, a recent advertisement in a major Ten-
nessee newspaper by Health 1-2-3 Platinum, a Medicare HMO, does not mention
that the plan is an HMO. Moreover, a footnote on the advertisement explaining that
prescription drug coverage will cost extra is almost impossible to read as the tj^je

is so small.
The elderly, the poor, and monolingual Medicare beneficiaries are especially vul-

nerable to inappropriate marketing. On November 4, 1996 the New York-based
Medicare Rights Center updated an earlier survey by calling 17 New York Medicare
HMO's to assess their ability to provide information in Spanish. Of the 17 HMO's
called, 14 had no literature in Spanish, 16 had no Spanish application forms and
four had no Spanish-speaking customer service representatives available. In many
of the plans with Spanish speaking interpreters, access is limited. For example, HIP
of Greater New York requires a scheduled appointment to speak with a Spanish-
speaking representative and at Blue Cross, only one out of 30 customer service rep-

resentatives speaks Spanish (Medicare Rights Center, 1996). Without materials in

Spanish and adequate access to Spanish-speaking customer service representatives,
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Spanish-speaking Medicare beneficiaries in New York are unable to make an in-

formed decision on whether to join an HMO.

Recommendations

HCFA's response to documented problems with HMO marketing has always been,
and continues to be, very slow. From the summer of 1989 to December 1991, HCFA
documented serious marketing violations by FHP, a large Los Angeles Medicare
HMO. Finally, after numerous complaints by consumer advocacy organizations, and
a series of HCFA negative audits and FHP "corrective action plans," promising to

fix the marketing problems, HCFA took action. HCFA prohibited FHP from expand-
ing to new service areas for six months until it instituted reforms in its marketing
department. However, the plan did continue to market in existing plan areas
(Dallek et al., 1993). HCFA's long overdue actions resulted in a change in marketing
at FHP. The plan addressed its marketing problems. However, it took HCFA two
and a half years to obtain this result. In addition, although the plan had enrolled

thousands of Medicare beneficiaries improperly, HCFA failed to impose any serious
penalty.
According to a chronology of events in Miami relating to CareFlorida's marketing,

HCFA is no more responsive to marketing problems today than it was in the early
part of the decade. Beginning in October 1987 and continuing through 1995,
CareFlorida had the highest or next to highest disenrollment rates in the Miami
market. In February 1991, HCFA found marketing, enrollment, and quality assur-
ance problems but in July 1992 a follow-up HCFA monitoring visit determined that
CareFlorida had failed to correct 1991 deficiencies. Each time HCFA required a new
corrective action plan. In June 1996, HCFA found that CareFlorida had still not cor-

rected many of the prior documented deficiencies. HCFA required a new corrective

action plan and warned CareFlorida that its June findings might jeopardize its con-
tract or require sanctions (GAO, 1996a).
As the FLIP and CareFlorida cases illustrate, it takes HCFA a long time to re-

spond forcefully to problems found in their own investigations leaving Medicare
HMO's to violate Medicare marketing and enrollment rules with impunity.^

In January 1997, HCFA plans to implement Medicare HMO marketing guidelines.

Families USA and other advocacy organizations applaud this initiative. Moreover,
the Health and Human Services' Office of Inspector General and HCFA's Office of
Managed Care recently printed a very useful guide to Medicare beneficiaries rights

under HMO's, including enrollment and disenrollment rights. These agencies con-
sulted with Medicare advocates from around the country when drafting this guide.

Families USA hopes that HCFA will go further, especially in the area of standard-
izing HMO marketing materials. We are especially concerned that, according to the
GAO (1996a), these guidelines do not require standard formats or terminology.
To ensure that Medicare beneficiaries are adequately protected from misleading

or fraudulent marketing Congress should ensure that HCFA:
—Requires a ZERO TOLERANCE policy for documented marketing fraud. HCFA

should automatically fine HMO's for all documented cases of marketing fraud
and publish the number of fines issued by plan name on a quarterly basis.

HMO's that fail to correct systemic marketing problems within a six month pe-

riod should be terminated from the Medicare program;
—Requires all Medicare HMO marketing agents to pass a HCFA-designed train-

ing program and written examination;
—Requires HMO's to provide standardized easy-to-read, information at all mar-

keting presentations describing the rules of HMO enrollment, including "lock-

in" and requirements for referrals to specialty care;

—Requires (as recommended by the GAO) standard formats and terminology on
key aspects of HMO operations in HMO informational materials;

—Prohibits the payment of commissions to HMO marketing agents if a new en-

rollee disenrolls within three months of enrollment;
—Requires HMO's to independently verify individual Medicare HMO enrollments

within three days of each enrollment;
—Requires revocation of a marketing agent's license the second time a financial

penalty is imposed for improper marketing;

5 In 1995, Foundation Health Corporation did halt enrollment of new Medicare enrollees in

California following a HCFA monitoring report which indicated serious problems with its quality
assurance plan, its data collection system, and Medicare appeal's system. However, the action
was taken voluntarily, not at HCFA's request (Philp, 1995, HCFA Region EX, 1995). Moreover,
in 1995, Foundation's Los Angeles Disenrollment rate was significantly higher than that of other
Medicare HMO's (GAO, 1996a).
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—Requires Medicare HMO's to update their provider list (including specialty pro-

viders, nursing homes and home health agencies) monthly and to distribute this

list to all prospective enrollees;

—Requires HMO's to develop marketing materials in the primary language of the
enrollee when a specified minimum percentage of the Medicare population in

the service area speaks a primary language other than English; and
—Prohibits HMO telemarketing to Medicare beneficiaries.

Congress should: Prohibit HMO's from enrolling beneficiaries, instead using
HCFA or a subcontracting agency as enrollment brokers; and set standards for orga-
nizations that market a particular HMO to their members and ensure that consum-
ers are adequately protected from abuses.

ACCESS AND QUALITY

Risk-contract HMO's operate differently from fee-for-service (FFS) medicine. The
structure of these two health delivery systems create different financial incentives.

In the Medicare FFS system, the incentive is to provide a high number of services,

some of which may be unnecessary and harmful. The more care given and proce-

dures done, the more money made.
The opposite financial incentives—to provide less care—operate in the HMO sys-

tem. A system that puts providers at financial risk for expensive medical treatment
inherently contains incentives to deny or delay needed care (GAO, 1989). We know
little about the relationship of financial risk (who is at risk, for how much, and for

what services) and patient care outcome in HMO's. However, we do know the types
of problems with which Medicare beneficiaries contact Medicare advocacy groups.
These access and quality of care problems fall into three distinct areas: Inadequate
access to providers, especially specialty providers; delays in obtaining specialty re-

ferrals; and denials by HMO's and/or their contracting medical groups of high cost

services and procedures, especially skilled nursing home care, rehabilitation services

and home health care.

Access to providers, especially specialty providers

In many HMO markets. Medicare beneficiaries sign up not only with a specific

HMO, but also with the HMO's contracting medical group. It is the medical group
that often makes the decisions to provide or deny care. Access depends on the capac-
ity of HMO contracting provider groups to serve members who have enrolled in

their group. Too few providers, too many enrollees, or lack of geographically acces-
sible primary and specialty providers compromises access to care.

Generally, Medicare HMO enrollees have not faced major problems in finding a
primary care physician. However, other access problems have surfaced. First, HMO
listings of contracting primary care physicians are sometimes out-of-date. Either the
physician's practice is full or he or she no longer contracts with the HMO or the
medical group. In these instances. Medicare beneficiaries who join a particular
HMO because they hope to obtain care from a specific physician are out of luck.

Second, because some primary care physicians enroll more HMO patients than
they can handle, they hire other physicians to handle their case load. Thus, al-

though an HMO enrollee may have enrolled up with Dr. X, he or she is consistently
referred to Dr. Y. for care.

A third problem for enrollees occurs when their primary care physician leaves the
group or the group no longer contracts with the HMO. HMO's do not give enrollees
adequate notice that their provider is no longer available to provide them care. This
is especially a problem for elderly and disabled beneficiaries under active treatment
by a primary care physician.
Far more serious problems, however, relate to access to specialty providers and

services. Often, Medicare beneficiaries not only choose an HMO, but also choose a
subcontracting medical group or Independent Practice Association (IPA) from whom
they get care. The medical group or IPA may, in turn, only contract with a limited
number of specialists, none of whom has expertise in the beneficiary's problems. For
example, one major Medicare HMO in Southern California offers members a choice
of provider groups in several geographic areas. The group serving the Northridge
area of Los Angeles County includes two specialists in endocrinology and in hema-
tology/oncology and only one in neurology, surgery, obstetrics/gynecology, ophthal-
mology, cardiology, allergy/immunology, gastroenterology, urology, orthopedics and
pulmonary diseases. Individuals who enroll in this group and need specialty care
have no or a very limited choice of providers from whom to seek services (Mitchell,

1995).

Some specialists may not have expertise in a particular medical condition. For ex-

ample, if the only neurologist in the group is not familiar with Multiple Sclerosis,

an enrollee with this condition may not get the care he/she requires. Often, the med-
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ical group refuses to refer the patient to an out-of-plan provider, or even another
medical group which contracts with the same HMO.
The following case illustrates this problem.
The Case of Mr. R.—Mr. R. called CHCR when his HMO refused to approve his

request for out-of-plan surgery, and Mr. R. was awaiting an answer to his written
appeal of the denial. At the time, Mr. R. was considering disenroUing from the
HMO.
Mr. R.'s primary care physician had recommended thyroplastic surgery to regain

the use of his voice due to a damaged vocal cord. Although the HMO group approved
the surgery, it sent him to a surgeon who had never performed the type of surgery
needed. The group informed Mr. R. that it had no other in-plan surgeon qualified

to perform thyroplasty and refused to refer him outside the group.
After several days of telephone calls with Mr. R's primary care physician and the

HMO's member services department, HICAP was able to obtain approval for Mr.
R.'s out-of-plan surgery.
To reduce unnecessary care, HMO's and their subcontracting medical groups es-

tablish utilization review and referral systems. These referral systems may make
it difficult for enroUees to obtain care from non-contracting specialists providers,
even when these services are not available in the HMO or subcontracting medical
group. Moreover, HMO contracting physician groups and IPA's often will not pro-

vide enroUees with referrals to specialty physicians and hospitals which contract
with the same HMO but are not members of the particular group or IPA.
The Case of Mr. J.—Mr. J. is a 72-year-old Los Angeles Medicare beneficiary who

has diabetes and problems with circxJation in his lower limbs due to vein blockage.
This resulted in a partial amputation of his foot in November 1994. Because of con-

tinuing problems, his primary care physician recommended amputation of his foot

and lower leg to just below the knee. He received a second opinion from another
physician in the same medical group. No alternative to the amputation was men-
tioned by either physician.
Upon hearing that a less radical alternative to amputation might be possible, Mr.

J. sought the opinion of an out-of-plan physician at the Wound Care Center of a
large Los Angeles hospital. The doctor suggested that Mr. J. have vein bypass sur-

gery (revascularization) immediately to save his leg. Although Mr. J.'s medical
group did not contract vdth a hospital that could perform this surgery, another med-
ical group contracting with Mr. J.'s HMO did have a contract. Mr. J. tried to trans-

fer to this second group, but was told he could not transfer until the end of the
month, an unacceptable delay given the emergency nature of his condition.

After contacting CHCR (which in turn contacted the California Department of
Corporations asking for immediate intervention), the HMO transferred Mr. J. to the
second medical group and he obtained the needed surgery within the week. He is

currently doing well and remains able to walk.
A third problem relates to access to the highest-quality providers. HMO's may not

be contracting with the highest quality hospitals. An investigation by a Wall Street
Journal reporter found that New York and Los Angeles HMO's were b)T)assing hos-
pitals with the lowest mortality rates related to coronary-artery b3T)ass graft sur-

gery to contract with hospitals with higher mortality rates (Anders, 1996). HCFA
has entered into special contracts with "centers of excellence" in fee-for-service Med-
icare to ensure that beneficiaries are referred to the highest quality providers, The
same requirements do not exist in Medicare HMO contracting.

Access to skilled nursing home, rehabilitation and home health services

Advocates who represent the interests of elderly and disabled Medicare HMO en-
roUees report a pattern of HMO denials for appropriate skilled nursing facility, re-

habilitation or home health services, sometimes explaining to enroUees or family
members that they may be able to obtain these services if they disenroU from the
HMO and rejoin the fee-for-service system (Dallek et. al., 1993; Grijalva et al. v.

Shalala, 1993). Take the cases of Mr. W. and Mrs. J.

The Case of Mr. W.—Mr. W.'s son called CHCR when his father was given a no-
tice that he was no longer eligible for Medicare-covered skilled nursing home care
and the physical therapy provided him following a stroke. Mr. W.'s HMO physician
told Mr. W.'s son that the HMO "never provided more than two weeks of skilled

nursing home coverage." It was not clear from the written notice given to Mr. W.
whether the HMO's subcontracting medical group was retroactively denying cov-

erage for the skilled care already received or informing Mr. W. that additional care
would not be provided. Moreover, the notice did not specify why care would not be
covered, simply stating that "this determination was based upon our understanding
and interpretation of Medicare covered policies and guidelines." The notice failed to

meet Medicare's most basic notice requirements.
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Following-up for Mr. W., CHCR called the nursing home's physical therapist, who
reported that Mr. W. was still "making progress" and had "not plateaued," a re-

quirement for continued Medicare covered physical therapy. HICAP asked the HMO
to investigate why its contracting medical group terminated what appeared to be
medically necessary care. Within two days, the medical group called Mr. W.'s son
informing him that physical therapy was being resumed and that the medical group
would pay for the two weeks of skilled care already received. The medical group,
which has contracted with several Medicare risk HMO's for a number of years,
claims it inadvertently sent the wrong notice to Mr. W.
The Case of Mrs. J.—Mrs. J.'s son contacted the Contra Costa County HICAP re-

garding his 88-year-old mother's HMO's refusal to pay for skilled nursing care fol-

lowing a stroke. The HMO authorized payment for her first 20 days in the facility

from October 5, 1994 to October 24, 1994. The plan sent the patient a letter stating
it would no longer pay for her stay beginning October 25, 1994 stating that "the
care you are receiving * * * no longer meets Medicare guidelines or [the HMO's]
guidelines for skilled nursing facility care." No specific reason for the termination
of services was given in the notice, as is required by Medicare.
The nursing home staff informed the beneficiary's son that his mother's condition

would continue to meet Medicare's skilled nursing facility (SNF) guidelines because
she required daily skilled nursing and rehabilitation services. The son felt he had
no choice but to disenroll his mother from the HMO effective November 1, 1994. As
expected. Medicare approved payment for her continued SNF stay until her 100
days of benefits were exhausted.
Problems sometimes result from HMO staff ignorance concerning Medicare cov-

erage guidelines. Medicare requires risk-contracting HMO's to provide all Medicare-
covered benefits. The capitated rate paid to Medicare risk-contract HMO's is cal-

culated vdth the assumption that covered benefits vdll be provided. Nevertheless,
Medicare advocacy organizations from across the country report the same types of
anecdotal cases indicating that HMO's arbitrarily deny Medicare-covered home
health services:

The Case of Dr. L.—Dr. L. is an HMO physician who called a California HICAP
because she was unable to obtain approval for physical therapy for one of her Medi-
care patients. The plan's utilization reviewer claimed that physical therapy was not
a Medicare-covered benefit and no amount of argument could convince her other-
wise. Dr. L. asked HICAP for a copy of relevant Medicare regulations and guidelines
regarding physical therapy and was finally able to get her patient the therapy she
ordered.
Groups representing Medicare beneficiaries recognize that decisions on what is

and is not appropriate or medically necessary care are often difficult. Medicine is

not a black and white proposition. Often, after an investigation of enrollee com-
plaints. Medicare advocacy organizations find that the HMO's or contracting medi-
cal group's denial of care is appropriate.

Nevertheless, a cacophony of complaints from home health agencies as well as ad-
vocacy groups indicate that HMO's do not provide the same level of needed and ap-
propriate home health services provided to fee-for-service Medicare beneficiaries.
The problem of obtaining home health aid services is especially egregious. Medicare
provides for coverage of needed home health aid services when a beneficiary has
also received skilled home health care. Although HCFA does not require reporting
by HMO's of home health utilization, and thus no data is available on the level of
home health aid services provided, I am convinced that it is minuscule.
The notices used by HMO's to deny home health aid services indicate that this

is an area needing investigation. For example, in one recent notice to a Los Angeles
Medicare HMO enrollee, the HMO denied home health aid services with the state-

ment that "Custodial Care is an exclusion of HMO/Medicare benefits." This denial
does not address the issue of v/hether the beneficiary, who was receiving skilled

home health care services and who was very incapacitated, was entitled to a home
health aid. When contacted about the denial, a home health nurse described the pa-
tient's plan as "the HMO from hell."

A number of studies also suggest that Medicare HMO's do not provide the same
level of services to chronically ill Medicare beneficiaries compared to fee-for-service
Medicare and that this differential makes a difference to patient well-being. A study
by Shaughnessy et al. (1994) found that Medicare FFS beneficiaries received more
home health care and had more favorable outcomes compared to Medicare HMO en-
roUees. A 1995 survey by the General Accounting Office found that HMO
disenrollees rated their quality of health lower than that of enrollees and reported
a much greater decline in health status during their HMO enrollment (OIG, 1995).
Finally, Ware et al. (1996) found that the chronically ill elderly in HMO's were twice
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as likely as the chronically ill elderly in fee-for-service to report a decline in health
status during a four-year study period.

Recommendations

Congress needs to act on a variety of Medicare access and quality issues. In 1996,
a number of states enacted far-reaching HMO consumer protection laws regarding
continuity of care following contract terminations, travel times to care, guarantees
of an adequate number of specialty providers and standards for specialty referrals

(Dallek, et al., 1996). Congress should examine what these states have done and
consider adopting the best state protections for Medicare HMO enrollees. Congress
should also enact legislation to ensure that Medicare beneficiaries are adequately
protected against HMO financial incentives to deny needed care. Families USA is

preparing a list of the most crucial consumer protections that are needed to protect
Medicare beneficiaries. We will be happy to share that with you soon.

Congress should enact Medigap reforms to put Medigap insurers on a level play-

ing field with each other and ofier greater choice for Medicare beneficiaries. Specifi-

cally, Congress should require:

—Medigap insurers to hold an annual open enrollment period with guaranteed
issue to allow Medicare beneficiaries to more easily move from HMO member-
ship back to Medicare fee-for-service. Medigap insurers should be required to

offer all or, at a minimum, the three most popular standardized plans during
the open enrollment period to all Medicare beneficiaries regardless of pre-exist-

ing conditions.

—Medigap insurers to sell policies to disabled Medicare beneficiaries under age
65.

Congress should enact legislation or require HCFA to strengthen their regulations
in the following access and quality of care areas:

—Remove barriers to specialty care by requiring HMOs to: make out-of-network
referrals if they do not have a network provider with appropriate training and
experience, including "centers of excellence"; designate appropriately licensed

medical specialists as primary care providers for individuals with life-threaten-

ing or disabling and degenerative conditions; have procedures to allow enrollees

to receive a standing referral to a specialist in cases where an enroUee needs
ongoing specialty care; and establish procedures that allow enrollees with life-

threatening or disabling and degenerative conditions to request and obtain re-

ferrals to a specialist or a nationally-designated or accredited specialty care cen-

ter;

—Require HMO's to pay for out-of-plan providers (including "centers of excel-

lence") with expertise not available in the HMO's provider network;
—Establish utilization review/referral standards that require HMO's to: base re-

ferral and utilization decision on written criteria that meet Medicare rules and
that are developed with the participation of practicing physicians in the net-

work; use individuals with appropriate expertise and training to make referral

and utilization decisions; and make referral and utilization decisions in a timely
fashion (two days generally, but within four hours for emergency situations);

—Require HMO's to establish access, travel and waiting time guidelines appro-
priate for the Medicare population and modeled after those developed by the
New Jersey Commissioner of Health (Dallek, et al., 1996);

—Require HMO's to permit Medicare enrollees under active treatment for a par-
ticular condition/illness (e.g., heart disease, cancer, stroke, uncontrolled diabe-
tes) whose HMO primary care or specialty provider no longer contract with the
HMO to continue to see that provider for a specified time period not to exceed
120 days as medically necessary;

—Review annually all Medicare risk-contract HMOs' internal coverage guidelines
to ensure that they are not more restrictive than Medicare coverage rules;

—Compare information with other state regulatory agencies with HMO oversight
responsibility; and

—Fine HMO's which fail to provide appropriate care or fail to monitor their con-
tracting medical groups to ensure that they provide Medicare covered benefits.

THE HMO APPEALS PROCESS

Because Medicare beneficiaries are "locked-in" to their HMO's, their right to ap-
peal a denial of care is crucial. Although Medicare's five step appeals process ^ ap-

® Organizational determination, HMO reconsideration, HCFA review (done by HCFA's contrac-
tor Network Design Group), Administrative Law Judge, Appeals Council and Federal Court.
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pears to be quite extensive, it does not meet HMO enrollees' needs for the following

reasons:
—Medicare beneficiaries are often not aware of their appeal rights (OIG, 1995);

—HMO's (or their contracting providers groups) often do not provide Medicare en-
rollees with a notice when care is denied; nor do they inform enrollees that they
have a right to appeal that denial. When notice is provided, it is often inad-
equate;

—The appeals process is too lengthy (the first two steps of the appeal's process
take a minimum of 120 days) and provides no help in emergency situations

where delays in care could result in significant harm;
—The first two steps of the appeals process are internal reviews within the
HMO—the organization which denied (or refused to pay for) the services in the
first place; and

—HMO's often fail to meet Medicare appeal time lines.

When faced with poor quality care, or denial or delays in access to care, the Medi-
care HMO enrollee's only choices are either to work through the lengthy HMO ap-
peals system or to disenroll.

Coverage of out-of-plan claims I meeting appeal time lines

Medicare risk-contract HMO's must, by law, provide their Medicare enrollees with
all of the medical care that would be covered by Medicare in the traditional fee-for-

service (FFS) system. This includes paying for out-of-plan care that enrollees receive

in emergency situations or when enrollees are out of the HMO's geographic area and
need care urgently. This requirement also includes paying for out-of-plan services

for Medicare-covered care that the HMO failed or refused to provide.

Medicare HMO enrollees experience serious difficulties in obtaining coverage for

out-of-plan emergency and out-of-area urgent services. Medicare advocates continue
to find that some plans do not process claims in a timely manner:
The Case of Mr. K.—While traveling in Texas, Mr. K became ill and was admitted

to a Texas hospital for what was later diagnosed as congestive heart failure. The
HMO gave approval for the emergency and hospital care received. While still in

Texas follovdng discharge, Mr. K. obtained two follow-up visits for the same condi-
tion. The HMO denied claims for these visits.

Mr. K. contacted CHCR's HICAP which submitted a reconsideration request with
the HMO. Within the 60 days required by Medicare, the HMO responded to the
claim, denying coverage. However, the HMO failed to notify HICAP, Mr. K.'s legal

representative, as was required. Moreover, although the HMO was automatically re-

quired to send the denied claim to National Design Group (NDG, HCFA's contractor
responsible for all HMO reconsiderations requiring HCFA review), it failed to do so

for five months. Following reconsideration, NDG found in favor of Mr. K.

Inadequate notice of appeal coverage denials and appeal rights

Despite years of experience with Medicare, a number of HMO's in California and/
or their subcontracting medical groups do not meet Medicare requirements for noti-

fying enrollees when a service is denied or terminated. Even when a denial notice

is given, it is often inadequate.
Some Medicare HMO's in New York are even failing to provide notices when

claims are denied:
The Case of Mrs. F.—Mrs. F., a 92 year-old California Medicare HMO enrollee,

entered the hospital for congenital heart failure and other medical problems. She
was discharged directly to a skilled nursing facility where she received physical and
occupational therapy five days a week. Her unstable medical condition was also

monitored by a skilled nurse. For these reasons, Mrs. F. clearly met federal Medi-
care guidelines for coverage of a skilled nursing facility stay. However, Mrs. F.'s

HMO denied Mrs. F. coverage because it claimed that the services she received in

the nursing facility did not fit Medicare's definition of "skilled services" and were
therefore not covered. Mrs. F. never received a written denial from the HMO ex-

plaining her appeal rights, but the MRC appealed on her behalf anyway. After sev-

eral months of negotiations with the HMO, HCFA, and staff at the nursing facility,

MRC received notification the HMO would be required to cover the majority of Mrs.
F.'s stay in the nursing facility. But because so much time had elapsed, the final

decision came too late to prevent the nursing facility from illegally transferring Mrs.
F. out of the nursing home to a county infirmary (Medicare Rights Center, 1996).

Like Mrs. F., many Medicare HMO enrollees are unaware of their appeal rights.

The recent Office of Inspector General's survey of HMO enrollees and disenrollees

found that two-thirds of disenrollees criticized the lack of information on appeal
rights and the effectiveness of HMO care and access to services. (OIG, 1995).
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Lack ofprovisions for expedited review in the appeals process

Perhaps the greatest problem with the appeal system is that it does not generally
include a mechanism for expedited, independent review outside the HMO in situa-

tions where delays in care could result in serious harm. The only exception is for

hospital discharge cases where the HMO enrollee can appeal to the Peer Review Or-
ganization (PRO) for review if he or she feels the discharge is premature.
The Case of Mrs. S.—Mrs. S. is a 73-year-old Medicare beneficiary in Los Angeles

suffering from chronic pulmonary disease. In December 1993, while visiting her
daughter in San Diego, Mrs. S. required emergency hospitalization at a non-HMO
hospital that placed her on a ventilator to help her breathe. Her non-HMO attend-
ing physician recommended placing her in an acute rehabilitation hospital for ag-
gressive respiratory therapy so that, in time, she could be weaned from the ventila-

tor and return home.
Despite the attending physician's opinion that her condition would prove fatal if

she were placed in long-term care facility that could not provide the therapeutic
services she required, the HMO refused to approve the transfer and offered instead
to move her to a less costly nursing facility that did not offer such services.

The Center for Health Care Rights spent two frustrating days trying to convince
the HMO that Mrs. S. needed to be weaned from the ventilator, but the HMO re-

fused to transfer her to the acute rehabilitation facility. Only after CHCR advised
the HMO's officers that its attorney would appear in court the following morning
to obtain a temporary restraining order did the HMO approve Mrs. S.'s transfer to

the appropriate facility.

Although CHCR was able to help Mrs. S. obtain appropriate care, without the pro-

gram's assistance she might well have been transferred to a nursing home, where
she would have remained while her appeal slowly made its way through the system.

Grijalva v. Shalala

The rate of federal Medicare HMO complaints is below that of federal Medicare
fee-for-service complaints. HMO industry representatives argue that this is a reflec-

tion of a low level of problems. Medicare advocates counter that a low rate of ap-
peals is the result of the cumbersome Medicare appeals process and the failure of
HMO's to provide adequate notice to Medicare enrollees when a service is denied
or terminated. In a decision issues October 17, 1996, U.S. District Court Judge
Alfredo C. Marquez agreed in his ruling on Grijolva v. Shalala (1996).

Judge Marquez found that: HMO notices failed to provide the specific basis for

coverage denials; many notices were illegible based on a 12-point type readability
criteria; "HMO reconsideration approximates a 'rubber stamp' of the initial denial,"

having "grave consequences because an HMO denial may mean the enrollees will

go without medically necessary services" and that procedures followed by HMO's fail

to secure minimum due process for Medicare beneficiaries." [emphasis added] The
court also found that a "more meaningful appeal process by the HMO may actually
reduce fiscal burdens on the federal government because improper denials by HMO's
cause Medicare beneficiaries to return to fee-for-service providers at greater expense
to the government."
Judge Marquez found that the Secretary of HHS violates federal law if she fails

to require that contracting Medicare HMO's: always give notice for denials of serv-

ice; provide timely and readable notices; clearly state the reason for denials of care
in a manner enabling enrollees to argue their case; and inform enrollees of all ap-
peal rights, including the right to a hearing on reconsideration. The judge also found
that hearings must be available upon request for all service denials; and be timely
according to the seriousness of the medical conditions, including immediate hearings
for acute care service denials.

Recommendations

HCFA is currently drafting proposed appeals regulations. This initiative is wel-
come. Congress should ensure that at a minimum, new HCFA regulations include
the following provisions:
—Timely notice to Medicare beneficiaries for service denials and terminations
which are legible and which provide detailed information on the reasons for the
denial or termination, how to appeal these decisions, and the right to a hearing;

—Expedited review within the HMO of no more that 48 hours when delays would
jeopardize the life or health of a patient or the patient's ability to regain maxi-
mum function; and expedited review for adverse decisions in these cases to Net-
work Design Group (HCFA's appeals contractor) or other outside review organi-
zation; and

—Detailed guidance to HMO's on the circumstances under which they must pro-

vide expedited review and specific requirements on who is authorized to conduct
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these reviews and the circumstances which must be considered (including Medi-
care coverage guidehnes) in approving or denying the appeal (see generally
Grijulva v. Shalala, 1993; Dallek et al., 1993 and Medicare Rights Center,
1996).

In addition, Congress should ensure that HCFA adopt a ZERO TOLERANCE pol-

icy for HMO's and contracting provider groups which fail to meet notice and appeals
requirements. This policy should impose:
—Automatic monetary sanctions on HMO's and contracting medical groups when
they fail to provide beneficiaries with legally required due process; and

—Automatic HMO financially responsibility for all in-plan and out-of-plan claims
if the HMO fails to provide an enrollee with a written denial notice that in-

cludes information on how to appeal.

Finally, in order to help Medicare beneficiaries with managed care appeals and
other problems. Congress should: Provide adequate funding for ICA's to serve as
Ombudsprograms for Medicare beneficiaries in both fee-for-service and managed
care.

LACK OF DATA

Basic plan benefit and cost-sharing data

Medicare beneficiaries currently lack even the most basic data to help them make
an informed choice of health plans. HCFA currently provides far less information
about health plan choices to their beneficiaries than that provided by large govern-
ment and commercial employers. For example, the California Public Employees' Re-
tirement System (CalPERS) provides a range of HMO comparison information to

current and retired state employees, including a list of available plans; detailed ben-
efits; premiums, deductibles and copayments; the results of member satisfaction sur-
veys; and plan performance indicators (GAO, 1996a).
Two of HCFA's nine regional offices, on their own initiative, now provide compari-

son guides on HMO benefits. These are excellent guides providing basic HMO com-
parative information on benefits and cost-sharing. However, these guides are not
readily available to beneficiaries and are limited to only two regions of the country.

Additionally, Medicare beneficiaries need more information than is currently pro-
vided in the guides. For example, almost all Medicare HMO's in California offer a
prescription drug benefit. However, knowing the total amount of the benefit is not
enough for Medicare beneficiaries to figure out which HMO provides the greatest
level of protection for the costs of prescription drugs. One California Medicare advo-
cate lists four basic questions beneficiaries need to know to compare prescription
drug benefits: What are the coverage rules and standard terms? What is the basis
for benefit calculations; How are cost-sharing calculations and limitations on bene-
fits computed? And what are the rules for prescriptions and refills? It makes a big
difference to HMO enrollees whether the formulary is open or closed, whether ge-
neric drugs are mandatory, limits on the quantity of drugs that can be ordered at
one time, how the costs of drugs are calculated (e.g. list price, average wholesale
price, wholesale price, mail order), etc. (Bums, 1996).

Access and quality of care data

Advocates for Medicare enrollees understand that it is difficult to argue from an-
ecdotal stories. Often, however, it is all we have. We don't know if the cases cited

here are isolated instances of a health care system which consistently provides ap-
propriate care to Medicare enrollees or whether they are the tip of a very large and
very deep iceberg.

To make these judgments we need more data. A 1993 study by the Center for

Health Care Rights (Dallek, et.al., 1993) included an analysis of HMO hospital utili-

zation data obtained from California's Peer Review Organization. This analysis
found a significant difference in hospitalization rates for specific diagnosis related
groups (DRG's)—including a six-fold difference in the rates of heart bypass sur-
gery—among the three largest Medicare risk-contract HMO's in California. Because
of questions about the accuracy of the hospital HMO utilization data, CHCR did not
reveal the names of the HMO's. Instead, it recommended that HCFA strengthen its

enforcement of hospital reporting requirements so we could again analyze the data.
To date, this has not been done.
A 1996 Institute of Medicine (lOM) report. Improving the Medicare Market: Add-

ing Choice and Protections (1996), contains a long list of information the lOM panel
thought should be available to Medicare beneficiaries (Attachment A). Although,
much of this information is currently not available, HCFA could do much more to

make some information available today in a user-friendly format. The recent GAO
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(1996a) report on disenrollments is a good example of how currently available data
could be provided to Medicare beneficiaries.

Recommendations

HCFA is currently working on a range of initiatives to provide information to

Medicare beneficiaries. These include plan comparability charts, member satisfac-

tion surveys, HEDIS performance measures; national marketing guidelines; a "Med-
icare transaction system" to collect and analyze complaints; reporting of appeals by
plans; and the publication of a Medicare managed care booklet and a Medicare ben-
eficiary advisory bulletin (GAO, 1996a). HCFA should be applauded for these activi-

ties, which will clearly result in a more informed Medicare population.
In addition to these initiatives, Congress should ensure that HCFA:
—Requires HMO's to report utilization data, including data on nursing home

days, home health visits and rehabilitation services. Without this data, HCFA
can not determine whether HMO's are systematically denying needed services;

—Requires HMO's to provide to HCFA information on their referral process in-

cluding the number of referrals denied and the reasons for these denials. HCFA
should provide this information to Medicare beneficiaries;

—Provides, disenrollment data in an easy-to-read format. Although HCFA has
some concerns about the data, it is the only measure we currently have of en-
rollee satisfaction and possible problems with marketing. Further, HCFA Re-
gion IX has for over a year and a half been producing this information; and

—Make available to advocacy organizations information about Medicare HMOs' fi-

nancial incentive plans, which HMO's will be sending to HCFA beginning Janu-
ary 1997.

HCFA MONITORING AND OVERSIGHT

In the past year HCFA has begun a number of critical initiatives to protect Medi-
care HMO enrollees. It has also reached out to consumer advocacy groups, funding
ICA's when Congress eliminated the program and seeking consumer input in the
Agency's efforts to address problems that have no easy solutions. HCFA must build
on many of the initiatives begun in 1996 to ensure that Medicare beneficiaries feel

that the government will ensure they obtain the care they have been promised. If

this is to occur, Congress must ensure that HCFA is more proactive than it has been
in the past and address the four issues discussed below.
Congress must ensure that:

Medicare HMO problems are addressed in a timely fashion.—As discussed earlier

in this testimony, HCFA has responded slowly to many consumer problems includ-

ing marketing abuses and the lack of appeals protections.

Adequate oversight of Medicare HMO's is provided.—As discussed earlier in this

testimony, and in a number of GAO reports (GAO, 1996b), HCFA's efforts to mon-
itor HMO's do not always lead to improvements in care. Problems found are too

often not corrected.

Generic problems are addressed by imposing a zero tolerance policy for certain vio-

lations of Medicare law.—HCFA should begin automatically penalizing HMO's
whose marketing agents fraudulently enroll Medicare beneficiaries. HMO's must be
held accountable for the actions of their marketing departments. A slap on the wrist
does not prevent further marketing abuse.
HCFA regional offices interpret and enforce Medicare HMO law in a consistent

manner.—HCFA's Region IX has taken the lead in a number of areas to provide
HMO information to Medicare beneficiaries and respond to HMO problems in a
proactive manner. HCFA should work to ensure that information and positive initia-

tives undertaken by any one region is standardized across regions.

CONCLUSION

In conclusion, I urge Congress to enact strong HMO consumer protections that
will apply to all managed care enrollees, including marketing protections, access and
quality standards, due process protections and a standardized data set. We are de-
veloping a comprehensive list of consumer protections which we would be happy to

share with you as soon as it is completed. As Congress considers legislation to en-
courage beneficiaries to enroll in managed care plans, these additional protections
are essential to ensure that Medicare beneficiaries receive accessible quality care.
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STATEMENT OF WILLIAM MACBAIN, SENIOR VICE PRESIDENT,
HEALTH PLANS, NEW YORK, GEISINGER HEALTH PLAN, AMER-
ICAN ASSOCIATION OF HEALTH PLANS

Senator Specter. I will now turn to Mr. William MacBain rep-

resenting the American Association of Health Plans. Welcome, Mr.
MacBain. The floor is yours.
Mr. MacBain. Thank you, Senator. Mr. Chairman and members

of the subcommittee, my name is William MacBain. I am senior

vice president with Geisinger Health Plan, and I am testifying

today on behalf of the American Association of Health Plans,

AAHP.
We represent 1,000 HMO's, PPO's, and similar network health

plans. Our member companies are dedicated to a philosophy of

health care that puts patients first by providing coordinated, com-
prehensive care.

Together AAHP member plans provide care for over 100 million

Americans. Geisinger Health Plan is part of the Geisinger Health
Care system, an integrated system of physicians and hospitals that
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serves 31 counties in central and northeastern Pennsylvania. Our
service area covers nearly 40 percent of the State, and encompasses
over 2.2 million people.

Geisinger Health Plan is a central component of that system.
Through the health plan we provide health care coverage to nearly
190,000 people who began our Medicare contract in 1994 and now
serve 20,000 Medicare beneficiaries.

I firmly believe that our members receive better care than they
would through the old fee-for-service system, and here is why. Our
health plan supports the cost of a nurse advice service available 24
hours a day. Members who have questions about symptoms, medi-
cation, or other coverage can dial a toll-free number. The lines are
answered by specially trained nurses, backed up by computerized
protocols and physicians on call.

Over 90 percent of physicians and members rate this service as
excellent. The program begun 4 years has increased the rate of an-
nual mammogram among women over age 50 from the fee-for-serv-

ice rate of 57 percent in 1992 to 78 percent in 1995.

We have increased the percentage of Medicare benefits' members
receiving flu shots from 29 percent in 1992 to 85 percent in 1995.
A study of nearly 3,000 cases of community-acquired pneumonia
and bronchitis among health plan members identified a high rate

of successful treatment by primary care physicians, and only one
of these patients required hospitalization.

A 4-year study of 600 patients with rheumatoid arthritis showed
that an overwhelming majority—I am sorry, an overwhelming ma-
jority of whom were GHP members, found that they maintained
their health status and had a decrease in stiffness and pain.

The expected result in the fee-for-service system would be a dete-

rioration in health status. A reminder system to encourage diabetic

members to receive annual eye examinations as recommended to

avoid a common complication of diabetes increased the number
from 43 percent in 1974 to 70 percent in 1995.

These kinds of quality improvement programs are a key compo-
nent for the quality health care we provide. This more than any-
thing else sets us apart from the old style fee-for-service system.
Published studies of quality care dating from 1980 have shown

a consistent pattern of high quality of managed care plans. For ex-

ample, a study in the December 1992 edition of the peer review in

The American Journal of Public Health found that elderly HMO
heart attack patients had similar mortality and better care than
their fee-for-service counterparts.
A recent study by HCFA showed that among elderly patients

with cancer, HMO members are more likely than fee-for-service

members to have their cancer diagnosed at an early stage.

The 1992 study in The American Journal of Public Health found
that low-income prostate cancer patients in HMO's have lower mor-
talities than their fee-for-service counterparts.
A review of literature in The American Journal of the American

Medical Association going back to 1980 found HMO quality of care
equal to or superior than fee-for-service in 14 of 17 measures.

I recognize that Dr. Ware's study, recently published, raised
some questions, and I would like to point out just a couple of con-

cerns I have about those. The conclusions are based on question-
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naires in which participants rated their own health status in sev-

eral categories including physical function, pain, social function,

and general health perceptions.

The findings do not differentiate among these. We do not know
whether some people went up in one and down in another, and
whether that put them in the category of declining health.

Also, unlike the studies of quality we use at Geisinger to meas-
ure the success of our quality improvement efforts. Dr. Ware's
study does not include any consideration of health care was actu-

ally provided and what measurable clinical outcomes occurred as a
result.

My written statement contains a more complete and technical
discussion of our concerns. I believe I speak not only for Geisinger,
but all of the AAHP members in saying we are committed to pro-

viding the highest quality of care to senior citizens and to all our
members.

PREPARED STATEMENT

We welcome the scrutiny of the subcommittee and we are proud
of our excellent record in serving Medicare beneficiaries. I am
pleased to have had this opportunity to testify before you today and
welcome your questions.

Senator Specter. Thank you, Mr. MacBain. I regret the limita-

tions of time, but you can see the length of our inquiries. Your full

statement, all the statements will be made a part of the record.

Mr. MacBain. Thank you.
[The statement follows:!

Prepared Statement of William A. MacBain

INTRODUCTION

Mr. Chairman and members of the Subcommittee, my name is William A.
MacBain and I am testifying on behalf of the American Association of Health Plans
(AAHP). AAHP (formeriy GHAA/AMCRA) represents 1,000 HMO's, PPO's, and simi-
lar network health plans. AAHP member companies are dedicated to a philosophy
of health care that puts the patient first by providing coordinated, comprehensive
health care. Together, AAHP member plans provide care for over 100 million Ameri-
cans nationwide.

I am Senior Vice President of Geisinger Health Plan. Geisinger Health Plan is

part of the Geisinger system of health care, which also includes a regional tertiary

referral center in Danville, a secondary referral center in Wilkes-Barre, 75 physician
practice sites, an alcohol and chemical dependency treatment program with an inpa-
tient facility, a management consulting corporation, and a clinical equipment main-
tenance service. Geisinger is a growing, diversified, regional, multi-institutional sys-

tem of health care. Our 31-county service area spans over 40 percent of the state

of Pennsylvania with an estimated population of 2.3 million. Geisinger Health Plan
serves nearly 190,000 Pennsylvanians, including approximately 20,000 Medicare
beneficiaries.

I very much appreciate this opportunity to participate in today's hearing and to

share with you AAHFs philosophy of care and how AAHP member plans put this

philosophy to work in providing quality health care to senior citizens. AAHP's mem-
ber plans are providing care that is focused on improving and maintaining the
health of patients as well as striving to make comprehensive coverage affordable.

Based on our experience, comprehensive health care is best provided by networks
of health care professionals who are willing to be accountable for the quality of their

services and the satisfaction of their patients.

Stated simply, health plans are organized systems for financing and delivering

health care. They provide a vehicle for systematic quality improvement that is not
available undrr the old-style fee-for-service (FFS) health care system. Health plans
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combine a number of interrelated features that foster a comprehensive approach to

quahty, including:

—selection of a defined, fully-credentialed network of providers who can work to-

gether on care and quality issues,

—provision of comprehensive services across the spectrum of inpatient and out-

patient settings, allowing a full range of quality improvement interventions, and
—clinical and fiscal accountability for the health care of a defined population

—

allowing population-based data collection, analysis, intervention, and monitor-
ing—and ensuring accountability for performance.

This hearing's topic—safeguarding the health care of senior citizens—is of great
importance to us. Health plans have made quality improvement programs a key
component of their approach to care across all of the populations they serve. These
programs include tracking of performance measures, independent audits by peer re-

view organizations, and action plans to continually improve quality of care—all pro-

grams that do not exist in the FFS sector.

Many studies conducted by leading researchers have documented that care pro-

vided by HMO's is better than or equal to care provided in other settings. In a sys-

tematic literature review of quality of care studies published in 1994 in the Journal
of the American Medical Association, University of California at San Francisco pro-

fessors Robert Miller and Harold Luft found that on 14 of 17 major indicators, net-

work-based care was better than or at least equal to that provided under FFS.
Health plans and other integrated delivery systems are highly regulated. At the

federal level, the HMO Act offers federal qualification for HMO's that satisfy a rig-

orous set of standards including solvency, access, quality, and consumer protection

components. All Medicare risk and cost contractors must be federally qualified or

meet similar program-specific standards. At the state level, 48 states have enacted
HMO laws governing issues such as quality and accessibility of services, member
information, financial solvency, utilization review, and grievance procedures.

In addition to federal and state regulation, Geisinger and many of AAHP's mem-
bers have voluntarily sought accreditation by private organizations such as the Na-
tional Committee for Quality Assurance (NCQA), the Utilization Review Accredita-

tion Commission (URAC), or the Joint Commission on the Accreditation of

Healthcare Organizations (JCAHO). The Health Care Financing Administration also

is focusing on quality standards in Medicare HMO's through several initiatives

which I will discuss later in this statement.
Today I will address the following issues: enrollment and disenroUment trends in

the Medicare contracting program and how those trends reflect Medicare bene-
ficiaries' high level of satisfaction with Medicare HMO's and the quality of care they
receive; studies that focus on the quality of care provided in health plans, including
the recent study by John Ware published in the Journal of the American Medical
Association; regulatory requirements that are designed to ensure high quality care

in health plans; and operating standards in health plans and how these standards
create incentives for high quality health care treatment in health plans.

ENROLLMENT TRENDS AND THE LINK TO SATISFACTION AND QUALITY

More seniors than ever choosing HMO's
More seniors than ever are choosing the comprehensive coverage ofiered by health

plans. From December 1992 to September 1996, the number of senior citizens who
chose Medicare HMO's over Medicare FFS coverage doubled, from 2.3 to 4.6 million.

According to the Health Care Financing Administration (HCFA), Medicare HMO en-
rollment is growing by 80,000 to 90,000 beneficiaries per month, representing
annualized growth of 35 percent—up from the 25 percent growth experienced last

year. Over the last 2V2 years, Geisinger Health Plan has enrolled 20,000 bene-
ficiaries, primarily from rural areas.

Seniors are enrolling in HMO's in increasing numbers due to the comprehensive,
affordable health services offered. The majority of Medicare HMO's offer routine
physicals, outpatient drugs, eye exams, immunizations, and ear exams—services not
covered by FFS Medicare—at little or no additional cost. It is not surprising then
that many studies, as I will discuss later in this statement—have found comparable
or improved access to care for elderly persons enrolled in HMO's. In addition, half
of Medicare risk contractors do not charge a monthly premium. The affordability of
Medicare HMO's is especially important at a time when seniors are experiencing
double digit increases in the average premium for supplemental Medigap coverage,
which is unnecessary for Medicare HMO enrollees.
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Low level of disenrollment from Medicare HMO's to FFS
Disenrollment rates are one indicator of the quality of care Medicare beneficiaries

are receiving and their level of satisfaction with that care. Medicare beneficiaries

enrolled in health plans can disenroU each month, so those dissatisfied with the care

they receive from health plans can return to the FFS system almost immediately,
usually with access to open enrollment Medigap policies. Studies have shown low
levels of disenrollment, indicating that beneficiaries are pleased with the care they
receive from health plans.

For example, preliminary results of a September 1996 Mathematica Policy Re-
search study conducted for the Physician Payment Review Commission (PPRC)
found that two-thirds of the 3,000 Medicare beneficiary sample group had been con-

tinuously enrolled in an HMO and that only 2.8 percent had disenrolled from their

health plan and returned to FFS Medicare. Twenty percent of these beneficiaries

switched because they moved out of the service area or because their health plan
ceased operation, leaving just 2.2 percent who switched for satisfaction reasons.

The findings of the Mathematica study are supported by another study released

earlier this year by Gerald Riley of HCFA's Office of Research and Demonstrations,
which found that cancer patients in HMO's were no more likely to disenroll than
cancer-free patients in HMO's. In fact, patients who developed cancer while in an
HMO were less likely to disenroll than cancer-free patients.

ACCESS AND QUALITY OF CARE FOR VULNERABLE AND UNDERSERVED POPULATIONS

At AAHP, we recognize that ensuring access to vulnerable and underserved sub-
populations is critical and that access is an issue across the health care delivery sys-

tem, not just for health plans. While the October 1996 Mathematica survey illus-

trates Medicare beneficiaries' satisfaction with HMO's, preliminary results from the
survey ^ point out that more work is needed to improve access to vulnerable and un-
derserved populations—such as disabled persons and African-Americans—who were
more likely to report access problems. The survey did find, however, that the inci-

dence of problems is fairly low for all groups.
With rapid enrollment increases and aging of current enrollees, Medicare HMO's

are being challenged to meet the needs of a growing number of persons with chronic
conditions such as diabetes, congestive heart failure and degenerative joint failure.

The Medicare disabled population is expected to grow from 4.2 million in 1996 to

almost 8 million by 2010, according to HCFA. With their emphases on prevention,

comprehensive benefits, and coordination of care, HMO's are uniquely positioned to

meet this challenge.
Health plans bring a number of advantages to managing the care of these popu-

lations, such as coordination across a range of providers and access to community-
based and home services. In addition, health plans are able to identify chronic con-

ditions and intervene early. In their book. Managed Care and Chronic Illness, Peter
Fox and Teresa Fama point out that, while further work is needed, HMO's have in-

stituted numerous services as they manage members with chronic illness, including:

screening mechanisms designed to identify those with chronic conditions, non-emer-
gency transportation services for the disabled, educational programs for members
with diabetes, arthritis, and other chronic conditions, home safety programs, and
visiting or telephoning programs for homebound members.
Fox and Fama's findings grow out of the RWJ Foundation "Chronic Care Initia-

tives in HMO's" program that they direct. Through AAHP's nonprofit and edu-
cational arm, the Group Health Foundation, AAHP has provided an administrative
home and support for this important program.
The flexibility ofliered by a prepaid financing system encourages the tjT)es of inno-

vations that Fox and Fama report. The Health Plan of Nevada, which enrolls 25,000
seniors in Nevada, has developed a walk-in resource center for its Medicare mem-
bers. The Senior Dimensions Service Center assists members with arranging ap-

pointments, explaining benefits, providing health education, and offering other sup-

port services, particularly for those with chronic conditions. The Center has its own
dedicated staff comprising a social worker, a nurse, member services representa-
tives, and administrative staff. The Center handles 1,000 visits and 3,000 telephone
calls per month.

Geisinger Health Plan in 1994 instituted a risk-assessment process to identify

Medicare enrollees at high risk of illness. Similarly, FHP, Inc. has implemented a

case management program. Quality Continuum, also designed to identify members
with high-risk indicators. Both programs identify areas for intervention and estab-

lish patient care plans to resolve these areas. Many of the members identified by

1 The final survey findings were not available prior to this hearing.
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these programs are frail elderly. These programs and others like them have no par-
allel in the Medicare FFS system.

QUALITY

AAHP response to Ware study

AAHP appreciates the opportunity to review our thoughts on the recent study by
John Ware, Ph.D., et al., published in the October 2, 1996 Journal of the American
Medical Association. We take great interest in research by Dr. Ware and others that
measures quality of care in both HMO and FFS settings. Dr. Ware's study compared
physical and mental health outcomes of chronically ill adults, including elderly and
poor subgroups, treated in health maintenance organizations and FFS systems. The
study concludes that chronically ill patients who were either elderly or poor had
worse physical outcomes in HMO's than in FFS systems. Mental health patients'

outcomes varied by study site and patient characteristics. The conclusions of this

methodologically flawed study are not accurate. AAHP believes that due to flaws in

the study's design, the study results do not support the conclusion that chronically
ill HMO members receive care that does not compare favorably to FFS care for simi-

lar patients.

This study, which looks at data from 1986 to 1990, is at odds with a number of
other studies from that period, as well as more recent studies showing that care for

the chronically ill elderly and poor patients in HMO's is as good as or better than
care in FFS. One explanation for the difference in findings may be that the Ware
study focuses only on one measure—patient reports of their functional status. ^ This
means that the only outcomes that the study examined were those reported by pa-
tients. Reliance on functional status alone, without other indicators such as clinical

outcomes, process measures, disease-specific dysfunctions, and mortality differences,

may produce results that are unreliable and cannot be generalized.
AAHP has the following additional concerns about the study:
—The study is based on data from 1986 to 1990. The health care industry in gen-

eral, and the Medicare contracting program in particular, grew significantly

during that period. HMO's have evolved and matured since that time, and con-
tinue to develop new programs aimed at improving the health of patients. Old
data should not be used to draw conclusions about the care patients receive

today.
—The study examined differences in health outcomes as they were reported by

patients. Relevant differences in outcomes were defined as being two point dif-

ferences on a scale of 0-100. All of the patients started out quite ill (average
score 43), and the differences over time were quite similar—a seven point de-

cline in HMO patients and a five point decline in FFS patients. A difference

of this magnitude is not clinically important, especially since functional status
measures can be influenced by factors beyond a physician's control, such as ease
of walking, lifting and dressing.

—The authors note that 54 percent of patients in HMO's reported some decline
in functional status, while only 28 percent in the FFS sector reported a decline.

But since the average scores were similar (7 vs. 5 point declines), the declines
experienced by HMO patients must have been very small. If the declines were
larger, they would have pulled the average down to greater than a two point
difference.

—The SF-36, the assessment tool used to measure patients' perceptions of their

health status, is widely accepted as a valid indicator of health outcomes for

most patients. Researchers have raised questions, however, about the validity

of the SF-36 for patients at the "extremes," e.g. those who are very sick. Again,
this could mean that researchers using the tool are detecting statistically valid

differences in patients that are clinically meaningless—the patients may be
equally ill. Ware and colleagues also summarized different responses from the
SF-36 into a single response. Although this approach makes analysis more sim-
ple, it may mask inconsistencies in the data that would lead to different conclu-

sions.

—The study includes all chronic health conditions—hypertension, myocardial in-

farction, diabetes and congestive heart failure—in the same analysis. The clini-

cal course for these illnesses is quite different and combining these conditions
into a single analysis makes it difticult to draw clinical conclusions from this

study. It is possible that statistical differences in health outcomes (which, again,
may lack clinical significance) are due only to one of the diseases, not all of

2 Functional status comprises elements such as patient reports of physicad function, pain, so-

cial function, and general hcEdth perceptions.
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them, and that worse scores resulting from deterioration related to one of the
health conditions being studied pulled down the average score for all patients.

Ware's conclusion would be quite different if HMO's did worse on only one dis-

ease but were equivalent to FFS on the other three.

—The study controlled for many potentially interacting factors in patient condi-

tions, including age, some co-morbidity, and poverty. Some factors were not con-

sidered, which, particularly for the sub-groups with poorer scores, e.g., the poor
and elderly, could be quite relevant. These factors include social support, hous-
ing, and non-chronic disease issues such as injury/violence. Patients living in

nursing homes, or patients afraid to seek care could have a significantly worse
perception of their health.

To place matters in perspective, the same issue of the Journal of the American
Medical Association published a study examining the impact of insurance status
(managed care vs. traditional FFS) on intensive care unit (ICU) length of stay and
mortality. The study was conducted by a group of researchers led by Derek C.

Angus of the University of Pittsburgh Medical Center. The study found that man-
aged care patients had a statistically significant lower level of mortality and
consumed fewer ICU resources than patients in traditional commercial insurance.
The lower resource consumption appears to be attributable primarily to patient-re-

lated factors.

The same issue also contains an editorial "Managed Care: A Work in Progress"
by George Lundberg and Paul Ellwood. The editorial, which expresses the opinions
of both the authors and the Journal of the American Medical Association, concludes
that "the new American health system works" and has succeeded in providing af-

fordable, comprehensive, quality care to its insured members. As evidence of this,

I would like to mention briefly several studies among many that show how well the
elderly and poor are doing in network-based care.

Other studies

The success of health plans in improving quality of care—particularly for sen-

iors—has been documented again and again, as studies show care provided in

health plans to be as good as or better than care provided by the FFS sector.

—A study published in the December 1992 edition of the peer-reviewed American
Journal of Public Health found that elderly HMO heart attack patients had
similar mortality and better care than FFS patients. This study comparing the
process^ and outcome of care for hospitalized HMO and FFS patients age 65
and older with acute myocardial infarction found that HMO patients received
better care than, and had similar death rates to, patients in a national FFS
sample.

—A recent study by the Health Care Financing Administration showed that elder-

ly HMO members with cancer are more likely to be diagnosed at an early stage
than those in the FFS sector. Breast, cervical, and colon cancers, along with
melanomas, were diagnosed significantly earlier in HMO's than under FFS. The
study attributed this difference to improved access to preventive care under
comprehensive HMO coverage. Improved access also is highlighted in a study
by the Centers for Disease Control (CDC) and the National Center for Health
Statistics, which showed that women in HMO's are more likely to obtain mam-
mograms, pap smears, and clinical breast exams than those in the FFS sector.

—Preliminary results of the September 1996 Mathematica study conducted for

the Physician Payment Review Commission appear to support similar findings

of improved access to preventive care in managed care settings compared to

FFS settings. Fifty-nine percent of female Medicare beneficiaries enrolled in

HMO's had mammograms, compared to 37 percent in the FFS sector. Sixty-six

percent of Medicare beneficiaries enrolled in health plans received a flu shot,

compared to 57 percent for the FFS sector. Even better, at Geisinger Health
Plan, 85 percent of our Medicare enroUees received a flu shot.

—A randomized trial of elderly Medicaid beneficiaries, the results of which were
published in March 1994 in the Annals of Internal Medicine, found no dif-

ferences in access, satisfaction and quality of care between beneficiaries eru-olled

in HMO's and beneficiaries seeking care in the FFS sector. The study found
that HMO patients used fewer services than FFS patients but experienced
equal health outcomes.

—A 1991 study published in the Journal of the American Geriatrics Society found
that elderly h3rpertension patients (one of the conditions addressed by the Ware
study) in HMO's received care that was equivalent or superior to FFS care.

3 For instance, diagnostic tests, therapeutic procedures, medications, clinical assessments by
physicijms and nurses, physical examinations.
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Based upon standards of care for treating hypertension in elderly patients de-

veloped by a panel of expert physicians, the study illustrated that HMO's were
more likely than FFS providers to document medications, record alcohol and
smoking histories, provide initial orthostatic blood pressure checks, and refer

patients to specialists for ophthalmologic, cardiac and fundoscopic exams.
—A 1992 study published in Cancer found that HMO colorectal cancer patients
have similar treatment and survival rates to FFS patients. In a study of 330
colorectal cancer patients diagnosed from 1984 to 1989, researchers at the Uni-
versity of Texas Health Science Center found no differences between HMO and
FFS patients for duration of symptoms before diagnosis, training of physician
who analyzed the tumor, anatomic location of the tumor, type of primary treat-

ment, stage at final analysis, or survival.

—A 1992 study published in the American Journal of Public Health found that
low-income prostate cancer patients in HMO's have significantly lower mortality
than their FFS counterparts. The study compared treatment and mortality risk

of low income prostate cancer patients in HMO and FFS settings.

—A study of 600 rheumatoid arthritis patients at Geisinger Medical Center over
a 4-year period showed maintenance of health status and physical functioning,

and a decline in pain and stiffness over time. Ordinarily, we would have ex-

pected to see a decline in health status for these patients. The majority of pa-
tients in the study were members of our health plan.

Regulatory requirements

Health care networks are subject to a wide variety of state and federal statutes,
regulations, and industry guidelines designed to promote high-quality care.

Federal regulation.—The Federal HMO Act and Medicare risk contracting regula-
tions provide comprehensive consumer protection standards.
Federal HMO Act.—The Federal HMO Act of 1973 requires each federally quali-

fied HMO to have a rigorous quality assurance program in which medical profes-

sionals conduct regular reviews of the health care delivery process and assess pa-
tient outcomes. HMO's must have written procedures for remedial action and imple-
ment changes as necessary to maintain high quality. The HMO Act also requires
plans to use written guidelines for choosing physicians.
Medicare risk contracting requirements.—HMO's serving as Medicare risk contrac-

tors must meet additional standards. The Health Care Financing Administration re-

quires Medicare HMO's to undergo external quality reviews by peer review organi-
zations (PRO's) to ensure that they meet "professionally recognized standards of
care." PRO's must track patterns of care and outcomes, monitor written complaints
about quality of care, and conduct in-depth site reviews. HCFA monitors compliance
with these requirements through review of health plan documents and by conduct-
ing on-site visits.

State regulation.—Health plans are highly regulated on the state level. Health
plans must meet quality standards established by state health departments, Medic-
aid agencies, and state employee health plans. In Peiuisylvania, HMO's must oper-
ate an ongoing quality assurance program, which is subject to periodic external as-

sessment. Each Pennsylvania HMO also must submit an annual report to the State
Health Department that includes a copy of its quality assurance report and a de-

scription of its grievance resolution system.
Private accreditation.—Today's competitive health care market provides a strong

incentive for health plans to provide quality care. Accordingly, besides complying
with federal and state requirements, a growing number of health plans are meeting
the additional standards established for private-sector accreditation.

Private accreditation organizations.—Many employers—particularly large firms

—

require all health plans serving their employees to be accredited by organizations
such as the National Committee for Quality Assurance (NCQA), the Joint Commis-
sion on the Accreditation of Health Care Organizations (JCAHO), the Utilization Re-
view Accreditation Commission (URAC), or the Accreditation Association for Ambu-
latory Health Care (AAAHC).
To gain accreditation, health care networks must meet standards for quality im-

provement, physician credentialing, recognition of member rights and responsibil-

ities, preventive health services, utilization management, and maintenance of clini-

cal records. NCQA, the largest accreditation organization for network-based health
plans, requires plans to operate a comprehensive quality assurance program to mon-
itor and evaluate the quality and appropriateness of clinical care and member serv-

ices. Monitoring and evaluation programs must address high-volume and high-risk
services, as well as treatment for acute and chronic conditions.
To gain NCQA-accreditation, plans must adopt guidelines to ensure that physi-

cians are providing the most effective and up-to-date treatment. NCQA requires
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health plans to have procedures for reviewing and updating their practice guide-

lines. In addition, NCQA-accredited plans must assess member satisfaction by con-

ducting surveys and by evaluating complaints and requests to change physicians.

NCQA requirements are widely regarded as the "gold standard" for health plan ac-

creditation.

Reporting of performance data.—Many public and private purchasers require

health care networks to report performance data known as the Health Plan Em-
ployer Data and Information Set (HEDIS). NCQA worked with employers, health

plans, labor and consumer representatives, and health policy analysts to develop the

HEDIS instrument. HEDIS includes measures of quality, access to care and patient

satisfaction, membership stability, use of resources, financial soundness, and inter-

nal management systems.
This past summer, NCQA issued a draft version of HEDIS 3.0 containing quality

measures tailored to the needs of Medicare and Medicaid beneficiaries as well as

measures developed for privately insured patients. HEDIS 3.0 contains measures
that track how well health plans help sick people get better and indicators to assess

how effectively plans address the nation's most pressing health problems, such as

cancer, heart disease, smoking and diabetes. HEDIS 3.0 also contains a survey to

gauge how consumers perceive the care they receive.

HCFA plans to require Medicare HMO's to begin reporting specific data elements
from the HEDIS 3.0 data set on June 30th of next year. Specifically, HCFA will re-

quire plans to report the HEDIS 3.0 measures of flu shots, breast cancer screening,

beta blocker treatment after a heart attack, eye exams for people with diabetes, fol-

low-up after hospitalization for mental illness, and advising smokers to quit. AAHP
worked with both NCQA in providing comments on HEDIS 3.0 and with HCFA in

discussing implementation issues. We are pleased that HCFA has indicated its in-

tention to collect similar data elements from the FFS sector and hope that this will

provide a basis for comparing choices available to seniors.

In addition to HEDIS 3.0 data requirements, HCFA plans to implement four qual-

ity measures developed by the Foundation for Accountability (FACCT), a coalition

of private and public purchasers and consumers. The quality measures are aimed
at making it easier to evaluate health care plans and providers by establishing a
national standard for gauging health care performance. The four measures—depres-

sion, diabetes, breast cancer, and asthma—were endorsed by FACCT this past sum-
mer and are intended to compare how well medical groups or health plans treat

these common medical conditions. HCFA has entered into an agreement with The
Rand Corp. to implement the FACCT measures in areas around the country. HCFA
plans to evaluate implementation issues over the next year before using the meas-
ures to derive "report cards" for purposes of plan accountability in 1998.

HCFA also plans to administer a consumer satisfaction survey for Medicare bene-
ficiaries enrolled in health plans. The survey is being developed by the Agency for

Health Care Policy and Research in conjunction with HCFA. Medicare contractors

would pay the costs for administration of the survey and HCFA plans to use the

results to provide comparative reports to Medicare beneficiaries about the health

plans available in their geographic areas. AAHP has supported this initiative and
shares HCFA's interest in providing beneficiaries with timely and accurate informa-
tion on their health plan choices. HCFA expects to make these requirements part

of health plan contractors' contractual obligations beginning with the 1997 contract

year.

INCENTIVES FOR QUALITY HEALTH CARE TREATMENT

To understand why health care networks are achieving an impressive record, it

is necessary to examine their operating standards and how these standards create

incentives for quality health care treatment. Health plans have several means of en-

suring that their members receive high-quality, state-of-the-art care. These include:

coordination of services through the primary care physician, use of clinical practice

guidelines, implementation of comprehensive quality improvement programs, and
analysis of member satisfaction surveys.

I will review each of these in turn.

Coordination.—Health care networks tj^jically create organized delivery systems
in which the patient's primary care physician coordinates the patient's health serv-

ices, including visits to specialists, all hospital admissions, as well as home and com-
munity-based care. Coordination and oversight by the primary care doctor help en-

sure that patients receive appropriate care in a timely manner. Over time, this

model of care fosters strong doctor-patient relationships built on mutual under-
standing and trust.
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Clinical practice guidelines.—Most health care networks use cUnical practice

guidehnes to ensure that their members receive the most effective treatments avail-

able. Health plan physicians often play a central role in developing these guidelines,

which provide strategies for improved diagnosis and treatment of conditions such as
asthma, diabetes, low back pain, ear infections, and cataracts. Health plans also

have adopted guidelines for regular use of preventive services such as mammog-
raphy and Pap tests. For example, at Geisinger, we have our own "guideline teams"
working on developing guidelines, including those for breast cancer diagnosis, hy-
pertension, depression, urinary tract infection, chest pain, and a host of other condi-

tions.

As reported in the New England Journal of Medicine (1995), Marsha Gold and
colleagues at Mathematica Policy Research conducted a national survey for the
PPRC of 108 health plans' practice management strategies and physician payment
arrangements. The 1994 survey found that approximately three-quarters of HMO's
used written clinical practice guidelines.

Quality improvement programs.—System-wide quality monitoring is central to the
operations of HMO's and other network-based plans. These programs include track-

ing of performance measures, independent audits by peer review organizations, and
action plans to continually improve quality of care, particularly in areas identified

in the performance measurement process. At Geisinger Health Plan, we have an ex-

tensive written quality improvement program, which addresses issues ranging from
tracking whether diabetics and those with other chronic conditions have received
key tests, to reviewing our process for referring members to specialists, to reviewing
use of our 24-hour nurse advisory service. We also undertake outcomes research

—

for example, on migraine management, asthma, and smoking cessation this year

—

and formal evaluations of care within the plan.
More generally, the 1995 study by Gold and colleagues reported that 79 percent

of group- and staff-model HMO's and 70 percent of network- or IPA-model HMO's
required health care outcome studies for treatment of particular conditions, had tar-

geted quality improvement initiatives, and used outcome studies to evaluate success
and identify areas for improvement. Studies on asthma, diabetes treatment, and
mammography screening were most prevalent.
Member surveys.—And finally, health plans conduct surveys and focus groups to

assess member satisfaction. Based on members' input, health care networks modify
their operations to meet changing needs. At Geisinger, we significantly increased
the primary care providers available in our network in response to plan members'
requests. Health plans have adopted member orientation programs, providers' busi-

ness hours, and health education classes to accommodate member preferences. Fifty-

five percent of network- and IPA-model HMO's surveyed by Gold and colleagues ad-
justed physician payments based on results of patient satisfaction surveys.

These key aspects of health plan operations—coordination of care through the pri-

mary care physician, use of clinical practice guidelines, continuous quality monitor-
ing, and responsiveness to patient satisfaction surveys—create a comprehensive sys-

tem of accountability to patients' changing needs and concerns. The high level of ac-

countability provided by health care networks contrasts dramatically with the lack
of accountability under the old style FFS system. Fee-for-service plans simply lack
the internal structures and processes necessary to create an accountable system.

SATISFACTION

Medicare HMO's attract a broad mix of enroUees, and those enroUees are satisfied

with their care. Earlier in this statement, I discussed the preliminary results of the
October 1996 Mathematica study as they pertain to low levels of disenroUment. The
study also found that most seniors (87 percent) would recommend their plan to fam-
ily and friends and that vulnerable subpopulations were just as likely to recommend
their plan as other subpopulations. Evidence of satisfaction among Medicare HMO
members found in the Mathematica survey is supported by prior studies.

—An American Hospital Association survey released in May 1994 found that Med-
icare beneficiaries enrolled in HMO's and FFS are equally satisfied with the
quality of their care. Medicare HMO enroUees rated HMO's positively by a 14-

to-one ratio. In addition. Medicare HMO enroUees reported much higher satis-

faction with their out-of-pocket costs than did FFS Medicare beneficiaries.

—Medicare beneficiaries enrolled in Blue Cross and Blue Shield affiliated health
plans are more intensely satisfied with their health coverage and medical care
than traditional Medicare recipients. By a 3 to 1 margin, members with prior

FFS Medicare experience preferred their health plan's approach to care to that
taken by traditional Medicare. Nearly all members (91 percent) planned to stay
with their health plan in the future, while only 2 percent planned to switch to
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another health care plan. The September 1995 survey, performed by American
Viewpoint, Inc. and commissioned by the Blue Cross and Blue Shield Associa-

tion, involved 1,500 enrollees of Blue Cross/Blue Shield Medicare HMO's and
a comparable number of seniors enrolled in Medicare FFS.

—The same Blue Cross Blue Shield Association study described above found that

HMO enrollees wdth 12 different chronic illnesses and serious medical condi-

tions including cancer, kidney disease, and pulmonary disease reported being
very satisfied compared to those patients not enrolled in an HMO.

The Medicaid population also reports high levels of satisfaction with managed
care. A study published this past summer in the Journal of the American Medical
Association found that Medicaid recipients in New York City enrolled in network-

based health plans reported higher levels of satisfaction and better access to care

than those with old-style, FFS coverage. Health plan enrollees were much more like-

ly than FFS enrollees to have a usual source of care, to see the same clinician, and
to have shorter appointment and waiting times. On each of 14 satisfaction meas-
ures, health plan enrollees were more likely than FFS enrollees to give excellent

and very good ratings to their personal medical care.

CONCLUSION

At AAHP and at Geisinger, we take serious interest in studies that evaluate qual-

ity of care in health plans and other settings. We welcome the focus of this Sub-
committee on safeguarding the quality of health care services provided to Medicare
beneficiaries. As the many studies we have reviewed today illustrate, health plans

have an excellent track record in providing the highest quality of care to all the pop-

ulations we serve, including seniors. Geisinger Health Plans and other AAHP mem-
bers are taking the opportunity every day to improve their delivery systems and the

quality of care they provide to senior citizens. This opportunity is enhanced by the

organizational structures and operating procedures that our members have in place

to promote accountability and continuous improvement.
We want to assure you and the members of this Subcommittee that we are com-

mitted to working with you and our member plans to ensure that our philosophy

of care is evident in all we do. I am pleased to have had the opportunity to testify

before the Subcommittee today and on behalf of AAHP.

STATEMENT OF ROBERT MARGOLIS, M.D., M.P.H., MEMBER, BOARD OF
TRUSTEES, AMERICAN MEDICAL GROUP ASSOCIATION

Senator Specter. I would like to turn now to Dr. Robert
Margolis, chair, of the American Medical Group Association.

Dr. Margolis.
Dr. Margolis. Thank you, Mr. Chairman, for this opportunity

before you and the committee today. I am a physician. I have been
practicing internal medicine and medical oncology for the last 22
years in California, in Los Angeles. I am here today to discuss,

hopefully, more of a solution than an issue as to how we can get

to the right answer.
That is the role of the integrated provider organization. I would

like to start by saying that health plans do not practice medicine,

physicians do.

I will talk as I go through this about the doctor-patient relation-

ship and how the accountability at that point in the relationship

is where we can meet our dual vision of improved outcomes and re-

duce costs.

I am here as the chairman of the American Medical Group Asso-

ciation, and that association represents 300 of the most prestigious

and best brains in medical care such as the Mayo Clinic, Cleveland
Clinic, Oshner, Scripts, and the like.

I am also here as the chief executive of my medical organization,

Health Care Partners Medical Group, and I would like to speak
from that frame of reference. Our group is one of the largest groups
in California. It has 300 full-time physicians and 2,000 specialty
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physicians within the organization, and we manage close to

300,000 patients under both fee-for-service and managed care.

In that 300,000 patients, there are 40,000 Medicare HMO pa-
tients, risk patients in which we manage under relationships with
other health plans. We also incorporate many IPA networks within
our organization.
We have a very extensive experience in managed care. I say this

not to be immodest, but to suggest that what is possible in an inte-

grated provider organization is to deal from a position perspective
on an equal basis with the health care plan in getting the appro-
priate accountability for both patient satisfaction, quality of care,

outcomes, and cost at the doctor-patient relationship.

The incentives and the things that you talked about with the
previous panel members can be established and worked out, the
physician relationship, so that you reward physicians not based on
withholding necessary care, but on the behaviors that are, again,

in alignment with the vision that we want and which I believe the
American health care system needs.
That is, to improve the care and health of our society, and so

that you can incentivize patients—I am sorry, physicians based on
quality of care, outcomes, patient satisfaction, access, and the like,

as well as elements of the cost of care that they deliver.

You can balance that in a way where you actually have the phy-
sicians aligned with the best incentives of providing the necessary
care at the most appropriate cost. When you bring this patient care
down to the doctor-patient relationship, the doctor is in the position

to be able to do the right thing, the thing that he or she has been
trained.

Again, I would like to stress that I believe that the difficulty that
we are having in this debate, in this conflict between cost and qual-
ity, is a significant issue of assuming that the health plan is actu-

ally the one that is empowered to deliver health care.

Indeed, if Congress in its wisdom can help to assure that the ac-

countability and the decisions related to health care are at the doc-

tor-patient relationship through a variety of means to assist in the
integration of provider systems through things that are ongoing

—

such as some of the measures to better define antitrust regulations,

through measures such as the provider-sponsored organizations,
which have been debated in previous sessions and I believe will be
debated in the coming session—then we will be able to empower
physicians and their health care teams.

PREPARED STATEMENT

Because it is not just physicians, it is integrated systems and
teams in order to do the right thing, to provide good, high-quality
care to the members that we serve.

Thank you for this opportunity.
Senator Specter. Thank you very much. Dr. Margolis. We will

have a chance in the dialog, Q&A, to pursue some of those lines.

[The statement follows:]

Prepaked Statement of Robert Margolis

I am Robert Margolis, M.D., Chair of the American Medical Group Association
Board of Directors. I am Managing Partner and CEO of HealthCare Partners Medi-
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cal Group in Los Angeles. My medical group is one of the largest providers of Medi-
care managed care services in the country.

I am board-certified in internal medicine and medical oncology with a medical de-
gree from Duke University. I am happy to be here today and appreciate the oppor-
tunity to testify before the committee today.

INTRODUCTION

Your letter inviting me to participate requested that I discuss how quality of
health care is being affected by practices of health maintenance organizations, in-

cluding specific references to incentives and disincentives to health care treatment
under HMO's. I would like to begin by saying that AMGA believes that any discus-

sion about managed care must focus on the integrity of the patient-physician en-
counter.

Patient care, despite all the talk about health plans and traditional insurers, is

the responsibility of physicians and other individuals providing care under their su-
pervision. Physicians are professionally accountable for the care their patients re-

ceive. HMO's do not deliver health care; doctors do. Insurance companies do not
practice medicine; physicians do. Medical decisions are made by physicians in con-
sultation with the patient and other health care providers as appropriate. Because
of this, the doctor-patient relationship is critical, and the integrity of this relation-

ship must be preserved.
Federal legislation and regulation must assure that quality of care and account-

ability for health care services resides with physicians and not with health plans,
insurance companies or HMO's.
Medical groups have an excellent record of providing the highest quality of care

to patients. AMGA asks that Congress keep in mind that the provision of health
care by medical groups must be distinguished from the non-medical business of in-

surance.

THE AMERICAN MEDICAL GROUP ASSOCIATION

The American Medical Group Association (AMGA) is the nation's premiere organi-
zation for high-quality, physician-led medical groups. Formed by the 1996 merger
of the American Group Practice Association and the Unified Medical Group Associa-
tion, AMGA now represents over 250 of the nation's most innovative and prestigious

medical groups and more than 40,000 physicians practicing in those groups.
Our membership includes many of the most highly-respected multispecialty medi-

cal groups in the country, including the Mayo Clinic, the Cleveland Clinic, Scripps
Clinic Medical Group, Permanente Medical Groups, MedPartners-MuUikin,
Healthcare Partners and many others. Our membership also includes those groups
of single specialty or primary care physicians that are held in the highest regard,

as well as, independent practice associations (IPA's). All of AMGA's members are
governed and managed by physicians: a factor that we believe is essential to the
successful delivery of high-quality, cost-effective health care.

AMGA is dedicated to the advancement of these integrated health care delivery

systems, and we are eager to work with the Committee and the nation's leaders to

find equitable solutions to increase Americans' access to the highest quality, afford-

able health care.

THE GROUP PRACTICE ADVANTAGE

The Committee is well aware of the revolutionary changes sweeping health care
financing and delivery in the United States. AMGA urges the committee to carefully

examine the financing, organizational structure and delivery of health services by
integrated, medical group practices. We believe that these systems are playing and
will continue to play a distinct and vital role in the American health care system.

Clearly, the increased emphasis on the costs and quality of medical care has cre-

ated the need for better management and more organization in the delivery of

health care services. For many years, integrated, medical group practices have rec-

ognized that in delivering health care, cost and quality are inseparable. As a result,

these systems have evolved and will continue to evolve into highly-sophisticated sys-

tems in which patient care is managed for the best outcomes by emphasizing the

value of teamwork—an interdisciplinary approach to patient care that focuses on
improving the functional status, quality of life and the health of patients.

In fact, the success of integrated group practices can be attributed in large part
to their shared mission and their unique culture. They share a commitment to co-

ordinated health care by providers concerned about prevention, education and man-
agement of chronic conditions, as well as the treatment of acute conditions. This
commitment has been at the heart of the group practice movement for several dec-
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ades. As a result, group practice patients benefit fi-om quality care management fos-

tered by an organized system of delivering care that encourages peer review, cross

training, professional development, and constant measurement of outcomes.
We urge this committee to take steps to encourage the development of integrated

delivery systems. Barriers to integration must be eliminated.

A COMMITMENT TO QUALITY

Much has been said about quality. The President is considering the appointment
of a managed care/quality commission. Congress recently enacted maternity length
of stay legislation, which for the first time ever, tells doctors how to treat their pa-
tients. And there are indications that this is only the tip of the legislative iceberg,

with signs that we shall see, in the 105th Congress, gag-clause legislation, mastec-
tomy length of stay bills, etc. It is a slippery slope and one we hope that the Con-
gress will be reluctant to scale. But AMGA understands the motivation for these
and other bills: the quest for quality healthcare.
AMGA would like to remina the Committee of that which you already know: True

quality in patient care cannot be mandated by any regulatory body. It can only be
realized when health systems are structured in such a way that incentives support
doing what is best for the patient.

AMGA's members have long been at the forefront in the quest for quality. For
many years, they have realized that quality management and outcomes research
must serve as the cornerstones of quality medical care. For our members, outcomes
measurement and research provides a scientific basis for patient care management.
In fact, the group practice setting is ideal for large-scale outcomes measurement and
the application of continuous quality improvement because care tends to be deliv-

ered in a comprehensive manner to large and stable populations.
Many AMGA members use their outcomes findings to define the best care man-

agement practices and protocols, which can be further developed and tested within
the groups. In fact, as organized systems of care, our medical groups have developed
complex and technologically advanced information systems that enable them to con-
stantly evaluate practice patterns to make continuous improvements. This work
leads to better treatments and outcomes for patients, and as a result, cost savings.
AMGA urges the Committee to recommend that Congress take steps to further

develop clinical information systems that support medical decision-making based on
scientific data on outcomes. In promoting quality of care, AMGA supports an ap-
proach that fosters credible, privately-sponsored outcomes research, relies to the
greatest extent possible on private accreditation to monitor quality and compliance
with standards; and supports establishing information with which consumers and
purchasers can make informed choices.

MANAGED CARE VS. CARE MANAGEMENT

Many of the criticisms leveled at managed care in recent months are neither con-
structive nor accurate. First, nearly all insurance products available to patients
today fall under the genre of managed care. Less than 15 percent of Americans out-

side of federal entitlement programs have pure indemnity style "carte blanche" med-
ical care. In addition, the explosion of health care costs which typified the 1970's,

1980's, and early 1990's has been stabilized through managed care techniques.
The media hype about physicians being paid to under treat and health plans

.

skimping on care to line the pockets of executives is purely anecdotal. In fact, there
is no objective evidence of an overall decline in quality under a managed care sys-

tem. On the contrary, there is evidence to suggest that, for the most part, the major-
ity of patients in managed care plans are highly satisfied with the quality of care
they receive.

In a voluntary initiative to measure and benchmark the quality of care delivered
in medical group practice settings, more than a dozen members of the AMGA have
created a normative database of patient satisfaction results. The results from this

project are being used for monitoring the patient care, external benchmarking and
physician quality improvement purposes. The survey instrument being used is de-
signed to assess the patients satisfaction with the accessibility and acceptability of
the care provided (Ware and Hayes, 1988; Davies and Ware, 1991). To date, the sat-

isfaction results from more than 42,000 patient visits have been aggregated for anal-
ysis. (See Attachment A.)

Although this data has not yet been published, an analysis of the database reveals
that patients in managed care plans rate their care as highly as the patients not
in managed care. The representation of payment methods in the database includes:

Medicaid/Medicare (23.8 percent), HMO/PPO (36 percent), Private Insurance (29.1

percent), and other (11.1 percent).
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Recent findings published in the Journal of the American Medical Association con-

clude that in an 11-year study of patients with rheumatoid arthritis, there was no
difference in either the quantity or quality of care received in fee-for-service versus

managed care settings. (Journal of the American Medical Association, October 2,

1996, Vol. 276. No. 13, page 1048.) We believe, with few exceptions, this reflects the

maturing managed care market as a whole.
Managed care, capitated, or prepaid care creates a unique patient/physician part-

nership that works toward better total health for individual patients and for the

community at large. Its built-in efficiencies and incentives have the potential to re-

duce costs and, therefore, provide more care for less money. The change from tradi-

tional fee-for-service to prepaid health care may seem to be difficult for some who
are familiar with the old system—which is warm and comfortable—but inefficient.

The fact is, Americans deserve a better health system; one with lower costs, greater

choice, and more control over personal health decisions. Managed care gives pa-

tients—working in partnership with their physicians—more responsibility for their

own health, which most Americans prefer.

Managed care opponents criticize the role of the primary care physician, falling

back on the ill-conceived "gatekeeper" term to suggest denial of access to specialists.

In reality, the purpose of the primary care physician is to provide a coordinated con-

tinuum of care, taking responsibility for the patient's complete care, providing pre-

ventive and acute care as needed, and coordinating specialist care. Primary care

physicians may be general practitioners, family physicians, internists, pediatricians,

or obstetrician/gynecologists—the same trained physicians to whom patients have
entrusted their care for years. Primary care physicians refer patients to specialists

when needed, just as they always have done. The difference is that their patients

do not see a multitude of doctors without their knowledge. This gives one physician

complete knowledge of the case and saves the cost of unnecessary specialist care.

Again, the focus is on the complete and appropriate care of the patient.

AMGA certainly recognizes that there is a growing public apprehension about
managed care. We continue to hear anecdotal evidence that patients are having dif-

ficulty receiving the care they need, which in turn fuels the perception that the bat-

tle against rising health care costs may have gone too far. We must remember, how-
ever, that managed care oft;en means a lot of different things to a lot of difierent

people.

AMGA would like to emphasize that our members define managed care first and
foremost as the management of actual patient care or care management in order

to provide the most appropriate, high-quality cost-effective care. To AMGA medical
groups, managed care can not be defined as simply the management of dollars.

In fact, AMGA represents systems that have adopted a variety of difierent pay-

ment mechanisms, including both fee-for-service and capitation. In fact, the medical
group practice mode of delivering health care existed long before the cost contain-

ment pressures of the past two decades. A commitment to coordinated health care

has been at the heart of the group practice movement for several decades. Even in

a fee-for-service context dominated by indemnity style insurance group practices

have embraced delivery systems of coordinated providers that manage patient care

using a multispecialty model.
Within AMGA, this shared view of the best way to care for patients is the com-

mon ground where medical group practices that have operated largely in a fee-for-

service context have come together with prepaid medical group practices. Managed
care techniques, including utilization review, quality improvement programs, case

management, capitated reimbursement of physician groups, reliance on primary
care and exclusive networks of carefully selected, integrated providers, have been
integral to many medical group practices long before managed care spread because
of cost pressures.

RESPONSE TO DR. WARE

AMGA read with great interest the recent studies by Dr. John Ware, Ph.D., and
others in measuring the strengths and weaknesses of medical care in various set-

tings. AMGA acknowledges and appreciates the work of these scholars. Dr. Ware's
results constitute good news for those who consider HMO's as a solution to rising

health care costs. Outcomes were equivalent for the average patient in HMO's as

in the FFS plans. However, he cautions policy makers that these results cannot be
generalized to high-risk groups and cannot be generalized across study sites. Clearly

more work is necessary, and as he states: "health care plans should carefully mon-
itor the health outcomes of these vulnerable subgroups."

Dr. Ware's study began in 1986 and was concluded with follow-up through 1990.

The MOS was an observational study of variations in practice styles and of out-
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comes for chronically ill adults in Boston, Chicago, and Los Angeles. "Results," he
says in the article, "should not be generalized to HMO or FFS plans in other cities

or rural areas."

The critical distinction that must be drawn is that outcomes studies yield evidence
of variation from site to site. Further investigation may yield important clues re-

garding processes of care which clearly offer measurable improvements in the health
status of patients.

AMGA physicians have found that quality outcomes measurements go a long way
towards assuaging the fears of our patients. As John Ware has pointed out, there
are populations within our health care system that are vulnerable and need to be
followed more carefully. For a number of years, AMGA's medical group practices
have been tracking potentially vulnerable groups of patients to assure that suffi-

cient attention is paid to undiagnosed health conditions and prevention.
For example, we have learned that 33 percent of patients with diabetes screen

positive for risk of depression. The data also show that those who screen positive
for depression have significantly lower average scores on all diabetic functioning
scores than patients screening negative for depression (See Attachment B.). Armed
with this information, clinicians treating patients with diabetes can direct services
toward diagnoox.ig and treating all underlying symptoms in addition to the diabetes
itself

AMGA has been at the forefront of measuring the success of Medicare managed
care plans. AMGA believes that as the measurement technology becomes more so-

phisticated, medical group practices will be able to amply demonstrate to everyone
that Medicare managed care plans provide equal or greater medical care.

Dr. Ware has asked the important questions: "What are the 'clinical' correlates
of changes in patient assessed functional health and well-being? What can health
care plans do to improve outcomes, and what specific treatments have been linked
to physical and mental health outcomes as measured by the SF-36 Health Survey?"
Dr. Ware enumerates the areas of clinical research where significant correlation has
been established between SF-36 scores of disease severity and treatment response.
As he states: "Identification of the clinical correlates of changes in physical and
mental health status warrants a high priority in outcomes and effectiveness re-

search." It is very important to take note of the final comments of the article: "The
contrast between results reported here for high-risk patients versus results reported
previously for the average patient underscore the hazard in generalizing about out-
comes on the basis of averages. This is why quality improvement initiatives focus
on variations rather than only on usual performance. Patient-based assessments of
outcomes are likely to add significantly to the evidence used in informing the public
and policy makers regarding which health care plans perform best—not just in
terms of price, but in overall quality and effectiveness."

MEDICARE MANAGED CARE

AMGA appreciates the opportunity to be heard on the many changes occurring
in Medicare managed care. Many of AMGA's medical group practices have Medicare
managed care programs. AMGA believes that Medicare managed care provides
health care at quality equal to or superior to that of fee-for-service and with the
added benefit of less administrative hassle to both the physician and the patient.

Medicare is one of the fastest growing segments of the managed care markets.
Competition for Medicare enrollees has increased further with the expansion of the
Medicare Select program, and the addition of other new Medicare options. The mar-
ket is expected to grow even more competitive in the near future if Congress per-
mits providers to go directly at risk for Medicare enrollees as participants in pro-

vider-sponsored networks (PSN's). AMGA would like to point out some of the
strengths and weaknesses of the Medicare managed care program that our medical
group practices see on an almost daily basis.

CHOICE

AMGA's medical groups know that "choice" is probably the single most important
consideration for Medicare beneficiaries when thinking about joining an HMO.
Many Medicare beneficiaries see HMO's as limiting their freedom of choice. Some
Medicare Beneficiaries see joining an HMO as losing control over such things as the
selection of their doctor and how long they stay in the hospital.

In order to respond to this, AMGA medical groups are improving their appeal to

seniors by developing the broadest possible network of providers. In order to offer

enrollees more choice, other Medicare managed care plans have developed product
alternatives such as a Point-of-Service (POS) product. This alternative allows mem-
bers the option of receiving services outside of the HMO's health care network for
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specified services in exchange for higher coinsurance, co-payments or deductibles. A
POS benefit may make a Medicare risk plan more attractive to those who wish to

be treated by an out-of-network provider.
However, managing a POS product presents several challenges to both the medi-

cal group and the HMO. To be successful, a medical group must have the capacity
to effectively manage the utilization of out-of-network services and associated costs.

A plan must be able to track who is going out of the plan's established network,
the types of services received and the costs of the POS benefit. And enroUees must
be educated about all costs and possible financial risks associated with using a POS
benefit. I should add, however, that as networks grow larger, the overall benefits
of a POS product may become more one of perception.
And so, the market is driving more health plans to offer POS options. With an

investment of time and capital, POS options have been highly successful—even
though AMGA's experience is that Medicare HMO beneficiaries rarely utilize their
rights to go out of network. Still, AMGA recognizes that this added benefit can be
comforting to some beneficiaries with little or no experience in managed care. How-
ever, because of the high costs to some medical groups to establish POS options,
AMGA would oppose a federal statute, mandating that POS options be required by
law. POS options should be a voluntary response to market demands.
Between the growing size and extent of provider networks and the development

of POS products, AMGA believes that the markets are responding to the desires of
Medicare beneficiaries for more choice in the selection of Medicare managed plans.

COVERAGE

The next factor in analyzing Medicare managed care which AMGA would like to

address is the issue of "coverage." Recent studies by AARP and HCFA conclude that
Medicare fee-for-service covers only 50 percent of a beneficiary's total health care
needs. Therefore, the vast majority of Medicare beneficiaries must purchase some
form of coverage to supplement services covered under Part A and Part B.

Even though recent federal laws require the standardization of Medigap policies,

many seniors remain confused over the scope of Medicare and supplemental policies.

Many of AMGA's medical groups have found that Medicare managed care generally
offers seniors with a greater level of coverage than their supplemental policies.

Many Medicare managed care plans offer coverage for dental, vision and prescrip-
tion drugs—three areas which Medicare fee-for-service does not cover.

AMGA's experience has been that as seniors become more aware of the coverage
afforded through most HMO's, the attractiveness of an HMO option increases. Still,

many seniors continue to worry that HMO's have too great an incentive to withhold
needed care to reduce the cost of care. This is a problem that AMGA physicians
have attempted to face.

CONVENIENCE

One of the most common concerns that AMGA's medical groups hear from Medi-
care fee-for-service patients is that they are confused by the Medicare intermediary's
paperwork and administrative processes. Thus, Medicare managed care was de-
signed with the intent of reducing considerably the number of forms that must be
filled out. AMGA has received considerable, positive feedback that reduced paper-
work is a significant convenience and one of the greatest strengths of a Medicare
managed care plan.

Patients are also attracted to the Medicare managed care concept because of the
idea that they have "one stop shopping." That is, one medical group practice pro-
vides all health care services—often in one location. This is another core strength
of the program. AMGA is made up of physicians—of many specialties—who practice

together, believing that this is the best way to provide care. Our medical group prac-
tice philosophy naturally complements the desire of patients to have health care
provided—as much as possible—in one location.

COST

AMGA medical group practices see on an almost daily basis that seniors usually
live on fixed incomes. For this reason, "cost" is another factor that AMGA would
ask the Committee to keep in mind. Medicare managed care can be provided to

beneficiaries in such a way that saves beneficiaries' financial resources. According
to HCFA, nearly two-thirds of all Medicare managed care plans currently offer a
zero premium product. This is a 40 percent increase in the last five years.

But it is interesting that zero-premium plans have sometimes raised concerns
among seniors. Many of our medical group practices have found that our physicians
must spend considerable time educating beneficiaries who do not understand how
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a plan can deliver good health care without charging some kind of premium. This
is especially true in areas with little or no experience in managed care.

Payments to Medicare managed care plans should be risk adjusted to take into

account the higher costs of treating people with chronic and more expensive health
problems. Plans with a demonstrably higher share of beneficiaries with expensive
chronic diseases should be paid more. The Medicare program needs to move quickly
to improve its ability to adjust payment rates to reflect differences in the health sta-

tus of Medicare beneficiaries. Without better risk adjustment, medical groups with
excellent programs for patients with chronic diseases may be reluctant to offer their

own Medicare health plans for fear of adverse risk selection.

PROVIDER-SPONSORED ORGANIZATIONS (PSO'S)

AMGA supports legislation which would allow "provider-sponsored organizations"
(PSO's) to contract directly with HCFA to deliver medical services to Medicare bene-
ficiaries. Under most legislative proposals, PSO's would be required to offer all Med-
icare Part A and Part B services for a federally defined monthly payment. Under
these proposals. Medicare PSO's would be functionally similar to many state regu-

lated HMO's.
AMGA supports the inclusion of provider-sponsored organizations as a Medicare

option. Some organizations have criticized recognition of PSO's, arguing that PSO's
should be regulated as HMO's. On the other hand, AMGA believes that these PSO's
should meet federal quality and solvency standards but should not be subjected to

state licensure as HMO's in order to contract with HCFA. Holding PSO's to the
same solvency standards as insurers could create barriers to their entry into the
market.

CONCLUSION

In closing, AMGA believes that Medicare patients have unique needs and charac-
teristics. AMGA medical group practices have designed Medicare managed care
plans with these needs in mind. The needs of the Medicare population require a co-

ordinated care approach—which multispecialty medical group practices are perfectly

situated to deliver.

In short, AMGA believes that Medicare managed care works. Medical group prac-

tices have made great strides in improving the satisfaction of our patients. AMGA
looks forward to working with Congress in the future and the Association appre-
ciates the opportunity to testify before the Committee.

Attachment A

AMGA releases SPECIALTY RESULTS FROM RAPIDLY GROWING PATIENT SATISFACTION
REGISTRY

Alexandria, VA (October 20, 1996)—According to the results released today from
the American Medical Group Association (AMGA) Patient Satisfaction database, pa-
tients visiting Pulmonary Medicine physicians are more likely to be satisfied with
their overall care than patients visiting any other specialty in the database. The
other highest scoring specialties included Orthopedic Surgery, Cardiology, and Pedi-
atrics. AMGA Chief Executive Officer, Donald W. Fisher, Ph.D. states "AMGA mem-
bers are using these results to monitor the quality of care provided to their patients
and provide quality improvement benchmarks to their providers."
After just one year of activity, the members of the American Medical Group Asso-

ciation have successfully created a benchmarking database of patient satisfaction

observations. To date, satisfaction scores from nearly 45,000 patient visits to almost
one thousand physicians practicing 40 different specialties in 14 medical group prac-
tices have been contributed to the national database. To meet the increasing de-

mand for access to this database, AMGA has doubled the number of reporting cycles

available to members, added an optional data-entry scanning service and is cur-

rently exploring options to make the data available interactively through the World
Wide Web. AMGA provides benchmarking reports to each physician in the database
at several levels of aggregation. Physicians can compare their results to their own
group practice colleagues, all physicians nationally of the same specialty, as well as
against the full results of the aggregate database. In addition, physician-specific re-

sults are reported over time to provide a baseline for measuring their own improve-
ment against.

Based on projections given by the participating medical groups, AMGA expects
the database to exceed 100,000 patient observations by the first quarter of 1997.
"The extremely rapid growth of this project illustrates the dedication of group prac-
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tices to providing the highest quahty of care to their patients," comments Fisher.

Vice President of the Quality Management and Research Department, Juhe
Sanderson-Austin adds, "AMGA members have succeeded in creating a standardized

set of satisfaction benchmarks for all others to compare quality improvement initia-

tives against."

To collect the patient satisfaction data, patients were asked to complete a ques-

tionnaire during their clinic visit. The survey contains three questions designed to

assess accessibility of care, five pertain to the quality of care delivered, a single

question provides an overall visit rating, an assessment of general health and the

patients' opinion on recommending the provider to family or friends. Results are re-

ported to physicians in terms of the percentage of their patients who responded "Ex-

cellent" to each of the scaled questions.

At the aggregate level, 48.1 percent of the patients reported their overall visit

with the provider was "excellent". Results from practice specialties with at least 10

physicians sampled varied from a low of 41.8 percent 'excellent' to a high of 53.34

percent 'excellent'. The rank ordered specialty level results are: Occupational Medi-
cine—41.84 percent; Otolaryngology—43.05 percent; Gastroenterology—43.80 per-

cent; Infectious Diseases—43.80 percent; Dermatology—44.13 percent; Neuro-
surgery—44.98 percent; Psychiatry—45.63 percent; Internal Medicine—46.25 per-

cent; Family Practice—47.12 percent; Ophthalmology—47.88 percent; Urology

—

48.13 percent; Allergy/Immunology—48.26 percent; Obstetrics/Gynecology—48.74

percent; General Surgery—49.18 percent; Neurology/Adult—49.20 percent; Urgent^
Convenient CareAValk-in—49.35 percent; Nurse Practitioner--49.57 percent;

Rheumatology—49.92 percent; Pediatrics—51.29 percent; Cardiology—52.17 percent;

Orthopedic Surgery—52.56 percent; Pulmonary Medicine—53.34 percent.

To receive a faxed back information fact sheet about how to obtain a full copy of

the database results or a copy of the survey, please contact AMGA at (703) 838-
0033—ext. and request the "Patient satisfaction fact sheet".

Attachment B

diabetes and depression screen—may 1996

There is increasing concern about under diagnosis of depression in medical care.

To assist in using the Health Status Questionnaire in identifying individuals at risk

for depression, a depression risk screener was developed. The screener consists of

a single question, "In the past year, have you had 2 weeks or more during which
you felt sad, blue, or depressed; or when you lost all interest or pleasure in the

things that you usually cared about or enjoyed?" Those who answer yes screen posi-

tive for possible depression. Figure 1 presents the percentage of patients in each of

the OMC conditions, with sufficient data, who screen positive for depression.

Figure 1.

—

Depression Screen by Condition

Condition Percent

Diabetes 33.0

Asthma 27.4

Cataract 23.6

Hip 26.8

Diabetes and Depression Screening

Valid depression screener data are available from 1,373 (86.9 percent) of the 1,580

patients in the AGPA:OMC diabetes data base. There are no significant differences

between clinics in the proportions screening positive in diabetic patients. There are

significant differences by age, gender, and education. The relationship with age is

curvilinear where the proportion of those screening positive peaks in the fifth dec-

ade as seen in Figure 2.

Figure 2.

—

Age and Depression Screen for Diabetes

Age category Percent

20-29 35.9

30-39 39.1

40-49 40.9

50-59 : 35.0

60-69 30.1

70+ 24.6
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More females (36.1 percent) screen positive than males (29.0 percent) and those
with lower educational levels have higher proportions that screen positive as seen
in Figure 3.

Figure 3.

—

Education and Depression Screen

Education category Percent

<=8th grade 50.0
Some high school 34.9
High school graduate 34.9
Some college 34.3
College graduate 26.6
Any post-graduate 20.9

There are no significant differences by marital status or race, although the small
number of non-whites in the sample impairs the statistical power.
A higher proportion of type I (IDDM) diabetics screen positive (41.5 percent) than

type IPs (30.3 percent). Among type IPs, higher proportions screen positive as treat-

ment regimen intensifies as seen in table 1. However, there is no difference in aver-

age HbAlc levels by HSQ depression screen.

TABLE 1.—TREATMENT AND DEPRESSION SCREENER

[Screen result positive]

No. Percent positive

Treatment:

None/diet

Oral only

Insulin only

Combination

Clinical variables.—There are a number of clinical variables with significant dif-

ferences in the proportions screening positive depending on the patients' status (see

table 2).

TABLE 2.—CLINICAL VARIABLES AND DEPRESSION RISK SCREEN

Witti condition Wittiout condition

Variable

21
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FIGURE 4 —DEPRESSION SCREEN AND THE DIABETES SCALE SCORES '—Continued

Symptoms Positive screen Negative screen

Hypoglycemic 75.7 85.7

Sugar monitoring difficulty 67.5 69.5

Leg discomfort 71.2 86.2

Urinary 56.5 67.0

Visual 83.5 93.6

'Scale scores range from 0-100 with a higher score being better and were constructed from the diabetes question-

naire. For exact calculation and description of the scales please contact AGPA.

CONCLUSION

Any screening test has properties of sensitivity, specificity, and positive predictive

value (PPV), the last of which depends on the prevalence of the condition in the un-
derlying population. The PPV of this screener is estimated to be between 30 and
50 percent. This means that 50 to 70 percent of those screening positive for depres-
sion will not have clinical depression according to DSM-FV criteria. However, there
are indications that many of these people do have significant problems that are as-

sociated with lower levels of health and may lead to higher utilization and de-

creased satisfaction.

These data suggest that clinicians treating patients with diabetes should have a
high index of suspicion for depression and other psycho-social difficulties. Moreover,
there are certain sub-groups where the prevalence is even higher.

If you have any comments or questions regarding this report please contact

AGPA. Additionally, if you have any suggestions for future reports for any of the
AGPA:OMC studies please forward them to AGPA.

STATEMENT OF JOHN C. NELSON, M.D., AMERICAN MEDICAL ASSOCIA-
TION

Senator Specter. I would like to now turn to Dr. John Nelson
of the Board of Trustees of the American Medical Association. Wel-
come, Dr. Nelson, the floor is yours.

Dr. Nelson. Thank you, sir.

My name is John C. Nelson, M.D., and I am a practicing obstetri-

cian gynecologist from Salt Lake City, UT, and a member of the
board of the AMA. Today, I am pleased to offer our views on what
we believe is one of the most important questions that you in the
105th Congress will face, sir, how to safeguard the quality of care

for senior citizens.

To date, the health care debate has been on cost, quality, and ac-

cess; but, as you know, mostly on cost. Certainly, that has got to

be looked at. We are, indeed, spending a lot of money. We think
way too much of that debate has been focused on cost at the excep-

tion of quality. Let me assert, quality controls cost.

If you think not, as a gynecologist I need to diagnose and cor-

rectly treat my patient with the ectopic or tubal pregnancy before

that pregnancy ruptures when my patient might die. Conversely,
I do not want to be sticking laparoscopes or other instruments in

that patient if she does not need it. Quality and what we do is

what is going to control the cost.

Second, we are very concerned about the patient-physician rela-

tionship that has been alluded to. We know that patients want to

be able to trust their physicians.
You asked us to speak about Dr. Ware's study, and you have dis-

cussed that at great length. Let me simply share with you that

JAMA is a peer review journal. It took a very long time and a lot

of work for any article, particularly this one, to be published. We
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are very proud of that record and that high standard of quahty for

the journal.

I think one of the points we would draw attention to, sir, is the
idea that this simply is a wakeup call. Before we send patients

through any kind of care, it needs to be assessed very carefully for

its quality.

The AMA is neither pro nor con managed care. To me manage-
ment care means managing care, taking care of patients. To the ex-

tent that the system can give me better information to take care
of my patients, I salute that.

If that process or if that system disallows me to give care and
does not let me give the care my patient needs, I have great con-

cern about that. What we want to do is to make sure that we pick

out those issues where the quality is good and follow those, find the
ones that are bad and shun those.

As participants in managed care, which 80 percent of AMA phy-
sicians are, we are concerned about making sure that our patients

get the care that they need. We also would point out that the Medi-
care patient is clearly not average, being certainly older and often

sicker.

We have already talked about why it took so long for the data
to get out. Let me simply say that there was lots of work that need-
ed to be done before the study could be published.

I would also be very careful to remind us that we do not view
this, as perhaps we did years ago when we first heard some of the
evidence about tobacco, and just discount it. As you know, it took
some time for that work to be done. Now where are we with the
information we have?
You also asked us to address incentives and disincentives to

health care treatment or HMO's. We would recognize that any pay-
ment system can have incentives to provide care or not provide
care and affect the way that that care was given.

We support, therefore, placing limitations on physician incentives

in prepaid health organizations if those incentives were detrimen-
tal to patients. Of course, we would want them to be encouraged
if they are helpful to patients.

If the plans has incentives for a physician to limit needed health
care; that needs to be stopped. If it has incentives to provide appro-
priate health care, that needs to be encouraged. This occurs, of

course, by having full disclosure to patients about plan limitations

including incentives to physicians to limit care, et cetera.

We would like to, and hope there will be time in the Q&A to talk

about gag practices, not just gag rules. If you ask a group if they
have gag rules, they are always going to say no. I am here to tell

you that there are some very subtle things that occur which do, in

fact, have an effect on how patients treat physicians.
We know, too, again that the patient-physician relationship, re-

gardless of the payment system, is that which needs to be engen-
dered. We also commend HCFA for their work with Health and
Human Services on the little booklets they are putting out on help-

ing people to make better decisions in HMO's, and so forth. This
explains what needs to be dealt with.
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PREPARED STATEMENT

Finally, Mr. Chairman, we commend you for having the courage
of your convictions to hold this hearing on such an incredibly im-
portant subject. The bottom line for us, I think, is going to be re-

storing the care in Medicare, making sure that the quality of care

is there, irrespective of the plan that the patient chooses.

Thank you very much for allowing me to testify. I look forward
to your questions.

Senator SPECTER. Thank you very much, Dr. Nelson. I will pick

up the gag practices in the Q&A.
[The statement follows:]

Prepared Statement of John C. Nelson

Mr. Chairman and Members of the Subcommittee: My name is John C. Nelson,

MD. I am a practicing obstetrician-gynecologist from Salt Lake City, Utah, and a

member of the Board of Trustees of the American Medical Association (AMA).
Today, I am pleased to offer our views and suggestions concerning what we believe

is one of the most important questions the 105th Congress will face—how to safe-

guard the quality of health care provided to senior citizens. The AMA has long sup-

ported reforms that would promote quality and access to care for the elderly and
non-elderly by supporting the elements of patient choice, health plan standards and,

of course, patient protections in both the public and private sectors. The AMA be-

lieves that while the health care debate, to date, has been on cost, quality and ac-

cess, too much of the discussion has focused on cost and access, rather than quality.

We believe that only by preserving the patient-physician relationship can the qual-

ity of health care in America be maintained. As more and more Medicare patients

are selecting risk-based plans, hearings such as this one are especially important
to address concerns and allay unnecessary fears.

ware study sounds cautionary note

First, as you requested, we would like to address the research results published

by Dr. John Ware, and his colleagues, in the October 2, 1996, issue of the Journal
of the American Medical Association (JAMA) (which we would note for the record

is a scientifically peer reviev/ed and independently published journal).

As you know, the Ware study found that elderly patients and poor, chronically

ill patients eriroUed in managed care had inferior physical health outcomes com-
pared to those patients treated in fee-for-service settings. Clearly, this study should

be a wake-up call for all Americans concerned about the negative consequences that

can flow from managed care. For this reason, we concur with Dr. Ware that the re-

sults "sound a cautionary note to policy-makers who expect overall experience to

date with HMO's to generalize to specific subgroups, such as Medicare beneficiaries

or the poor," because of their often special and complicated health care needs. The
AMA believes that all of America's patients deserve to receive the highest quality

of care. We also believe that the elderly, the most predominant beneficiaries of the

publicly funded Medicare program, deserve to be safeguarded from potential harm
as the nation contemplates turning over the Medicare program to managed care.

This is not to say that we do not believe there is an appropriate role for managed
care in the Medicare program. There is such a role and physicians are actively par-

ticipating in these programs. Over 80 percent of our members participate in some
form of managed care arrangement—and for many patients, these plans work well.

As Dr. Ware has stated, "for the average chronically ill patient [the results of the

study] constitute good news for those who consider HMO's as a solution to rising

health care costs." As participants in managed care, AMA members view this posi-

tively. We are concerned, however, about Dr. Ware's conclusion that "outcomes were
equivalent for the average patient because those who were younger, relatively

healthy, and relatively well-off financially did at least as well in HMO's as in the

FFS plans." We know that not all Medicare patients may be as fortunate as those

described. The AMA believes that all patients, not just healthy, younger and well-

off patients are entitled to appropriate care.

Although we are aware that Dr. Ware's observations have been criticized by some
for being based on data gathered some time ago, we note that this is a
groundbreaking study attempting to explore areas, issues and data that had not

been previously studied. While we believe more study is needed, it is highly appro-
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priate to be concerned with the fact that the elderly may not be receiving the qual-

ity of health care they need, when they need it the most. In the past, managed care

representatives have trumpeted the results of published studies in JAMA that have
suggested that HMO members received more preventive care in that system of care

than in fee-for-service. The Ware study deserves to be considered in the same way.
The AMA believes that medical outcomes studies must be reported and discussed

because they provide us with a direction for future inquiry and allow us to build

a common base of knowledge. We believe that patients benefit from the reporting

and discussion of this information regardless of whether the results favor fee-for-

service or managed care.

AMA POSITION ON FINANCIAL INCENTIVES AND DISINCENTIVES IN PATIENT TREATMENT

Mr. Chairman, in your request for testimony you asked that we discuss "incen-

tives and disincentives to health care treatment under HMO's." The AMA recognizes

that any payment system has incentives that affect the manner and amount of care

given. The issue is not incentives, per se, but instead how incentives can best be

utilized to achieve both quality and cost containment objectives. The AMA has sup-

ported both legislative and regulatory efforts concerning Medicare and Medicaid lim-

itations on physician incentive plans in prepaid health organizations. As such, the

AMA strongly believes that full disclosure to patients of health plan limitations, in-

cluding incentives provided to physicians to limit care, is essential. With full disclo-

sure and understanding, the patient can make an informed choice. Without such in-

formation, the patient can only select plans blindly. Regardless of the payment sys-

tem, the AMA has long held the position that trust is at the foundation of the pa-

tient-physician relationship and that this is predicated on the principle that physi-

cians are dedicated first and foremost to serving the needs of their patients. Stem-
ming from this fundamental belief is the view that physicians have a duty to act

as patient advocates regardless of the setting. The AMA believes that this duty
must not be compromised by inappropriate financial or other incentives.

For example, the AMA strongly supported and continues to support the full imple-

mentation of the requirements mandated by the Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act
of 1990 ("OBRA'90") that prohibit pajonents designed to induce the physician to

limit or reduce medically necessary services to a specific individual. The purpose of

this and other relevant requirements contained in OBRA'90 was to protect Medicare
beneficiaries and Medicaid recipients from the withholding of necessary medical
services by regulating the use of financial incentives by prepaid health plans. Con-
sistent with the legislative mandate, the Health Care Financing Administration
(HCFA) published in March the final rule (with comment) which provides that phy-

sician incentive plans, "may not directly or indirectly, make any specific payment
as an inducement to reduce or limit covered medical services." "The AMA supports
this requirement because we maintain that a physician's ethical responsibility is to

advance the patient's best interests. We believe, therefore, that payments designed
to induce the withholding of medically necessary care are highly inappropriate. The
AMA believes that financial incentives are permissible only if they promote the cost-

effective delivery of health care and not the withholding of medically necessary care.

The AMA is on record in support of the rule published by HCFA as a good first

step in protecting patients. While we support this version of the rule, we are con-

cerned that HCFA is about to change the final rule so that it is no longer consonant
with the legislative intent. Specifically, under the law, if a physician stands to lose

more than 25 percent of his or her income under the managed care contract (be-

cause of referrals to specialists or other factors) the published rule requires that the

HMO provide reinsurance to the physician to limit his or her financial exposure,

thereby cushioning the incentive to undertreat patients.

It is ovu- understanding that HCFA is now poised to change the final regulation,

requiring only that the plans produce proof that stop-loss insurance exists, rather

than requiring that the plans pay for the stop-loss insurance. Apart from our unhap-
piness over a significant modification of the final rule by HCFA, we are concerned
that plans may now view this as HCFA providing them with the authority to con-

tinue the practice of using physician stop-loss insurance as a profit center by mark-
ing-up coverage provided to physicians for this essential patient protection. The
AMA believes that HCFA's original decision to have the health plan bear the ex-

pense of providing stop-loss insurance accurately reflects Congressional intent in

this area. Mr. Chairman, we urge you to discuss this matter with HCFA and ex-

press your concerns as well.
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GENERAL ACCOUNTING OFFICE REPORT HIGHLIGHTS PROBLEMS

Although the focus of this hearing is on the elderly, we would like to commend
to the Chairman the recent General Accounting Office (GAO) report requested by
Senator Bill Cohen (R-ME) entitled Managed Care Initiatives (GA0/HEHS-9&-
153R), which was released on September 25, 1996. This report details the various
tools managed care plans use to control costs and discusses recent state initiatives

that address public fears associated with managed care. While the report does not
assess the merits of the many state and regulatory actions concerning managed care
providers, the report states the obvious when it says "such state actions, however,
are normally taken in response to public concerns." Although Medicare is largely a
fee-for-service program. Medicare beneficiaries are moving increasingly to managed
care plans.

While the state experience with managed care is not an exact analogy, it does
offer a glimpse into the public's thoughts, perceptions and concerns regarding the
effects of managed care. As more of the elderly move into managed care programs
under Medicare, these concerns will be increasingly raised on the federal level. As
the GAO Report suggests, the public has an ongoing issue with specific managed
care practices in the private sector, including concerns that physician payment
methods may create incentives to underserve patients; that physicians have been
"gagged" by plans from disclosing necessary plan and treatment options; and that
plans have restricted the patient's choice of physicians and have limited access to

specialist care. We disagree with the insurance and managed care industry's charac-
terization of these important actions as "anti-managed care." Instead, because so
many of our member physicians participate in managed care, we believe many of
these state actions help to allay public fears and should therefore be considered
"pro-patient."

PATIENT PROTECTIONS NEEDED

The AMA believes that the one thing the recent health care debates (both health
system and Medicare reform) had in common is that Americans want to choose their
own physician and continue their relationship with their own personal physician. In
fact, some pundits have speculated that the 1992 Senatorial race in Pennsylvania
sparked this debate when the successful candidate ran on the slogan "if every crimi-
nal has a right to an attorney, shouldn't you have the right to a doctor?" The AMA
believes that while trust and choice should be at the heart of any reform proposal,
health plan standards and patient protections should be its backbone. We believe
that the more choices patients are afforded the more information must be provided
in order to give them the appropriate tools to make meaningful choices. The AMA
urges that plans be guided by the following principles: disclosure to patients of plan
information, rights and responsibilities; appropriate professional involvement in

plan medical policy matters; disclosure to patients of plan utilization review policies

and procedures; reasonable opportunity for patient choice of plans and physicians;
and, reasonable access to physicians and specialists.

DISCLOSURE

Plans should disclose to patients information on plan costs, benefits, operations,
performance, quality, incentives and requirements to potential and current enroll-

ees. In selecting plans, individuals need information not only outcomes information,
but also information describing how the plan operates. Beneficiaries also need to be
informed about their health benefits, what they must do to ensure that services are
covered, where and from whom they receive services, and how plans compare on
items such as quality indicators, patient satisfaction, cost control programs, and
grievance and appeals procedures.
Another GAO report requested by Senators Cohen (R-ME) and Pryor (I>-AR) enti-

tled Medicare; HCFA Should Release Data to Aid Consumers. Prompt Better HMO
Performance, was released last month (GAO/HEHS-97-23). The report suggested
that "none of the HMO-specific information HCFA routinely collects will be distrib-

uted directly to beneficiaries" and included a number of specific recommendations
to remedy this situation. The AMA believes that Medicare beneficiaries are entitled

to this information.
In addition, there are legitimate concerns with inappropriate market segmenta-

tion and marketing practices designed to attract healthy enrollees in the growing
Medicare and Medicaid programs. While plans should be allowed to benefit from
competition and their ability to constructively improve the health care delivery proc-

ess, they should not be allowed to seek out and cover only relatively healthy individ-

uals while avoiding the sicker, more costly elderly. Marketing practices need to be
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evaluated as well, and insurance companies should not be allowed to offer physi-
cians and physician groups inducements to reduce or limit medically necessary serv-

ices provided to patients. The AMA believes that there should be a minimum set

of provisions that plans must meet and enrollment procedures that plans must com-
ply with that are fair and avoid inappropriate market segmentation. We would be
pleased to work with you, Mr. Chairman, to develop these standards in the future.

As a federally funded program, it is important to ensure that there be some mini-
mum set of services that each plan provides with appropriate incentives for preven-
tive services. Plans should have flexibility as to how they provide the services and
should be able to enhance the benefit package to meet customer and market needs.
At the same time, plans also need to have arrangements so that enrollees can expect
reasonable access to all medically necessary and appropriate care.

DISCLOSURE OF PLAN POLICIES AND PROCEDURES

In order to guarantee fairness and ensure that necessary medical services are pro-

vided, procedures must be established that provide enrollees and providers with a
system to resolve disputes within the plan. In cases where the grievance or dispute
cannot be resolved within the plan, participants should be able to seek independent
means to address the problems. We are not confident that HCFA's current appeals
process adequately meets this goal. In addition, we believe that physicians involved
with Medicare HMO's should, as with fee-for-service physicians, have the ability to

appeal HMO denials.

Due to the nature of the patient-physician relationship, physicians should be al-

lowed to seek participation in plans. Physicians should also have the ability to ex-

amine with the plan the reasons why participation would not be continued, for ex-

ample, where involuntary termination occurs.

Mr. Chairman, we would like to take this opportunity to commend HCFA, work-
ing in conjunction with the Health and Human Services Office of Inspector General,
for recently publishing an important Medicare beneficiary advisory bulletin entitled,

"What Medicare Beneficiaries Need To Know About Health Maintenance Organiza-
tions (HMO) Arrangements: Know Your Rights." This advisory bulletin is an excel-

lent example of the type of important information Medicare beneficiaries should
have made available to them. In short, the advisory bulletin explains how bene-
ficiaries may get help in finding out an HMO's policies and procedures and where
to make complaints if any of their rights have been violated. We believe it is critical

that each new Medicare risk contract enroUee be provided with this booklet upon
enrollment in an HMO.

APPROPRL\TE PROFESSIONAL INVOLVEMENT

We believe that it is the duty of physicians to ensure that their patients receive
necessary and appropriate care regardless of the setting or method of payment in

which that care is delivered. To make certain that physicians are able to meet this

obligation, plans need to provide a process for meaningful physician involvement,
such as through a medical staff, in the development of medical policies of the plan.

It is also necessary for plans to have procedures and methods that ensure that high
quality care is provided, with some degree of flexibility afforded to plans in order
to encourage innovations in quality improvement and cost-effective care.

MEDICARE PEER REVIEW ORGANIZATIONS

The AMA continues to support HCFA's Health Care Quality Improvement Pro-
gram, which specifies an educational and nonpunitive role for Peer Review Organi-
zations (PRO's). Medicare PRO's will have an increasingly important role to play in

assuring the quality of care provided by Medicare managed care plans. Medicare
risk contract plans are required to contract with a PRO to review whether plan
services meet professionally recognized standards of care, including access to appro-
priate services and use of appropriate settings. Because risk contracts prepay for

services to Medicare beneficiaries, the PRO's are not conducting utilization review,
per se. By monitoring access to services, however, the PRO's are able to monitor po-

tential underutilization by managed care plans. Recent draft revisions to the PRO
Manual link quality in Medicare managed care to utilization by specifying that, in

managed care settings, "quality" includes questioning whether appropriate health
care services were withheld. This will, for example, allow PRO's to treat patient
complaints regarding service denials as quality complaints. The AMA supports this

revision because it offers patient protections in Medicare managed care settings. It

preserves the patient-physician relationship by enhancing the mechanism whereby
patients and physicians can seek to obtain services recommended by physicians, but
denied by plans.
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DISCLOSURE OF UTILIZATION REVIEW

In plan quality management systems and utilization review programs, it is nec-

essary that these programs operate to enhance patient care and are based on sound
scientific and medical information. Cost alone cannot be allowed to drive quality.

Those who are involved in final decisions should be knowledgeable and qualified in

the area they are reviewing. Procedures need to be fair and prompt.

AMERICAN MEDICAL ACCREDITATION PROGRAM (AMAP)

Because we believe all players in the health care system should be held account-
able, in June, the AMA's Board of Trustees approved the development of a com-
prehensive program for accrediting physicians to replace existing, duplicative

credentialing, office visit and profiling activities. This physician accreditation pro-

gram would become the quality standard for all public and private health plans.

This program is called the American Medical Accreditation Program (AMAP). The
program will have five basic components to assess a physician's performance on a

periodic basis including credentials, personal qualifications, environment of care,

clinical performance and patient care results. The accreditation would be recognized

by other organizations to meet their standards and replace multiple reviews of phy-
sicians. The AMA believes that AMAP will afford us the opportunity to do what we
have historically done best—to establish professional standards and develop a mech-
anism, through our ability as a national organization, to gain consensus of the rel-

evant parties and help patients.

THE NATIONAL PATIENT SAFETY FOUNDATION

The AMA is committed to increasing patient safety for the elderly and for all pa-

tients. Accordingly, the AMA recently launched a major new initiative dedicated to

ensuring that all patients in all settings receive health care services safely. In short,

the AMA has created the National Patient Safety Foundation (NPSF) to further en-

hance patient safety in light of the escalating complexity in the health care system.
To maximize prospects for success in the increasingly integrated health care envi-

ronment, we believe this endeavor must be a collaborative enterprise, involving rep-

resentation from every interested sector of the health care community. The NPSF
will address the issues caused by liability concerns and the increased public concern
for personal risk in all aspects of life. It is our hope that patients will see in our
effort the seriousness with which the AMA and its committed partners regard their

difficult and sometimes tragic experience, as well as our commitment to improving
safety for the patients of the future.

CONCLUSION

In conclusion, Mr. Chairman, thank you for the opportunity to testify here today.

We commend you for holding this important hearing. The AMA believes that safe-

guarding the health care of our senior citizens will be one of the most important
issues the 105th Congress will face. The AMA supports major modifications to the

Medicare program to increase choice for beneficiaries. In developing our proposal,

we have addressed concerns about the effect of certain systems of care on quality

of, and access to, necessary services. In supporting pluralism of delivery systems
and choice, we firmly believe that quality can be assured, assuming the appropriate
safeguards are enacted. The AMA stands ready to work with you, Mr. Chairman,
and Members of your Subcommittee on these important matters in the future.

STATEMENT OF LINDA PEENO, M.D., PATIENT ACCESS TO SPECIALTY
CARE COALITION

Senator SPECTER. I would like to turn now to Dr. Linda Peeno
representing the Patient Access to Specialty Care Coalition. Wel-
come, Dr. Peeno, and the floor is yours.

Dr. Peeno. Thank you, Senator Specter. I appreciate the oppor-

tunity to be here. My name is Linda Peeno. I am a physician. Over
the past 15 years, I have worked in medical management and eth-

ics, which has included positions of medical review and medical di-

rector and three prominent managed care companies.
I know how managed care plans operate, and I would like to

share with you some of the practices I have seen firsthand that
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managed care organizations use to exploit patients for the economic
benefit of some plans.

I am here on the behalf of the Patient Access to Specialty Care
Coalition, which is made up of over 120 national organizations rep-

resenting consumers and providers of medical services concern that
the focus of health care must be on patients and quality of their

medical care.

From my experiences, I can confirm that patients need, one, ac-

cess to doctors and specialists of choice; two, full disclosure of infor-

mation on all treatment options; three, a fair and expedient ap-
peals process; and, four, protections from the existence of gag con-
ditions. Here I would agree with Dr. Nelson, we are talking about
more than just clauses and financial incentives.

All patients should be guaranteed uniform protections and stand-
ards to ensure that they receive access to unrestricted quality care.

This issue becomes increasingly important for older Americans who
on the average have higher utilization rates and more needs for

care by specialists. The denial of access to appropriate doctors and
specialists can have fatal consequences.
For example, a recent study sponsored by the Agency for Health

Care Policy Research just this past month, shows specifically that
the morbidity rates for stroke victims that have been managed by
neurologists are far lower than the morbidity rates of patients
managed by general medical practitioners.

Although there are many ways that managed care organizations
can limit care, the most egregious way is when they rely on the
trust that patients have in their doctors and their belief in the doc-
tor-patient relationship.

Plans bank on the fact that patients trust their physicians and
do not yet question medical decisions and how they are constrained
by such things as the gag conditions and the financial incentives.
Given the age and socioeconomic profiles of most Medicare bene-

ficiaries, many tend to suffer from long-term conditions and require
complex treatments. In addition, these clinical needs occur in a
backdrop of other personal needs, loss of spouses, companions, or
friends, limited mobility, fixed incomes, and other conditions which
compound any other medical need they may have.
More seriously, there may be educational difficulties that restrict

the beneficiary's understanding of his or her medical options. Given
the changing nature of the business of health care, physicians are
facing incredible pressures not only to provide care, but to turn
profit for managed care organizations that provide their income.
As a physician, I find it completely unethical to demand that

medical professionals base their care on financial incentives or con-
siderations that induce them to withhold or deny care.

Even when patients are aware they are not getting the best care,

my experience as a medical director taught me that HMO's and
other managed care organizations often purposely use vague claims
and complicated administrative procedures to confuse and intimi-

date the more vulnerable patient populations such as Medicare
beneficiaries.

Now, while I applaud HCFA's quick response to correcting these
flaws in the appeals process for seniors, it is not enough. We need
baseline protections for quality of care. I am adamantly opposed to
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the current system whose financial success increasingly depends
upon withholding information, limiting choice, and eroding trust.

We are harming patients, physicians, and the reputation of the
American health care system. I think that the outcome out of this

hearing is that we should take an honest and a hard look at the
system we are creating, especially the serious challenges proposed
by denial of access and choice, restrictions on medical communica-
tion, existence of financial incentives to limit care, and insufficient
appeals process.

PREPARED STATEMENT

I urge Congress and the administration to pass laws that would
correct patient denial of access and choice and eliminate these con-
ditions that restrict physicians' communications and to implement
a fair and expeditious appeal process.

Thank you for your consideration of these issues.

[The statement follows:]

Prepared Statement of Linda Peeno

introduction

My name is Linda Peeno. I am a physician with training in Internal Medicine and
Infectious Diseases. For the past fifteen years, I have worked in medical manage-
ment and ethics, which has included jobs in three prominent managed care compa-
nies. In two of these positions, I was the Medical Director, charged with protecting
the interests of the plans through medical limitations. I have also been the Medical
Director of a community hospital whose primary patient base was Medicare bene-
ficiaries. I quickly discovered that all my work—whether hospital or health plan

—

involved giving medical validation to bottom-line demands. When I realized that
this was inherent to the work of a physician executive, I made an ethical decision
to leave the lucrative field of medical management and managed care to aggres-
sively pursue a role as a health care ethicist and patient educator. I am here on
behalf of the Patient Access to Specialty Care Coalition, which is made up of over
120 national organizations representing consumers and providers of medical serv-

ices. The Coalition members are united in their concern that the focus of health care
must be on patients and the quality of their medical care. I cannot overstate the
importance of a legislative solution to ensure that patients, especially senior citi-

zens, have complete understanding of their medical rights and access to the physi-
cians and care they need—from prevention to treatment.

SUMMARY

As a former HMO medical director, I know well the methods managed care orga-

nizations employ to achieve the lowest cost and the highest profits, often to the det-

riment of the patient. Since leaving my corporate work, I have dedicated my profes-

sional work to the reform of a system for which I am partially responsible for en-
couraging. This work is urgent, for during the past decade, we have witnessed the
birth of an industry increasingly removed from an3dhing resembling health or care.

We have entered an era in which health care is a complicated issue even for those
who know something about it. Certainly, it is now beyond the understanding of most
consumers and patients. Indeed, many Medicare beneficiaries do not understand
even the basic differences between traditional Medicare and HMO's and may con-

fuse HMO's vdth supplemental Medigap insurance (GAO report 10/23). That is why
I believe that all patients should be guaranteed uniform protections and standards
to assure that they are receiving unrestricted quality care, regardless of the plan
or type of insurance they are receiving. This issue becomes increasingly important
for older Americans, who on average have higher utilization rates and more need
for care by specialists.

As more people of all ages are moving into managed care, these practices are
causing increasingly negative consequences to patient's medical outcomes, as out-

lined in Dr. Ware's study. I witnessed this first hand in my ovm work. When we
are focused on short term economic gains as measured by diminished testing, de-

creased lengths of stay, and limitations to specialty care, we lose sight of the total
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patient need. Until we are able to do thorough outcome studies, we may never know
the real price we will eventually pay for these expedient controls. Dr. Ware's study
begins to give us valuable information by validating what I predicted in my own
work and subsequently found confirmed through patient stories. When particular
populations with specific needs are adversely affected by any health system, it is

time to make real changes. The fact that seniors enrolled in HMO's have worse
health outcomes than those in the Medicare fee-for- service plan is unconscionable.
With the focus for new business now on Medicare beneficiaries, managed care orga-
nizations must finally be made accountable for their actions before society incurs
more serious and higher costs in other ways.
My experience as a managed care executive taught me that HMO's purposely use

vague claims and complicated administrative procedures to confuse and intimidate
the more vulnerable patient population, such as Medicare beneficiaries. During one
of my jobs as a medical reviewer, I experienced firsthand the exploitation of Medi-
care beneficiaries as they were moved into a managed care plan. I was present dur-
ing many actuarial discussions, in which we were educated about the economic ad-
vantages of receiving fixed premiums from a population with a certain attrition rate.

Furthermore, this population could be relied upon to trust authority, especially med-
ical authority, and, we (the medical reviewers) were told it would be easy to manage
such a group and their doctors. Managed care organizations rely on this trust that
patients have in their doctors and their belief that doctors will always do what is

best for the patient. Unfortunately, I know the truth. Doctors, specialists and medi-
cal services providers are restricted in their ability to give care by cost-saving
"guidelines" enforced on them by the HMO's. Given the changing nature of the busi-
ness of health care, physicians are facing incredible pressures, not only to provide
care, but also to turn a profit for the managed care organization that provides their

salary.

Medicare beneficiaries require more sympathetic care than the average health
care consumer. Given the age and socioeconomic profiles of most Medicare bene-
ficiaries, many tend to suffer from long-term conditions and require complex treat-

ments. In addition, these clinical needs occur in a backdrop of other personal
needs—loss of spouses, companions or friends, limited mobility, fixed incomes, etc.

—

which compound any medical condition. More seriously, there may be educational
difiiculties that restrict the beneficiary's understanding of his or her medical op-

tions. Under fee-for-service. Medicare beneficiaries, or those caring for them, have
great control over the types of treatments available and there are no incentives to

withhold care. By enrolling in an HMO, beneficiaries are faced with significant dif-

ferences in the provision of benefits, premiums and networks of providers—a whole
system that is foreign to anything in their experience.

If all we do is simplify the managed care rules and regulations regarding claims
and appeals, we are doing a great disservice to the millions of older Americans now
enrolled in managed care.

It provides for no protections to vulnerable populations, as we continue to ration
care at the level of the individual, oft,en through deception and denial. And while
I understand that HCFA is now working to correct flaws in the appeals process for

seniors, it is not enough.
The central issue remains access to appropriate care and preservation of the

means to obtain it without obstacles. We must ensure that all health care consum-
ers including seniors are protected by uniform standards, and are assured access to

the specialists and treatments they need. A crisis of well-being and life is not the
time when one should agonize over issues of confidence, trust, integrity and compas-
sion.

Given the excesses of the past, I am not opposed to the managed care model. The
move toward coordinated, appropriate care with an emphasis on prevention and
maintenance of health should be a part of all health care reform. Moreover, any
health system should be well-grounded in a strong ethical foundation. However, as
a medical doctor and health care consumer, I am opposed to practices of managed
care organizations which result in the sacrifice of the well-being of the patient for

the sake of controlling costs. In addition, I am adamantly opposed to a system
whose success depends upon withholding information, limiting choice, and eroding
trust. This harms the patient and the reputation of the American health care sys-

tem. We must take an honest, hard look at the system we are creating, especially
the serious challenges posed by: Denial of access and choice; restrictions on medical
communication; existence of financial incentives to limit care; and insufficient ap-
peals process. I will examine each of these areas in turn to discuss how the quality
of care for Medicare beneficiaries is harmed via these and other managed care prac-
tices.



119

ACCESS AND CHOICE

Let US remember that when we are discussing Medicare beneficiaries we are talk-

ing about a vulnerable segment of the population who can easily be overwhelmed
by paperwork and bureaucratic institutions. Many older Americans are alone, with-
out family or a network of support. When combined with the possibility of a life

threatening or chronic illness, the irrational hurdles imposed by HMO's and other
managed care plans become daunting.
The financial success of managed care organizations is based on centralizing care

to improve cost efficiencies. By funneling all care through a primary care physician,

it is argued that the patient receives coordinated care. While it is important that
a patient's care be unified, I would argue that primary care physicians are more
often used as gatekeepers to control and limit care. For seniors this translates to

a restriction of treatments and referrals to specialists which they may need. The sit-

uation is worsened when many seniors are confused about whether or not the doctor

or specialists they are currently seeing are participating in their new HMO. The re-

quirement to change doctors, such as a cardiologist or rheumatologist, can be emo-
tionally traumatic and interrupt the cycle of care. A brief visit with a new doctor
can never replace the extensive information base and long term relationships built

carefully over years of experiences together.

Patients often find that even though they are allocated a doctor, each time they
visit they may see a different physician, as frequently whole practices are co-opted

by an HMO. In such a setting, doctors are given guidelines or incentives to ensure
that certain numbers of patients are seen per hour, per day or per week.

In a national survey conducted last year by the Patient Access to Specialty Care
Coalition (September 1995), three out of four Americans aged 50 and over said they
would not join a Medicare managed care health plan without the freedom to con-

tinue to see their current doctor or turn directly to a specialist when they become
ill. I understand that managed care is a viable solution for containing health care

costs, but for Medicare beneficiaries there must be an effort to ensure care is deliv-

ered with a minimum of obstacles.

More than half of Medicare recipients have chronic conditions which are more
suited to specialist care. Studies have shown that patients under specialist care re-

cover more quickly and effectively and can save money. For example, older people
who suffer a stroke have a better chance of survival if they receive hospital care

from a neurologist rather than a general internist (Duke University's Center for

Health Policy Research and Education, 11/05/96). To date, HMO plans for Medicare
patients, have failed to adequately address special needs of seniors with chronic con-

ditions and special socioeconomic needs. Whatever the plan, choice must remain pre-

eminent.This can occur by mandating a point-of-service option that would enable pa-

tients to seek medical attention from specialists whose care they may need or

choose.
Of course, this must not include prohibitive co-payments or other economic dis-

advantages that would defeat the purpose. In this way, beneficiaries would not be
required to disenroll in order to receive the kind of care to which they are entitled.

Quality of care requires freedom of choice. If seniors are satisfied with the care they
receive inside their Medicare managed care network, they won't choose to access

doctors and specialists outside the group. But without this freedom, seniors are

locked into a rigid system which may or may not give them the kind of care they
need and deserve.
Most importantly, it is affordable to give beneficiaries choice of doctors. Study

after study has shown that a patient's right to choose can be preserved while saving

the Medicare system money at the same time. The Congressional Budget Office tes-

tified last year that, "The POS option would permit Medicare enrollees to go to pro-

viders out of the HMO's panel when they want to, and yet not need to increase ben-

efit costs for either the HMO or Medicare."
Ensuring choice means ensuring informed choice. This committee could do seniors

a great service by investigating managed care marketing techniques. Although this

is a problem across the entire managed care industry, the glossy marketing lit-

erature and warm advertising that HMO's use to recruit seniors is especially mis-

leading. The massive profits generated by managed care are fueling this drive to

recruit Medicare beneficiaries. However, this advertising does not provide the

consumer with the appropriate information to make an informed decision. Attractive

marketing schemes promise free services, prevention measures, and ease of use,

while avoiding vital information about what happens when illness strikes. Seniors

are rarely, if ever, told what it means to have a physician who functions as a gate-

keeper, or the implications of a restricted network, much less the meaning of some-
thing critical like medical necessity determinations. And while a hallmark of our
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system is 'Tsuyer beware," I would argue that health care delivery must be viewed
as more than a business. When the choice of plans can mean the difference between
staying healthy or suffering, we must ensure there are proper regulations to protect
consumers. As the recent GAO report concludes that Medicare beneficiaries need:
—Standard formats and terminology in HMO's informational materials to curb

confusion and provide appropriate information;
—Benefit and cost comparisons charts with all Medicare HMO options available

for each market area to provide an overview of all plan options; and
—Wide distribution of HMO's disenroUment rates, complaint rates, and summary

results of HCFA's site monitoring visits to ensure self-regulating mechanism for

HMO's to follow.

A recent Patient Access to Specialty Care Coalition national omnibus survey
found that over half the respondents felt that they did not have enough information
about how their health plan operated. As the August 1 Institute of Medicine report
suggests, the number of health plan options should be expanded, but only after the
federal government and insiu-ers take steps to make all health plans more account-
able and understandable to the elderly. Many of the 70,000 Medicare beneficiaries

who enroll in managed care plans each month do not have enough information to

choose the best plan or to understand their coverage after they have enrolled.

GAG CLAUSES

Managed care can be better described as managed silence. Despite claims less

than six months ago from the American Association of Health Plans at a Ways and
Means Committee hearing that gag clauses do not exist, prominent managed care
companies, such as Humana and U.S. Healthcare, have publicly banned these provi-

sions from their contracts. While I approve of these moves, this is only the first step.

Even without explicit gag clauses, there are still contractual conditions that create
implicit gag conditions. We need uniform protections, as the previous Congress tried

to enact, to abolish gag rules—explicit and implicit—that destroy the heart of medi-
cal communication. As a former HMO employee, I know that these control mecha-
nisms will continue to exist without legislation.

We are learning daily how managed care succeeds to the extent that it manages
physicians—through financial incentives/disincentives, provider profiling and utili-

zation standards, stringent medical policies with medical necessity determinations,
and network limitations. When primary care physicians are restricted additionally
in what they can tell their patients about their finances or available treatment op-
tions and referrals, the care of patients can be seriously endangered. As a medical
director, I knew my job depended upon tight controls of access and distribution.

When patients or physicians requested costly care to specialists and outside provid-
ers, I had to deny these services to avoid black marks on my own performance as-

sessment. Medical/economic management is much easier—and I was a more "suc-

cessful" medical director—when physicians are silenced and patients are ignorant.
I am not the first to point out the devastating effect this has had on the doctor/

patient relationship. Our national survey found that 97 percent of respondents felt

they had the right to know if their doctor had such a contract and over 80 percent
agreed that they would not sign up for a plan, if they knew their doctor was re-

stricted by such contracts. When consumers understand what is happening, we will

see a revolt against such a system.
On this current course, we are undermining the very essence of the profession of

medicine. Counting college, I have had nearly fourteen years of advanced education.
Most physicians train 7-8 years to do their work. Some specialties require as much
as 11-12 years of medical school and residency aft;er college. When individuals and
society invest this much time and resources in training, that professional medical
opinion and judgment should be valued. When we turn around and discount that
training and professionalism, through gag clauses and other mechanisms then it is

as if we have intentionally destroyed qualified judgment. When HMO's and man-
aged care organizations reduce medicine to technical manuals administered by
medically undertrained, and even untrained, workers and physicians practicing from
a distance, they devalue more than the physicians. They make a mockery of the care
of patients.

FINANCIAL INCENTIVES AND DISINCENTIVES

The bottom line of managed care is cash not care. I know this from my previous
work. Saving money is often put ahead of saving lives. The point of greatest control
lies with the gatekeeper. The most effective means to do this is through capitation.

Under this payment arrangement, primary care physicians are paid a fixed amount
for Medicare beneficiaries, regardless of the number of medical services rendered.
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It is therefore not surprising that doctors will restrict the amount of care they pro-

vide to patients—after all this is the intended goal. Whether the return is small or

large, physicians make every decision conscious that any expenditure diminishes the
pool. Since the line between unnecessary and necessary care is not as clear as non-
medical executives would like to believe, we do not know when it is crossed. We do
not know the myriad of instances of daily, added misery created by delaying or with-

holding appropriate care.

Knowing the conditions under which a treating physician is making decisions is

intrinsic to informed consent—a basic tenet of medical ethics. Our survey found that

95 percent of respondents felt they had the right to know if their doctor had a con-

tract containing financial incentives to encourage the doctor to limit the type of care.

It should be of no surprise to anyone that most patients would not feel they could
trust a physician who no longer puts their best interest primary. The essence of the
doctor-patient relationship is destroyed.

We cannot perpetuate the myth that physicians will somehow do the right thing.

I was party to the HMO contract design, especially for physicians. It is common
knowledge in the health care business that few physicians read, much less under-
stand, most of the terms of the contracts they sign for HMO's and other managed
care organizations. Even if they did, they have little bargaining power, and virtually

no room for significant negotiation. It is economic suicide for a physician to be ex-

cluded, whether by choice or force. The increasing economic vulnerability of most
physicians, make them greater prey for shocking contractual conditions. I have seen
contracts in which physicians were capitated, paid additional bonuses for added
cost-saving, and then, if those incentives were not enough, they were penalized eco-

nomically if the plan lost money. How can a physician practice under such condi-

tions?

As we now know, health care is a business that in order for physicians to stay
employed, they are forced to accept HMO practices often against their better judg-
ment. Just recently, I attended a session on managed care for primary care physi-

cians for continuing education credit. The entire three hour session focused on the
economics of managed care and how to make it work for your practice. There was
no mention of clinical or ethical issues surrounding this new way of doing business.

The patient is quickly becoming an asset to the degree that he or she brings pre-

mium money into a pool, and a liability to the degree that the pool is depleted. In-

stead of talking about the clinical management of patients, physicians now attend
meetings on the economic management of those potential black holes of care.

APPEALS PROCESS

Even when people are aware that they are not getting the best care, there are
often no clear cut avenues of appeal within the managed care environment. In fact,

the very act of appeal may be a foreign notion to persons who still think that they
can trust the decisions of their insurance company and their doctor. I support efforts

to ensure that an easily understood grievance process is part of every managed care

plan. This is especially important for disadvantaged and vulnerable populations.

Many patients with special needs are accustomed to encountering systems of au-

thority that are unwieldy and unapproachable. The poor and elderly are very likely

to capitulate to medical management decisions regarding care without ever realizing

that appeal is available, or, if they do, understanding how to go about doing it.

When increasing numbers of these vulnerable populations are forced, from cost-sav-

ing changes in Medicare, into managed care plans, they potentially will suffer great-

ly. These vulnerable populations are often the least equipped to adapt to the chang-
ing health care. We may never know the true extent of these changes, unless the

grievance process is simple, accessible, open and fair.

As a medical director, I routinely denied patients treatments or specialist visits

because I did not have sufficient time nor adequate information to fully review
them. Initially, I justified this with my belief that if the patient's need was really

great, then the patient could appeal the denial and receive the necessary care. What
amazed me, was that patients rarely appealed. It has taken me years and many
conversations across this country to understand that most managed care members
do not know about the availability of appeal, and the ones who have accessed it felt

that it was a sham.
In addition, I was part of the corporate strategy to establish complex rules for au-

thorizations, referrals and network availability in order to make "technical denials"

possible (e.g., failing to go through convoluted procedures set out in a "certificate

of coverage," which we knew few persons ever read, would be grounds for denial of

payment).
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As the present system stands, many plans have unfair, complex and lengthy ap-
peals processes. It is not surprising that most patients do not appeal HMO deci-

sions. For Medicare beneficiaries the decision to appeal is even more intimidating.

The reasoning is simple: patients trust their doctors' judgment. This is precisely the
premise that the HMO's exploit. For those few patients who do appeal, they encoun-
ter countless obstacles. Often the process is incredibly lengthy. A patient may be
in significantly worse health by the time the conflict is resolved. Some plans impose
time limits on the how late the claim can be submitted, in addition to requiring
complex and lengthy forms be completed. Furthermore, many patients are unaware
that HMO's do not maintain independent appeals boards which essentially results

in the fox guarding the chicken coop. As a medical director who denied claims, I

also was responsible for reviewing them during the appeals process. Despite my con-

siderable efforts to encourage the creation of a position on the appeals board for a
consumer/patient representative, none of the managed care organizations with
whom I worked considered this addition as a benefit to its members. In fact, it was
something to be avoided, for not only would it have introduced outside objectivity,

it would have meant the internal processes, over calculated to the detriment of con-

sumers, could potentially become public.

This reiterates my point that HMO's and managed care organizations know their

practices intimidate and confuse patients. A recently released report by the Medi-
care Rights Center (10/15/96) found that a vast number of Medicare beneficiaries

are wrongfully denied coverage of health care services as well as foregoing necessary
care because they do not understand their appeal rights.

I maintain that all patients have the right to a fair and expeditious appeals proc-

ess. The process should be well-known and readily available. It should include out-

side members and some means to make external assessments, to insure independent
attention to member and provider complaints. The process by which plans handle
complaints and their resolutions should be standardized, as well as publicly avail-

able to enable consumers to make fair and informed assessments of plans' perform-
ances.

CONCLUSION

I know the managed care system from the inside. As a physician, I climbed the
HMO ladder only to find my primary responsibility was not the health care of my
members, but the profitability of my employer. I know the dangers to patients are
real. Although many people are quick to extol the virtues of managed care: the ease,

the affordability, and the focus on prevention of illness and regular check-ups. The
real test comes when a patient is sick and requires extensive or expensive care. A
twenty-first century health care system should be measured by its preventive meas-
ures, as well as its expeditious and compassionate care of illness and disease when
it strikes.

Most of the technological breakthroughs in medicine have occurred in the United
States, where the innovation and expertise of our physicians has made the Amer-
ican system the best in the world. Let's keep it that way. We must not let the busi-

ness of health care overshadow the delivery of health care. We must not gag doctors
or penalize them for speaking their minds on treatment issues. We must not reward
physicians for withholding care and punish them for giving it. We must ensure
there are adequate protections for doctors and patients to ensure that affordable,

high quality health care remains the norm, and not the exception for patients of all

ages.

Thank you for your consideration of these issues.

Senator Specter. Thank you very much, Dr. Peeno. Beginning
with your testimony, you refer to vague provisions which deny ac-

cess. Can you be a httle more exphcit or perhaps illustrate the kind
of a vague provision you have in mind?

Dr. Peeno. Well, the nature of managed care is to manage care,

you know, the physicians who deliver it, and the patients who re-

ceive it. You know, in my experience as a medical director, my job
was to create both covert and overt ways to limit physicians' deci-

sionmaking and limit access for patients to specialists.

Senator Specter. Where are you the medical director?

Dr. Peeno. Well, I am no longer the medical director.

Senator Specter. Where were you?
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Dr. Peeno. I was at one time with Humana, I was with Blue
Cross-Blue Shield of Kentucky, and I was a medical director of one
of the plans managed by a major managed care company out of
Minnesota, Partners.
Senator Specter. When you talk about the Congress enacting

legislation, do you have anything specifically in mind? You heard
the testimony of Dr. Ware and Dr. Wilensky telling us, in effect,

keep out. What do you think of that?
Dr. Peeno. Well, I would disagree. I think that the managed care

processes have evolved to a point where somebody has to intervene.
The most appropriate place, I think, is legislatively in order to pro-

tect the American public. Consumer protections do not work be-

cause we have very few consumer protections that apply to the
kind of experiences that consumers have.

Senator Specter. What did you think about legislation requiring
at least a 48-hour stay for a mother having delivered a child?

Dr. Peeno. Well, I think it is a sad commentary that the govern-
mental body of this countr}'^ has to get into making that kind of leg-

islation, but I certainly applaud it. I can share experiences and sto-

ries of patients who have been significantly harmed by managed
care plans restricting prenatal—I mean, postnatal care.

Senator Specter. What do you think about the limitations on the
hospitalization on mastectomies?

Dr. Peeno. Well, again I think, you know, it brings up the same
issue. I mean, a governmental body should not be involved in mak-
ing these kinds of decisions. It is, I think, a testimony to how far

the business of health care is intruding into the real care of pa-
tients.

I mean, we should be making decisions about patient care based
on the individual patient's needs, the conditions, and all of the
kinds of factors that are involved in that particular need, and not
according to some sort of rule or average determined by the indus-
try or, you know, God forbid some legislation that has to come in

a State or Federal level.

When we push those things so far that we need to intervene in

order to protect the public, I think we are going to have to do that.

Senator Specter. Let me make a comment to the panel as a
whole, which I made earlier, that the subcommittee would be very
interested in any specifics you have on the application of the so-

called "gag rule," the hard facts, as to where we are going or the
hard facts on the limitations of medical care where the profit incen-
tive is excessive.

[The information follows:!

Management by Impediment: Implicit Conditions of Physician Control and
SOME Implications for Patient Care

introduction

Imagine this as a front page story in a national newspaper: We have a critical

natural resource, which millions of dollars have gone to develop. This resource is

vital, for ultimately every human life will need it in some way at some point in time.

The public comes to know that it is being misused and even wasted. Would there
be an outcry? Of course.

Now consider this scenario: we take the best and brightest college students and
educate them for at least eight more years in one of the most rigorous professional

programs of any field of study. We invest millions of dollars in their training. We
grant them the privilege to enter into the deepest of human relationships—literally
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giving them power over life and death. We test them, hcense them, monitor them,
and continue to educate them—for the field in which they have entered changes con-
stantly. These individuals are a precious resource, for indeed one only has to look
at societies in which such professionals are poorly trained to understand this. Now,
imagine that we take these valuable individuals and begin to constrain their knowl-
edge, their decision-making, their actions—in effect eroding our meticulous and ex-

pensive investments. Should there be outrage here too? Certainly.
Why then are we allowing this to happen to the profession of medicine? Not only

does it make little sense, it may in fact represent an act of suicide by the society

which permits it. As we learn daily from ecology, a vital system is not easily re-

placed, if it can be at all. Surely we cannot continue to change the practice of medi-
cine without inducing serious, and possibly irreparable, consequences.

I realize that all professions need to be monitored and regulated by some means,
and I do not want to appear to claim that the practice of medicine should be exempt
from any sort of restrictions. My concern, especially for this analysis, is to help un-
derstand how we are eroding the profession of medicine to the detriment of the prac-
tice and the care of patients by some managed care practices. This can be best un-
derstood by examining the explicit, as well as implicit, impediments used to control

physician decision-making and actions under the system we have come to know as
managed care.

Despite the current conflict in health care, there is one indisputable fact: we have
entered fully into the "managed care" era of medicine. According to a leading text-

book on "managed care," this term describes a health system which uses "financial

incentives and management controls" to direct patients to "efficient providers who
are responsible for giving appropriate medical care in cost-effective treatment set-

tings." This same source, considered an industry textbook, states that the goal of
such a system is to manage patients and physicians, by redefining what is best for

the patient and how to achieve it economically. There is no subterfuge here. To
work, managed care must alter the decision-making of physicians by interjecting

complex management methods into the doctor-patient relationship.^

With this kind of explicit statement of purpose, why is there little investigation
into the methods of management? From the standpoint of a business only, there are
certain principles by which practices and consequences of management can be evalu-
ated, such as honesty, fairness, integrity, disclosure, trust, accountability. No
human endeavor is free from ethical considerations, especially management, which,
by its nature, involves directing or controlling something toward an end—an activity

fraught with ethical questions. From the choice of end to the choice of means to

achieve that end, the way is laden with ethical issues. There is no business now
in which can be clearer than that of medicine and healthcare.

In the pre-managed care days, the division between medical delivery and payment
was more distinct. Without getting into whether this separation was good or bad,
we can discuss the mechanics of how clinical care occurred. Let us take a simple
case of chest pain in an aging male: He experiences a disturbing change in his

health and seeks the advice of a physician. His physician takes a medical history,

does an exam, and works through a differential diagnosis, moving from the most
acute and serious possibilities to the less urgent causes for the complaint. Based
upon the physician s assessment of likely causes, he or she may treat the patient
conservatively, suggesting dietary and lifestyle changes. If the physician believes
there is urgency then he or she may order laboratory tests or diagnostics studies
to rule in or out the more serious, life-threatening diagnoses. As a result of addi-
tional information gained during this phase, the physician may choose to admit the
patient to the hospital for a procedure or for surgery. All of this proceeds through
an analysis dependent upon the clinical acumen and expertise of the physician. Pre-
suming the patient has health insurance, at some endpoint claims are submitted to

the insurance company for payment. Of course, we know that physicians are no dif-

ferent than any other professional and payment structures do effect decision-mak-
ing. However, inherently professionals have a responsibility to train, license, and
monitor their ranks for the preservation of the profession as a whole. Presumably,
the degree to which any profession does this internally, there is less need for exter-

nal supervision and control.

Regardless of the reasons for a shift to managed care, it is certain that we have
entered into an era in which there are blurred distinctions between delivery and
payment. In fact, the hallmark of managed care is, as the definition above claims,
the integration of medical services and finances. In such an arrangement, physicians
are no longer independent, autonomous professionals. Health care is managed to the

' Peter Boland, Making Managed Healthcare Work: A Practical Guide to Strategies and Solu-
tions, p. 3.
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extent that physicians (and patients) are managed. This control of physicians has
proceeded insidiously, and the practice of medicine is no longer by physicians alone.
Many would argue that this is better, that any professional should be scrutinized
in proportion to the power they carry over the lives of others. For public and self

protection, we must ask ourselves: What methods are used to manage physicians?
What is the aggregate effect of the various methods? What are the consequences to

patient care? What are the basic considerations for future reform?

METHODS FOR PHYSICIAN MANAGEMENT

A leading health industry text claims that the management of physicians is one
of the "common operational problems" for managed care organizations. Failing to

deal with "difficult or noncompliant physicians" can result in rising expenses, ill ef-

fects on members, and negative morale. ^ Despite this internal admonition, nearly
every managed care contract holds itself out to the public as having an "independent
contractor" relationship between plan and physician. A member will be told in var-
ious ways that their physician will exercise independent medical judgment in their
care. Indeed, the managed care industry banks on this remnant belief in autonomy
from the fee-for-service era. All the while they are fully aware that they would not
be managed care if they did not have extensive methods used to ensure that their
participating physicians were kept in line with the plan's ends. So the idea of inde-
pendent physicians is more than wishful thinking on the part of managed care
plans. The logical impossibility of independent decision-making midst the kinds of
methods used to manage physicians makes this claim blatantly fraudulent. This be-
comes clear if we work through how management of care, especially the implicit

methods, actually works.
The evolution of managed care processes, as it relates to physician management,

can be understood in terms of the ways in which a plan intercedes into the patient/
physician relationship. On this timeline of patient/physician interaction, three
phases are significant: Post-care controls: methods occurring aff;er care is delivered;
Intra-care controls: methods occurring during the delivery of care; Pre-care controls:

methods occurring before any particular patient receives care. It is important to

note before going into detail that these divisions are somewhat artificial. They are
most effective when interrelated and working in concert. As seen below, data com-
piled on physician's past practices can be used to create profiles designed to change
current and future care decisions.

Post-care processes I controls

—Retrospective review for utilization/quality assessment, "medical necessity", and
coverage issues

—Aggregate profiling of provider network to assess and determine normative sta-

tistical standards for utilization, e.g. lengths-of-stay, admissions per thousand,
referral rates, etc.

—Physician monitoring and profiling, with individual and comparative utilization

and economic report cards
—Economic credentialing
Post-care processes involve all the management processes used aft,er some service

has been rendered, best represented by retrospective review of claims and charts to

assess appropriateness of medical treatment and charges. Although the results of

such reviews do not effect the specific patient event in question, they can have senti-

nel effects on future decision-making. For example, if a hospital documented that
a surgeon was removing too many "normal" appendices, such information could be
used to rein in an aggressive (or greedy) physician, or identify a physician who may
need additional training in diagnostics. Similarly, if a physician admits too many
sick elderly patients, such information could be used to identify the physician as
"wrong" (expensive) for the hospital, or a plan. This kind of review was commonly
used before managed care gained prominence. As with most of these activities, it

is not the methods itself which is questionable, but the ends to which it is used
which should concern us.

With the entrenchment of managed care, a new kind of retrospective management
developed. Information management enables plans and hospitals to do extensive
physician monitoring and profiling. Although informative and educational, such data
is often used to change physician behavior toward a norm determined by the man-
aged care plan or the industry as a whole. This is particularly true when the data
provide statistical quantifications, such as length-of-stay, admissions-per-thousand,
referral rates, etc. With such report cards, certain physicians will fall away from the

2 Peter R. Kongstvedt, Essentials of Managed Health Care, p. 287.
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median. These physicians, known in the industry as "outliers," become immediate,
identifiable targets for control. Since such reports are rarely accompanied by quali-

tative, clinical information on actual patient conditions or outcomes, physicians are
left with little real information about their practice patterns. This means that one
ceases to be an outlier less by improving clinical care and more by changing num-
bers.

For example, OB/GYN's are regularly profiled on lengths-of-stays for the mater-
nity patients. If the norm for a specific plan is 1.7 days, and a particular physician
has a length-of-stay of 2.4 days, he or she may appear as an "outlier" on a report
which compares him or her to all of the plan's OB/GYN's. If the physician is worried
about maintaining participation in the network, receiving a bonus or return of a
"withhold," or simply appearing to be a "compliant, good" managed care doctor, he
or she will begin to do what is necessary to lower the length-of-stay. The plan does
not even need a twenty-four hour policy if they indicate in some way that the norm
they prefer is a length-of-stay of 1.0, or if the physician knows his or her withhold/
bonus will be greater is the length-of-stay is closer to 1.0. When there are no report
cards indicating complication rates to mother or baby from premature discharges
and there are no incentives for providing patient education or home health follow-

up, the guiding factor will be staying at the "norm," set either by the plan, the fi-

nancial arrangement or the physician's own colleagues. The net result will be a
push of all patients to the lowest possible stay, striving to make the magic number.
Even with the mandates from Congress, indirect pressures ensure that physicians
will make decisions consistent with their financial arrangement and in keeping with
a plans' expectations for performance.
Managed care has certainly spawned the progress in data acquisition and man-

agement for health care delivery. However, this would not have been possible with-
out the progress in information collection and management made available by the
proliferation of computer technology. When used properly, information on practice

patterns is a powerful educational tool for physicians. Unfortunately, it is also being
used as a bludgeon to herd practitioners toward managed care norms. It does not
take long for physicians to learn that they must practice "by the numbers," con-
cerned more for their statistics on utilization (e.g. lengths-of-stay, admissions per
thousand, referral rates, etc.) than they may be for their complication rates. As
teachers have long known: you get the results you can measure. Serious ethical

questions arise when the measurements in turn are used to elicit results that are
economically, rather than clinically, driven.
To compound this problem, the data used, by the industry's own admission, is

often inadequate and maybe inaccurate. In the managed care text mentioned above,
another "common problem" is identified as: "Failure to Track Correctly Medical
Costs and Utilization." Within this section, the author notes that: "As growing plans
develop problems with operations (the authorization system, claims, or data gather-
ing in general), medical expense and utilization reports frequently suffer." ^ Despite
this, aggregate and physician-specific data is being regularly used to direct care and
impede independent decision-making by physicians. No one raises the obvious ethi-

cal concern: by changing the practices of physicians with these methods, inadequate
and even erroneous data are used in ways that can result in serious harm to pa-
tients. Where are the consumer protections?

Finally, since most of the monitoring and profiling focuses on utilization and the
resulting economic consequences, this information provides a rich resource for physi-

cian selection and deselection. This phenomenon, known as "economic
credentialing," is often the basis upon which physician networks are formed. A lead-

ing managed care textbook warns about the "expense" involved directly and indi-

rectly when a physician causes a plan to "lose on each member."'* Plans cannot af-

ford expensive physicians for any reason. Physicians who wish to be members of a

managed care network, or wish to remain members, learn quickly that the plans
have extensive utilization and financial information available from which they can
make determinations about their continued ability to practice medicine. Those phy-
sicians who care for the neediest members of our society—women, some children,

the aging, patients with chronic illnesses and other disabilities, the economically
disadvantaged—suffer under such measurements. Plans want neither costly pa-

tients, nor the physicians who must care for them.

Intra-care processes

—Concurrent review for "continued staj^ for hospitalized patients for earlier dis-

charge

3Kongstvedt, p. 286.
•Kongstvedt, p. 287.
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—Pre-admission authorization
—Shifting of some conditions from in-patient to out-patient requirements
—Length-of-stay assignment prior to admission
—Authorization for laboratory and diagnostic services
—Authorization for emergency room use
—Authorization for specialist referrals

—Primary care gatekeeper with limitation on access to other care
—Limitations of physician and facility networks
—Second opinion requirements—"Medical necessity" determinations by plan
—Drug formularies with limitations on availability of certain pharmaceutical

choices
—Manipulation of definitions to suit plan's needs, e.g. changing "skilled care"

needs to "custodial care" needs
Intra-care processes arose as managed care plans moved to control the physician

decision-making at the time care was in progress for a particular patient. Essen-
tially there were two mechanisms by which this could be done: authorization struc-

tures and medical necessity determinations.
The authorization system is considered to be "one of the definitive elements" in

managed health care.^ This can range from a precertification of elective admissions
in a "managed" indemnity plan and extend to the mandatory authorization of all

nonprimary care services in an HMO.^ Whatever the extent and structure for such
authorizations, the purpose is to enable a plan to question a medical provider's deci-

sion regarding the care of the patient. This is most often done for "medical neces-

sity." The plan, through use of its own criteria (rarely grounded in clinical studies,

and even more rarely made public), holds itself (by way of its own doctors) as the
point of final medical determination.
Whether through a gatekeeper system, or a structured system in which physicians

must make each request for their patients, the result is the continuous, micro-
management of decisions regarding the care of a patient at hand. Physicians have
varying responses to this:

—Some are intimidated easily into submission to the plan's requirements, easily

done by physicians from a distance, often anonymous, and with unknown power
over the practicing physician's professional future;

—Some physicians are "hassled" into submission, simply giving into plan's re-

quirements because other patients and practice demands prevent them from
battling it out with numerous individual patients and plans;

—Some physicians are rebellious and confrontational, but plans soon identify

these physicians as "noncompliant," as noted above.
Whatever the response, eventually physicians understand that they do not practice

medicine alone. Despite claims that a plan does not practice medicine, the final

medical determination, as every plan states in their coverage booklet, is the prerog-

ative of the plan. Medical reviewers and medical directors, employed or contracted
by the plan, operating under no ethical codes for their hybrid positions, and mon-
itored themselves by no one, make decisions based on little information, and from
a distance, without ever seeing or touching the patients. Few physicians can afford,

professionally or economically, to advocate for their patients against these decisions.

The power to influence decisions about care during the diagnosis and/or treatment
phase is underestimated by the public. Strong financial concerns drive virtually

every decision. Real quality and outcomes monitors are still too primitive and super-

ficial to pick up the consequences of "medical necessity" determinations made for the

best interest of the plan at the expense of the patient. In the meantime, physicians

are increasingly walking a tightrope between allegiance to the system which makes
it possible for them to practice and advocacy of the patients for whom they have
primary responsibility. It should be no shock that more and more physicians are

just accepting the medical criteria and decisions of the plans. To do otherwise is pro-

fessional suicide. Meanwhile, the unsuspecting public continues to believe that their

physician is their trusted advocate. Once again, the managed care industry banks
on remnants from the fee-for-service system to achieve its surreptitious goal of phy-

sician control.

Pre-care processes

—Financial incentives/disincentives, through capitation, withholds, bonuses, pen-

alty clauses;

—Practice profiling and targeting;

sKongstvedt, p. 182.
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—Selection/deselection;

—Contractual conditions ("gag clauses") both explicit and implicit which prevent
disclosure of financial arrangements, utilization management procedures, treat-

ment options, structural limitations on referrals or available care; etc.;

—Contractual clauses to ensure compliance with plan's policies and procedures;
—Contractual clauses to prevent disparagement of a plan;

—Market penetration; and
—Unequal bargaining power.
Pre-care processes are those mechanisms by which professional decision-making

is influenced and constrained so completely that a physician essentially becomes a
"dual agent," with some other interest competing equally with any commitment to

patients. In the worst cases, these other interests—a plan, success in the managed
care market, professional viability, economic survival, etc.—become pre-eminent.
The effect of "pre-care" controls is to change the very way a physician thinks before
any patient enters his or her domain of care. If the physician begins to think as
a "medical director" of the plan, then he or she will no longer need to have medical
decisions overturned by another physician. The physician has "learned" to practice

a new kind of medicine—that defined by the managed care plan or the industry as
a whole.
Understanding this kind of management technique is critical to understanding

the most evolved managed care plans. When the right conditions are created, the
plan simply sets processes in motion. The treating physicians themselves do the
"dirty work" of managed care. In the most sophisticated forms of this, plans have
come full circle, appearing to give back "independence" to their physicians. However,
such autonomy is elusive when the conditions have been designed to limit the range
of "independence." A mouse in a maze has choices, but if there is no way out, free-

dom is reduced to exploring the impediments.
This is the most insidious form of management, for it involves eliminating the

conditions which previously enabled a professional to remain independent and au-
tonomous. The most effective payment arrangements and contract provisions are
calculated to induce restrictions on resource use—a powerful, effective method to

change the way a professional approaches the distribution of those resovu-ces. To
argue that physicians continue to practice appropriately under such circumstances
is essentially wishful thinking, for it ignores several critical facts:

—We know from the fee-for-service era that financial arrangements linked to

quantity do effect what physicians decide;

—Physicians are equally susceptible to human forces of greed, self-interest, or just
ordinary apathy as the rest of the population; and

—There are virtually no ways to identify or measure underutilization or inappro-
priate treatment currently.

Increasingly, physicians are simply the instruments for a philosophy and practice

dictated by persons without training, license or permission to practice medicine.

AGGREGATE EFFECT OF THESE METHODS?

In this kind of environment, the practice of medicine becomes little more than a
trade in which sophisticated means are used to manage job performance. Imagine
the effect of all of the methods above as a physician attempts to do his or her work.
This slowly erodes the professional's capacity to act independently, to use education
and training for the benefit of his or her charges, and to continue to develop ways
that accentuate clinical acumen. Although skill is important, there is some special

dimension of the profession of medicine that makes a doctor more than just someone
who services malfunctioning parts of a machine. A physician is a professional to the
extent that he or she sees an illness as more than disease, infection, injury, or just
numbers on a report. As a professional, a physician is granted the means to enter
into a web of psychosocial relationships and responses to conditions of need.
Although medical ethicists explore in depth the autonomy of patients, there is lit-

tle concern about the autonomy of the physician. A significant aspect of that auton-
omy derives from the ability to make independent decisions about how to treat.

When a physician and a patient enter into a relationship, we need more than assur-
ance of clinical competence. We need to know that a physician and a patient have
a space conducive to care, compassion and choice. There must be mutual respect and
trust by both parties. Self-interest of the physician (or interest by some other party)
must not effect what occurs here. There must be confidentiality. There must be
peace—or at least as few disturbances as possible. This means that we, as a society,

must do the hard work of figuring out benefit and payment decisions before the
emotionally laden events of need occur. Our goal should be to make it easy for phy-
sicians to be open, fair, compassionate, and caring—indeed to be the professionals
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we train them to be—with every patient equally. We should provide uniform struc-
tures and operations to ensure that the health plan does not amplify existing fear,

pain, suffering, anxiety and confusion.
Justice in health care means that there should be no financial, geographical or

discriminatory barriers to levels of care that provide relief or care to any member
of our society. If care is to be denied, particularly beneficial care, it should only be
because resources will be better used elsewhere for other patient care. The deter-
mination of that should be open and explicit. Currently we do not have a system
in which "cost-savings" from the "denial" of any services, however and whenever
that occurs, can go back into the care of more people or more conditions.
With the combination of controls on all aspects of care, from post- to pre-care, we

enter the most treacherous of management techniques: management by tight con-
straint and impediment. Is this the managed care goal—to have a physician who
makes more by doing less; who suffers additional penalties for losses; who cannot
divulge critical information to patients, including treatment alternatives or avail-

ability of specialty care; who will be profiled and credentialed for economic and utili-

zation performance; who must comply with the plan's requirements for authoriza-
tion and determinations of medical necessity; who risks sanctions, and possibly
deselection, if contract provisions are violated; and who ultimately cannot express
any negative comments about these conditions?

CONSEQUENCES TO PATIENT CARE

We are already deluged by patient stories. How many will it take?
Under such a subtle and obstructive management, the physician becomes essen-

tially an agent of the plan or the society which is allowing these constraints to

occur. Initially, the limitation or withholding of care could be supported by a genu-
ine attempt to provide appropriate care. Gradually, reasons of self-interest, financial

gain and assurance of professional future within managed care can begin to creep
in. As troubling as this might be, there are more serious stages of concern. Empow-
ered by the ability to grant or deny care, and rewarded financially when care is de-

nied, a physician can easily slip into other reasons (consciously or unconsciously) to

deny care based on personal, religious, and sociological factors. There is no percep-
tible line between denying care to someone because it incurs financial reward and
denying care because spending the money is considered a "waste" for a particular

type of patient or a specific condition of need.

CONSIDERATIONS FOR FUTURE REFORM

It is interesting that this phenomenon called "managed care" has developed and
evolved with very little significant and effective ethical challenge. Serious questions
must be answered:
—Are we willing to tolerate a system of access and resource allocation which de-

pends upon constraints of professionals in order to achieve its results?

—If we object to the micromanagement of plans by the government, why do we
allow, without examination, the micromanagement of physicians by managed
care plans?

—If we believe that physicians must be scrutinized and controlled, then shouldn't

the other health care professionals undergo the same degree of scrutiny and
control?

—Are we really making cost-cutting changes for some "greater good'7
—Under what circumstances can an individual be harmed or even sacrificed for

this "greater good"?
—Who defines this "greater good'7
—Is any "greater good" so great that it justifies ethical transgressions to achieve

it?

A recent article in the Wall Street Journal posed this challenge: 'Think of the

health-care system as an airline that freezes ticket prices while inflation drives up
the price of everything else. It makes a big difference how the airline has cut costs.

If it is using aircraft more efficiently and firing underworked baggage handlers, cus-

tomers will be pleased, even if baggage handlers aren't. But if the airline is avoiding

maintenance and forcing pilots to fly without adequate rest, customers will be right-

ly worried."
We may be pillaging our most vital resource, changing dangerously the very sys-

tem we each must rely upon as we age, as we care for our children, family members,
friends, and neighbors. Let us hope that we have the willingness to understand and
challenge the ethical assumptions made by managed care's management of this pre-

cious resource—our society's medical professionals.
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Senator Specter. There is a large human cry in America today
about what is happening in managed care. That is a subject I hear
about most when I have open house meetings, which I do regularly,

across Pennsylvania's 67 counties. It is beyond Pennsylvania. I

heard about it a great deal last year as I traveled the country, but
we need specifics. Of course, in this hearing today we are just be-

ginning to scratch the surface.

Let me pick up on the gag rule with you. Dr. Nelson. As you
properly note, there is a big difference between what is in writing,

necessarily, and what is in practice. What is your judgment, if I

may use that word, as contrasted with speculation?
Dr. Nelson. Well, sir, I think the
Senator Specter. You are still an expert witness, and can get a

case to the jury. So, what is your judgment?
Dr. Nelson. Interesting, I thought I was just a doctor. What

happens is, of course, that there had been in the past, some very
specific clauses to which you referred to initially, to be honest with
you, through the Healthy American Association and others, many
of those have been removed.
You are familiar earlier in the year with a couple of articles in

Time magazine about care that was not to be allowed. One was the
case of a Wilms tumor, a kidney tumor, in California, and one was
a brain tumor of a child in New Jersey. We can get that informa-
tion to you. The fact is that the clauses, per se

Senator Specter. I would like that specific information.
Dr. Nelson. Yes, sir.

Senator Specter. Specifically, the clauses are being removed.
The more subtle concern is how is the physician treated.

A particular case in point, a gynecologist, I am thinking of a case
not long ago where a patient that I have known for a very long
time needed, in her judgment and in my clinical opinion, to have
her uterus removed, a hysterectomy.
The reason for which we did it was an obscure disease called

adenomyosis, and that presents itself with pelvic pain. The patient
was tremendously debilitated by her pain. A young woman with 6
children, who was very, very active.

A very long story made short is this patient was subjected to a
whole bunch of things which I did not think were in her best inter-

est, including: a GU, or a urologic evaluation; a gastrointestinal

evaluation; a psychologic evaluation costing many hundreds of dol-

lars and delaying her care for some time.

The point is that the practice of putting these hassles, these bar-

riers, in my view in this case inappropriately is the larger issue,

not just what is said in there. There are also some not so subtle
things about not getting referrals from your other colleagues in the
group if you do things a certain way that is not to the liking of the
group. It is going to take a lot more digging. Senator, than just say-
ing, "What is in the clause?"

Senator Specter. What is the best way to approach that?
What is the best way to approach that, Dr. Nelson? You rep-

resent the American Medical Association, a pretty big, powerful or-

ganization. How do we approach it to really get at the facts to

know what we ought to be doing?
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Dr. Nelson. We look at such things as Dr. Ware has done, look

at the quality of care to see where these kinds of impediments are

leading to the kinds of things that he has seen. As you saw, the

research is only beginning, but a significant beginning, where we
can document which care is being withheld for those kinds of rea-

sons. We need to find ways to prevent that. I think we need to do
the opposite as well.

We need to look where care is good, what are the good examples,
where there is full disclosure, what kinds of plans are encouraging
patients and physicians to talk in a way that is meaningful so they

get better care, and not just look at the bad, but look at the good,

and from that glean what we can to come up with the best way to

go about it.

Senator Specter. Is the American Medical Association undertak-
ing any study on this issue?

Dr. Nelson. Yes, sir; we are.

Senator Specter. What is it?

Dr. Nelson. We are looking at a couple of things. First of all,

we can chronicle for you the concerns we have and the specific ex-

amples you have asked about the gag clause, per se.

We are undertaking an incredible deal, which is way too long to

talk about. We hope to be able to accredit every physician who
wishes to be on his or her own practice. We will look into five dif-

ferent areas, the credentials, his or her personal practices, the pa-

tients that they actually take care of, a site visit where they prac-

tice, and a chance for them to assess their own practice.

This will take some time to do. We are unveiling the first part

of it in January. We think we will be able to accredit physicians

who wish to have that done. By so doing, we hope to be able to

identify best practices and have people practice in that way.
Senator Specter. Ms. Dallek, you commented about the need for

HCFA to publish regulations. To the extent that you have any spe-

cific suggestions for this subcommittee, we would appreciate know-
ing them. We are going to be going into some depth on HCFA regu-

lations. Do you think that a 6-year lapse between OBRA and a reg-

ulation on—the 6 year regulations between regulations and the

stop loss protection might be a little excessive?

Ms. Dallek. Yes; obviously, it was excessively long. In addition,

I think it also took a long time to get these appeal provisions or

regulations out. They are not out yet, but hopefully they will be out

soon. I think there are a number of issues that we need to think

about.
Perhaps, I think as Congress considers HMO legislation, they

need to look to the States. There has been some very good and in-

novative things happening in New York and New Jersey, for exam-
ple.

PATAKI in New York, providers, plans, consumers together, and
really has fashioned a huge range of, I think, very significant legis-

lation which everybody bought into—not happily obviously, but ev-

erybody bought into—that does a lot, I think, in terms of protecting

enrollees, especially in terms of the access to specialty care.

New Jersey is coming out with some proposed regulations that

will similarly protect folks. I think there is a lot that Congress



132

should think about in looking to the States. I did want to talk
briefly about micromanaging, if I may.

I think that we did need and it was appropriate for Congress to

come and to legislate in terms of the drive-thru deliveries. I think
it was a concern of Americans and women around the country.
However, I do agree with Dr. Wilensky that micromanaging is not
the way to go because it just
Senator Specter. OK You draw us the line.

Ms. Dallek. Well, I think the line needs to be drawn by setting

processes for services. For example, if you can legislate in ways
which say you have to have a great grievance system. If somebody
says to you, to a woman, "You have got to get out of this. You had
a mastectomy and we want you out the same day outpatient." The
woman does not feel very comfortable with that. You have to have
a system that will get an appeal and a response very quickly. We
need a system where—the problem with HMO's is they are adopt-
ing these very rigid guidelines. Everybody has to be out of the hos-
pital in 24 hours.
Senator Specter. How do you do that?
Ms. Dallek. You have to have rules that say if you have a refer-

ral system, if you have a utilization review system, the physicians
in the plans, the experts in the area, must be involved in setting
these guidelines.

Senator Specter. OK. The woman is notified that she has had
a mastectomy and she has got to be out that afternoon. There is

an appeal process, presumably, within the HMO?
Ms. Dallek. Or alternatively outside, expedited review outside.

You can go to the State, go to a State complaint system. New Jer-

sey is proposing an expedited review system outside of the HMO.
Senator Specter. The woman makes a call to a State official?

Ms. Dallek. Yes; that is right. If you have a complaint system,
you have ombudsman programs. There are a lot of processes. The
ICA's, which Congress did not fund this year, but which HCFA did
pick up funding, have been incredibly important for that Medicare
population.

I mean, we have to think carefully about what to do, but I think
that there are answers that are being developed, and that we can
come up with some very good solutions and get together and find

some common ground.
Senator Specter. You have been working in the field. Would you

supplement your testimony by giving us your insights as to where
you think HCFA ought to be publishing regulations and what you
see on the appellant line, provide that to us in writing?
Ms. Dallek. Sure. OK That's fine.

Senator Specter. Dr. Margolis, I am very much impressed with
the provider HMO's contrasted with others generally. Is the pro-

vider HMO in a little better position to avoid limitations on special-

ist referral, because they are all within the organization?
Dr. Margolis. Senator, let me try to define a provider organiza-

tion as opposed to a provider HMO. Provider organizations, at least

the way the system works now, are in a position to contract with
either one or multiple HMO's, usually multiple. One would be an
exception such as in a defined system like Kaiser.



133

Within these multiple HMO's, if the provider system is large

enough, integrated, and can incorporate primary care, specialty,

teams of care, case manager, social workers, discharge planners,
nurses, and the like, then it is in the position to become the ac-

countable body for the kind of care that is being delivered.

Therefore, the providers now can bring the decisions back to

where they belong, in my estimation; and that is, in informed dis-

cussion between doctors and patient. In response to the question
you just asked Ms. Dallek, if I may?

Senator Specter. Please do.

Dr. Margolis. I think the answer to this issue of mastectomy is

full and informed discussion between the surgeon and the woman
prior to a decision to have a mastectomy, not only what her options

are clinically, but what her options are as far as outpatient, length
of stay, and the like.

If there is an appeals necessary, it is because the physician and
the patient did not come to a conclusion on what the best solution

was. I think in that case you would mitigate against and minimize
almost entirely this issue of post facto complaints about what kind
of care was delivered and what the outcomes of that were.

Likewise, then on this issue of so-called micromanagement, until

we can understand the outcomes of care that we are delivering and
we can inform consumers, because we will be with Internet and
other ways, in a position where consumers are in the position to

be able to evaluate the outcomes of care, the complication rates, the
quality of care, the average cost of care, and the like by provider
organization, and by health plan.

Until we are in that position, we will not be able to have from
a legislative point of view or any other point of view any kind of
objective discussion about whether drive-thru deliveries is good or

bad, whether mastectomies should be on the outpatient or inpa-
tient basis.

I think that this embryonic science which Dr. Ware has helped
to move forward, and which is under full steam in many, many or-

ganizations, is an appropriate place for you and your committee to

help evaluate and appropriate appropriate resources to encourage
the kind of outcomes research that will get us to the answers that
we are all striving to get to.

Senator Specter. Dr. Margolis, with the provider HMO, is there
less of an incentive for a specialist referral? Is there less than an
incentive to discourage a specialist referral?

Dr. Margolis. Again, I will speak to the large kinds of inte-

grated multispecialty medical groups that AMGA represents. As I

said, those are the largest and most well-known around the coun-
try.

When the measurement on how a provider is paid is based on an
overall assessment of patient satisfaction, of access, of the quality

of care as it can be measured usually through measures like the
health plan employer data information set, described as HEDIS,
and the like, that is how the provider is incentivized, not by wheth-
er he or she has some kind of pool of money that they may or may
not get if they send it out.

Senator SPECTER. Well, how do you quantify that kind of pro-

vider incentive?
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Dr. Margolis. You establish an excellent information system
and collect data from external objective evaluation of customer sat-

isfaction from internal measures of access to care.

Senator Specter. How do you do that? A questionnaire?
Dr. Margolis. On satisfaction, it is both by phone and question-

naire surveys; on access to care, it is actual
Senator SPECTER. Does somebody make an evaluation as to how

satisfied the patient is and determines the compensation?
Dr. Margolis. Yes; correct. An outside, independent physician

patient surveying organization. Many of them exist around the
country at this point, and do that.

Senator Specter. Could you give us a little supplement on writ-

ing as to how that is done?
Dr. Margolis. We will be happy to. On how in our organization

and within AMGA we incentivize physicians or just on the patient
satisfaction issue?
Senator Specter. Both.
Dr. Margolis. Both. Yes, sir.

Senator Specter. Mr. MacBain, Geisinger is a unique kind of an
operation, or maybe it is only unique because I know a little bit

about it. You have an extraordinary health delivery system to rural
Pennsylvania. Are there some aspects of Geisinger's organization
that make you less susceptible to the kinds of problems we have
heard about today: a gag rule, a limitation or referral to specialists,

that sort of thing?
Mr. MacBain. Well, over the years we have developed a panel of

independent physicians with whom we contract for members that
is as large as our own medical group now, so we have
Senator Specter. Essentially, a rural matter, though?
Mr. MacBain. Yes; rural, plus Scranton and Wilkes-Barre. We

have a fair amount of experience. We certainly have never had any-
thing in our contracts that would require a physician to withhold
medical information from a patient. In fact, my own opinion is that,

if an3rthing, our patients are requiring more information, particu-

larly in the last few years.
I know as a parent myself with two children with chronic ill-

nesses, that fortunately are not severe, I am looking for more op-

tions. Do not just tell me what needs to be done, tell me what the
options are. Generally, that is what we want our physicians to do.

Senator Specter. Is Geisinger, the Geisinger operation, a rural
HMO, replicated significantly across the country?
Mr. MacBain. There are several, I think, based on large medical

groups. It gives you a critical mass that you can build an HMO
around.
Senator SPECTER. Are HMO's and their operation generally

equally accessible in rural areas as in urban areas?
Mr. MacBain. Well, I think what an HMO does when you can

make one available in a rural area is by linking the financing with
the medical group and with a contractor delivery system is it lets

you provide a guaranteed income to physicians in a way that will

encourage them to locate practices in places where they might not
if they were dependent upon the whims of fee-for-service medicine.
Now, that has not been extended as far as urban plans yet, but

certainly we are discovering in Pennsylvania we now have an HMO
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competitor in almost every county, so that other plans are begin-

ning to move into rural areas now. It is good news.
Senator Specter. Dr. Nelson, you had a point that you wanted

to make?
Dr. Nelson. Yes, sir; I am formally trained in quality improve-

ment methodology and health care, and would point out that as the

subcommittee looks at quality measurement, you do not just look

at one part of it. You look at the entire spectrum.
Very briefly, it has to do with the issue of not only the patient

satisfaction, which is very important, and the cost effectiveness

which is important, but also the medical outcome, was the correct

thing done.
A simple example to show you how wide this can vary. In the

State of Utah, there are 54 hospitals that deliver babies. The cae-

sarean delivery rate varies from 3 percent to 30 percent. Well, that

is way too high a variation, so we have got to figure out what care

goes where.
I received a letter the other day dinging me for my caesarean

section rate being too high, something I prided myself on for a long

time. Indeed, the numbers were correct. I had 13 patients in this

particular plan, and I had done three caesarean sections. My rate

was 23 percent, which was abhorrent.
I called the plan director and said, "My goodness, can you tell me

which of these caesarean sections I should not have done? I want
to learn; I want to be a good physician."

The answer was, "No, we cannot go into that kind of detail."

I was very concerned about that, so I went to the hospital where
I practice, a large hospital, a tertiary hospital, one of the best in

the country, in fact, the only one ever to receive the Balridge

Award for Excellence, and found that my caesarean section rate

was 8 percent. The lowest on the staff, by the way.
We have to be very careful what we look at, that we just do not

get microcosms of this or that. Also, I would also point out again,

Senator, the idea of looking at the good systems. One of our HMO
groups that we work in, at our little hospital, we save three-quar-

ters, because we did it correctly. Let us make sure we look at the

good as well as those that are not.

Senator Specter. Well, we thank you very much for coming. We
are just beginning to scratch the surface of this subject. We are in

recess or more members of the subcommittee would have been
here. We have a lot of work to do on health care as we look to the

105th Congress. We wanted to get a running start. There will be
other hearings on this subject. I think this is going to be a major
focus of attention. There were a number of groups and organiza-

tions requesting to give testimony at this hearing; but due to time
limitations, we have asked that they submit statements for inclu-

sion in the record.

CONCLUSION OF HEARING

I want to acknowledge on behalf of the subcommittee apprecia-

tion for the written testimony of the Blue Cross-Blue Shield Asso-

ciation showing a very strong interest in this hearing. We will keep
the hearing record open for the next 2 weeks, and we will include
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additional statements. We thank you very much for coming, and we
will all stay tuned.
[Whereupon, at 1:10 p.m., Wednesday, November 13, the hearing

was concluded, and the subcommittee was recessed, to reconvene
subject to the call of the Chair.]
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Letter From Mary Nell Lehnhard

Blue Cross Blue Shield Assocl^tion
Washington, DC, November 18, 1996.

Hon. Arlen Specter,
U.S. Senate,
Washington DC.
Dear Senator Specter: The Blue Cross and Blue Shield Association requests

that the two attached papers be included in the record for your November 13 hear-
ing on Safeguarding Seniors Health Care: Quality in Managed Care.
Blue Cross and Blue Shield Plans are the nation's leaders in managed health

care. The Blues serve more than 33 million customers through HMO's, PPO's, Point-
of-Service plans or other managed care arrangements.
Managed health care offers the potential to reduce rising health care expenditures

while promoting high-quality care and strengthening the doctor-patient relationship.

Blue Cross and Blue Shield managed health care programs seek to reduce costs

while maintaining high quality through: selective health care networks; technology
assessment; continuous quality improvement; streamlining administration; and anti-

fraud programs.
The first paper attached is a Blue Cross Blue Shield Association news release re-

garding a study by American Viewpoint finding that Medicare beneficiaries with
chronic illness and serious medical conditions prefer Health Maintenance Organiza-
tions (HMO's) over the traditional fee-for-service program for their care and treat-

ment.
The survey also found that HMO members are more intensely satisfied than non-

HMO members with the quality of their primary care physician. Survey respondents
who had received their health care through the traditional Medicare program but
had switched to an HMO cited a variety of reasons for preferring the HMO approach
including: lower cost; more comprehensive coverage; convenience; high-quality serv-

ice; the coordination of care and the quality of doctors.

'The second document, Blue Cross and Blue Shield: The Natural Choice From Gen-
eration to Generation, highlights Blue Plans' leadership in health care management
and innovation, especially our experience with managed care. HMO Blue Plans pro-

vide seniors with the highest quality of care, promoting preventive care, selecting

the best doctors and hospitals, and creating special programs for people with chronic
illnesses.

The document also discusses research demonstrating that HMO members are
more likely to obtain mammograms. Pap smears, and other essential screenings
than people in fee-for-service plans, and that HMOs' low co-payments encourage pa-
tients to see their doctors sooner.

We believe that both of these papers will be useful in understanding the impor-
tant ways in which managed care ensures quality health services, and would be
happy to testify at any future hearings on matters as important as safeguarding
seniors' health care. Thank you for your attention to this issue.

Sincerely,
Mary Nell Lehnhard.

[Blue Cross Blue Shield Association News Release, Sept. 20, 1995]

CHRONIC, seriously ILL MEDICARE BENEFICIARIES PREFER HMO CARE OVER
TRADITIONAL MEDICARE PROGRAM

WASHINGTON—A new nationwide survey reveals that Medicare beneficiaries

with chronic illness and serious medical conditions prefer Health Maintenance Or-
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ganizations (HMO's) over the traditional fee-for-service program for their care and
treatment. The survey also found that these Medicare beneficiaries, by an over-

whelming margin (89 percent), recommend that managed care should be a Medicare
option.

The survey, released today by American Viewpoint, Inc. of Alexandria, Virginia,

also found that, nationwide, Medicare beneficiaries enrolled in HMO's are signifi-

cantly more satisfied with the health care and treatment they receive than are Med-
icare recipients who rely on fee-for-service arrangements.
'These findings offer solid evidence to dispel the mjd;h that managed care is only

effective in meeting the needs of healthy seniors," said Gary Ferguson, vice presi-

dent of American Viewpoint.
The survey, conducted between August 17 and August 29, involved telephone

interviews with 1,500 enrollees of Blue Cross and Blue Shield Medicare Risk HMO's
and a comparable population of senior citizens in the traditional Medicare fee-for-

service program.
According to the survey, senior citizens with chronic illnesses and serious medical

conditions—including cancer, kidney disease, and pulmonary disease—who are

HMO members are generally more satisfied with their current health coverage and
medical care than those with the same conditions who receive their health care

through the traditional Medicare program.
Significantly, 50 percent of the HMO members interviewed had experience with

traditional Medicare before enrolling in their HMO. By a 3-1 margin, (60 percent-

20 percent), these HMO members prefer their HMO's approach over their previous

care. That margin holds true even with HMO enrollees with serious and chronic ill-

nesses in 12 categories.

In addition, satisfaction with Blue Cross and Blue Shield Medicare Risk HMO's
increased with length of enrollment.

Patrick G. Hays, President and Chief Executive Officer of the Blue Cross and
Blue Shield Association, said, "As a number of studies have shown in the past, man-
aged care has responded to private market needs for those under 65. This study
lends proof that the same can happen for those over 65 as well. Congress should
recognize the managed care industry as a high-quality, cost-effective and tremen-
dously satisfying option for seniors."

'The Blues have had an unwavering commitment to senior citizens since the Med-
icare program began in 1965," he added. "We are proud that we have been there

every step of the way as health care for seniors has improved over the years, and
we will continue to be there as that care gets even better and managed care evolves

to its full potential."

'These results are extremely encouraging," echoed Jake Hansen, Sr. Vice Presi-

dent of the Seniors Coalition. "With all the rhetoric floating around Washington
about health costs, it is reassuring to know that seniors who suffer from these com-
mon but serious conditions can receive excellent health care from HMO's, and more
importantly, that they are happy with the care they receive."

Survey respondents who had received their health care through the traditional

Medicare program but had switched to an HMO cited a variety of reasons for prefer-

ring the HMO approach. These include: lower cost; more comprehensive coverage;

convenience; high quality service; the coordination of care and the quality of doctors.

Among the survey's other significant findings:

Quality of care.—HMO members are as satisfied overall and more intensely satis-

fied than non-HMO members with the quality of their primary care physician.

Among members, 93 percent are satisfied (81 percent very satisfied).

Among non-members, 93 percent also are satisfied; however, somewhat fewer (75
percent) are very satisfied.

Among members who suffer from the most serious and/or chronic diseases, 81 per-

cent are very satisfied with the quality of their primary care physician, compared
to only 75 percent of non-members.
HMO members are as satisfied and more intensely satisfied than non-HMO mem-

bers with the quality of specialists. Among members, 80 percent are satisfied, with
69 percent intensely satisfied. Among non-members, 81 percent are satisfied with
only 63 percent intensely satisfied.

Access to services.—HMO members and traditional Medicare enrollees rate access

to the latest medical technology and tests similarly (76 percent and 79 percent).

However, the intensity of satisfaction is higher among HMO members: 60 percent
are very satisfied compared to only 53 percent of the traditional Medicare recipients.

As with other elements of their care, HMO members (81 percent) are as satisfied

as traditional Medicare enrollees (84 percent) with their coordination of care be-

tween the different doctors they see. Among both members and non-members, satis-
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faction increases as health declines. That is, the worse the individual's health be-
comes, the more satisfied they are with the way their health plan is coordinated.
As the Medicare program is reformed. Hays says, "Blue Cross and Blue Shield

Plans will continue to advocate reforms that benefit our senior customers. We be-
lieve senior citizens should have access to the same high-quality, low cost options
that are available to those Americans still working."
"We are both encouraged and motivated by these results," Hays added. "Encour-

aged by the success we've had serving our customers, and motivated by our pursuit
of excellence."

A STUDY BY THE AMERICAN VIEWPOINT

OVERVIEW

The BlueCross BlueShield Association commissioned American Viewpoint, Inc., to

conduct six focus groups with enrollees in Medicare Risk plans in Portland, Oregon,
Miami, Florida, and Philadelphia, Pennsylvania. The groups were conducted on July
17, July 19, and August 1, respectively. The project was designed and conducted by
Gary Ferguson, Vice President of American Viewpoint in conjunction with Chris
Molineaux, Alixe Glen, and Mary Nell Lehnhard of the Association.

GOALS AND OBJECTIVES

The central purposes of the groups were as follows:

—To determine what enrollees in Medicare Risk plans like and dislike about their
health plan and assess their willingness to recommend the plan to friends and
family members, and the underlying reasons for those intentions.

—To provide Members of Congress with an effective tool for communicating with
their constituents on the subject of Medicare managed care. In particular, to
provide real-life stories that can be used to counter misinformation and scare
tactics about managed care;

—To provide information to assist in marketing the BlueCross and BlueShield na-
tional Medicare risk product.

METHODOLOGY

All respondents were enrolled in a BlueCross or BlueShield Medicare Risk HMO.
Length of membership ranged from 10 years to one month. Most respondents had
been with their plan for at least a year. Respondents were selected randomly from
lists of telephone numbers of enrollees provided by the plans. Members of the press
and those under age 65 were not included in the study. No more than 50 percent
of each group was aware of the Medicare trustees report. Respondents had a range
of health conditions from excellent to poor.

These HMO's are fairly mature plans that have expanded as their rolls have in-

creased. None is organized in the "classic" HMO definition in that none houses all

plan doctors in one location. That is, respondents are able to go to physicians in in-

dividual offices in locations that are convenient to their homes. In Portland and
Philadelphia, respondents report being able to choose from 400-500 physicians. In
the three-county area covered by the "Medicare and More" plan in Miami, respond-
ents say they have more than 1,000 doctors from which to choose. In all cases, nu-
merous hospitals are available. Miami and Philadelphia have prescription drug
plans while Portland does not. Many respondents report that their "family doctor"
is on the list of doctors from which they are able to choose.
There are certain differences in coverage and out-of-pocket expenditures. In Or-

egon, enrollees pay $32 per month in premiums (with a $10 copayment) and have
no prescription drug coverage; some dental coverage is included; they are entitled
to an annual eye exam and a new eyeglass prescription every two years; the plan
pays $80 on frames and $60 on lenses. In Miami, respondents pay no premiums,
deductibles, or copayments and have prescription drug coverage and an eye plan
similar to Oregon. In Philadelphia, enrollees pay no premiums and have prescrip-
tion drug coverage. Those who are on individual plans pay $10 per prescription (30-
90-day supply). Group enrollees pay half of the cost of prescriptions. All plans tested
have no waiting period and no exclusions for preexisting conditions. About half of
all respondents say they had fee-for-service Medicare prior to joining the HMO.

KEY FINDINGS

1. Seniors in HMO Medicare programs are extremely satisfied with their health
care coverage. All respondents have what they consider to be comprehensive cov-
erage. Even in Oregon, where prescription drug coverage is not part of the plan,
they are extremely satisfied and feel they are getting a great deal for the money.
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2. Respondents are very satisfied with the quahty of their doctors and specialists.

3. Choice of physician in these particular plans is almost a non-issue. Respondents
in all groups feel a wide range of choices is available to them and most respondents
say their "family doctor" is one of the choices available to them and that there is

an extensive list of physicians available to them both as primary care—physician
and specialists. A wide choice of hospitals is also a major factor in the satisfaction

of enrollees.

4. The BlueCross BlueShield name was an important factor in their decision to

join their HMO and in their continued confidence in its financial stability and qual-

ity of care. Over and over, respondents voiced their confidence. As one man in Phila-

delphia says, "it's a name you can trust." No respondents mentioned any doubts
about the financial solvency of their plan despite the existence of what they referred

to as "fly by night HMO's."
5. Many respondents say they simply couldn't afford the kind of comprehensive

health coverage they have if not for their membership in the HMO.
6. In all cases, but particularly in Miami and Philadelphia because of the high

Medicare capitation rates, enrollees in BCBS Medicare HMO's have a far better deal

than traditional Medicare recipients. In Portland, premiums are $32/month with a
$10 co-pay as opposed to $70-$ 100 per month for a Medigap policy with equal bene-
fits. In Philadelphia, there are no premiums or deductibles, but they have a copay-
ment on prescriptions. In Miami, there are no monthly premiums, no deductibles,

and no copayments.
7. Respondents feel they get as good or better care than other Medicare recipients.

A big part of this is the preventive care ("preventive maintenance") approach HMO's
take. Also, there is an acknowledged emphasis on wellness (advice on exercise, nu-
trition, partial payment on health club memberships, etc.). Finally, they feel that
the quality of their physicians is no different than those available to traditional

Medicare patients. In fact, many respondents say that the attitude of HMO physi-

cians toward them is better than that of traditional doctors. Many respondents say
that when they were on Medicare, doctors looked down on them. In the HMO, they
feel their physicians exhibit a high level of interest in their well-being.

8. In all cases, enrollees are happy with the coordination of their care between
the various doctors involved. In nearly every case, respondents say reports are

called in or faxed between the various entities and that all participating physicians
are up to date on their cases.

9. Respondents say they have never been denied treatments they thought were
necessary. The most frequently cited drawback is the need to get referrals to see

a specialist but even then, most respondents say that access to specialists is easily

available. Other complaints include long waits in the doctor's office because the doc-

tors have to see too many patients, that dealing with HMO administrative staff can
be problematic, and that referrals outside of the plan are not covered.

10. Those who have had traditional Medicare are far more satisfied with their

HMO than they were with Medicare. The reasons: less paperwork, lower cost, more
extensive coverage, better care overall, better preventive medicine, and less waste,
fraud and abuse.

11. Nearly all respondents say that they would recommend their plan to fiiends

and relatives (and many have already done so). They definitely feel that the man-
aged care option should be available to seniors nationwide and that it is a superior
way of delivering health care.

12. Respondents are incredulous to learn of the low number of senior citizens na-
tionwide who receive their health care through a managed care organization.

13. To overcome the objections of seniors who are reluctant to join a managed care

approach, they would emphasize the lower out of pocket costs and the fact that pa-

perwork is nearly non-existent; they say that even with extensive medical problems,
they have never received a bill. They would also emphasize the choice of physicians

that is available to them and the high quality of those physicians. Further, they
mention the fact that if they are dissatisfied, they can change primary care physi-

cians any time they wish.

14. There is still a great deal of skepticism about the impending bankruptcy of

the Medicare trust fund. Their basic advice to Congressional leaders on reforming
Medicare is as follows: "if they'd just keep their hands out of it, it would be all

right;" "get rid of the waste, fraud and abuse;" and "cut Congress' perks and privi-

leges." Others recommend encouraging seniors to join managed care plans.
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GENERAL DISCUSSION

Most Important Factors In Decision To Join HMO
The most important factors in respondents' decision to join an HMO to receive

their health care rather than using Medicare's traditional approach include: low

cost, the BlueCross BlueShield name, past relationship with BlueCross and
BlueShield, coverage, choice of doctors, choice of hospitals, experience ("I have

friends who recommended it"), their doctor's recommendation, and the absence of

paperwork.
Respondents took a variety of approaches to gathering information prior to their

decision to join. Some attended seminars sponsored by the HMO, some read news-

paper articles comparing the various plans in the area or read literature provided

by the plans, some talked to their doctors, and others asked friends and relatives

who are members about their HMO experience.

Breadth of Coverage

Although a great deal of emphasis has been placed on adding services and provid-

ing additional benefits in order to encourage Medicare recipients to join a managed
care program, HMO seniors in Portland are highly satisfied with their program de-

spite the fact that they have no prescription drug coverage, no full dental coverage,

and a two-year restriction on new prescriptions for eyeglasses. They feel they have
very comprehensive coverage despite the fact that they do not have the type of "full"

coverage many people associate with HMO's.
As one man puts it: "I look at it like this. I have First Choice 65 and I'm 100

percent satisfied with it. But if you're going to go get dental and you're going to get

eye and you're gonna get this and you're gonna get that your premium is going to

go up. It's got to. For the basic rate that I pay, they cannot afford to cover me or

my wife under it. For $33 bucks a month and a $10 copayment, and with that kind

of payment you can't get any other insurance that cheap."

Another Oregon man says "The reason I got into this was my mother in law went
into the hospital about three years ago vdth a heart problem; they put a pacemaker
in and she was ready to go home when she had another attack; they had open-heart

surgery and she was in intensive care for about three days * * * there was not a

penny that anybody had to pay on that bill. If you start talking about this nickel

and dime stuff, you'd better think about the $40,000 it would have cost her."

The most important factors in respondents' satisfaction in all cities are as follows:

High quality care.—Respondents are pleased with the quality of care they receive.

Essentially, they say the quality of the doctors and nurses is as good as you would
find anywhere. "It is no different than the care you would find anywhere." "There's

no difference. My doctor is in private practice." In all groups, most respondents say

that doctors, rather than physicians assistants, are their primary care givers.

One Florida man tells this story. "It's been a couple of years since I've been with

Health Options * * * I had some heavy duty surgery that was adequately taken

care of. And I mean heavy duty * * * a triple-A * "* * an aneurism on your aorta
* * * which was done very well (my doctor) referred me to a prominent surgeon.

And I'm totally happy with it. All my needs are taken care of I had a pacemaker
put in which was done quite well * * * I had a hospital bill of $90,000 that was
taken care of."

A Philadelphia woman says "They cover everything. I mean everything. My hus-

band has been sick since the first of the year * * * he's had every kind of test in

this whole world * * * he was in the hospital for an operation on his back, when
he came home they had a visiting nurse there every day no problem * * *. He had
a top surgeon for his surgery * * * we had supplies, a hospital bed, a walker, a

visiting nurse every day * * * they sent technicians, everything * * * I can't say

enough so any time they want a recommendation you've got my name for free, plas-

tered all over every place because it is the best in the whole world."

Another man says "I've had knee replacements, I've had kidney problems, I've had
cataracts, everj^thing done under Health Options and I have absolutely no com-
plaints. Everjdhing has been taken care ofjust beautifully."

A Florida woman echoes this sentiment. "My husband had Parkinson's Disease,

Paget's disease, and cancer of the lung. He'd been sick for many years and I have
no complaints. He had good care when he was in the hospital and good care in the

home also * * I can say only good things about the HMO and we could well afford

to do otherwise."
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BLUE CROSS AND BLUE SHIELD: THE NATURAL CHOICE FROM GENERATION TO
GENERATION

Over the past six decades, the nation's 63 independent, community-based Blue
Cross and Blue Shield Plans have built a solid foundation of experience in providing
consumers access to high-quality health care. By establishing national networks of
doctors and hospitals; emphasizing preventive care and wellness; and using tech-

nology to streamline claims administration, Blue Plans have provided unmatched
health security for millions of Americans. This tradition of excellence is rooted in

a philosophy of continuous quality improvement. Blue Cross and Blue Shield Plans
are constantly changing to meet customer needs. In fact, the Blues have consistently
led the way toward new trends in health care management and innovation.
Although many Americans associate the Blue Cross and Blue Shield with their

parents' or grandparents' health care coverage, today's Blues are at the forefront of
providing high-quality, affordable managed health care. Enrollment in Blue man-
aged care plans has grown an astounding 400 percent since 1985, surpassing mem-
bership in the traditional giant Kaiser Permanente. More than 30 million Blue
Cross and Blue Shield customers—some 47 percent of total enrollment—are mem-
bers of HMO's, PPO's or other managed care arrangements, and their numbers are
growing daily. Moreover, the Blues collectively contract with 85 percent of the na-
tion's hospitals and 75 percent of the nation's doctors. Whether rural, urban or sub-
urban, literally every square inch of the United States is covered by a Blue Plan.
This unmatched size and scope makes the Blues the natural choice for people over

50. As the "Baby Boom" generation approaches retirement, the entire health care
industry is repositioning itself to respond to changing customer needs—and once
again, the Blues are leading the way.

AMERICA'S MEDICARE MANAGED CARE LEADER

Blue Plans offer the full range of Medicare coverage products, from traditional
"Medigap" supplement policies to Medicare qualified HMO's. The Blues' unparal-
leled reach allows Blue Plans to tailor their coverage offerings to the specific needs
of individual regions, states and communities. In addition, the Blues' unique na-
tional HMO network can provide health services to seniors in convenient, easily ac-

cessible locations—even for seniors who travel or maintain residences in more than
one state.

The Blues' national presence and years of experience create distinct advantages
for Medicare-eligible seniors who choose Blue coverage. Indeed, the Blues' infra-

structure provided the very foundation for the original Medicare program. The Blue
Cross system began providing Americans hospital coverage in 1929; the Blue Shield
system of "service bureaus" for physician payment was launched in 1917.
Through the years, Blue Plans' national breadth has made them experts in suc-

cessfully administering large, customized contracts. Blue Cross and Blue Shield
Plans now cover more than 34 million Americans as intermediaries for Medicare,
Medicaid and the Civilian Health and Medical Program of the Uniformed Services.

No other carrier processes as many Medicare claims—85 percent of all Part A claims
and 68 percent of all Part B claims. Moreover, the Blues process more than three-

quarters of these claims electronically—which improves efficiency, lowers costs and
reduces the turnaround time for beneficiaries. A unique computer network of 32
Blue Plans and 47 other payers provides additional efficiency in the commercial
market. All of this adds up to the lowest administrative costs in the entire health
industry—about one-third lower than competitors'.

Blue Cross and Blue Shield Plans are also fighting Medicare waste, fraud and
abuse to help make the program more affordable and fair. The Blues' efforts are pro-

ducing savings for the government and beneficiaries alike. In 1994, for example,
stepped-up anti-fraud activities netted more than $68 million in recoveries and sav-

ings—a more than four-fold increase over the year before.

Geographic reach and administrative efficiency are not the Blues' only advantages
in serving older Americans. The Blues' national Medicare HMO network, called

Medicare Blue USA, provides unprecedented portable coverage for today's active,

mobile seniors. By linking up Plan contractors throughout the nation. Medicare Blue
USA allows its members to receive health services at any participating Plan in the
nation—no matter how far from home they travel. While most HMO's cover out-of-

area care only in emergencies. Medicare Blue USA offers the full range of health
care benefits—even non-urgent or routine care.

In addition to making older Americans' health care more portable, Medicare Blue
USA makes retiree health plans easier for employers to manage. A Medicare Blue
USA network manager assumes many of the time-consuming administrative tasks
involved in tracking HMO's in several locations. This national expert frees the indi-
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vidual employer from premium billing, rate negotiation, performance reporting and
other bureaucratic duties.

A NAME AMERICANS KNOW AND TRUST

Clearly, the Blues' unparalleled national networks, portability and administrative
expertise make them the natural choice for Americans over 50. But perhaps the
Blues' greatest advantage for seniors is the security of a Brand they know and trust.

By the time most Americans reach retirement age, they have already had Blue
Cross Blue Shield firsthand experience with the quality of Blue Cross and Blue
Shield coverage. Their children and grandchildren were nurtured with Blue Cross
and Blue Shield care.

Research demonstrates that the Blue Cross and Blue Shield are the most recog-
nized and admired service marks in the health care industry. In fact, the Blues'
Brand equity ranks with that of Coke and Pepsi. Moreover, the Blues are more fa-

miliar among seniors than any of the other Medicare HMO companies. In survey
after survey, the Blues are consistently symbols of health care quality, efficiency
and value.

QUALITY AND INNOVATION

A January 1996 General Accounting Office study found that Medicare bene-
ficiaries who choose HMO's are attracted by three major advantages: Expanded ben-
efits, reduced out-of-pocket costs and the ability to continue receiving health benefits
provided by their former employers. Along with these important advantages. Blue
Plans offer seniors additional assurance in the quality of care they receive. From
promoting preventive care to selecting the best doctors and hospitals to creating spe-
cial programs for people with chronic illnesses, quality and innovation are at the
heart of the Blues' approach to managed health care.

Research shows that HMO members are more likely to obtain mammograms. Pap
smears and other essential screenings than people in old-style, fee-for-service plans.
Moreover, older Americans in HMO's who have cancer are diagnosed and treated
earlier than seniors in traditional Medicare. Studies show that HMOs' low co-pay-
ments encourage patients to see their doctors sooner, rather than delaying care in

order to avoid medical expenses. All this research proves what the Blues dem-
onstrate each day: Managed health care improves not just the process of care deliv-

ery, but also its quality and outcome.
In this spirit of continuous quality improvement. Blue Plans offer a wide range

of special programs for older Americans, including those with chronic illnesses. For
instance, at Keystone Health Plan East, the HMO of Philadelphia-based Independ-
ence Blue Cross, doctors help Medicare HMO members consolidate their prescription
drug use and reduce potentially dangerous interactions. Each new patient brings a
brown bag with all his prescription drugs to his first doctor visit for an evaluation.
Often, the doctor finds that several different doctors have unknowingly prescribed
different medications that contraindicate the patient's other medicines—and could
lead to catastrophic problems. A recent Harvard Medical School study found that
these prescribing errors and other medication mistakes add $20 billion annually to

the nation's health care tab. The Independence Blue Cross program helps reduce
these costs while saving lives.

Blue Plans also offer special programs for patients with chronic illnesses such as
asthma, diabetes, hj^jertension and congestive heart failure. These programs allow
patients to monitor their own conditions at home, while checking in with a nurse
every day. This personal nurse or "case manager" can also arrange for home visits,

new equipment and even doctor house calls. "This highly specialized, individualized
care is impossible in the fragmented fee-for-service Medicare program.
The Blues' commitment to older Americans includes not only high-quality care

today, but also research and technology that will provide innovative health care so-

lutions for tomorrow. The Blue Cross and Blue Shield Technology Evaluation Cen-
ter, for example, is the nation's leading publisher of technology assessment studies.

TEC provides scientific analysis and opinions that help the Blues and other health
plans determine which treatments best improve patients' health outcomes. More
than 40 percent of insured Americans are covered through health plans that use
TEC for technology assessment guidance. Moreover, TEC was one of the first sys-

tems of its kind to develop criteria for evaluating new treatments, medicines and
procedures. These criteria, and the principles on which they are based, are now the
industry leaders.

Blue Cross and Blue Shield Plans also sponsor a National Transplant Network
designed to improve the quality and outcomes of organ transplantation. The net-

work includes 40 Blue Plans and 51 nationally recognized hospitals in 26 states.
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Each participating hospital must meet rigorous quality criteria developed by inde-
pendent clinical experts. This network ensures that Blue patients who need organ
transplants have access to America's most sophisticated treatment centers.

In addition to providing expertise in technology assessment and organ transplan-
tation, the Blues offer a national medical management focus that promotes innova-
tion throughout the 63 independent Plans. The National Council on Medical Man-
agement identifies best practices and promotes them throughout the system, helping
to improve the quality of care provided to patients while enhancing physicians'
knowledge and skills.

BEYOND TREATING ILLNESS—PROMOTING HEALTH

Blue Cross and Blue Shield Plans' commitment to quality expands beyond the tra-

ditional boundaries of acute medicine. The Blues are equally dedicated to preventive
care that treats little problems early, before they become big ones. Moreover, Blue
Plans are experts in promoting healthy lifestyles and wellness.
For example, Blue Plans routinely conduct "reminder campaigns" urging women

over age 50 to obtain annual mammograms and to perform monthly breast self-ex-

aminations. Similar campaigns encourage patients to undergo Pap smears, choles-
terol tests and influenza vaccines—which are particularly important for older Amer-
icans. Blue Plans also offer toll-free, 24-hour telephone advice programs to answer
common health questions. In addition, the Blues provide their patients with a
wealth of literature and classes to help them make healthier lifestyle choices. Topics
range from smoking cessation and stress reduction to good nutrition and exercise
to memory enhancement and self-protection against crime. Blue Plans also organize
mall walking programs that promote fitness and social interaction in a fun, relaxed
atmosphere.
The Blues often provide these necessary preventive services to their entire com-

munities, not just their own members. In Pittsburgh, for instance, a mobile van
brings mammograms into shopping malls, churches, senior centers and other con-
venient community locations. Similarly, the "Health CORNER" program provides
registered nurses to 13 senior centers twice a month. More than 7000 people per
year receive blood pressure screenings, wellness classes and the nurses' one-on-one
advice through this program. In New Jersey, Plan members and non-members alike
take advantage of free tests for cholesterol, blood pressure, eye diseases and other
health indicators at the Plan's 12 health centers. Blue Plans also sponsor health
fairs and festivals, as well as the Senior Olympics. Blue Plans even provide guest
speakers on health topics for senior groups, churches, civic organizations, and tele-

vision and radio programs.

A BOND WITH ALL OLDER AMERICANS

The Blue Cross and Blue Shield philosophy of health care includes not just pre-
venting and treating illness—or even promoting healthy lifestyles—but creating
healthier, safer, more vibrant communities. That's why Blue Plans support "Adopt-
A-Neighborhood" programs that provide education, entertainment, home repair and
social support for needy citizens. The Blues also collaborate with the National Coun-
cil on Aging, as well as state and local aging agencies, to assist with home-delivered
meals and other community services. The Blue commitment to healthy communities
even includes support for the arts and cultural programs, such as the Garden State
Arts Center Senior Concert Series in New Jersey.

Blue Cross and Blue Shield Plans also use their expertise in health care delivery
to advise state and county officials on aging and disability issues. Most importantly,
the Blues involve seniors themselves in expanding and enhancing community serv-
ices. From Georgia to Kansas to Nebraska, for example. Blue Plans coordinate sen-
ior advisory councils to review Medicare customer services and combat fraud and
abuse.

Similarly, Blue Plans participate in Medicare Beneficiary Liaison Councils to ex-
change ideas with consumers, government representatives, medical societies and
other people interested in improving health care for older Americans. Blue Plans
also conduct Medicare outreach seminars in senior centers, churches and provider
sites to discuss eligibility, benefits, deductibles, coinsurance, claims processing and
other issues that some new beneficiaries find confusing. Many Blue Plans offer simi-
lar workplace-based programs for people approaching retirement.

THE NATURAL CHOICE

The Blue Cross and Blue Shield commitment to Americans over age 50 is widely
recognized. The Michigan Plan, for example, has been honored with the American
Association of Retired Persons' Partners in Healthcare Award and the American So-
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ciety on Aging Large Business Award, while the South CaroUna Plan has received
national accolades for its public awareness campaign against elder abuse.
But the most important tributes come from satisfied customers. A recent survey

by the polling firm American Viewpoint found that only two percent of Blue Cross
and Blue Shield Medicare HMO members would switch back to fee-for-service Medi-
care, even though they have the option of switching every month. That's a nearly
unanimous vote of confidence in the Blues' Medicare HMO program. The survey also
found that older Americans who have experienced both systems prefer their

HMO's—by a three-to-one margin. This finding holds true even for seniors with seri-

ous, chronic illnesses such as cancer, kidney disease and pulmonary disease.

Blue Cross and Blue Shield Plans are drawing on their decades of experience to

continuously improve the quality, efficiency and value of the health care they pro-

vide for more than 65 million Americans. As the nation's leaders in managed health
care. Blue Plans are uniquely prepared to provide Americans over 50 with high-
quality, affordable Medicare alternatives from a name they know and trust. The
Blues' commitment to constantly striving for improvement—combined with their un-
paralleled geographic reach, administrative efficiency and dedication to quality and
innovation—make Blue Cross and Blue Shield Plans the natural choice, from one
generation to the next.

Prepared Statement of Josef J. Reum

My name is Josef J. Reum, and for more than 20 years I have served in state

and local government supporting and providing social and health services to people
with disabilities and our elderly citizens. I am here today representing The Amer-
ican Health Quality Association, which is a national membership association of or-

ganizations and individuals committed to community-based quality improvement. In
September of this year I joined the association as its Executive Vice President.
Quality Improvement Organizations (QIO's), formerly known as peer review organi-
zations, and other health care improvement experts and organizations are members
of the association.

Quality Improvement Organizations (QIO's) are commvmity-based organizations
promoting health care quality in all settings. QIO's improve the care provided to pa-
tients by monitoring health care patterns, identifying opportunities for improve-
ment, interpreting and sharing information about care processes, health outcomes,
and current science at the front lines of the health care delivery system. QIO's hold
three-year contracts with the HCFA to evaluate the quality of care delivered to

Medicare beneficiaries. They serve all 50 states, the District of Columbia, and the
U.S. Territories. Additionally, QIO's work with state government and other pur-
chasers of health care to evaluate and improve the quality of care delivered to var-
ious patient populations, in all settings.

We appreciate this opportunity to submit testimony to the Subcommittee.
Our purpose in providing testimony is two-fold. First, I would like to bring to your

attention the existence of QIO's and their role in ensuring quality of care delivered
particularly to Medicare beneficiaries in both the fee-for-service and managed care
settings. This includes a discussion of AHQA's policy recommendations for a com-
prehensive quality assurance program for Medicare managed care. Second, we will

share with you some examples of the importance of QIO's in regard to quality eval-

uation in managed care and fee-for-service delivery.

THE SHIFT TO MANAGED CARE

Over ten percent of the nation's Medicare population is enrolled in managed care
plans, and Medicare enrollment in managed care plans has doubled in the past
three years. So far, in 1996, beneficiaries have been enrolling in Medicare risk plans
at a rate of almost 100,000 per month, and this dramatic rate of increase shows no
signs of abating. Nationally, 74 percent of Medicare beneficiaries have a choice of
two or more plans. While managed care enrollment varies greatly depending on geo-
graphic region, a majority of enrolled beneficiaries live in California, Florida, Or-
egon, New York, Arizona, and Hawaii. ^

1 Health Care Financing Administration Planning Conference, Discussion Questions and Con-
text Paper, May 14, 1996, pp. 15-16.
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MEDICARE MANAGED CARE: A COMPREHENSIVE QUALITY ASSURANCE PROGRAM

Internal Quality Assurance and Improvement System

As a basic principle, managed care health plans should be responsible for ensur-
ing and improving the quality of health care delivery to, and the health care out-
comes of, their enrolled populations. To accomplish this, managed care health plans
should establish internal comprehensive quality assurance and improvement sys-

tems that address plan performance, including the delivery and outcomes of care.

Currently, health maintenance organizations and competitive medical plans
(HMO's/CMP's) contracting with Medicare are required to have an internal quality
assessment and improvement program. An internal quality assessment and im-
provement program consists of the following parts:

—an ongoing program evidenced by a written plan describing the structure, re-

sponsibilities, types of activities, and specific quality improvement projects for

the coming year;
—an approach that stresses health outcomes, covering the entire range of care

provided, and that examines the effects of provider compensation and incentive
arrangements to ensure that appropriate services are in fact provided;

—a systematic iterative process to identify problems and areas for improvement
by making appropriate changes, and monitor changes over time for effective-

ness;
—peer review by physicians and other health professionals of the processes of

clinical care;

—systematic data collection of performance and patient outcomes, and interpreta-
tion and feedback of these data to practitioners; and,

—written procedures for taking appropriate action to change areas needing im-
provement, and a process to determine overall effectiveness of the program and
individual action plans.

^

External Quality Assurance and Improvement System

Internal quality assurance systems are both necessary and important, but by
themselves are incomplete and insufficient to meet the critical public need for assur-
ance of high quality health care. Public accountability demands that internal health
plan quality assurance and improvement systems be complemented by a depend-
able, reliable information system and an external analysis, verification and com-
parative improvement system.
External quality assurance mechanisms exist at different levels to meet a variety

of needs. We envision external evaluation operating on three levels:

—The first level of external quality assurance is state licensing, federal certifi-

cation, and voluntary accreditation. These processes assure that the most basic
structural aspects of quality—such as proper credentialling of professionals and
beneficiary grievance and appeals processes—and minimum standards for oper-
ating health care facilities are met. Licensing, certification and accreditation
provide a level playing field and some degree of uniformity across all plan oper-
ations.

—The second component of an external quality evaluation system is an active,

independent, community-based quality improvement program whose work goes
beyond structure and process examinations of the first level to assess and to

help improve access, clinical processes and health care outcomes. Functions of
such a program should include data collection and analysis, feedback of clinical

performance information, and, development of measures and initiatives that
lead to improvements in access and in the quality of care provided by plans to

enrollees and the surrounding community. It is important to note that this ef-

fort specifically addresses medical, surgical and other procedural treatments,
identifying specific process and systemic improvements leading to improved pa-
tient care and health status.

—The third and final level of an external quality assurance system is a public in-

formation and reporting component. Such an information system is important
for impartial and public reporting on health plan services, prices and perform-
ance in ways that will help both group purchasers and individual consumers in

the selection of health plans, and stimulates fair and honest competition based
on quality as well as cost.

This testimony offers two illustrations of the second component—an external qual-
ity improvement program—highlighted by the experiences of the Colorado and Ari-

^Armstead, Rodney C, M.D., Elstein, Paul, Ph.D., and Gorman, John. "Toward a 21st Cen-
tury Quahty Measurement System for Managed-Care Organizations." Health are Financing Re-
view. Summer 1995, Vol. 16, No. 4, pp. 25-37.
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zona Quality Improvement Organizations (QIO's). These western states were se-

lected from the total system of community based quality improvement efforts be-

cause they represent both urban and rural communities and they demonstrate two
distinctly different models of how managed care has entered the marketplace.

overview: qio role in care evaluation

Today, QIO's are leading collaborative health care improvement projects with
Medicare managed care risk contractors. Quality improvement efibrts in managed
care follow the same principles as in the fee-for-service environment, with the QIO
and the plan jointly entering into quality improvement activities.

The QIOs' work is centered on identifying and promoting opportunities to improve
medical care actually delivered. QIO's bring together managed care plans to imple-

ment ways to improve access to care, clinical processes and outcomes, and health

status. Project topics range from access to care issues identified through beneficiary

complaints; provision of preventive care, such as influenza immunization; improve-
ment in care processes, such as follow-up after an abnormal mammogram, hyper-
tension, treatment of heart disease; or surveys of patients' health statuses (diabe-

tes), to name a few. Managed care plans derive many benefits from working with
the QIO and each other. Among them are sharing of data and processes,

benchmarking performance, and continually improving care. Cost savings and mar-
ket difTerentiation are other benefits for participating plans.

The QIO experiences gained in Colorado and Arizona are significant in that the

opportunity for continuous quality improvement, and its effect on the outcomes of

care is readily apparent.

THE COLORADO MANAGED CARE EXPERIENCE

In Colorado, approximately 10 percent of the Colorado Medicare population are

participating in managed care plans, while over 25 percent of the Colorado Medicaid
population are participating in managed care plans. Statewide, almost 60 percent
of the population are involved in managed care in Colorado.
CFMC began working with managed care plans in Colorado with Medicare risk

contracts on a voluntary basis three and one-half years ago, with a quality improve-
ment activity (or project) focusing on appropriate measurement and documentation
of blood pressure in the outpatient setting. Implementation of individualized quality

improvement plans at each of the four participating HMO's resulted in remeasure-
ment evidence of clinical and statistical improvement. With this voluntary effort as

the foundation, and with the further commitment of the managed care plans in Cpl-

orado, CFMC petitioned for and was granted a waiver from HCFA to perform otl>er

quality improvement projects (QIP's) in place of the implicit chart review then re-

quired by contract.

CFMC meets regularly with the quality improvement staff and physician rep-

resentatives of all eight Medicare HMO's in Colorado to cooperatively select clinical

practice areas to focus activities in the QI arena. Diabetes was selected as the ongo-

ing, all participant project and is in the chart abstraction (clinical data collection)

phase at this time.
Once a topic for improvement is conceptualized by the HMO quality managers

and physicians, CFMC constitutes a collaborative study group for clinical content
and direction, and an internal team to develop and implement the design of the

QIP. Cooperative, consensus driven efforts by all participants have been achieved

at all phases of project management—indicator development, design, chart selection,

abstraction tool, analyses and dissemination, as well as remeasurement. Specifi-

cally, we are working with providers to identify the benchmark providers, how they
accomplish these achievements, and what it has taken to implement these systems
of care. Once known, we collaboratively share this information to let the managed
care plans compete not on the attainment of knowledge, but the application of

knowledge.
Cvurent projects being developed include management of falls, vaccine use (influ-

enza and pneumococcal), congestive heart failure (CHF), community acquired pneu-
monia (CAP), and, depression. One other outcome of these discussions has been ac-

tive consideration by the managed care plan medical directors of sharing individual

plan identities among themselves in each study to facilitate improvement learning

and accelerate change.

SHARING AMONG QIO'S

Just as QIO's serve as a facilitating, collaborative partner across managed care

plans, QIO's provide the same working relationship with their peers in other states.

Enclosed as Attachment A is information from the Arizona QIO, Health Services
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Advisory Group, Inc., which documents improvement efforts for diabetic disease
management and efforts to increase immunizations.
Concerning the fee-for-service Medicare dehvery system in Colorado, CFMC has

enclosed as Attachment B a description of a number of our health care quality im-
provement projects, the rationale for these efforts, and customer comments about
the value of our collaborative efforts to the health care system. Each of these studies

is in the remeasurement stage and offers a significant opportunity to document im-
provement of care over the baseline period.

CONCLUSION

Information shared about two QIO's is reflective of the efforts in progress nation-

wide in health care quality improvement. Based on recent information from 37
states, there are over 850 HCQIP studies in process in both the fee-for-service and
managed care delivery systems. The activities of QIO's help identify areas of im-
provement, develop and promote collaboration across hospitals and managed care
plans, and serve the Medicare beneficiaries through evaluative and improvement ef-

forts to enhance care delivered. The competitive health care system is not, by itself,

creating these efforts, nor is it providing an ability to learn what differences exist

within or between fee-for-service and managed care delivery.

The presence of an unbiased professional organization with the resources and
dedication evidence by QIO's will become even more essential as the health care

market matures. The lessons learned in Colorado, Arizona and other states are
shared across the entire QIO community, making our efforts to improve care avail-

able across the nation. The level of quality of care provided by managed care plans
should be assured and ever improved with the QIO's continued involvement.
Again, we appreciate the opportunity to testify and look forward to working with

the PPRC on designing strategies for improvement of the quality of health care
Medicare beneficiaries and all Americans.

Attachment A

THE ARIZONA EXPERIENCE

The Arizona Diabetes Pilot: A Case Study in Disease Management
In late 1993, HCFA asked the QIO's to suggest quality evaluation programs for

managed care. In early 1994, we submitted a proposal which was accepted by HCFA
that allowed the Health Services Advisory Group, Inc. (HSAG) to conduct a pilot

quality improvement program in collaboration with the (then only) six Arizona Med-
icare managed care plans. Rather than perform a random sampling of managed care

patients, we agreed to review records of randomly selected diabetic patients from
each plan. Patients were identified by the plans.

Diabetes was chosen because of the significant frequency of this condition among
the Medicare population and the high correlation between the illness and the use
of hospital services. The choice was uniformly accepted by all participants. The di-

rectors of the six managed care plans, as well as experts chosen by the plans and
HSAG, worked collaboratively to develop an agreed-upon appropriate method of

treatment for patients with diabetes (i.e., specific criteria which ought to be used
to determine the adequacy of disease management). Criteria were in keeping with
the latest scientific studies.

HSAG reviewed the patients' medical records and determined how well the plans
had adhered to the disease management criteria they themselves had determined
were most appropriate for diabetes. HSAG then fed this information back to the
plans, and showed them their specific adherence rates, as well as the aggregate
rates, so that individual plans could know how they compared to each other. Each
plan then developed a quality improvement plan to increase its compliance with the
standards to which the group had agreed. Re-study of medical records at a later

date provided the opportunity to gauge the effectiveness of each plan's efforts at

quality improvement.
Appendix One illustrates the changes in physician and patient behavior.

Next Steps

Future efforts will allow measurement of the results of higher rates of compliance
as should be manifested by lower rates of hospitalization and complications. The in-

formation gained in the Arizona diabetes project has been useful in other respects.

It has allowed HSAG not only to catalyze improvements in the managed care set-

ting, but also has afforded the opportunity to compare and contrast disease manage-
ment in both the managed care and fee-for-service settings.
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HSAG was pleased to learn that, in Arizona, there were no significant differences
between the two care settings. Results indeed have suggested that care provided in

managed care offers the possibility of being more responsive to quality improvement
efforts. This was exemplified by a separate HSAG effort to increase the immuniza-
tions against influenza, where we saw little or no change in fee-for-service, but a
marked increase of about 15 percent in managed care (comparing 1994 to 1995
data).

Appendix Two displays the data on this project.

Attachment B

improvement through innovation

cfmc—health care quality improvement projects

ACE Inhibitors in Diabetes.—Improve care in the screening and treatment of dia-

betic nephropathy (appropriate use of ACEI) in hospitalized diabetic patients.

Anticoagulation Management of Venous Thromboembolism (AMVT).—Improve
usage or emerging drug therapy and continue education regarding management of
drug therapy for anticoagulant management in patients with venous
thromboembolism.
Aspirin and Thrombolytics Use in AMI for Rural Hospitals.—Analyze the appro-

priate and timely administration of thrombolytics and aspirin in patients with AMI,
giving information to permit improvement of care in rural hospitals.

Breast Cancer Telesurvey.—Conduct a telephone survey of breast cancer patients
to obtain direct patient feedback to improve quality of life and the treatment deci-

sion processes for these patients.

Breast Conserving Therapy.—Improve the method for addressing treatment op-
tions among Medicare beneficiaries diagnosed with breast cancer.
Cancer Care in Colorado.—Analyze treatment patterns given to cancer patients

to improve the quality of cancer care in Colorado.
Congestive Heart Failure.—Improve the diagnosis and treatment of Congestive

Heart Failure in the Medicare population.
Cooperative Cardiovascular Project (CCP).—Improve the quality of care provided

to Medicare beneficiaries diagnosed with Acute Myocardioal Infarctions (AMI).
HMO Diabetes.—Decrease the rate of long term complications of Diabetes through

prevention care and early monitoring by working to improve physician practice pat-
terns in an outpatient setting.

Influenza IPneumococcal I TB (IPTB).—Improve the rates of immunization for Flu,
improve immunization rates for Pneumonia and increase screening rates for TB
among statewide nursing homes.

Peptic Ulcer Disease (PUD).—Improve treatment patterns among patients with
Peptic Ulcer Disease by screening for H. pylori.

Restraints in Nursing Homes.—Improve the quality of nursing home resident life

by standardizing the use of restraints.

Transfusions.—Improve red blood cell transfusion practices in elective surgeries
and compare post-operative infection rates based upon blood source.

THE USE OF ACE INHIBITORS IN DDVBETIC NEPHROPATHY

Background.—Over time, many diabetic patients develop nephropathy, especially
if other parameters such as hjT)ertension and hyperglycemia are not controlled. An
inpatient hospital stay creates an excellent opportunity to screen the diabetic pa-
tient for nephropathy. If nephropathy is present, treatment with angiotensin-con-
verting enzyme (ACE) inhibitors significantly slows progression of end stage renal
disease.

Purpose.—Assess the rate of screening for diabetic nephropaths during an inpa-
tient hospitalization. Assess the rate of appropriate ACE inhibitor use for patients
with mild to moderate diabetic nephropathy.
Methodology.—The statewide sample consists of 600 Medicare beneficiaries who

were hospitalized January through December 1993. The study excluded transplant
and dialysis patients.

Findings.—Appropriate urinalysis screening of diabetic patients was done on 68
percent of the studied patients. In cases where ACE inhibitor treatment was indi-

cated, only 34 percent received ACE inhibitors on discharge.
There is a significant opportunity to improve treatment of patients facing diabetic

nephropathy through the appropriate use of ACE inhibitors.



150

Provider Feedback.—Baseline results were disseminated in written format to hos-
pitals statewide in July 1995. Project presentations were initiated with physicians,
house staff, diabetes teams, and a Pharmacy and Therapeutic Committee. A CME
video on diabetes management is available for review.
Follow-up.—A remeasurement to baseline data is in progress and is expected to

demonstrate significant improvement in the screening for diabetic nephropathy and
the appropriate use of ACE inhibitors.

Contact.—Thomas Dunn, M.D., clinical coordinator, and Laura Palmer, team lead-
er, Denver CO. Phone (303) 695-3300.

CONGESTIVE HEART FAILURE—PUTTING THE PIECES TOGETHER * * *

Background.—In June 1994, AHCPR published clinical practice guidelines for the
evaluation and care of patients with left-ventricular systolic dysfunction. ^ These
guidelines address numerous facets of care including evaluation of LV function, use
of ACE Inhibitor therapy, and several discharge instruction indicators.

Purpose.—This CHF Project was designed to measure the following quality indica-
tors: Initial Evaluation of Left Ventricular Function; Use of ACE Inhibitors for pa-
tients with EF S 40 percent, in the absence of specific contraindications.
Methodology.—Seven Colorado hospitals collaborated on this project. One thou-

sand one hundred and twenty-six cases were selected from the collaborating hos-
pitals, based upon a principal diagnosis of CHF. These records were reviewed for

confirmation of the CHF diagnosis and to measure performance as compared to the
selected quality indicators.

Opportunities to Improve Care.—Approximately one-half to two-thirds of CHF pa-
tients with confirmed left ventricular dysfunction were not discharged on ACE In-

hibitor therapy. Patients with presumed left ventricular dysfunction, not confirmed
by diagnostic test, were discharged on ACE Inhibitors 20 percent of the time.
Follow-up.—Disseminated findings to provider community in October 1996; Share

project information with Colorado medical community; Provide an audiotape of ex-
pert discussion defining recognition and treatment of CHF; Offer CME credit with
CHF audiotape; and Repeat data collection once improvement plans have been im-
plemented.

Contact.—Fredrick Abrams, M.D., clinical coordinator, and Debbie Ralston, project
team manager, Denver, CO. Phone (303) 695-3300.

HMO DIABETES PROJECT

Background.—The Health Maintenance Organization (HMO) Documentation of
Blood Pressure study, conducted by CFMC, is a Health Care Quality Improvement
Project (HCQIP). CFMC and Medicare Risk HMO providers of Colorado explored the
possibility of pursuing collaborative improvement projects and expanding HCQIP
projects into the HMO arena.

Diabetes Mellitus is a chronic illness with the potential of significant socio-

economic impact. Findings from the Diabetes Control and Complications Trial
proved that tight glycemic control and quality health care substantially reduce
microvascular complications associated with diabetes. Given the complexities of co-

ordinating patient care among various primary care providers and specialists, pa-
tients with health care needs that involve many organ systems may not always re-

ceive appropriate care.

Purpose.—The HMO Diabetes Project Team and the HMO Study Group developed
the following objectives: Increase compliance rates with the American Diabetic Asso-
ciation guidelines for care; Improve physician practice patterns in outpatient care
for Diabetic Medicare patients; Decrease the rate of long-term complications of Dia-
betes Mellitus through prevention care and early monitoring.
Methodology

.

—The study sample includes 368 Medicare beneficiaries (aged 65 and
older as of 12/31/95) who were members of a Medicare-Risk HMO plan for the cal-

endar year 1995, with no more than a 45-day lapse of coverage within that year,
and who are receiving insulin and/or oral hypoglycemics per pharmacy records.

Opportunities to Improve Care.—Guidelines developed by the ADA and published
in 1989 outline the diverse medical needs of diabetic patients. Adherence to ADA
guidelines are contingent on many factors, including patient and physician compli-
ance. In some clinical settings, both patients and physicians find difficulty in com-
plying with all of the guidelines. By measuring the adherence to ADA guidelines
within a health care delivery system, providers have the opportunity to improve the

3 Heart Failure Evaluation and Care of Patients With Left-Ventricular Dysfunction. Clinical

Practice guideline Number 11 AHCPR Publication No. 94-0612. Rockville, MD. AHCPR/NHLBI,
PHS, DHHS. June 1994.
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auality of health care among patients with Diabetes Mellitus, Health Maintenance
•rganizations are in a unique position to monitor and assess the care received by

diabetic members. Moreover, they are in a situation to implement educational pro-

grams about Diabetes Mellitus for physicians and patients.

Contact.—Thomas Dunn, M.D., clinical coordinator, and Melanie Herrera Bortz,

MPA, project team leader, Denver, CO. Phone (303) 695-3300.

INFLUENZA, PNEUMOCOCCAL AND TB SURVEILLANCE IN COLORADO LONG TERM CARE
FACILITIES

Background.—Eight million new cases of TB occur each year world-wide. Twenty-
two thousand of these are reported in the United States. Thousands of people die

each year from influenza-related illnesses. Most deaths caused by influenza are in

people over age 65. The pneumococcal vaccine prevents more than just pneumonia.
Anyone 65 or older and anyone with a chronic illness should get the pneumococcal
vaccine.

Purpose.—To provide Colorado Nursing facilities with a method of educating staff,

residents, and residents' families about the availability and importance of preventa-
tive measures against Influenza and Pneumococcal and to encourage consistent

screenings for TB. To assess current immunization rates in Colorado Nursing
Homes. To compare immunization and screening rates in facilities with policies to

those without policies. To assess the impact of Medical Directors' views on immuni-
zation and screening rates. To exceed the Healthy People 2000 goal of immunizing
80 percent of all Long Term Care residents.

Methodology.—CFMC conducted a three-part data collection to assess the rates of

Influenza and Pneumococcal Vaccinations and TB surveillance in long term care fa-

cilities throughout Colorado.
—Information was obtained from long term care facilities regarding their policies

for immunizations and surveillance.

—Medical Directors of long-term care facilities were asked about their perceptions
regarding the importance of immunizations and surveillance.

—Information was collected about the actual experience of 1,215 long-term care
residents in regard to immunizations and surveillance.

Opportunities to Improve Care.—22 percent of our nursing home resident sample
had a pneumococcal vaccine documented in their record. 61 percent of our nursing
home resident sample had a documented TB screen. 83 percent of our 1,215 resident
sample had a documented Influenza vaccine. 51 percent of facilities have a policy

regarding pneumococcal vaccination. Medical Directors did not perceive the impor-
tance of influenza and pneumococcal vaccinations for long-term care facility resi-

dents. And the presence of a policy seems to improve the rate of pneumococcal im-
munization.

Contact.—Thomas Dunn, M.D., clinical director, and Debbie Ralston, project team
manager, Denver, CO. Phone (303) 695-3300.

HELICOBACTER PYLORI IN PEPTIC ULCER DISEASE

A Health Care Quality Improvement Project.—Peptic ulcer disease is associated
with significant, recurrent and chronic disability, as well as expensive maintenance
drug therapy. In the 1980's, with the discovery of Helicobacter pylori (H. pylori) in-

fection and its relationship to peptic ulcer disease, treatment for peptic ulcer disease
has changed dramatically. In addition, nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drug
(NSAID) use is a large factor in ulcers in the Medicare population. This project is

the multi-state effort of five PRO's, including Colorado, Connecticut, Oklahoma,
Georgia, and Virginia, in conjunction with the Kerr L. White Institute. (CFMC
serves as the lead PRO on this project.)

Findings.—Fifty-four percent with principal diagnosis of Peptic Ulcer Disease
were screened for H. pylori; 86 percent with a biopsy performed received a tissue

test (urease, ciilture or histology) for H. pylori; 75 percent with positive results on
H. pylori screen were treated for H. pylori; 83 percent of patients were screened for

pre-admission NSAID use; 28 percent were counseled about NSAID use. 4 percent
were counseled about the ulcer risk associated with NSAID use; and 27 percent
were treated for H. pylori empirically (without tests).

Study Aids.—The Helicobacter Pylori in Peptic Ulcer Disease project aims to as-

sess statewide and inter-state variations: in methods and freguency of diagnosing
H. pylori infections in Medicare inpatients; in the proportion of Medicare inpatients
with ulcers of the stomach and duodenum and H. pylori infections who receive ap-
propriate drug therapy to eradicate H. pylori; and in the proportion of Medicare pa-
tients with peptic ulcers who receive screening for and counseling about the use of
NSAID's.
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Study Design.—The baseline information is from a statewide random sample of
Medicare discharges with a principle diagnosis of peptic ulcer, during the period of
January 1995 through June ]995. The sample consists of 550 medical records from
each collaborating state.

Opportunities to Improve Care.—A 46 percent opportunity to improve health care
by screening for H. pylori in ulcer patients in Colorado hospitals. Substantial oppor-
tunities exist to improve counseling in the risks of ulcers by NSAID use.

Assessing Effectiveness.—After providers have an opportunity to implement im-
provement plans, CFMC will remeasure hospitals' success in the improvement of
screening and treating H. pylori in ulcer-risk patients.

Contact.—William Alexander, M.D., clinical coordinator, and Michelle Mills,

project team leader, Denver, CO. Phone (303) 695-3300.

RBC TRANSFUSIONS IN ELECTIVE SURGERY

Background.—Health Care Financing Administration (HCFA) directed PRO's to

initiate a quality improvement project addressing the appropriate use of RBC trans-
fusions. PRO members of the Kerr L. White Institute collaborated to implement this

multi-state transfusion project (CO, GA, OK, VA and CT).
Purpose.—To improve RBC transfusion practices based upon the recommendations

of the American College of Physicians (ACP).'* To compare post-operative infection

rates of all patients based upon blood source.

Methodology.—Four Colorado urban hospitals collaborated on this project. Three
elective surgical procedures were targeted: total knee replacement, total hip replace-

ment, and hysterectomy. Five hundred and thirty-nine Colorado records, represent-
ing 471 transfusions, were evaluated. Additional data were analyzed from hospital

blood banks.
Findings.—Post-operatively: 38 percent of the transfusions administered met the

ACP guidelines. Modified ACP guidelines (eliminating the crystalloid/colloid criteria)

analysis indicates 24 percent of the transfusions were appropriately administered.
Intra-operatively.—TTie appropriateness of these transfusions could not be deter-

mined. Wound infection rates were higher for patients receiving homologous trans-

fusions as compared to patients receiving autologous transfusions.
Follow-up.—Collaborating providers are currently developing improvement plans

to improve ACP guideline compliance. Remeasurement will be conducted after im-
plementation of improvement plans, tentatively targeted for early 1997.

Contact.—William Alexander, M.D., clinical coordinator and Melanie Herrera
Bortz, M.P.A., team leader, Denver, CO. Phone (303) 695-3300.

WHY WE CHOOSE WHAT WE DO

CFMC, in partnership with HCFA and collaborators throughout Colorado's health
care community, dedicates significant time and resources to identifying those areas
of health care which have the highest potential for impacting treatment. It is

CFMC's vision to innovatively lead and facilitate health care quality improvement
efforts as we move into the 21st Century.

SLOWING THE PROGRESSION OF KIDNEY DISEASE IN DIABETIC PATIENTS

The October 1996 issue of the Diabetes Care Journal noted that up to 40 percent
of the 14 million people with diabetes in the United States will develop kidney dis-

ease.

In 1990, 200,000 people in the U.S. had end stage renal disease (serious kidney
damage) resulting in direct medical and related expenditures of $7.3 billion dollars.

In 1990 alone, diabetic patients with end stage renal disease consumed more than
10 times the health care resources as the average citizen.

Treatment with ACE inhibitors was found to have a savings of up to $84,000 per
patient over the course of a lifetime, as compared to treatment with a placebo.

The present value of cumulative health care costs in the United States, if diabetic

patients were appropriately prescribed ACE inhibitors for a 10-year period, would
be $2.4 billion dollars.

CFMC's ACE Inhibitors in Diabetes project is a quality improvement effort to in-

crease appropriate use of ACE Inhibitors in the diabetic patient.

CFMC is collaborating with the health care community in both hospital and out-

patient populations. As a result of this educational and quality improvement effort,

•Goodnough LT. Meenan KR. Welch HG. Prudent strategies for elective red blood cell trans-

fusion. Annual Internal Medicine 1992:116 393-402. Audet AM, Goodnough LT. Practice strate-

gies for elective red blood cell transfusion. Annual Internal Medicine 1992:116 403—406.
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CFMC has the potential to significantly impact expenditure of health care dollars
while improving patient care and outcome.

CONGESTIVE HEART FAILURE

One-year mortality rates for patients sufTering from Congestive Heart Failure
(CHF) are in the range of 10 percent. Five-year mortality rates are in the range of
50 percent.

In 1993, The National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute (NHLBI) estimated that
nearly 4 million Americans are afflicted with heart failure.

The NHLB estimated that there are 400,000 new cases of CHF diagnosed each
year.

Landmark trials published over the last decade have demonstrated that the addi-
tion of Angiotensin-Converting Enzyme Inhibitors (ACEI) to conventional therapy
provides substantial benefit in terms of symptomatic improvement, reduced hospital
admissions, prevention of progression of heart failure, delay of death and, most sur-
prisingly, prevention of coronary events.
CFMC's CHF project involves a detailed CME program providing physician edu-

cation regarding the appropriate use of ACE Inhibitors.

DIABETES IN THE HMO SETTING

Diabetes Mellitus is a chronic illness with the potential of significant socio-

economic impact.
Findings from the Diabetes Control and Complications Trial proved that tight gly-

cemic control and quality health care substantially reduce complications associated
with diabetes.
CFMC's HMO Diabetes project has the potential of improving the long-term com-

plications of diabetes through preventive care and early monitoring. By working to

improve physician practice patterns in an HMO outpatient setting, CFMC continues
to expand its efforts in improving quality of care throughout Colorado and beyond.

INFLUENZA, PNEUMONL\ AND TB

Every year pneumonia and flu take the lives of 40,000-70,000 Americans—

a

threat comparable to that of AIDS.
The overall costs to society of these and other vaccine-preventable diseases of

adults exceeds 10 billion dollars each year.
Ninety percent of deaths caused by influenza, pneumonia, and TB occur in the

Medicare population.
CFMC's Influenza, Pneumococcal and TB project focuses on significantly increas-

ing the awareness and use of preventative measures to protect the over-65 popu-
lation from each of these diseases.

PEPTIC ULCER DISEASE

In 1994, approximately 100,000 individuals were discharged from U.S. hospitals
with a diagnosis of peptic ulcer disease or a related complication.

Individuals with peptic ulcer disease can be unknowingly infected for years or pos-
sibly a lifetime.

High recurrence of ulcers is commonly associated with H. pylori infection.

Approximately 500,000 new cases and an additional four million recurrent cases
of peptic ulcer disease occur annually.
Although death from peptic disease is rare, an annual cost of 3—4 billion dollars

is associated with this disease.
NSAID ^ use causes up to 50 percent of ulcers in the Medicare population.
Individuals developing ulcers or complications while on NSAID's should be coun-

seled regarding associated risk factors.

An opportunity exists to improve screening for H. pylori by 46 percent in Colorado
ulcer patients.

Left, untreated, readmission rates of 50 percent in one year, 100 percent in two
years, have been documented. With treatment, readmission rates of 5 percent in two
years have been observed.

FROM OUR CUSTOMERS

With results from CFMC's Cooperative Cardiovascular Project, we now have a
benchmark for treatment of patients with acute myocardial infarction.

> Non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs, i.e. aspirin.
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The Project's studies reassured us that the treatments and outcomes of patients
at our hospital are comparable to those of our peer hospitals.

Importantly, these studies enable us to focus on enhancing specific therapies for

acute MI patients.

Bill Brinton, M.D.,
Medical Director, San Luis Valley Regional Medical Center.

The quality improvement focus of CFMC has been very helpful. The HCQIP
projects have added impetus to Memorial Hospital's internal performance improve-
ment efforts.

J. Robert Peters,
Executive Director, Memorial Hospital—Colorado Springs.

The Colorado Society for Internal Medicine applauds CFMC's move from individ-

ual audit to review of disease management and trends. We believe this change al-

lows CFMC to effect real change in the practice of physicians and that it will result
in a significant contribution toward Quality Improvement in Colorado's health care
system.

David Abbey, M.D.,
President, Colorado Society for Internal Medicine.

The ongoing confidential reporting system developed by CFMC and a multidisci-
plinary CQI team here at our Medical Center has proven to be a benefit to patient
safety and the support of nurses in their practice. Improvements in the medications
process include: decrease in time required by nurses, improved labeling on unit
doses, fewer steps in obtaining IV piggybacks, decreased phone calls to the phar-
macy, less confusion regarding the amount of drugs at the patient's bedside. Contin-
ued monitoring and process improvements are ongoing.

Sheryl George, R.N., C.N.S.,
Clinical Nurse Educator, Surgical Unit, McKee Medical Center.

I am writing to tell you the alert concerning ACE inhibitor use caused
angioedema was very timely and useful. Estes Park Medical Center has encountered
at least three cases of Angioedema directly caused by ACE Inhibitors.

12-17-95.—Female patient 75 yrs of age awoke during the night with swelling
in her throat and increasing difficulty breathing. She presented with sore throat and
tongue, swelling, increasing shortness of breath, trouble swallowing saliva, and
coughing. She had been taking Prinivil 20 mg P.O.Q.D. for 4 weeks. The patient was
hospitalized and treated with Solu-medrol 125mg FV, Benadryl 50 mg IV and Zantac
50 mg rV. She recovered fully and was released. There was no other reason for her
symptoms. The diagnosis was Acute angioedema orophymyx. The adverse reaction
was classified as "critical—life threatening" when reviewed by the Pharmacy and
Therapeutics Committee.

8-10-95.—77 year old male patient presented with sudden onset of swelling of
tongue to right side and swollen neck glands. Dyspnea was present, becoming more
severe. Patient was treated with Solu-medrol 40 mg, Benadryl 50 mg P.O. and was
later released without admission. Patient has just started taking Accupril 20 mg
daily. Other medications were KCI P.O. 10 meq daily, and Furosemide 20 mg daily.

Diagnosis was lingual angioedema. Upon review, the Pharmacy and Therapeutics
Committee classified the adverse drug reaction as "critical".

There were two other cases of angioedema caused by ACE Inhibitors but I was
not able to retrieve them.

All patients were cautioned that they cannot take any drug classified as ACE In-

hibitors and to be sure they informed their physicians of this.

Please find enclosed the notice I sent to the medical staff afi,er I received your
notice.

The CFMC notice about ACE Inhibitor caused angioedema was useful and timely.

Our medical stafi" is now acutely aware that ACE Inhibitors can cause this life-

threatening syndrome. Thank you for allowing us to participate in this study. I also

look forward to participating in the Atrial Fib study."
Cliff Stuart,

Consultant Pharmacist, Estes Park Medical Center.

Prepared Statement of the American Association of Clinical
Endocrinologists

The American Association of Clinical Endocrinologists provides a unified voice for

clinical endocrinologists on issues affecting health care and the practice of endo-
crinology. As advocates for our patients, we are deeply concerned about maintaining
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necessary access to endocrinologists for people with endocrine disorders, including
diabetes, thyroid disease, osteoporosis, and other metabolic disorders. AACE appre-
ciates the opportunity to offer our views on preserving the quality of health care
to senior citizens and other vulnerable patient populations in an evolving health
care climate.

In the elderly population, there is an increased likelihood that an individual will

have two or more chronic conditions, and there is an association between the num-
ber of conditions present in one person and the occurrence of disability. The provi-
sion of care to people who are disabled contributes significantly to the financial costs
paid by the government, private insurers, and to society as a whole; and this is ex-
pected to increase in the decade ahead. The increased costs to the Medicare program
has led many health policy makers and members of Congress to recommend a full-

fledged restructuring of Medicare, with emphasis on managed care principles. While
AACE understands the need to curb the escalating costs of the program, we believe
that designers of Medicare managed care delivery systems must allow for the fact

that managed care strategies that are effective for the general public may not be
the most therapeutic or cost effective for vulnerable popiilations such as senior citi-

zens and the chronically ill.

For example, diabetes and osteoporosis are two chronic conditions frequently
treated by endocrinologists for which specialized care has demonstrated benefits. Di-
abetes is the nation's fourth leading cause of death, affecting 14 million Americans
at an annual expense in excess of $100 billion. Osteoporosis affects 2 million Ameri-
cans at an annual expense of approximately $10 billion. However, with early detec-
tion and intensive management—treatment strategies that are ofl;en hindered by
managed care hurdles—tremendous opportunity exists to enhance the health out-
comes of individuals suffering from these conditions while reducing the expense of
providing their care.

THERAPEUTIC BENEFITS AND COST-EFFECTIVENESS OF ENDOCRINE CARE

In patients with complex chronic conditions, including diabetes and other endo-
crine-related disorders, care by specialists who are specifically trained to treat these
conditions has proven therapeutic and economic benefit. Diabetes treatment is a
prime example of a chronic condition that offers potential for improved outcomes
and cost-savings simultaneously. Virtually no other condition has a greater potential
for a wide range of long-term negative health ramifications. Insufficient manage-
ment of this condition inevitably leads to heart disease, blindness, kidney failure,

amputation, and loss of life, which imposes great individual health burdens and in-

creased cost to the health care system. Conversely, intensive diabetes management
has been proven to improve outcomes and reduce complications and their associated
health care costs. As demonstrated by the Diabetes Control and Complications Trial
(DCCT), an NIH-sponsored trial completed in June, 1993, intensive regulation of
blood sugar levels results in better outcomes and reduced incidence of complications.
The preliminary results were so striking that the study was stopped after one year
so that all participants could benefit from intensive blood sugar management. The
results showed that intensive control resulted in a 75 percent reduction in early dia-
betic retinopathy, a 56 percent reduction in diabetic kidney disease, and a 60 per-
cent reduction in nerve damage. The increased positive outcomes and decreased risk
of complications, along with the attendant reduction in cost related to diabetic pa-
tient care, provide a compelling case for open access to endocrinologists for diabetic
patients.

Similarly, osteoporosis is a disease that is largely preventable via early detection
of low bone mass through specialized tests which endocrinologists are uniquely ex-
perienced in performing. With early detection and treatment, such as hormone re-

placement therapy, substantial cost savings can be realized through reduced inci-

dence of fractures and subsequent hospitalizations, as well as improved quality of
life of those affected.

SPECIALTY ACCESS REQUIREMENTS NEEDED FOR MEDICARE

In order to ensure that Medicare beneficiaries have the access to specialty care
with proven benefits in terms of health outcomes and cost-effectiveness, AACE be-
lieves any health care delivery system choosing to participate in Medicare managed
care programs should be required to provide access to the patient's specialist of
choice, particularly to patients with chronic conditions. A mandatory Point-of-Serv-
ice option (POS) should be made available to Medicare beneficiaries. Mandatory
POS options will ensure that the long-term physician/patient relationships that form
the core of effective endocrinology care will not be threatened, leading to fewer peri-

ods of patient disability and increased positive outcomes. Patients with life-threat-
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ening diagnoses should not have their likelihood of survival depend on the length
of time until their next annual open enrollment season. Without the POS option,
patients will be discouraged from obtaining the comprehensive, cost-effective, cog-
nitive level of care that is most appropriate for their needs.

In addition, subspecialists such as endocrinologists should be allowed to act as
primary care physicians for the chronically ill patient populations that they are spe-
cifically trained to treat. As primary care physicians, endocrinologists are able to

provide patients with diabetes with the intensive condition management proven to

achieve optimal results without the unnecessary encumbrance of repeated referrals.

The results of the DCCT provide striking evidence that endocrinologists, acting as
the patients' primary care physician as well as the subspecialist best trained to care
for their chronic conditions, can greatly enhance both improved health outcomes and
cost-effectiveness.

Finally, subspecialists such as endocrinologists should be allowed to act as pri-

mary care physicians for some patients and as consultants for other patients. When
managed care plans force subspecialists to limit their scope of practice to either pri-

mary care or consultative care, subspecialist physicians choosing to practice as pri-

mary care physicians are denied the right to practice in their field of specific exper-
tise and thus cannot help those patients most in need of their skills and training.
Conversely, those choosing to act as subspecialist consultants are prevented by gate-
keeper requirements from providing their patients the intensive illness management
proven to achieve optimal health outcomes. In either case, the best interests of the
patients are not being served and the subspecialist's ability to provide the most ef-

fective, cost-efficient level of care possible is compromised. It is important to note
though, that because they were first trained in general internal medicine,
endocrinologists still have the requisite "core" training to provide comprehensive pri-

mary care to their patients. We feel that managed care entities should not automati-
cally assume that because of the specialist nature of endocrinology that its practi-

tioners cannot or do not serve as their patients primary care physician. Often, pa-
tients with diabetes or a related diseases rely on his or her endocrinologist for the
full continuum of care, both primary and specialty.

AACE strongly urges Congress to promote access to subspecialty physicians by re-

quiring mandatory POS options and allowing subspecialists to act as either primary
care physicians or consultants for the chronically ill patient populations that they
are specifically trained to treat. In view of the high costs of disability, medical care
and surgery associated with the progression of chronic diseases, the data dem-
onstrating the benefits of specialty access have important financial and medical im-
plications. Health care payers that make it difficult for vulnerable patient popu-
lations such as patients with diabetes, osteoporosis, thyroid disease and other meta-
bolic disorders to see an endocrinologist could be delaying positive outcomes for the
patient while increasing the costs of care to the patient's health plans.
The AACE appreciates the opportunity to present our views on these matters.

Prepared Statement of the American College of Rheumatology

The American College of Rheumatology is an organization of physicians, health
professionals, and scientists that serves its members through programs of education,
research and advocacy that foster excellence in the care of people with arthritis and
rheumatic and musculoskeletal diseases. The ACR appreciates the opportunity to

offer our views on preserving the quality of health care to senior citizens and other
vulnerable patient populations in an evolving health care climate.

Arthritis ranks #1 among the ten leading health problems of individuals age 50
and older. No condition impairs the quality of life of more older adults—and does
so to a greater extent—than does arthritis. In the elderly population, there is an
increased likelihood that an individual will have two or more chronic conditions, and
there is an association between the number of conditions present in one person and
the occurrence of disability. The provision of care to people who are disabled contrib-
utes significantly to the financial costs paid by the government, private insurers,
and to society as a whole; and this is expected to increase in the decade ahead.
The ACR is aware that the costs of the federal Medicare program continue to in-

crease well above the Consumer Price Index. The increased costs of the program
have led many health policy makers and members of Congress to recommend a full-

fledged restructuring of Medicare, with emphasis on managed care principles. While
the ACR understands the need to curb the escalating costs of the program, we be-
lieve that designers of Medicare managed care delivery systems must allow for the
fact that managed care strategies that are effective for the general public may not
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be the most therapeutic or cost efFective for vulnerable populations such as senior

citizens and the chronically ill.

THERAPEUTIC BENEFITS AND COST-EFFECTIVENESS OF RHEUMATOLOGIC CARE

A study performed by the California Pacific Medical Group on patients with ar-

thritis and related conditions indicated that patients with rheumatologists as their

primary care physicians had an average total cost per patient per month that was
35 percent less than patients who had non-rheumatologists as their primary care
physicians. Another study showed that rheumatologists' initial diagnoses of hos-

pitalized acute arthritis patients are often more accurate than diagnoses made by
non-rheumatologists. Consequently, treatment of these people by rheumatologists
led to swifter improvement and briefer hospital stays. Average cost of care for these
arthritis patients (those treated by a rheumatologist) was $8,756, while care by non-
rheumatologists averaged $14,750, a cost savings of 41 percent. According to further

research, patients with arthritis and related diseases who visit a rheumatologist
quarterly are more likely to see improvements in their first year of treatment than
patients who visit a rheumatologist less regularly. Obviously, closely monitoring the
condition of a patient with arthritis or a related condition decreases the likelihood

of expensive hospital stays or invasive procedures.
Therapeutic benefit also results from rheumatologically coordinated care. Less

fragmentation of the patient's continuous long-term care, whether caused by an ar-

bitrary guideline or financial disincentive, will lead to more effective care manage-
ment and greater patient comfort levels. Examples of arbitrary guidelines that frag-

ment coordinated care are the use of non-specialty gatekeepers that create hassles
for both patients and physicians, and policies that force subspecialists to limit their

scope of practice to either primary care or consultative care. Financial disincentives

that restrict provider access utilized by some healthcare delivery systems include
the use of higher deductibles and lower coinsurance rates for services rendered by
non-network providers. When patients have open access to specialists, their condi-

tions invariably improve, and their degree of comfort will be higher (via increased
compliance with their prescription regimen).

SPECIALTY ACCESS REQUIREMENTS NEEDED FOR MEDICARE

In order to ensure that Medicare beneficiaries have the access to specialty care
with proven benefits in terms of health outcomes and cost-effectiveness, ACR feels

that health delivery systems must be subject to several requirements in order to

participate in the Medicare managed care program. First, a mandatory Point-of-

Service option (POS) must be made available to Medicare beneficiaries. Mandatory
POS options will ensure that the long-term physician/patient relationships that form
the core of effective rheumatologic care will not be threatened, leading to fewer peri-

ods of patient disability and increased positive outcomes. Patients with life-threat-

ening diagnoses should not have their likelihood of survival depend on the length
of time until their next annual open enrollment season. Without the POS option,

patients will be discouraged from obtaining the comprehensive, cost-effective, cog-

nitive level of care that is most appropriate for their needs.
Second, subspecialists such as rheumatologists must be allowed to act as primary

care physicians for the chronically ill patient populations that they are specifically

trained to treat. As primary care physicians, rheumatologists will have the oppor-
tunity to provide patients with arthritis or a related diseases with the intensive con-

dition management proven to achieve optimal results without the unnecessary en-

cumbrance of repeated referrals. Evidence abounds that rheumatologists often act

as the patients' primary care physician as well as the subspecialist best trained to

care for their chronic conditions. A study conducted in the 1970's, by the Robert
Wood Johnson Foundation and the University of Southern California analyzed medi-
cal services provided by physicians in 24 medical subspecialties, including
rheumatology. The study noted that for a significant percentage of their patient pop-
ulation, internal medicine subspecialists provided regular patient care, and met
most of their patients' needs. The study further indicated that rheumatologists pro-

vided a significant percentage of primary care to their patients, some 52.9 percent.
The study clearly demonstrates that rheumatologists provides a substantial amount
of primary care as well as specialty care.

Finally, subspecialists such as rheumatologists should be allowed to act as pri-

mary care physicians for some patients and as consultants for other patients. When
managed care plans force subspecialists to limit their scope of practice to either pri-

mary care or consultative care, subspecialist physicians choosing to practice as pri-

mary care physicians are denied the right to practice in their field of specific exper-
tise and thus cannot help those patients most in need of their skills and training.
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Conversely, those choosing to act as subspecialist consultants are prevented by gate-
keeper requirements from providing their patients the intensive illness management
proven to achieve optimal health outcomes. In either case, the best interests of the
patients are not being served and the subspecialist's ability to provide the most ef-

fective, cost-efficient level of care possible is compromised. It is important to note
though, that because they were first trained in general internal medicine,
rheumatologists still have the requisite "core" training to provide comprehensive pri-

mary care to their patients. We feel that managed care entities should not automati-
cally assume that because of the specialist nature of rheumatology that its practi-

tioners cannot or do not serve as their patients primary care physician. Often, pa-
tients with arthritis or a related disease rely on his or her rheumatologist for the
full continuum of care, both primary and specialty.

The ACR strongly urges Congress to promote access to subspecialty physicians by
requiring mandatory POS options and allowing subspecialists to act as either pri-

mary care physicians or consultants for the chronically ill patient populations that
they are specifically trained to treat. In view of the high costs of disability, medical
care and surgery associated with the progression of chronic diseases such as osteo-

arthritis, osteoporosis, and other diseases of the muscles, bones, and joints, the data
demonstrating the benefits of specialty access have important financial and medical
implications. Health care payers that make it difficult for vulnerable patient popu-
lations such as patients with arthritis or related diseases to see rheumatologists
could be delaying positive outcomes for their patients while increasing the costs of
care to the patient's health plans.

The ACR appreciates the opportunity to present our views on these matters.

Prepared Statement of the American Occupational Therapy Association

SUMMARY

The American Occupational Therapy (AOTA) appreciates the opportunity to sub-
mit testimony to the Subcommittee on Labor, Health and Human Services, and
Education of the Committee on Appropriations addressing the quality of health care
provided to Medicare patients enrolled in health maintenance organizations
(HMO's).
As Congress looks to managed care as a solution to controlling health care costs,

steps need to be taken to ensure that consumers have access to the care they need
and that undue pressures to control costs are not applied that threaten the quality
of care. Significantly worse health outcomes were reported for HMO-enrolled chron-
ically ill elderly patients compared to those in fee-for-service in a study conducted
by John Ware of the New England Medical Center.
The AOTA has heard from occupational therapy practitioners and their patients

regarding the utilization management methods and procedures followed by managed
care organizations (MCO's), as well as information disclosure restrictions that have
had serious consequences for access to rehabilitative care. Reports have described
procedures where the review process does not involve adequately trained medical
personnel even for critical care cases, the treating health professionals are not con-

sulted, and patient charts are not reviewed. Patients and their families have a dif-

ficult time getting access to information concerning health plan decisions such as
the criteria and steps followed to approve care, credentials of reviewers, and the

health plan's policies regarding grievance procedures and appeal rights. Routinely,
arbitrary time or visit limits are placed on rehabilitative care without review of a
patient's individual needs.
Also evident in these cases are the added burdens and pressures placed on spe-

cialist physicians to intervene on behalf of the patient. MCO gatekeepers are often

not experienced in the diagnosis and treatment of more chronic care conditions. Oc-
cupational therapy practitioners report that the amount of time the specialist

spends negotiating on the patient's behalf and explaining complicated diagnoses to

gatekeepers is troubling.
Federal oversight is necessary to ensure that access to high quality health care

is not compromised. Congress should take action to require that all types of health
plans, including plans that serve Medicare patients, comply with uniform national
standards. These standards should: (1) require health plans to meet specific utiliza-

tion review and information disclosure standards; (2) prohibit discriminatory prac-

tices against health care providers; (3) require health plans to demonstrate their ca-

pacity to meet the full range of health care needs of enroUees appropriately; (4)

guarantee that consumers will have access to specialized care including out-of-net-
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work care; and (5) require due process protections for consumers and health care
providers.

The American Occupational Therapy Association (AOTA) appreciates the oppor-
tunity to submit testimony to the Subcommittee on Labor, Health and Human Serv-
ices, and Education of the Committee on Appropriations addressing the quality of
health care provided to Medicare patients enrolled in health maintenance organiza-
tions (HMO's).
The AOTA represents the professional interests of 56,000 occupational therapists,

occupational therapy assistants and students of occupational therapy. Occupational
therapy practitioners provide services to millions of people of all ages each year in
hospitals, nursing facilities, outpatient rehabilitation clinics, psychiatric facilities

and school systems, through home health agencies and offices of independent practi-
tioners.

The treatment goals of an occupational therapy practitioner focus on promoting
independence and preventing further disability. The therapist's interventions are
designed to assist individuals in overcoming or adapting to limitations imposed by
an illness or injury and to improve the extent of functional recoveries. From a man-
aged care perspective, offering occupational therapy as an integral part of treatment
avoids unnecessary medical expenses and prevent incidents of long term disability.

Occupational therapy practitioners work with individuals with a range of problems
such as strokes, spinal cord injuries, cancer, severe head injuries, congenital defects,

mental illness, and multiple sclerosis. Occupational therapy helps patients, families
and insurance companies avoid the costly consequences of dependent living.

As Congress looks to managed care as a solution to controlling health care costs,

steps need to be taken to ensure that consumers have access to the care they need
and that undue pressures to control costs are not applied that threaten the quality
of care. Currently no uniform national standards exist holding the various types of
managed care organizations (MCO's) accountable under the same standards for the
care they provide to consumers.
Cost is still more important than the quality of care in today's managed care mar-

ket and MCO's who have elected to focus on quality have not been rewarded for

their efforts. A recent survey by William M. Mercer, Inc. of 196 mid-size to large
companies identified cost as the most important factor to consider when contracting
with a managed care plan. While quality care was cited as important to many of
these companies, only 20 percent identified an HMO's accreditation by the National
Committee for Quality Assurance (NCQA) as important. Many HMO's have com-
plained of losing business to unaccredited HMO's and are frustrated that their ef-

forts to seek accreditation have not resulted in rewards by way of increased enroll-

ments or higher profits.

The quality of care of chronically ill elderly patients receiving care through HMO's
was recently questioned in a study conducted by John Ware of the New England
Medical Center. The study found significantly worse health outcomes for HMO-en-
rolled patients compared to patients receiving care through fee-for-service arrange-
ments, suggesting the need for more careful scrutiny of the quality of care provided
to Medicare patients through HMO's and other types of MCO's.

ACCESS TO REHABILITATIVE CARE

The AOTA has heard from occupational therapy practitioners and their patients
regarding the utilization management methods and procedures followed by MCO's,
as well as information disclosure restrictions that have had serious consequences for

access to rehabilitative care. Reports have described procedures where the review
process does not involve adequately trained medical personnel even for critical care
cases, the treating health professionals are not consulted, and patient charts are not
reviewed. Patients and their families have a difficult time getting access to informa-
tion concerning health plan decisions such as the criteria and steps followed to ap-
prove care, credentials of reviewers, and the health plan's policies regarding griev-
ance procedures and appeal rights. Routinely, arbitrary time or visit limits are
placed on rehabilitative care without review of a patient's individual needs.
Also evident in these cases are the added burdens and pressures placed on spe-

cialist physicians to intervene on behalf of the patient. MCO gatekeepers are often
not experienced in the diagnosis and treatment of more serious chronic care condi-
tions. Occupational therapy practitioners report that the amount of time the special-
ist spends negotiating on the patient's behalf and explaining complicated diagnoses
to gatekeepers is troubling.
One case recently brought to our attention involved a patient who sustained se-

vere head injuries as a result of an automobile accident. Initially the family's man-
aged Care organization refused to pay for their son's rehabilitation, despite numer-
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ous recommendations from the physicians treating him. Only after hiring an attor-

ney and launching a letter writing campaign did the MCO relent and provide the
services the son needed. The necessary rehabilitative care would probably not have
been approved had the parents not been tenacious in their efforts to seek outside
help from public officials. In addition, the two month delay in initiating treatment
could adversely affect the patient's prognosis and ultimate level of recovery.

Information disclosure restrictions have been a problem for occupational thera-
pists. An increasing number of occupational therapy practitioners have been re-

quired to sign contracts containing "gag" clauses. These clauses have varied in scope
from preventing occupational therapy practitioners from discussing treatments with
patients to prohibiting occupational therapy practitioners from divulging financial

arrangements with the MCO. These clauses typically contain a threat of immediate
termination for violations of the provision.

Many occupational therapists report of changes in the way they interact and
share information with their patients as result of these clauses and more subtle un-
written pressures from the MCO's. Occupational therapy practitioners have been
particularly conflicted on what to tell their patients in situations where the amount
of rehabilitative care approved by the MCO has expired and the patient still re-

quires medically necessary care.

The AOTA has also heard from members regarding MCO's that do not offer occu-
pational therapy services or allow occupational therapy practitioners to participate
in provider networks. Some MCO's have contracted exclusively with preferred pro-
vider rehabilitation networks that don't include occupational therapists on their
panels. In other cases, MCO's won't reimburse occupational therapy practitioners for

services they are qualified to provide, even in cases where they have already pro-

vided the service. One area where this has been a problem is with hand therapy,
an area of subspecialty in which both occupational therapists and physical thera-
pists practice. Occupational therapy practitioners have described instances where
the service has been pre-approved by the MCO, but when the occupational therapist
submits a claim for payment, payment is denied because the MCO's policy only rec-

ognizes physical therapists as providers of hand therapy.

FEDERAL OVERSIGHT IS NEEDED

Federal oversight is necessary to ensure that access to high quality health care
is not compromised. Congress should take action to require that all types of health
plans, including plans that serve Medicare patients, comply with uniform national
standards. These standards should.

(1) Require health plans to meet specific utilization review and information disclo-

sure standards.—An increasing number of health plans are implementing utilization

review procedures to control the use of health care services. These procedures
should not only be used as a mechanism to control costs but should also ensure ac-

cess to appropriate care when necessary. Health plans should operate utilization re-

view practices that require staff involved with making both non-emergency and
emergency care decisions to be clinically trained. Care decisions in which specialized

training is required, particularly for individuals with complex or chronic health deci-

sions, should involve health professionals qualified to review the provision of such
services, and give consumers the option of choosing a specialist as their gatekeeper.
Under information disclosure and reporting requirements health plans should be

required to provide enroUees with truthful, accurate and easily understandable mar-
keting materials and information about coverage provisions, benefits and exclusions
by category of service and type of health professional. This is particularly important
for elderly patients who may not have family to rely on to help them understand
this information. Financial information should also be available including the finan-

cial arrangements between the plans and providers including incentive and bonus
options, as well as information on the percentage of health care dollars that go to

profits and administration.
(2) Prohibit discriminatory practices against health care providers.—It is impor-

tant that reasonable access to occupational therapy practitioners and other health
professionals be guaranteed to ensure consumers' health care needs are met. An es-

sential first step for creating equitable access to all health professionals is to incor-

porate into any health care legislation antidiscrimination requirements that prohibit

health plans from arbitrarily excluding entire classes or types of health profes-

sionals from their provider panels/networks on the basis of their category of licen-

sure or certification.

This antidiscrimination language is not "any willing provider" language. It does
not require a health plan to enter into a contract with every individual practitioner,

but rather would require the plan to have a representative variety of health profes-
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sions in its network or on its provider panel. Antidiscrimination language is in-

tended to give health plans more flexibility than "any willing provider" require-

ments by allowing health plans the discretion to contract selectively on the basis

of an individual health professional's reputation, professional qualifications, and evi-

dence of cost-effective, quality care.

(3) Require health plans to meet specific capacity standards.—Legislation should
ensure that health plans have the resources and capacity to meet the needs of plan
enrollees. Health plans must be certified and demonstrate their ability to meet the

full range of health care needs of enrollees appropriately, including requiring that

they have a sufficient number, mix and distribution of health professionals in their

network panel; ensure covered services are available and accessible in the service

area of the plan, through a variety of sites with reasonable proximity to the resi-

dences and workplaces of enrollees; provide services with reasonable promptness (in-

cluding reasonable hours of operation and after-hour services); and reasonably as-

sure the continuity of care.

(4) Guarantee that consumers will have access to specialized care including out-

of-network care.—Consumers need to know they will have access to specialized care

if necessary. If this care is not available within a health plan's network, or the
consumer is concerned about the type or quality of this care, they need to know they
can seek help outside the network at a higher reasonable copayment. Two alter-

native approaches have been proposed to address access to care outside of a health
plan's network. One option is to require the MCO that offers a closed panel plan
(e.g. a staff-model health maintenance organization) to also offer a point-of-service

plan. The other option is to require all MCO's, regardless of their type, to allow en-

rollees to go out of network to receive care, applying an additional copayment re-

quirement.
(5) Require due process protections for consumers and heath care providers.—As

health plans develop new procedures for controlling the utilization of care, consum-
ers and providers must have some recourse for questioning health plan decisions.

Due process protections provide a mechanism by which consumers and providers are
informed of health plan decisions that affect their participation and delivery of care
and are offered an opportunity to respond to these decisions, especially when access
to care is denied.

Under due process protections for providers, health plans should be required to

follow certain procedures in creating and maintaining network of providers, such as
publishing the criteria for participation in the network and providing for an appeals
process in the event of termination of a provider from in the network.

MEDICARE REFORM LEGISLATION SHOULD INCLUDE QUALITY STANDARDS

The AOTA urges the Subcommittee to examine issues with managed care that
have been raised through various legislation introduced and to require MCO's to

meet specific quality standards as a condition to participation in the Medicare pro-

gram.
The Patient Communications Protections Act introduced by Senator Ron Wyden

(D-OR) seeks to define the "anti-gag" rules between MCO's and health care provid-

ers. This legislation represents a major step toward protecting important provider-

patient communication and curbing a range of abuses. Communication is particu-

larly important with elderly patients who often become more dependent on their

health care providers and require more assistance.

On the House side, Representatives Charles Norwood (R-GA) and Bill Brewster
(D-OK) have introduced the Family Health Care Fairness Act (H.R. 2400) which es-

tablishes uniform national standards for all types of health plans including self-in-

sured plans. The AOTA appreciates the work that went into drafting this bill, and
applauds their efforts to incorporate the best policies of those managed care organi-

zations that voluntarily require providers to emphasize quality care and consumer
involvement. We urge the Subcommittee to carefully examine each of the issues ad-
dressed in this bill and respond to the concerns of Medicare beneficiaries.

UNIFORM STANDARDS CAN BENEFIT EVERYONE

Requiring MCO's to meet basic standards can benefit everyone. Reports that the
managed care industry has reached a maturation point, with too many companies
competing in the market, means MCO's will be looking for new ways to cut costs

as competition intensifies. The fear is that MCO's will compete by lowering costs

and not attend to the quality of their product. Requiring each MCO to meet the
same standards can put all health plans on a level playing field, setting the stage
for real competition.
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Standards can reassure citizens that their legislators support the need for quality
health care when they promote the use of managed care as a way to cut health care
costs. Standards can also provide assurances to a growing Medicare population that
MCO's are worth moving into. Employers who are increasingly putting their own
pressvu-e on MCO's to meet credentialing standards can be assisted by national
standards.
The AOTA appreciates the Subcommittee's interest in holding a hearing to discuss

these important issues. The Association and our 56,000 members are committed to

providing the public with quality occupational therapy services and the delivery of
quality care by appropriately trained health care professionals in managed care
plans. We will support and work to secure constructive proposals to achieve those
ends.
We look forward to more hearings and further discussion with organizations who

represent the interests of a broad range of health professionals and services. We
urge the Subcommittee to address a variety of issues including how managed care
organizations are planning for, and serving the needs of, elderly patients with more
serious chronic health care conditions.

We appreciate the opportunity to submit this statement for the record, and look
forward to working with Senator Specter and the members of the Subcommittee to

ensure Medicare beneficiaries receive quality health care services through HMO's
and other types of managed care organizations.

Letter From Donaud W. Fisher

American Medical Group Association,
Alexandria, VA, December 4, 1996.

Senator Arlen Specter,
Chairman, Senate Labor/HHS Appropriations Subcommittee,
Washington, DC.
Dear Chairman Specter: I am writing to provide additional information for the

record of the Nov. 13, 1996 subcommittee hearing on Quality of Care in Managed
Care Settings pursuant to your request of Dr. Robert Margolis.
You requested that the American Medical Group Association supplement our for-

mal testimony with further information regarding compensation of physicians in or-

ganized medical groups, and on the measurement of patient satisfaction. Both areas
of your interest are relevant to the topic of the hearing and an appreciation for the
emerging sciences of organizational management of medicine and clinical outcomes
research.

physician compensation

Compensation trends in medical groups have changed significantly since Congress
enacted legislation establishing a Medicare fee schedule for physicians services.

Congress' stated intent in enacting the Medicare fee schedule was the rationaliza-

tion of payment for physician services. But while HCFA was implementing the fee

schedule, the market for physician services has changed. Many group practices have
restructured the formulas by which physicians are compensated to assure that all

personnel are fairly compensated for their contribution to the mission of the group
practice.

There are many methodologies for determining the income of physicians in group
practices. The Medicare fee schedule established unit prices for all distinct services

and procedures. The 'relative value units' established by HCFA have become the
basis of many independently created measures of productivity, but pure fee-for-serv-

ice reimbursement is giving way to salary structures coupled with incentive pro-

grams designed to facilitate the medical mission of the organization which employs
or contracts with physicians.

State-of-the-art physician compensation systems are rapidly changing as provider
services have come to be viewed as cost centers as opposed to revenue centers. The
variables which an organization measures to determine the relative productivity of

members of the group varies but might include:

—patient encounters, panel and non-panel;
—quality of care, measured by total of charts reviewed, percentage rated satisfac-

tory or superior, and CME credits;

—quality of service measured through patient satisfaction ratings, patient com-
plaints, liability claims, compliments, office visits, new office visits, consulta-

tions, and complete physical exams;
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—cost effectiveness, measured by primary care physician panel activity, total cost

of external referrals, ancillary service utilization, and length-of-stay in acute or
SNF facilities;

—organizational participation measured by participation in staff, department, or
committee meetings, CQI/guideline meetings, hospital and specialty society

meetings, and community activities;

—contributions to medical education; and
—research activities.

The difficult challenge to an integrated delivery system comes as it merges data
from fee-for-service and capitated systems. Rarely do the physicians and other care
providers know, or have any way of knowing, the source of reimbursement for an
individual patient. But once the efficiencies of capitation are realized among clini-

cians in the group, the mindset which results is heavily biased towards patient and
care management.
There is a significant and growing body of research now demonstrating that pa-

tient care management not only leads to superior clinical outcomes, but also is more
economically efficient.

As a matter of efficient public policy, the challenge to you as the Chairman of the
Senate Appropriations Subcommittee responsible for HHS appropriations is to iden-
tify what mechanisms create these efficiencies and support them. We urge you to

carefully consider accelerating the rate of funding for clinical outcomes research con-
ducted under the auspices of the Agency for Health Care Policy and Research.

PATIENT SATISFACTION

In September of 1995, the American Medical Group Association launched a col-

laborative project with several of our members to collect a standard set of patient
satisfaction information. Within this initiative, our medical groups are able to

benchmark and compare their patient satisfaction results by using a standardized
patient satisfaction measure and protocol provided by AMGA. Participants of this

data collection effort use the survey results for the periodic monitoring of the quality
of care provided within their own group practices and benchmarking physician level

results for quality improvement purposes.
I have enclosed a copy of AMGA's Outcomes Measurement Consortia: Patient Sat-

isfaction Overview which will provide you with a more detailed explanation of this

project to improve the quality of medical care for thousands of patients. AMGA
strongly believes that it is this type of research that should be encouraged and sup-
ported. We urge Congress to continue funding the outcomes measurement efforts

undertaken by organizations like ours and the Agency for Health Care Policy and
Research.

CONCLUSION

We hope these comments are helpful to you as you prepare for the 105th Con-
gress. As always, we stand available and eager to discuss these issues with you fur-

ther.

Sincerely,

Donald W. Fisher,
Ph. D., CAE, Chief Executive Officer.
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Patient Satisfaction Consortium Overview

Introduction

Starting in September of 1995, several members of the American Medical Group Association

(AMGA) began a collaborative project to benchmark their patient satisfaction resxilts by using a

standardized patient satisfaction measure and protocol provided by AMGA. Members of the

consortia are using the survey results for the periodic monitoring of the quality of care provided

within their own group practices and benchmarking physician level resxilts for quality improvement

purposes. Individual providers compare themselves to other physicians within their respective

practices, to a national like-specialty benchmark, and to the database at the aggregate level.

Where applicable, physician results from previous data collection cycles are also provided as a

benchmaric of quality improvement The participating multispecialty groups are able to compare

their results with complete confidentiality.

Currently, there are 14 medical groups that have contributed data to the AMGA patient

satisfaction database. The figiu^ below graphically represents the geographic location of these

group practices by state. To date, 44,780 patient satisfaction records have been contributed to the

database by almost 1 ,000 physicians.

Geographical Representation of Patient Satisfaction Participation

NaakCTtrCnupa ia EKk StKe
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The Survey

To collect the patient satisfaction data, patients are asked to complete a questionnaire during their

clinic visit that includes a set of nine items adapted from the Group Health Association of America

(now the American Association of Health Plans) Visit-Specific Questionnaire (Ware & Hays, 1988;

Davies & Ware, 1991). The nine-item core survey is composed of three questions regarding

accessibility of care, five questions pertaining to quality of care, and an overall visit rating.

The accessibility dimension (questions 1 to 3) is assessed through questions regarding:

• APPOINTMENT WAIT

• OFFICE LOCATION

• TELEPHONE ACCESS

The acceptability of the visit (questions 4 to 8) is assessed by rating:

OFHCE WATT

TIME SPENT WITH PROVIDER

EXPLANATION OF WHAT WAS DONE

TECHNICAL SKILLS OF PROVIDER

PERSONAL MANNER OF PROVIDER

The overall rating of the visit is c^tured by question 9:

• VISIT OVERALL

Finally, questions 10 to 13 assessing the patient's health status, endorsement of the provider,

gender, and age are included. Health status, age, and gender are used to interpret provider- and

clinic-level ratings. Past experience suggests that this integrated survey may be completed by

most patients in one to two minutes.
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Methodology

Patient Sampling and Selection

A selection of patients, representative ofeach provider's usiial practice, is asked to complete the

visit-specific patient satisfaction survey. Patient selection is systematic based on the average

number of patients visiting a provider during a typical week. A patient selection matrix is

provided by AMGA to determine the sampling procedure which is based on each provider's

weekly volume. Administration of patient surveys continues on consecutive days in the clinic

until a minimum 30 completed surveys per provider has been reached. Experience suggests that

clinics should be able to complete 12 to 20 surveys a week for each provider and that the entire

sample can be completed in two to three weeks.

Patient Eligibility

The following is inclusion and exclusion criteria for survey administration.

INCLUDE THE FOLLOWING:
• any patient 1 6 years of age or older

• any caregiver (e.g., parent, grandparent, sibling 16 years of age or older,

or child care provider) for a child imder 16 years of age

• any caregiver (e.g., parent, spouse, significant other) for patients with severe

cognitive impairments (e.g., Alzheimer's patients) or with severe sensory-motor

impairments, or for patients unable to read the satisfaction survey.

EXCLUDE THE FOLLOWING:
Patients meeting the following criteria who are unaccompanied by a caregiver:

• severe cognitive impairments (e.g., Alzheimer's patients)

• severe sensory-motor impairments

• inability to read the satisfaction survey

• under 16 years ofage

Data Collection

Upon arriving for a [provider encounter, each eligible patient is handed a survey either in an

envelope or folder with the written instructions attached to the outside. The patient is asked to

complete the siirvey immediately after seeing the provider, but before leaving the office. An
alternative method is to ask the patient to stop back at the reception desk after seeing the

provider, but prior to leaving the office in order to complete a survey. Patients should not be

permitted to return completed forms to the clinic by mail. Provide a confidential drop-box or

bin for patients to return completed surveys. Maintain a running total of forms completed for

each provider until you have 30 completed surveys.
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Data Analysis & Reporting

AMGA encourages all participants to create a "non-critical" and "non-threatening" atmosphere

when reviewing resxilts. Report design should insure that the identity of the provider is

confidential and known only to him/herself To ensure this, AMGA reports all results with the

clinic name and physician name coded.

Results from the visit-specific satisfaction survey are reported in terms of the percentage of

'Excellent' on responses on each question. This is the standard analysis approach for this

instrument and has been shown by the Health Outcomes Institute to be highly discriminating.

Graphical presentation of the provider's percentage of excellent responses shown in context with

the database benchmarks can be a very powerful tool for improving the quality of care delivered.

For example, in the sample graph below eight family practice physicians from within the 'East

Clinic' are compared on their attention to detail (not a real question). The aggregate percentage

'Excellent' is 66.5 percent, the aggregate family practice specialty benchmark is 71 percent. The

individual physician results are reported for the current data collection period (solid dot) and for

the previous period (empty circle) if they participated.
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Calculating Probability Decision Limits

This section of the document provides background information on the methodology used by

AMGA to calculate the probability limits used in the gnq}hs.

Analysis ofMeans for Proportions

Analysis ofmeans is a graphical and statistical method for simultaneously comparing a group of

z treatment mean proportions with the grand mean proportion at a specified significance level a.

This method can be thought of as an alternative to analysis of variance for a fixed effects model.

Analysis of means can also be thought of as an extension of the Shewhart chart because it

considers a group of sample means instead of one mean at a time in order to determine whether

any of the sample means differ too much from the overall mean. The analysis of means has the

same graphical presentation as a control chart except that the decision limits are computed

differently (see below).'

An analysis of proportion graph answers the question, "Do any ofthe physician ratings differ

significantly from the overall average rating?" If the physician result for the current round falls

above or below the decision limit range, the answer to the question would be the physician has a

significantly different rating than the overall rating. Such a difference cannot be attributed to

chance variation alone.

Calculating Control and Probability Limits^

The following notations are used:

Pi is the proportion ofexcellent for the i*^ physician

Xi is the number ofexcellent for the i*^ physician

n/ is the number of non-missing responses for the i"* physician

N Number of Physicians

p avenge propoction ofexodkrttikeoicrDn ill phyxicuns in the danbee:
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The control limits are computed as a specified multiple (it) of the standard error ofpi above and

below the central line.

The lower and upper control limits, LCL and UCL, respectively, are computed as

LCL = max \p-k^p{l - p) I «.,oJ

UCL = min(p + *^^l-p)/»,l]

A lower probability limit for p/ can be determined using the fact that

P{pi<LCL} = 1-P{p/ ^ LCL}
= 1-P{X, ^ nyLCL}

= 1 - rJijuLCL,n+\- ruLCL)

= h--/^n + l-niLCL,niLCL)

The lower probability (LCL) limit is calculated by setting

h-irh + \-niLCL,niLCL = a/2)

and solving for LCL. Similarly, the upper probability limit for pi can be determined using the

factthat

p{p,>UCL} =P{p,>UCL}

= P{Xi>nUCL}

= l^rvUCL,n + \- tuUCL)

The upper probability limit UCL is then calculated by setting

VjljbUCL, n, + 1 - ruUCi) = a/2

and solving for UCL. The probability limits are asymmetric around the central line. Note that

the probability limits vary with n/.

In summary, probability limits are used to determine the odds of a physician falling outside the

limits. For example, if a physician falls above the limit there is a 95 percent probability that the

physician has a significantly higher percentage 'Excellent' than the overall percentage

'Excellent' for that question. The probability limits used in the report are similar to calculating

the control limits using lc=2 or 2a.
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Outline ofa Model Report

The survey is designed to be analyzed under three main section headings: patient characteristics,

accessibility profile, and visit satisfaction.

Patient Characteristics

This section of the report should include a summary of the demogrs^hic and other patient

characteristic variables in the survey. Results are presented as percentages.

• Gender (Male, Female)

• Age (less than 17, 18-35, 36-64, greater than 65 )

• Type ofVisit (Scheduled, Walk-in)

• Payer type (Medicaid/Medical Assistance, Medicare, Health Maintenance

Organization/Preferred Provide- Organization/Other Prepaid, Private

Insurance, Other, Self-Pay, and Worieer Compensation/Motor Vehicle

Insxirance)

• Percentage excellent on question 10 "In general, would you say your health

is"

Accessibility Profile

The survey contains three questions designed to assess the patient's perception of clinic's

accessibility. The primary audience for this portion of the report is the clinic administrator or

medical director. Each question is reported as the percentage of 'EXCELLENT' responses.

• Q 1 ) How long you waited to get an appointment

• Q2) Convenience ofthe location of the office

• Q3) Getting through to the office by phone

Visit Satisfaction

The third section contains the results firom the questions designed to measure the satisfiaction

with the provider for that particular visit Each question is reported as the percentage of

'EXCELLENT' responses.

• Q4) Length oftime waiting at office

• Q5) Time spent with the person you saw

• Q6) Explanation ofwhat was done for you

• Q7) Technical skills (thoroughness, carefulness, competence

ofthe person you saw

• Q8) The personal manner (courtesy, respect, sensitivity, friendliness)

ofthe person you saw

• Q9) The visit overall
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Level of Analysis

The level of analysis applied to each of these three sections should also be carefully considered

to insure the clarity and brevity of the report to be distributed. Decision should be made regarding

whether a question should be reported at the clinic level, department level, and/or the physician

level.

Clinic-Level Comparisons

Compare the aggregate clinic results against the aggregate database results for all nine

satisfaction questions and the patient characteristic variables. This provides a general overview of

the departments measiired by the clinic database during that data collection period.

Generalization of these results across the entire health system should only be made after all clinic

departments have been adequately sampled. These percentages can be easily tabled and graphed

on two to three pages. Use the aggregate-level benchmarks provided in this report for comparison

of clinic-level results.

• Patient Characteristics

• Visit Satis^iction

• Accessibility Profile

Department-Level Comparisons

Compare each clinic department to the like-specialty reference on the patient characteristics and

overall visit satisfaction questions. This provides a department level summary of the patient mix

seen and the satisfaction levels obtained by the entire department The accessibility questions are

typically not reported at this level because each department within a medical group is usually

subject to the same accessibility factors and results would not vary beyond the clinic-level

findings. Use the same specialty benchmarks provided in this report as a comparative benchmark.

• Patient Characteristics

• Visit Satis£eu:tion

Phvsician-Level Comparisons

Report the six visit satis&ction questions at the provider level. For ease of comparison, all

measured physicians within a specific department can be put on a single graph. For example, a

graph for each question can be created that individually plots the results for the physicians

practicing in the same department The aggregate and the like-specialty results provided in this

report can be used as a comparative benchmaric A detailed section of the physician results

presents each patient's fiill range of responses (percentage of excellent, very good, good, fair, and

poor) to the six visit satisfaction questions, (See page 12).

• Visit Satisfaction
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Detailed Physician View

This section of the patient satisfaction repoit is designed to provide more detail to clinicians

participating in this effort. The percentages for the entire range of responses for the six visit

satisfaction question are presented. The figure below depicts the fiill range of responses for five

General Surgery physicians from clinic XYZ to question 4 (The Length of Time Waiting).

Furthermore, the vertical reference line indicates the entire database percentage excellent for the

question.

General Surgery - Clinic - XYZ
Percentages for Length of Time Waiting

DooorCode
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